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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Thursday, February 21, 2008
(18)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10:08 a.m., in room 160-S, Centre Block,
the Chair, the Honourable Joan Fraser, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, P.C.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver and Stratton. (10).

In attendance: Robin MacKay, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, December 12, 2007, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:
Public Safety Canada:
James Bonta, Director, Corrections Research;

Cliff Yumansky, Director, Corrections Programs and
Community Development.

Ministry of the Attorney General of Ontario:
Terrance Cooper, Assistant Crown Attorney.
MADD Canada ( Mothers Against Drunk Driving):

Andrew Murie, Chief Executive Officer.
Traffic Injury Research Foundation:
Robyn Robertson, President and CEO.

Mr. Bonta, Mr. Yumansky and Mr. Cooper each made
opening statements and, together, answered questions.

At 11:37 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 11:45 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Murie and Ms. Robertson each made opening statements
and, together, answered questions.

At 12:50 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the chair.

ATTEST:

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 février 2008
(18)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 h 8, dans la piéce
160-S de 1’édifice du Centre, sous la présidence de I’honorable
Joan Fraser (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, De Bané, C.P.,
Di Nino, Fraser, Merchant, Oliver et Stratton (10).

Aussi présent : Robin MacKay, analyste, Service d’information
et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Egalement présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 12 décembre 2007, le comité poursuit son examen du
projet de loi C-2. (L’ ordre de renvoi figure dans le fascicule n° 6 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Sécurité publique Canada :
James Bonta, directeur, Recherche correctionnelle;

Cliff Yumansky, directeur, Programmes correctionnels et
développement communautaire.

Ministere du procureur général de I'Ontario :
Terrance Cooper, procureur adjoint de la Couronne.
MADD Canada ( Mothers against Drunk Driving) :
Andrew Murie, chef de la direction.
Traffic Injury Research Foundation :
Robyn Robertson, président et chef de la direction.

M. Bonta, M. Yumansky et M. Cooper font une déclaration
et, ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 11 h 37, le comité suspend ses travaux.
A 11 h 45, le comité reprend ses travaux.

M. Murie et Mme Robertson font une déclaration et,
ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 12 h 50, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Thursday, February 21, 2008
19)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 2:02 p.m., in room 160-S, Centre Block,
the Chair, the Honourable Joan Fraser, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, Di Nino, Fraser,
Merchant, Oliver and Stratton. (9).

In attendance: Robin MacKay, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Wednesday, December 12, 2007, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-2. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 6.)

WITNESSES:
Correctional Service Canada:

Ross Toller, Assistant Commissioner, Correctional Operations
and Programs;

Ian McCowan, Assistant Commissioner, Policy and Research.
Royal Canadian Mounted Police:

Chief Superintendent D.C. (Doug) Reti, Director General,
National Aboriginal Policing Services.

As an individual:

Ronald Langevin, Professor, University of Toronto.
Egale Canada:

Ryan Dyck, Youth Coordinator.

Mr. Toller, Mr. McCowan and Mr. Reti each made opening
statements and, together, answered questions.

At 3:50 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 4:03 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Langevin and Mr. Dyck each made opening statements
and, together, answered questions.

At 5:15 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 février 2008
(19)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 14 h 2, dans la piéce
160-S de I’édifice du Centre, sous la présidence de I’honorable
Joan Fraser (présidente).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Campbell, Chaput, Cowan, Di Nino, Fraser,
Merchant, Oliver et Stratton (9).

Egalement présent : Robin MacKay, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 12 décembre 2007, le comité poursuit son examen du
projet de loi C-2. (L’ ordre de renvoi figure dans le fascicule n° 6 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Service correctionnel Canada :

Ross Toller, commissaire adjoint, Opérations et programmes
correctionnels;

Ian McCowan, commissaire adjoint, Politiques et recherche.
Gendarmerie Royale du Canada :

Surintendant principal D.C. (Doug) Reti, directeur général,
Services nationaux de police autochtone.

A titre personnel :

Ronald Langevin, professeur, Université de Toronto.
Egale Canada :

Ryan Dyck, coordonnateur de la jeunesse.

M. Toller, M. McCowan et M. Reti font une déclaration et,
ensemble, répondent aux questions.

A 15 h 50, le comité suspend ses travaux.
A 16 h 3, le comité reprend ses travaux.

M. Langevin et M. Dyck font une déclaration et, ensemble,
répondent aux questions.

A 17 h 15, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

Le greffier du comité,

Adam Thompson

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Thursday, February 21, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, An Act to amend the
Criminal Code and to make consequential amendments to other
acts, met this day at 10:08 a.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Chair: Welcome to the meeting of the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

We are continuing our study of Bill C-2, an act to amend the
Criminal Code and to make consequential amendments to other
acts.

It is our great pleasure this morning to welcome as witnesses
from Public Safety Canada, Mr. Cliff Yumansky, Director,
Corrections Programs and Community Development; Dr. James
Bonta, Director, Corrections Research; and from the Ministry of
the Attorney General of Ontario, Mr. Terrence Cooper, Assistant
Crown Attorney.

I understand Mr. Yumansky will lead off.

Cliff Yumansky, Director, Corrections Programs and
Community Development, Public Safety Canada: Thank you for
inviting us to present here before you this morning. I will be
discussing an initiative referred to as the National Flagging
System, and my colleague Dr. Bonta will then talk about his work
in research regarding the evaluation of this particular initiative.

I believe you have copies of my presentation. It should be
available to you in both English and French.

The National Flagging System is a network of provincial and
territorial officials, referred to as National Flagging System
coordinators, who are responsible for identifying high-risk
violent offenders for flagging purposes. Coordinators work
closely with police, provincial corrections, Crown prosecutors
and the Correctional Service of Canada to ensure that high-risk
offenders who are flagged can be tracked through the Canadian
Police Information Centre, known as CPIC.

Regarding the background for this initiative, the creation of
the National Flagging System was publicly announced in
March, 1995 by the then Solicitor General of Canada. The
National Flagging System came into effect following a number
of recommendations made by a federal-provincial-territorial
task force on high risk offenders to FPT ministers of justice in
the same year, in January 1995.

I have provided, I believe, a handout also of the
recommendation that was contained in this report that refers to
the National Flagging System as the original recommendation
upon which this initiative has been developed.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui a 10 h 8 pour étudier le
projet de loi C-2, Loi modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois
en conséquence.

Le sénateur Joan Fraser (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La présidente : Bienvenue a cette séance du Comité permanent
des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles.

Le comité poursuit aujourd’hui son étude du projet de loi C-2,
loi modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois en conséquence.

Nous avons le plaisir d’accueillir ce matin des témoins de
Sécurité publique Canada, soit M. Cliff Yumansky, directeur,
Programmes correctionnels et développement communautaire et
M. James Bonta, directeur, Recherche correctionnelle. Du
ministére du Procureur général de I’Ontario, nous accueillons
M. Terrence Cooper, procureur adjoint de la Couronne.

Je crois que c’est vous qui commencerez, monsieur Yumansky.

Cliff Yumansky, directeur, Programmes correctionnels et
développement communautaire, Sécurité publique Canada : Merci
de nous avoir invités a vous parler ce matin. Je vous parlerai du
projet du Systéme national de repérage et mon collégue M. Bonta
vous présentera ses travaux de recherche sur I'évaluation de ce
programme.

Je crois que vous avez regu copie de mon exposé. Il est
disponible en anglais et en frangais.

Le Systéme national de repérage est un réseau de représentants
des provinces et des territoires, appelés coordonnateurs du SNR,
qui sont chargés d’identifier les délinquants violents a risque élevé
afin de les ficher dans le systéme. Les coordonnateurs du SNR
travaillent en étroite collaboration avec la police, les services
correctionnels provinciaux, les procureurs de la Couronne et le
Service correctionnel du Canada pour s’assurer que le Centre
d’information de la police canadienne ou CIPC est en mesure de
suivre la trace des délinquants a risque élevé qui sont fichés dans
le systéme.

Parlons du contexte du programme. La création du Systéme
national de repérage a été¢ annoncée publiquement en mars 1995
par le solliciteur général du Canada de I’époque. Il a été mis en
place a la suite de plusieurs recommandations formulées par un
groupe de travail fédéral-provincial-territorial sur les délinquants
a risque élevé a I'intention des ministres FPT de la Justice en
janvier 1995.

Je crois avoir fourni au comité la recommandation de ce
rapport relative au Systéme national de repérage et qui a donné
lieu a sa création.
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Because of concerns regarding the relative ease with which
offenders are able to move both within jurisdictions and, indeed,
across Canada, the National Flagging System was developed to
ensure that prosecutors are aware of the potential information
held elsewhere regarding an offender’s likelihood of a high and
continuing risk of future violent conduct. This really is the key
core advantage of this particular initiative.

There are three goals of the National Flagging System: one, to
assist Crown prosecutors to more effectively prosecute high-risk
violent offenders; two, to prevent high-risk violent offenders from
falling through the jurisdictional gaps in the criminal justice
system; and three, to encourage prosecutors to make dangerous
and long-term offender applications in appropriate cases,
essentially by tracking potential candidates.

Here is how the system works: An offender is placed on the
National Flagging System if a review of the available information
indicates that the offender is a reasonable prospect for a
dangerous offender declaration or a long-term offender if he or
she re-offends. Each province or territory has an assigned
National Flagging System coordinator who accepts referrals to
the system from local Crown counsel, police and/or correctional
agencies. The coordinator then gathers and reviews information
on the offender and makes the decision to flag an offender.

When the decision to flag an offender is made, the
coordinator has the additional responsibility to communicate
that decision and to exchange information with the police,
Corrections, Crown prosecutors and other provincial-territorial
and National Flagging System coordinators, when appropriate.
The coordinators are therefore designated as contact persons
on the CPIC system, the Canadian Police Information Centre
system, and liaise with local police representatives to place flagged
offenders on the CPIC database.

A candidate will be placed on the National Flagging System if
a review of the available information indicates that if the
candidate commits a further serious personal injury offence, or
a SPIO, there will be a reasonable prospect that he or she would
be declared a dangerous offender pursuant to section 753 of the
Criminal Code, or 753.1 regarding long-term offenders. Factors
to be taken into consideration for flagging a person on the system
can either be offence-based or offender-based, or both.

Likely candidates include, for example, cases involving a
previous unsuccessful dangerous offender application, a
conviction for an offence that did not meet the dangerous
offender, or DO, criterion of a SPIO, but where significant
concerns exist as a result of other observations about the
circumstances of the crime or the general pattern of behaviours

En raison des préoccupations suscitées par la facilité relative
avec laquelle les délinquants peuvent se déplacer entre les
provinces et les territoires a la grandeur du Canada, on a
¢laboré le SNR pour permettre aux procureurs de la Couronne
d’avoir accés aux renseignements qui pourraient étre en
possession d’un autre secteur de compétence au cas ou un
délinquant continuerait de présenter un risque de violence élevé.
C’est le principal avantage de cette initiative.

Le Systéme national de repérage a trois objectifs. D’abord,
aider les procureurs de la Couronne a engager plus efficacement
des poursuites a 1’égard des délinquants violents a risque élevé.
Ensuite, empécher les délinquants violents a risque élevé de
profiter des lacunes du systéme de justice pénale. Enfin, inciter les
procureurs a présenter des demandes de déclaration de délinquant
dangereux ou de délinquant a contréler dans les cas appropriés,
essentiellement en repérant les candidats potentiels.

Voici comment fonctionne le SNR : un délinquant est fiché
dans le SNR lorsqu’un examen des renseignements disponibles
révele qu’il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire qu’il pourrait
étre déclaré délinquant dangereux ou délinquant a controéler s’il
commettait une nouvelle infraction. Dans chaque province ou
territoire, il y a un coordonnateur du SNR qui accepte les
demandes d’inscription de délinquants dans le SNR présentées
par des procureurs de la Couronne, des services de police ou des
organismes correctionnels de I’endroit. Le coordonnateur
recueille et examine les renseignements concernant le délinquant
afin de déterminer s’il y a lieu de ficher celui-ci dans le SNR.

Lorsqu’il décide de ficher un délinquant, le coordonateur
doit communiquer cette information a la police, aux services
correctionnels, au procureur de la Couronne et aux autres
coordonateurs provinciaux et territoriaux du SNR, s’il y a lieu,
et échanger des renseignements avec eux. Dans le systéme du
CIPC, les coordonateurs du SNR sont considérés comme des
personnes-ressources chargées d’assurer la liaison avec les
représentants des services de police locaux pour inscrire les
délinquants repérés dans la base de données du CIPC.

Un délinquant sera inscrit dans le SNR si un examen des
renseignements disponibles montre qu’il risque de commettre des
« sévices graves a la personne » ou qu’il est susceptible d’étre
déclaré délinquant dangereux en vertu de I'article 753 du Code
criminel, ou du paragraphe 753.1, dans le cas des délinquants a
controler. Pour déterminer s’il y a lieu de ficher un délinquant
dans le SNR, les coordonateurs peuvent se fonder sur les
renseignements relatifs aux délinquants ou aux infractions qu’il
a commises ou encore, sur les deux types de renseignements.

Les délinquants susceptibles d’étre fichés dans le SNR sont, par
exemple, ceux a qui la désignation de délinquant dangereux a déja
été refusée, ceux qui ont été condamnés pour une infraction qui
ne satisfaisait pas aux critéres applicables a la désignation de
délinquant dangereux, ou des deux, soit les sévices graves a la
personne, mais qui, en raison d’autres observations concernant les
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of the offender, or a plea or sentence negotiation for a previous
SPIO conviction.

When a flagged candidate is placed on the system, the National
Flagging System coordinator is responsible for maintaining a file
on the offender, including updating and reviewing the file as
required. The flag, in fact, includes a brief reference to the
offender as a possible DO candidate, and who to contact for more
information. That is basically the extent of the flag.

When available, National Flagging System files should contain
the following information: criminal record, psychiatric probation,
pre-sentence and correctional reports, court transcripts, names
and addresses of victim, and names of police officers and Crown
prosecutors who have relevant information about the offender.
Coordinators have protocols with the responsible CPIC police
agency to ensure that CPIC-gathered hits or queries on the system
on flagged offenders are communicated to coordinators. This, in
fact, will help ensure that flags are not overlooked.

If a flagged offender re-offends anywhere in Canada, the
National Flagging System coordinator should be notified through
the CPIC system, and in that event the national flagging
coordinator will send their file to the prosecution service which
is handling the new charges. Coordinators will follow up with
these hits or queries by communicating with the investigating
police agency, the relevant prosecution service or the relevant
jurisdictional National Flagging System coordinator.

Where are we today with the initiative? Since the creation was
publicly announced more than 10 years ago, National Flagging
System coordinators have now been appointed in every province
and territory. Today we have more than 3,000 high-risk violent
offenders who have been flagged by the provinces and territories,
and in October 2006, the federal government announced its
commitment to enhance its support of the National Flagging
System. I am pleased to say that that funding process is now well
under way.

Now I will ask Mr. Bonta to speak to the research findings of
this particular initiative.

James Bonta, Director, Corrections Research, Public Safety
Canada: Thank you for the invitation to speak to you about our
evaluation of the first four years of the National Flagging System.
Our study was conducted by me and my colleague Annie Yessine.

We began the research by asking what we thought were two
important questions: First, are the National Flagging System
coordinators identifying truly high-risk offenders? This may
sound like a somewhat simplistic question, but we know from
other studies that simply having evidence of a violent offence does
not necessarily translate into a very dangerous offender in the
long term. We also know from studies that sometimes good,
experienced professionals fail to make proper judgments on the
accuracy of future violence.

circonstances dans lesquelles ils ont commis leur crime ou de leur
comportement en général, suscitent d’importantes préoccupations
et, enfin, ceux qui ont bénéficié d’une négociation de plaidoyer ou
de peines pour une condamnation antérieure pour « sévices graves
a la personne ».

Quand un délinquant repéré est fiché dans le SNR, le
coordonnateur doit ouvrir un dossier sur ce délinquant puis
mettre a jour et réviser ce dossier au besoin. On y mentionne
briévement que le délinquant était un candidat a la désignation de
DD et qui est la personne-ressource pour ces renseignements.
Voila essentiellement ce qui est associé au fait d’étre fiché.

Les renseignements suivants devraient figurer dans les
dossiers enregistrés dans le SNR : casier judiciaire, rapports
psychiatriques, rapports de probation, rapports présentenciels ou
correctionnels, transcriptions des débats judiciaires, noms et
adresses des victimes, noms des policiers et des procureurs de la
Couronne qui connaissent bien le délinquant. Les coordonnateurs
doivent établir des protocoles avec les services de police du CIPC
responsables pour s’assurer que ceux-ci leur fassent part des
« requétes » concernant les délinquants repérés, de facon a ce
qu’aucune « requéte » ne soit ignorée.

Si un candidat fiché commet une récidive ou que ce soit au
Canada, le SNR en sera avisé par le CIPC, et le coordonnateur
enverra son dossier au procureur responsable des nouvelles
accusations. Les coordonnateurs assureront le suivi des requétes
en communiquant avec le service de police chargé de ’enquéte, le
procureur de la Couronne pertinent ou le coordonnateur du SNR
de la province ou du territoire visé.

Ou en est maintenant ce programme? Depuis que la création du
SNR a été annoncée publiquement il y a plus de dix ans, des
coordonnateurs ont été nommés dans chaque province et dans
chaque territoire. Aujourd’hui, plus de 3 000 délinquants violents
a risque élevé ont été repérés par les provinces et les territoires
et en octobre 2006, le gouvernement fédéral a annoncé son
engagement a accroitre son soutien envers le systéme national de
repérage. Et je suis ravi de dire que le processus de financement
est bien lancé.

Je vais maintenant demander a M. Bonta de vous parler des
conclusions de ces recherches sur ce programme.

James Bonta, directeur, Recherche correctionnelle, Sécurité
publique Canada : Merci de m’avoir invité a vous parler de
notre évaluation des quatre premieres années du systéme national
de repérage. L’étude a été menée par moi-méme et ma collegue
Annie Yessine.

Pour commencer cette étude, nous avons posé deux questions
importantes. D’abord, est-ce que les coordonnateurs du systéme
national de repérage fichaient vraiment des délinquants violents a
risque élevé? Cette question peut sembler simpliste, mais d’autres
études ont prouvé que la commission d’une infraction avec
violence ne signifie pas nécessairement que nous tenons un
délinquant trés dangereux a long terme. D’autres études nous ont
permis de constater que des professionnels compétents et
chevronnés pouvaient se tromper sur le risque de violence future.
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We wanted to first check out whether the people being flagged
are truly high-risk offenders. The second important question that
we asked ourselves — and this is perhaps the more important
one — was: Does a National Flagging System somehow facilitate
or increase the likelihood of successful dangerous offender
or long-term offender applications? To try to answer those
questions, we looked at the first four years where the National
Flagging System came into play, up until the end of 1999. We
selected 256 males who were flagged by the system. There was
only one female who was flagged during that time. We collected
this information from eight jurisdictions that were using the
system at that time. The other five jurisdictions were in the
process of developing and implementing their National Flagging
System.

The other thing we did that was important to research was
select a known high-risk group of offenders. These were
comprised of dangerous offenders from British Columbia and
Ontario, and detention failures. Detention failures are federal
inmates who are held until warrant expiry. The Correctional
Service of Canada views these people as dangerous. They are held
until end of sentence and they are released and then they reoffend
violently. Having this group of dangerous offenders in detention
failures gives us assurance that we are dealing with a high-risk
population. I will explain why this was important.

We conducted the research in three parts: One, we compared
the flagged offenders, the 256 that we selected from that time
period, compared their criminal, psychological, personal profiles
with our group of known high-risk offenders, the dangerous
offenders and detention failures. The expectation was that their
profiles should be very similar, if flagged offenders are truly high-
risk violent offenders.

The second part was examining the recidivism rates of flagged
offenders. Once they are flagged, we follow them up for about
three and a half years: how many of them commit new violent
offences, new sexual offences. Once again, our expectation was
that their rates of violent offending would be higher than
normally expected.

Finally, does the National Flagging System increase dangerous
offender, long-term offender applications? Here is what we found.
Part one: Do the profiles of flagged offenders copy those of
known high-risk offenders? Are they similar? For the most part,
yes, they are. In particular, we scored a number of actuarial
risk scales, evidence-based risk instruments, and we found that
the flagged offenders score relatively high in terms of risk to
re-offend.

When we looked at the recidivism rates of flagged offenders,
we found that, in terms of violent re-offending, their rate was
approximately twice as much as those of general federal inmates.
We found that their sexual re-offending rates were four times
higher.

Nous voulions d’abord vérifier si les personnes fichées étaient
vraiment des délinquants a risque élevé. La deuxiéme question
importante que nous nous sommes posée, et c’est peut-&tre la
plus importante, était celle-ci : est-ce que le SNR facilite ou
augmente la possibilité d’obtenir une désignation de délinquant
dangereux ou de délinquant a contréler? Pour répondre a ces
questions, nous nous sommes penchés sur les quatre premicres
années du SNR, se terminant a la fin de 1999. Nous avons
sélectionné 256 délinquants fichés. A I’époque, il n’y avait quune
délinquante fichée. Nous avons recueilli ces renseignements dans
huit administrations participant alors au systéme. Les cinq autres
administrations étaient en train de mettre sur pied leur Systéme
national de repérage.

Nous avons fait une autre chose importante pour notre
recherche : Nous avons sélectionné un groupe de délinquants a
risque élevé connus. Il s’agissait de délinquants dangereux de la
Colombie-Britannique et de I’Ontario. Nous avons déterminé
combien étaient des délinquants récidivistes. Il s’agit de
délinquants qui sont incarcérés jusqu’a leur libération d’office.
Le service correctionnel du Canada les considére comme des
délinquants dangereux. On les garde jusqu’a la fin de leur peine,
puis ils sont libérés et récidivent, avec violence. Ce groupe de
délinquants dangereux récidivistes nous garantit qu’il s’agit d’une
population a risque. Je vais expliquer pourquoi c¢’était important.

Notre recherche comportait trois volets. D’abord, nous avons
comparé les délinquants fichés, soit les 256 sélectionnés pour
ces quatre années, du point de vue de leur profil criminel,
psychologique et personnel, avec notre groupe de délinquants a
risque élevé connu, soit les délinquants dangereux et délinquants
récidivistes. Nous nous attendions a ce que leur profil soit assez
semblable, si les délinquants fichés étaient véritablement des
délinquants violents a risque élevé.

Le deuxiéme volet portait sur le taux de récidive des
délinquants fichés. Une fois qu’ils sont fichés, on les suit
pendant environ trois ans et demi. On calcule combien d’entre
eux ont commis de nouvelles infractions violentes ou de nature
sexuelle. Dans ce cas, nous nous attendions a ce que le taux
d’infraction avec violence soit supérieur a la normale.

Enfin, est-ce que le systéme national de repérage avait suscité
une augmentation du nombre de demandes de désignation de
délinquants dangereux ou de délinquants a contréler? Voici ce
que nous avons constaté. Pour la partie un: les profils des
délinquants fichés sont-ils semblables a ceux des délinquants a
risque élevé connu? Y a-t-il des similitudes? En gros, oui. En
particulier, nous avons évalué un nombre d’échelles de risque
actuariel, des instruments d’évaluation du risque fondés sur des
données pour constater que les délinquants fichés avaient une cote
assez élevée, et donc un risque élevé de récidive.

Nous avons étudié le taux de récidive des délinquants fichés,
pour constater que pour la récidive avec violence, leur taux était
environ deux fois plus élevé que celui des délinquants incarcérés
dans les pénitenciers, en général. Quant aux taux de récidive de
nature sexuelle, il était quatre fois plus élevé.
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What happens to flagged offenders in terms of dangerous
offender long-term applications? When we followed the flagged
offenders, we looked at the ones who recidivated violently,
including a sexual offence. These are the cases that are suitable,
potentially, for dangerous offender or long-term offender
application. We found that about 18 per cent of them did
receive a dangerous offender or long-term offender application,
and almost all of them were successful.

You may ask if 18 per cent is high. What does that really
mean? I will not bore you with the statistical modelling we did in
this study, but 18 per cent was phenomenally high. When you
look at violent offenders in Canada, you can take everyone who
commits a violent offence and then recommits a violent offence, it
is a little bit above the zero per cent likelihood. When you get an
18 per cent hit rate, that is quite good.

If I can summarize our answers to the questions, yes, it appears
that the National Flagging System coordinators are truly
identifying high-risk and potentially dangerous offenders.
Second, it does appear that this system of flagging offenders
facilitates and increases the likelihood of a dangerous offender or
long-term offender application.

Where are we today? As Mr. Yumansky said in his
introductions, the federal government is providing enhanced
support to the National Flagging System coordinators. Our
research department has made a commitment to conduct another
evaluation of the program, because we just dealt with the first
four years and not all jurisdictions were involved in that
evaluation. Now all jurisdictions have actively running systems.

We are particularly interested in learning from our next
research project how Crown attorneys are using this system more
specifically to help them with dangerous offender, long-term
applications, and also to help the National Flagging System
coordinators better identify those who should be on the system
and ensure that fewer people are missed.

Terrence Cooper, Assistant Crown Attorney, Ministry of the
Attorney General of Ontario: Good morning. Thank you for the
invitation to testify this morning.

My name is Terry Cooper, and I am an Assistant Crown
Attorney, Counsel to the Director of Crown Operations in the
East region of Ontario. I am not testifying as a representative of
the Ministry of the Attorney General of Ontario. I am not
testifying as to policy issues but, rather, to technical issues.

For the past seven years I have been involved exclusively —
with some minor exceptions — in the management of dangerous
and long-term offender application in the East region of Ontario.
We have learned a great deal as to how this process can be moved
forward in an efficient, effective and fair fashion.

Qu’arrive-t-il aux délinquants fichés, pour ce qui est de la
désignation de délinquants dangereux et de délinquants a
contréler? Notre suivi a porté sur ceux qui avaient récidivé en
commettant une infraction avec violence, y compris de nature
sexuelle. Ce sont les dossiers les plus susceptibles de donner lieu a
une demande de désignation de délinquant dangereux ou de
délinquant a contréler. Nous avons constaté qu’environ 18 p. 100
d’entre eux avaient fait I’objet d’'une demande de désignation, et
qu’ils I'ont presque tous obtenue.

Vous vous demandez peut-étre si 18 p. 100, c’est beaucoup.
Qu’est-ce que cela signifie, en fait? Je ne vais pas m’éterniser sur le
modgé¢le statistique appliqué dans notre étude, mais 18 p. 100, c’est
extrémement élevé. Pour tous les délinquants violents du Canada,
pour tous ceux qui commettent une infraction avec violence et qui
récidivent, le taux est d’un peu plus de 0 p. 100. Le taux de
18 p. 100 est donc tres élevé.

Si je peux résumer nos réponses aux questions, je dirais
qu’effectivement, il semble que les coordonnateurs du Systéme
national de repérage arrivent vraiment a identifier les délinquants
dangereux potentiels et les délinquants qui présentent un risque
élevé. Il semble également que le systéme de repérage des
délinquants facilite la présentation de demandes de déclaration
de délinquant dangereux ou de délinquant a controler.

Ou en sommes-nous aujourd’hui? Comme 1’a dit
M. Yumansky, le gouvernement fédéral appuie davantage les
coordonnateurs du Systéme national de repérage. Notre service de
recherche s’est engagé a réévaluer le programme parce que notre
évaluation précédente ne portait que sur les quatre premieres
années et n’incluait pas tous les territoires et les provinces. A
présent, le systéme est fonctionnel dans toutes les provinces et les
territoires.

Notre prochain projet de recherche permettra de savoir
dans quelle mesure les avocats de la Couronne se servent du
systéme pour présenter des demandes de déclaration de
délinquant dangereux. Il nous permettra également d’aider les
coordonnateurs du Systéme national de repérage a mieux
identifier tous ceux qui devraient étre fichés dans le systéme.

Terrence Cooper, procureur adjoint de la Couronne, ministére du
procureur général de I’Ontario : Bonjour. Merci de m’avoir invité
a témoigner ce matin.

Je m’appelle Terry Cooper et je suis procureur adjoint de la
Couronne et conseiller du directeur des Affaires de la Couronne
pour I’Est de 1’Ontario. Je ne témoigne pas en tant que
représentant du ministére du procureur général de I’Ontario et
je ne parlerai pas de questions de politique mais plutét de
modalités d’ordre technique.

Depuis sept ans, je m’occupe exclusivement, a quelques petites
exceptions pres, des demandes de déclaration de délinquant
dangereux et de délinquant a contrdler dans I’Est de 1’Ontario.
Nous en avons appris beaucoup sur la fagon d’utiliser ce
processus d’une maniére efficace et juste.
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The purpose of my testimony is to give you the unique context
of sections 39 to 51 of Bill C-2. That context is what we refer to as
Part XXIV of the Criminal Code, the nine sections pertaining to
dangerous and long-term offender applications and breaches of
long-term offender applications.

Part XXIV is not all about punishment. In fact, it is not about
punishment at all. We have had cases — and I will not get into
anecdotal issues — where offenders have admitted to filling a
room this size with victims under 12 years old. We are not
involved in a dangerous offender application to punish that
individual for filling a room with victims. We are there to prevent
him from filling another room with victims.

I should indicate at the outset that Part XXIV applications are
Crown-driven. Normally, in the conduct of criminal law, Crown
attorneys take what the police bring to them and prosecute those
files. These files begin in the same way, but the Crown takes the
decision as to whether, upon conviction, to apply for an
application under Part XXIV. It is a Crown-driven process. Our
target group is the worst of the worst offenders: Those who have
harmed the most victims in the worst ways.

The target groups specifically that we aim for in the East region
are those offenders causing intergenerational harm. They are not
just affecting the victim but also the children of the victim or the
parents of the victim, on a scale larger than a single victim. Part
XXIV is the only time — it is unique in the Criminal Code —
where the court is compelled to make the protection of the public
the paramount sentencing consideration.

Section 718 and forward in the Criminal Code apply to the
normal, traditional purposes and principles of sentencing. Those
sections in a Part XXIV application inform the process and guide
the process, but protection of the public is the paramount
consideration for the court. That is the only time in the criminal
law that that is the case. It is also the only time that we, in the
administration of criminal justice, make an effort to lift the hood
to see what is broken with the offender. We do not do it for bank
robbers, murderers or anyone else. We only do it on a Part XXIV
case where there is an opportunity to collect a wide range of
information, assemble it in an intelligible fashion and present it to
the court. Then the court can make an assessment, with the
assistance of experts, as to the risk posed by this offender in the
circumstances of the offence, or chain of offences, that brought
him or her to this stage.

August 1, 1997 was the last time Part XXIV was amended.
There were several amendments, one of which was to create the
long-term supervision order process. The law moves slowly at
times, so this is a new iteration in the criminal law. It has only
been in the last five to ten years that the Crown and police have

Jaimerais vous expliquer le contexte particulier dans lequel
s’inscrivent les articles 39 a 51 du projet de loi C-2. Il s’agit de la
partie XXIV du Code criminel, c’est-a-dire neuf articles traitant
des demandes de déclaration de délinquant dangereux et de
délinquant a contréler et du défaut de se conformer a une
surveillance de longue durée.

La partie XXIV ne vise pas seulement a punir. Au contraire, ce
n’est pas du tout la son objectif. Nous avons vu des cas — et je ne
vais pas commencer a parler de cas particuliers — ou des
délinquants ont avoué avoir fait assez de victimes de moins de
12 ans pour remplir une salle comme celle ou nous nous
trouvons. Or, si nous présentons une demande de déclaration
de délinquant dangereux, ce n’est pas pour le punir d’avoir fait
autant de victimes, mais bien pour éviter qu’il en fasse encore
autant.

Il faut savoir tout d’abord que les demandes relevant de la
partie XXIV sont présentées a l'instigation de la Couronne.
Normalement, en droit pénal, les avocats de la Couronne se
fondent sur les dossiers montés par la police pour poursuivre les
auteurs de délits. On procéde de la méme fagon, mais la Couronne
décide s’il y a lieu de demander, au moment de la condamnation,
que le délinquant soit déclaré délinquant dangereux en vertu de la
partie XXIV. C’est la Couronne qui amorce le processus. Les
délinquants visés sont les pires des pires criminels : ceux qui ont
causé un tort incommensurable au grand nombre de leurs
victimes.

Dans I’Est de 1’Ontario, nous visons plus précisément les
délinquants qui font du tort a plus d’une génération de victimes.
IIs ne s’en sont pas pris seulement a la victime, mais également a
ses enfants ou a ses parents, de sorte qu’ils ont fait plus d’une
victime. La partie XXIV a ceci d’'unique que ce sont les seules
dispositions du Code criminel qui obligent la Cour a mettre au
premier rang de ses objectifs la protection du public au moment
de déterminer la peine.

L’article 718 et les suivants du Code criminel décrivent les buts
et les principes normaux ou traditionnels de la détermination
de la peine. Lorsqu’une demande a été présentée en vertu de la
partie XXIV, ces articles guident le processus, mais la protection
du public doit étre primordiale aux yeux de la cour. C’est le seul
cas ou il en est ainsi en droit pénal. C’est aussi le seul cas ou nous,
qui sommes responsables d’administrer la justice pénale, devons
tacher de comprendre ce qui ne va pas chez le délinquant. Nous ne
le faisons ni dans le cas des voleurs de banque, ni dans le cas des
assassins ou de qui que ce soit d’autre. Nous ne le faisons que
dans les cas visés par la partie XXIV ou il nous est possible de
recueillir beaucoup d’éléments d’information, de les organiser
de fagon intelligible et de les présenter a la cour. La cour peut
alors déterminer, avec I’aide d’experts, le risque que présente le
délinquant a la lumiére de 'infraction ou de la suite d’infractions
qu’il ou elle a commises.

La derniére modification apportée a la partie XXIV remonte
au 1°7 aolt 1997. On a apporté plusieurs modifications, dans la
création du processus d’ordonnance de surveillance de longue
durée. La législation évolue parfois lentement et il s’agit d’une
nouvelle disposition d’ordre criminel. Ce n’est que depuis cinq ou



21-2-2008

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

9:11

begun to develop the expertise needed to proceed with one of
these cases. Up to that point, it would be a once-in-a-career
situation: In a 30-year career, a Crown attorney might have
carried out one dangerous-offender application.

Currently, in the East region of Ontario, where there are about
90 or less Crown counsel, I supervise over 30 Part XXIV
applications at any one time. It may be getting closer to 40 as we
speak because of breaches of long-term supervision order charges.
What is new is that there is a coordinated activity involved in
these cases. It is now a multi-ministry, multi-jurisdictional and
multi-disciplinary exercise.

Police expertise has been developed over the years. In the East
region — indeed in Ontario — the Kingston police have led the
way. Traditionally, Inspector Brian Cookman was a pioneer in
this regard, and he has taught many other police officers along the
way. He is now in administration and Sergeant Laurel Munt is
doing world-class work in assembling the necessary information
for one of these prosecutions.

We are hopeful that in our own region we will soon have other
police services dedicating 100 per cent of their officers’ time to
developing the expertise needed to gather the type of information
that assists the experts and, in turn, assists the courts. Ideally, at
some point the RCMP would be involved because quite often our
offenders are from across Canada.

In terms of the mechanics, we begin at the bail hearing stage or
the screening stage. We gather information concurrently as the
process goes through the normal courts, at the preliminary
hearing and the trial. While that is happening, we like to have a
dedicated police officer who will begin gathering information on
the previous behavioural history of the offender, not just criminal
convictions.

My case management assistant, Mr. Luke Cam, has devised an
electronic data management and analysis system that has proven
invaluable in organizing this material and making sure we collect
what we need.

Our very first stop is always the National Flagging System, and
our last stop, when one of these cases is complete, is also the
National Flagging System because our goal is to investigate,
litigate and preserve in order to protect. When we finish a case, we
encapsulate the data on an electronic DVD or CD, and that
will be given to the National Flagging System so if the offender
re-offends in Prince Edward Island, they will have all the
information we have gathered. They are certified copies of
information whenever possible.

In terms of a hearing, there are two things necessary. One is for
the Crown to prove beyond a reasonable doubt a pattern of
behaviour. It is not necessarily a pattern of convictions, but it can
be a pattern of behaviour that was uncharged conduct. That is

dix ans que la Couronne et la police ont acquis les connaissances
nécessaires pour procéder dans un cas de ce genre. Jusque-la, on
pouvait ne voir tel cas qu'une fois pendant toute sa carriére : sur
30 ans de carriére, un avocat de la Couronne aurait pu présenter
une seule demande de déclaration de délinquant dangereux.

A I’heure actuelle, il y a tout au plus 90 avocats de la Couronne
dans I’Est de I'Ontario et je m’occupe toujours d’au moins
30 demandes présentées en vertu de la partie XXIV. Et le nombre
se rapproche de la quarantaine en ce moment en raison des
délinquants accusés de ne pas s’étre conformés a une ordonnance
de surveillance de longue durée. Ce qui est nouveau, c’est que ces
cas sont pris en charge de fagon coordonnée. Il s’agit maintenant
d’une intervention pluriministérielle, plurijuridictionnelle et
pluridisciplinaire.

La police a acquis de ’expertise au fil des ans. Dans la région
de I’Est, et méme dans tout I’Ontario, la police de Kingston a
ouvert la marche. L’inspecteur Brian Cookman a fait ccuvre de
pionnier et a enseigné a beaucoup d’autres policiers au fil des ans.
I occupe maintenant un poste administratif et le sergent Laurel
Munt fait un travail absolument excellent pour ce qui est de
rassembler les éléments d’information nécessaires a de telles
poursuites.

Nous espérons que d’autres corps policiers de notre région
consacreront tout le temps de leurs effectifs a développer les
compétences nécessaires pour recueillir les renseignements qui
aident les experts et, a leur tour, les tribunaux. Idéalement, la
GRC devrait également prendre part au processus parce qu’il
arrive trés souvent que nos délinquants viennent de différentes
régions du Canada.

Dans la pratique, tout commence au moment de I’enquéte sur
le cautionnement ou d’une premiére évaluation. Nous recueillons
de l'information en paralléle pendant que le processus franchit
les étapes procédurales normales, I’enquéte préliminaire et le
proces. Pendant ce temps, un policier est chargé de recueillir de
I'information sur les antécédents de comportement du délinquant
et pas seulement sur son passé criminel.

Mon adjoint de gestion des cas, M. Luke Cam, a mis au point
un systeme informatique d’analyse et de gestion des données qui
s’est révélé précieux pour organiser tous ces renseignements et
veiller a ce que nous recueillons tous ceux dont nous avons besoin.

Au moment d’ouvrir un dossier, une des premiéres étapes
consiste a consulter le Systéme national de repérage et c’est
également la derniére étape du processus puisque nous devons
faire enquéte, porter I’affaire devant les tribunaux et conserver les
renseignements pertinents afin de protéger la société. Quand nous
classons une affaire, nous mettons les données sur un DVD ou un
CD et elles sont versées dans le Systéme national de repérage;
ainsi, si le délinquant récidive a I'fle-du-Prince-Edouard, la police
locale aura tous les renseignements que nous avons rassemblés.
Dans la mesure du possible nous faisons des copies certifiées de
I'information.

Pour le procés, deux conditions sont nécessaires.
Premiérement, la Couronne doit prouver hors de tout doute
raisonnable D’existence de certaines constantes dans le
comportement de I’accusé. Il ne s’agit pas nécessairement d’une
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often the case. The Crown has to satisfy one of the four
disjunctive tests involved in Part XXIV for a dangerous offender
designation. That is the easy part. The reverse onus contained in
Bill C-2 applies to the easy part of the exercise, in my respectful
submission. The difficult part is assisting the court with the
assessment of risk posed by the particular individual as well as
assisting the court in devising a method to manage that risk in or
out of the community, in accordance with the Corrections and
Conditional Release Act. There is a gatekeeper role in the first
step in that we only target a certain group of individuals who have
proven to be, or are likely to be, ungovernable within the normal
range of risk management and within the traditional sentencing
paradigm.

The second step is virtually what every case I have ever been
involved in turns upon, and that is the risk assessment step. The
expert will use actuarial risk assessment instruments, many of
which have been developed in Canada and used worldwide. Those
instruments, in turn, require us to collect information that is
relevant to what the offender was doing at about the time of
puberty, for example. We are not talking specifically about
criminal conduct. It is a wider range than that.

Typically, what used to be the case is that we devoted
300 hours of investigative work to every case and 300 hours of
Crown preparation. That is relevant to the sentencing exercise
within Part XXIV. With Mr. Cam’s program, we have managed
to cut that down by at least 150 hours because we have developed
liaisons with our colleagues in the Federal Public Service to gather
information from the CSC, the National Parole Board, within our
own ministries and others in the provinces and territories.

The revisions to Part XXIV contained within Bill C-2 are
extremely helpful, in particular the two that deal with long-term
supervision order cases. When I speak of a number of Part XXIV
cases on my plate, most are long-term supervision order cases,
whether they were applying for a designation of the individual as
a long-term offender or whether they were dealing with a breach
of a long-term supervision order case.

The provisions that deal with mandatory assessments, for
example, in section 43, are urgently needed. That will move us
forward significantly because that is a tool that is not at our
disposal at all for a breach of a long-term supervision order, and
that is our most essential tool when dealing with a dangerous
offender or a long-term offender application.

Also, for example, the serving of a two-year sentence with
every long-term offender designation will be a significant
improvement because often the dead time, so to speak, under
section 719.3 of the Criminal Code has amassed to such an extent
that we end up with provincial sentences and, of course, it is the
federal CSC that must govern this individual for up to 10 years.

série de condamnations, mais plutét d’une série d’actes qui n’ont
pas fait I'objet d’accusations. C’est du reste souvent le cas. La
Couronne doit satisfaire a 'un des quatre critéres disjonctifs
prévus dans la partie XXIV pour qu'un individu soit déclaré
délinquant dangereux. Cela, c’est la partie facile. L’inversion du
fardeau de la preuve prévue dans le projet de loi C-2 s’applique a
la partie facile de I’exercice, a mon humble avis. Le plus difficile,
c’est d’aider la cour a évaluer le risque posé par I'individu en cause
et a concevoir une fagon de gérer ce risque dans un établissement
pénitencier ou dans la société, conformément aux dispositions de
la Loi sur le systéme correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous
condition. Dans cette premiére étape, nous avons un réle de
gardien, car nous devons viser uniquement les individus qui se
sont révélés impossibles a contrdler au moyen d’un éventail
normal de mesures de gestion du risque et des peines
d’emprisonnement traditionnelles.

La deuxiéme étape, c’est I’évaluation du risque qui joue un role
déterminant dans pratiquement tous les cas dont j’ai été appelé a
m’occuper. L’expert se sert d’instruments actuariels d’évaluation
du risque, dont beaucoup ont été mis au point au Canada et sont
utilisés dans le monde entier. Ces instruments comportent la
collecte de renseignements ayant trait au comportement des
délinquants vers I’age de la puberté, par exemple. On n’aborde
pas spécifiquement le comportement criminel. C’est un outil de
portée plus large.

Par le passé, nous devions généralement consacrer 300 heures
au travail d’enquéte et 300 heures de préparation par les avocats
de la Couronne pour chaque cas. Cela était en rapport avec la
détermination de la peine prévue dont la Partie XXIV. Grace au
programme de M. Cam, nous avons pu réduire le temps d’au
moins 150 heures parce que nous avons établi une liaison avec nos
collégues de la fonction publique fédérale qui recueillent de
I'information auprés du CSS, de la Commission nationale des
libérations conditionnelles, au sein de nos ministéres et auprés
d’autres acteurs provinciaux et territoriaux.

Les modifications a la Partie XXIV prévues par le projet de
loi C-2 sont extrémement utiles, surtout les deux qui ont trait aux
ordonnances de surveillance de longue durée. Nombre des cas
relevant de la Partie XXIV dont je m’occupe sont visés par ce
genre d’ordonnance, qu’il s’agisse d’une demande de désignation
d’une personne comme délinquant a contréler ou du non-respect
d’'une ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée.

Les dispositions portant sur les évaluations obligatoires, par
exemple, a l'article 43, répondent a un besoin urgent. Elles nous
aideront considérablement parce que nous n’avons pas en ce
moment accés a un outil de ce genre du tout dans le cas de non-
respect d’une ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée et c’est
notre outil le plus indispensable pour faire en sorte qu'un individu
soit déclaré délinquant dangereux ou délinquant a controler.

Par ailleurs, I'obligation de purger une peine de deux ans qui
s’appliquera a tous les délinquants a contrdler représente une
grande amélioration parce que dans bien des cas, le « temps
mort » si je peux m’exprimer ainsi, prévu au paragraphe 719.3 du
Code criminel s’est accumulé pendant si longtemps que les
délinquants se trouvent a purger une peine de ressort provincial
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Therefore, for many reasons I cannot go into within the time
allotted here, a federal sentence is absolutely essential if the
process is to unfold as it should.

The Chair: That presentation was extremely interesting.

Senator Andreychuk: Perhaps, Mr. Cooper, could you restate
your last point, why the federal sentence is important? Are you
linking it back to the assessment process, or is it the tracking
process?

Mr. Cooper: 1 think the average — and I may not be
100 per cent accurate — but the average duration of a long-
term supervision order is in excess of eight years. We are talking
about a very long period of supervision, which will require
meaningful conditions imposed by the National Parole Board in
order to protect the public.

If the individual is given a federal sentence, that individual in
Ontario will be sent to the Millhaven assessment unit where they
will spend 70 to 90 days assessing the individual before deciding
what to do next. That process is for a male offender. After that,
there be will programming instituted. There will be psychiatric
and psychological counselling and all sorts of assessments
conducted. There will potentially be release on day parole and
full parole. There will be the opportunity for statutory release or
detention, as the case may be. All of these mechanisms of risk
management that are available in the federal system are simply
not available in the same robust form at the provincial level.

Senator Andreychuk: Are you saying that that is an element of
safety? In other words, is it an element of safety for the public and
also a treatment or an assist for the person under the order? Is
that what you get in a federal system? At the provincial level, are
you getting lesser options?

Mr. Cooper: Yes.

Senator Andreychuk: Therefore, more risk and less help?

Mr. Cooper: Given that we started off with picking the worst
of the worst offenders, obviously risk management is our primary
concern.

I should indicate, right from the beginning, the first thing we
consider in one of these applications is the exit strategy. Within
days of an individual being designated a dangerous or long-term
offender, the CSC are at the local detention centre and the local
jail interviewing the offender, looking for contacts and a support
group, et cetera, and building the vast volume of information that
the CSC works towards in determining how this individual can be
first assessed as a risk and then what we can do to manage this
risk.

alors que, bien entendu, c’est le SCC, qui reléve du fédéral, qui
doit surveiller cette personne pendant une période pouvant aller
jusqu’a 10 ans. Pour cette raison et pour beaucoup d’autres que je
n’ai pas le temps de détailler aujourd’hui, I'imposition d’une peine
a purger dans un pénitencier est absolument essentielle au bon
déroulement du processus.

La présidente : Votre exposé était trés intéressant.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Monsieur Cooper, pourriez-vous
revenir sur ce que vous avez dit vers la fin de votre exposé, c’est-a-
dire les raisons pour lesquelles une peine de ressort fédéral est
importante? Faites-vous le lien avec le processus d’évaluation ou
le processus de suivi?

M. Cooper : Sauf erreur, la durée moyenne d’une ordonnance
de surveillance de longue durée dépasse huit ans. Il s’agit d’une
trés longue période de surveillance pendant laquelle la
Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles devra
imposer des conditions trés strictes pour protéger le public.

Si I'individu se voit infliger une peine de ressort fédéral en
Ontario, il sera envoyé a I’établissement Millhaven ou il restera
entre 70 et 90 jours pour qu’on I’évalue en vue de déterminer les
prochaines étapes. C’est le processus suivi pour les détenus de sexe
masculin. Apres cette étape, on va mettre au point un programme
comportant les services d’un psychiatre, d'un psychologue et
toutes sortes d’évaluations. Le délinquant pourra éventuellement
bénéficier d’une libération de jour ou d’une libération
conditionnelle intégrale. On pourra opter pour le maintien en
incarcération ou la libération aprés le délai prévu par la loi. Or
tous ces mécanismes de gestion du risque existent dans le systéme
fédéral mais ne sont pas aussi rigoureux dans le systéme
provincial.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : S’agit-il selon vous d’une question de
sécurité? Autrement dit, est-ce un moyen d’assurer la sécurité
publique et aussi d’offrir un traitement ou de I’aide a la personne
visée par 'ordonnance? Le systéme fédéral permet-il de faire tout
cela, tandis qu’il y aurait moins d’options au niveau provincial?

M. Cooper : Oui.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : C’est-a-dire plus de risque et moins
d’aide.
M. Cooper : Comme ces mesures ne visent que les pires

délinquants, la gestion du risque est évidemment notre objectif
primordial.

Permettez-moi de signaler d’emblée que lors de I’examen de
telles demandes, nous examinons d’abord la stratégie de sortie. A
peine quelques jours aprés qu’un détenu ait été désigné délinquant
dangereux ou délinquant a contrdler, des agents du SCC se
rendent au centre de détention local ou a la prison locale pour
rencontrer l'intéressé, afin de déterminer s’il entretient des
relations avec des gens ou s’il a un réseau d’aide, par exemple.
On recueille une quantité énorme de renseignements dont le SCC
se servira pour décider de la fagon dont on évaluera le risque que
présente le détenu, puis les moyens qu’on peut prendre pour
contenir ce risque.
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At least in Ontario, that simply does not take place in the same
robust fashion. There are some parole opportunities within the
Ontario system. They are used far less frequently. The ability to
assess individuals is not a 70- to 90-day process. Those 70 to
90 days are spent in the Millhaven assessment unit with
individuals who do nothing else but those assessments. We have
very specialized professional staff making these assessments day
after day. That sort of thing does not take place in the provincial
system to the same degree.

We have more tools in our tool belt with a federal sentence
than with a provincial one. Bear in mind that the individual
charged with supervising these individuals for perhaps eight years
are federal employees who are used to the tools they see on their
tool belt, not the other tools used in one of the various provincial
or territorial systems.

Senator Andreychuk: So I am clear, you are saying the benefit
of some of the changes that will be made will help you in the risk
assessment? If we did not go the route of repeat and dangerous
offender applications and if these people were just caught on an
individual case-by-case basis, are you saying that they would
probably go in according to the Criminal Code and come out
according to the Criminal Code?

The advantage that you see of the repeat offender is that you
are then starting to employ tools geared to that person and their
risk needs, which is a benefit for themselves and for the security of
society. However, does it go beyond them being incarcerated in
that you are looking at what happens and how to manage them
back into the community? Am I correct?

Mr. Cooper: That is absolutely correct. If the worst offenders
can be managed in the community, that is what the system is
designed to accommodate. The only dangerous offenders who
remain detained absolutely indefinitely are those who cannot be
managed in the community. There are at least two individuals
who have been declared dangerous offenders here in Ottawa who
have not reoffended, so the system worked. It is all about making
the system work and giving us the tools we need to ensure that
individuals come out into society posing a manageable risk.

Senator Andreychuk: One of the weaknesses of our criminal
system is that people move from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and
so when we hear of a case in one province and then find out there
was a criminal record in another province, the public has less trust
in our system working nationally. The flagging system, you said,
was up and running. Is it now truly fully national? When did
that occur? The flagging system may be 10 years old, but the
implementation certainly is not.

Second, you are looking at potential, and my concern is that
maybe these people are not dangerous offenders. You are using
some tools. Are we then trapping people who should not be there?
That is of some concern to me, but more with respect to my other
concern, is this information kept confidential to the people who

En Ontario du moins, la démarche n’est pas aussi rigoureuse.
La libération conditionnelle existe, mais elle est beaucoup moins
fréquente. On ne consacre pas de 70 a 90 jours a I’évaluation du
délinquant, comme a I’établissement Millhaven ou ces évaluations
sont faites par des spécialistes qui ne font que cela jour aprés jour.
Dans le systéme provincial, on ne procéde pas de fagon aussi
approfondie.

Quand le délinquant fait I'objet d’une peine de ressort fédéral
plutét que provincial, nous avons plus de moyens a notre
disposition. N’oubliez pas que la personne qui sera chargée
de surveiller le détenu pendant huit ans peut-étre est un
fonctionnaire fédéral rompu a I'utilisation de tous ses outils, et
non des moyens utilisés dans les divers systémes des provinces ou
territoires.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Si j’ai bien compris, vous dites que
certains des changements vous aideront a bien évaluer le risque?
Si ces délinquants n’étaient pas déclarés délinquants dangereux ou
délinquants controlés, leur dossier serait étudié au cas par cas et, a
votre avis, ils seraient incarcérés et mis en liberté selon les
dispositions du Code criminel?

Le fait de déclarer qu’une personne est un délinquant a
controler présente a votre avis ’avantage de vous permettre
d’utiliser des outils visant a évaluer le risque du délinquant, ce qui
est bénéfique aussi bien pour le premier intéressé que pour la
société dont on assure mieux la sécurité. Toutefois, est-ce que la
démarche va au-dela de I'incarcération? Décidez-vous des moyens
de controler le délinquant aprés sa libération?

M. Cooper : Absolument. Si les pires délinquants peuvent étre
contrdlés dans la société, c’est ce que le systéme vise a faire. Seuls
les délinquants dangereux qui ne peuvent étre contrélés dans la
société demeureront derriére les barreaux indéfiniment. Ici méme
a Ottawa, il y a au moins deux individus qui ont été déclarés
délinquants dangereux et qui n’ont pas récidivé. On voit donc que
le systéme fonctionne. Il s’agit de faire en sorte que le systéme
fonctionne et que nous ayons les outils dont nous avons besoin
pour faire en sorte que les délinquants mis en liberté présentent un
risque gérable.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Une des lacunes de notre systéme
judiciaire est que les gens peuvent circuler d’une province a
l’autre, si bien que lorsqu’on apprend que 'auteur d’un crime
dans une province avait un casier judiciaire dans une autre
province; cela mine la confiance de la population vis-a-vis le
fonctionnement de notre systéme a 1’échelle nationale. Vous avez
dit que le systéme de repérage est d’ores et déja fonctionnel. L’est-
il entiérement dans tout le pays? Depuis quand? Le systéme lui-
méme date peut-étre de 10 ans, mais certainement pas sa mise en
ceuvre.

Deuxiemement, on évalue le potentiel et ce qui nous préoccupe,
c’est que ces personnes ne soient pas vraiment des délinquants
dangereux. Nous utilisons certains outils. Risquons-nous
d’attribuer la qualité de délinquant dangereux a des gens qui
n’en sont pas? Ca m’inquicte, mais je me demande aussi si cette
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need to know, which appears to be through the CPIC system, the
police and the prosecutors? What assurances do we have that the
system is not one that can track people as potential risks and do
them harm if that information is misused for other purposes?

Mr. Yumansky: I may ask Mr. Bonta to comment on whether
we are actually targeting the right individuals in the system. I will
respond to the first part of your question.

While it is correct that the system was announced in 1995, it
obviously did not begin as soon as the announcement was made.
There was a phase-in period. One jurisdiction in particular, upon
which the system is actually based, is B.C., and they had a very
aggressive, successful, similar type of flagging system in place for
years prior to the 1995 launch. In fact, as I said, many of the
ingredients of the B.C. system were imported into the national
system. B.C. was ready to go immediately. Other jurisdictions
took longer but, by and large, by about five years later, virtually
all jurisdictions were on board, with the exception today, perhaps,
of the territories where there are still some gaps in service.

I know for a fact that a coordinator has been appointed in
every jurisdiction. We meet basically every two years as a group.
The federal government coordinates that activity, and we take
stock of where jurisdictions are at in terms of the number of
individuals flagged and how we are progressing as a nation, but
I feel confident that we have a pretty vibrant system, and there is
a lot of exchange between jurisdictions. The system is working.
CPIC is an excellent tool. It was identified right from the
beginning that this was the tool to use to ensure information
about individuals who are flagged are known to other
jurisdictions or within jurisdictions, so I feel quite assured that
the system has become successful in terms of meeting its original
goals.

The system is based on CPIC. Select numbers of individuals in
the criminal justice system have access to that system. Protocols
are in place to guide the use of the information. It is not publicly
accessible. That is certain in my understanding of the system, so
I feel quite confident that the information about these individuals
stays within those that are operating the system — provincially,
the RCMP and the police.

Mr. Bonta: I like the way you posed the question on are we
perhaps trapping people who should not be there. You essentially
asked the flip side of what I had in my presentation. Are we
identifying high risk offenders? In general I concluded that, for
the most part, yes.

I have spent my professional career doing research on risk
assessment instruments. When we do risk assessments, there will
always be error. We will sometimes correctly identify people who
are violent, and we will make mistakes. We will identify people

information n’est divulguée qu’aux gens qui ont besoin de la
connaitre, c’est-a-dire la police et les procureurs, par I’entremise
du systéme CIPC? Pouvons-nous étre certains que le systéme ne
va pas cibler des gens qui sont considérés comme présentant des
risques, ce qui pourrait leur causer du tort si 'information est
utilisée a mauvais escient a d’autres fins?

M. Yumansky : Je vais demander a M. Bonta de commenter la
question de savoir si nous ciblons vraiment les bons individus
dans le systéme. Je répondrai moi-méme a la premiére partie de
votre question.

Le systéme a effectivement été annoncé en 1995, mais il n’était
pas fonctionnel dés le départ. Il y a eu période de mise en place
progressive. En particulier en Colombie-Britannique, la province
qui avait mis en place des mesures dont le systéme national s’est
inspiré, avait un systéme de repérage trés dynamique et efficace
depuis des années au moment de I'annonce de 1995. Méme
que, comme je ’ai dit, bon nombre des éléments du systéme de
cette province ont été repris dans le systéme national. La
Colombie-Britannique était préte a mettre le systéme en place
immédiatement. D’autres gouvernements ont mis plus de temps a
le faire et dans I’ensemble, cinq ans aprés 'annonce, presque tous
les gouvernements s’étaient ralliés, a I’exception peut-étre des
territoires ou les services ne sont pas encore tout a fait au point.

Je sais pertinemment qu'un coordonnateur a été nommé
dans chaque province et territoire. Nous nous rencontrons
généralement tous les deux ans. Le gouvernement fédéral
coordonne cette activité pendant laquelle nous faisons le point
sur la mise en place du systeme dans tout le Canada et le nombre
de délinquants inscrits dans le systéme; jestime cependant que le
systéme est assez dynamique et qu’il y a beaucoup d’échanges
entre les représentants des provinces et territoires. Le systéme
fonctionne. Le CIPC est un excellent outil et on a compris dés le
départ que c’est I'outil qu’il fallait utiliser pour communiquer a
d’autres provinces, ou a lintérieur de la méme province, de
I'information sur les individus qui sont suivis. Je suis donc
persuadé que le systéme a réussi a atteindre ses objectifs initiaux.

Le systéme repose sur leCIPC, auquel ont accés un certain
nombre d’intervenants du systéme de justice pénal. Il y a des
protocoles qui régissent I'utilisation de ces renseignements. Le
systéme n’est pas accessible a 1’ensemble de la population. J’en
suis persuadé et je suis donc sir que les renseignements au sujet
de ces délinquants ne sont communiqués qu’aux opérateurs du
systéme dans chaque province, la GRC et la police.

M. Bonta : J’ai bien aimé votre question quant a savoir si nous
ne sommes peut-étre pas en train de piéger des gens qui ne sont
pas vraiment des délinquants dangereux. C’est en fait le corollaire
de ce que j’ai dit dans ma déclaration. Arrivons-nous a identifier
les délinquants qui posent le plus de risques? Et jai conclu que
oui, dans la plupart des cas.

Pendant toute ma carriére, j’ai fait des recherches sur des
instruments d’évaluation du risque. Il faut cependant savoir que
I’opération comportera toujours un risque d’erreur. Dans certains
cas, nous réussissons a identifier correctement les individus
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who really are not violent. What research and risk scale
development is doing is trying to minimize the errors of
gathering up those who should not be there.

No risk instrument is perfect; far from it, but we now
have a considerable literature base indicating that actuarial
risk assessments do better than professional judgments. When
National Flagging System coordinators gather their information,
they are also looking for these actuarial risk assessments and
those results help make decisions as to who to place on the
system.

Our next phase of research is trying to improve that process of
identifying people better and making fewer of those errors, such
as putting people on the system that perhaps do not need to be
there. It is a continually evolving work.

Senator Merchant: Good morning. My concerns are with the
group of people highly and disproportionately represented in
admissions to all types of correctional services in Canada, and
that is our Aboriginal Peoples. In Saskatchewan, my home
province, in 2003-04, 80 per cent of those admitted to adult
provincially sentenced custodial facilities, 80 per cent of those
were Aboriginals compared with 10 per cent of the general
adult population. Also, 58 per cent of Aboriginal people in
Saskatchewan released between April 1, 1999, and March 31,
2000, were readmitted within four years, with approximately one
half the readmissions occurring within the first year of release.

We have a very high incidence of Aboriginal Peoples in our
correctional services. Who will feel the impact of these changes to
our dangerous offender regime? Will it be the dangerous offenders
or the Aboriginals? Will the Aboriginal people feel the impact of
these changes more than the ordinary people?

Mr. Cooper: I am sorry; is your question addressed to me?

Senator Merchant: I am not sure who. You can all tackle it.

Mr. Cooper: Again, I am sorry I have to be anecdotal here as
I do not have statistics, but the caseload that I deal with here in
the Eastern region shows no disproportionately high
representation that I have ever determined.

Senator Merchant: [ have given you our statistics. How do you
feel the dangerous offender regime will affect Aboriginals?

Mr. Cooper: Regardless of who the offender is, we are only
interested in the worst of the worst offenders. We would have to
have statistical information as to whether the percentage of
Aboriginal First Nations people that you are speaking of were
committing serious personal injury offences, for one, and whether
there has been a pattern of behaviour that qualifies under

violents, et dans d’autres, nous faisons des erreurs en identifiant
des gens qui ne le sont pas. Grace a nos recherches et a
I’élaboration d’une échelle d’évaluation du risque, nous nous
efforgons de limiter les erreurs de ce genre.

Aucun instrument d’évaluation du risque n’est parfait, loin s’en
faut, mais un grand nombre d’ouvrages sur le sujet indique que
les évaluations actuarielles du risque sont plus exactes que le
jugement des professionnels. Lorsque les coordonnateurs du
Systéme de repérage national recueillent de I'information, ils
prennent connaissance des évaluations actuarielles du risque et
cela les aide a décider de ’opportunité de ficher quelqu’un dans le
systeme.

Lors de notre prochaine phase de recherche, nous essaierons
d’améliorer le processus afin de mieux identifier les personnes et
de faire moins d’erreurs, comme d’inclure des gens dans le systéme
qui peut-étre ne devraient pas s’y trouver. C’est un travail en
évolution constante.

Le sénateur Merchant : Bonjour. Je m’inquiéte qu’un groupe de
personnes soit représenté de fagon disproportionnée dans tous les
types de services correctionnels au Canada, c’est-a-dire les peuples
autochtones. En Saskatchewan, ma province natale, en 2003-
2004, 80 p. 100 des personnes admises dans des établissements de
détention pour adultes ayant recu des peines provinciales étaient
des Autochtones alors qu’ils ne représentent que 10 p. 100 de la
population adulte en général. De méme, 58 p. 100 des
Autochtones en Saskatchewan libérés entre le 1°" avril 1999 et le
31 mars 2000 ont été réadmis au cours des quatre années
suivantes, et environ la moitié des réadmissions se sont produites
pendant la premiére année de libération.

Il y a un trés grand nombre d’Autochtones dans le systéme
correctionnel. Qui ressentira les effets de ces changements
apportés a notre régime pour criminels dangereux? Est-ce que
ce sera les criminels dangereux ou les Autochtones? Est-ce que les
Autochtones ressentiront les effets de ces changements plus que
les gens ordinaires?

M. Cooper : Je suis désolé; est-ce que votre question s’adresse
a moi?

Le sénateur Merchant : Je ne suis pas certain a qui elle
s’adresse, vous pouvez tous essayer d’y répondre.

M. Cooper : Encore une fois, je suis désolé de vous présenter
des cas isolés puisque je n’ai pas de statistiques mais les dossiers
que j’ai traités ici dans la région de I’Est ne me permettent pas de
croire qu’il y a une surreprésentation disproportionnée.

Le sénateur Merchant : Je vous ai présenté nos statistiques. De
quelle fagon croyez-vous que le systéme pour les criminels
dangereux touchera les Autochtones?

M. Cooper : Quelle que soit I'identité du criminel, nous nous
intéressons seulement aux pires des pires criminels. Nous aurions
besoin d’informations statistiques pour savoir, premiérement,
quel est le pourcentage des Autochtones et des Premiéres nations
dont vous parlez qui commettent des crimes graves avec
blessures corporelles, et deuxiémement, s’il y a des tendances
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Part XXIV as a basis upon which to make an application for a
designation as a dangerous or long-term offender.

As T indicated earlier, at least in my own region, that is largely
victim-driven. I am not so much interested in bank robbers or
people doing commercial break and enters. I am interested in
people who are victimizing generations of victims by their actions.
It is a very targeted group. I cannot assist you in terms of who
would be most or least affected, except to say that it will be the
worst of the worst offenders and those who have demonstrated
that they are ungovernable with normal sentencing measures. The
fact that a certain percentage were readmitted within four years
would not normally be indicative of the types of very serious
offenses that I am concerned with, because they are often in jail
for quite a long time when they are sentenced under the
traditional provisions of the Criminal Code. I do not know
whether that assists you.

Senator Merchant: It does not really, but I appreciate your
opinion. I am only asking for your opinion.

There is a collective understanding among researchers that
Aboriginal people live under generally different historic, social
and economic conditions than the non-Aboriginal population.
In 1996, legislators added a section to the Criminal Code that
requires a court to consider this principle. All available sanctions
other than imprisonment that are reasonable in the circumstances
should be considered for all offenders, with particular attention to
the circumstances of Aboriginal offenders.

Do you take that into consideration, then? Would you think
that you should take that into consideration?

Mr. Cooper: That would be one of many factors to be taken
into consideration. Frankly, that is more for the court’s
consideration than one of the parties to the litigation.

I have been passed a note. I do not know if this assists you with
the previous question, but we have one Aboriginal offender
among the over 30 that we are currently dealing with in the East
region. I do not know what that would be in a percentage.

Senator Merchant: That does not help me because I am talking
about Saskatchewan.

Mr. Cooper: I appreciate that, but the sentencing consideration
that you have indicated in the Criminal Code is certainly one that
informs the process, as do the other provisions in section 718, the
traditional principles and purposes of sentencing. All of those
provisions inform the decision of the Crown whether to proceed.
They certainly inform the decision of the judge as to what tack to
take in imposing a sentence.

I should have mentioned at the outset that there is an incredible
wealth of prosecutorial experience brought to each case with
which we deal. It is reviewed by the trial Crown, who perhaps may
only have had five years’ experience, but it is then reviewed by his

comportementales qui, selon la partie XXIV, nous permettraient
de faire une demande pour obtenir la désignation de criminel
dangereux ou délinquant a controéler.

Comme je ’ai dit plus tot, et du moins dans ma région, cela
dépend en grande partie des victimes. Je ne suis pas trés intéressé
aux voleurs de banque et aux gens qui entrent par infraction dans
les commerces. Je m’intéresse aux gens qui par leurs actions
victimisent des générations de victimes. C’est un groupe tres ciblé.
Je ne peux pas vous aider a déterminer qui serait plus ou moins
touché, mais je peux vous dire que ce serait les pires des pires
criminels et ceux qui ont fait la preuve qu’ils ne peuvent pas étre
maitrisés avec des mesures normales de sentence. Le fait quun
certain pourcentage ait été réadmis au cours des quatre années
suivantes n’indiquerait normalement pas le type de crimes trés
graves que j’étudie, parce que ces gens sont souvent en prison
pour trés longtemps lorsqu’ils regoivent une peine selon les
dispositions classiques du Code criminel. Je ne sais pas si cela
vous aide.

Le sénateur Merchant : Cela ne m’aide pas vraiment, mais je
vous remercie de votre opinion. C’est tout ce que je vous
demande, votre opinion.

Les chercheurs sont d’accord pour dire que les Autochtones
vivent dans des conditions historiques, sociales et économiques
généralement différentes des non-Autochtones. En 1996, les
législateurs ont ajouté un article au Code criminel qui exige que
les tribunaux prennent en compte ce principe. Toutes les sanctions
disponibles autres que ’emprisonnement qui sont raisonnables
dans les circonstances doivent étre prises en compte pour tous les
criminels, et une attention particuliere doit étre portée aux
circonstances des criminels autochtones.

Est-ce que vous tenez compte de ces circonstances? Pensez-vous
que vous devriez en tenir compte?

M. Cooper : Il s’agit la d’'un des nombreux facteurs qui
entreraient en ligne de compte. En fait, tout cela intéresse
beaucoup plus la cour qu'une des parties au litige.

On vient de me remettre une note. Je ne sais pas si cela répond
dans une certaine mesure a la question qu’on a posée, mais nous
avons un contrevenant autochtone sur 30 contrevenants dont
nous nous occupons dans la région de I’Est. Je ne sais pas ce que
cela représente comme pourcentage.

Le sénateur Merchant : Cela n’est pas vraiment utile parce que
je parle de la Saskatchewan.

M. Cooper : Je sais, mais les consignes sur la détermination de
la peine que vous avez mentionnées et qui sont prévues dans le
Code criminel visent a éclairer tout le processus, et il en va de
méme pour les paragraphes de l'article 718, les objectifs et
principes. Toutes ces dispositions représentent des instructions
qui sont offertes a la Couronne. En fait il s’agit d’une facon
d’instruire le juge quant aux facteurs dont il doit tenir compte lors
de la détermination de la peine.

J’aurais d signaler au départ qu’il y a une vaste expérience en
matiére de poursuite qui est mise en jeu chaque fois que nous nous
occupons des dossiers. Le dossier est étudié par le procureur de la
Couronne plaidant, qui n’a peut-étre que cinq ans d’expérience,
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or her supervisor, who may have 20 to 30 years’ experience,
reviewed by me with about 20 years’ experience, and by my
supervisor, with about 35 years’ experience. It then goes to our
head office where three more lawyers deal with it, then to the
assistant deputy minister, then the deputy minister and perhaps
the Attorney General of the province. Thus, there is well in excess
of 100 years of prosecutorial experience brought to each case,
perhaps as many as 200 years, depending on the lawyers involved.

There are many points during the decision-making process
where I, in particular, exercise a gatekeeper role. With our case
load, of which I have spoken this morning, in the last month
I have deleted two cases that had already been started into the
process. For various reasons, I cut those two offenders and we
are using traditional sentencing methods for those. It is a
constant re-evaluation as we go through the process. The
process itself takes many months to collect the information
involved. When we finally come to review everything we have
collected, we sometimes decide that this case does not merit an
application under Part XXIV.

Senator Cowan: These question are varied and you can answer
them as you like.

I realize this flagging system is in effect all across the country.
You say that in the territories it is perhaps less well advanced, but
is it fairly uniform across the country? Do you feel that, in the rest
of the country, the system is working uniformly?

Mr. Yumansky: Yes. All provinces and territories have bought
into the established criteria and protocols that have been set up
from the beginning of the program. There are several jurisdictions
that have decided that it would be worth their while to create a
second tier or second level, an internal flagging system that is of
use to only their jurisdiction, not across the system. They are not
clogging up the CPIC system with those internal flagged
offenders. They are at a lower level than you would normally
find across the country.

Senator Cowan: In terms of the dangerous offender category, if
I can categorize it in that way — and this follows along some of
the questions that Senator Merchant was asking — can you give
us statistics, Mr. Bonta, with respect to the percentage of men and
women, of Aboriginals, of offenders with sexual offences, and in
which guns were the delineating characteristic?

Mr. Bonta: First, in 2007, there were, in this country, 370 active
dangerous offenders.

The Chair: Can you clarify that? Do you mean people who had
been designated dangerous offenders and who were still under the
force of that designation?

Mr. Bonta: Yes, exactly.

mais il est par la suite examiné par son superviseur, qui a peut-étre
20 a 30 ans d’expérience, puis par moi qui dispose d’environ
20 ans d’expérience et puis par mon supérieur qui lui a environ
35 ans d’expérience. Le dossier est ensuite renvoyé au bureau
central ou trois autres avocats I’étudient, puis renvoyé a nouveau
au sous-ministre adjoint, puis au sous-ministre puis peut-étre
méme au procureur général de la province. Donc, il y a plus de
100 ans d’expérience en matiére de poursuite qui est mis a
contribution dans chaque dossier, peut-étre méme 200 ans, selon
les avocats qui sont consultés.

Je suis appelé, a plusieurs étapes du processus décisionnaire,
a jouer le role de contrdéleur. Compte tenu de notre charge de
travail, dont je vous ai déja parlé, j’ai di au cours du dernier mois
écarter deux dossiers dont I’étude était déja amorcée. Pour
diverses raisons, j’ai écarté ces deux contrevenants et dans ces
circonstances nous faisons appel aux méthodes traditionnelles de
détermination de la peine. En fait il se produit une réévaluation
permanente du dossier a toutes les étapes. Ce processus prend
plusieurs mois pour recueillir tous les renseignements pertinents.
Lorsque nous en sommes rendus au point ou nous devons passer
en revue tous les renseignements que nous avons obtenus, nous
décidons a I’occasion que cette affaire ne mérite pas que I'on
présente une demande conformément a la partie XXIV du Code
criminel.

Le sénateur Cowan : J’ai plusieurs questions a vous poser et
vous pourrez y répondre dans ’ordre qui vous convient.

Je comprends que ce systeme de repérage est utilisé partout au
pays. Vous dites que dans les territoires le systéme n’est peut-étre
pas tout a fait perfectionné mais je suppose qu’il est appliqué de
fagon relativement uniforme a 1’échelle du pays? Estimez-vous que
dans le reste du pays le systéme est appliqué de fagon uniforme?

M. Yumansky : Oui. Toutes les provinces et tous les territoires
ont adopté les protocoles et critéres établis lorsque le programme
a ¢été lancé. Plusieurs provinces ont décidé qu’il serait utile
d’adopter un deuxiéme palier, un systéme interne de repérage
qu’elles seules utiliseraient, il ne s’agit donc pas d’un systeme
qui s’applique a toutes les régions. Cela ne vient pas créer
d’embouteillage dans le systtme du CIPC si on y ajoute les
contrevenants qui ont été fichés a I'interne. Ils se trouvent en fait a
un niveau inférieur au niveau national.

Le sénateur Cowan : Pour ce qui est de la catégorie du
délinquant dangereux, si je peux m’exprimer ainsi — et cela
revient dans une certaine mesure aux questions qu’a posées le
sénateur Merchant — pouvez-vous nous donner, monsieur Bonta,
des statistiques quant au pourcentage d’hommes et de femmes
autochtones, qui ont été accusés de délits sexuels, et qui ont utilisé
une arme a feu lorsqu’ils ont commis leur crime, ce qui représente
une caractéristique définissant le délit?

M. Bonta : En 2007, il y avait au Canada 370 délinquants
dangereux actifs.

La présidente : Pouvez-vous nous fournir un peu plus de
précision? S’agit-il de gens qui avaient été fichés comme
délinquants dangereux et qui I’étaient toujours?

M. Bonta : C’est exact.
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Senator Cowan: This is when?
Mr. Bonta: This is as of 2007.

Senator Cowan: That is a cumulative total; that is not for that
one year?

Mr. Bonta: Yes, that is the cumulative total. They are still alive
and living and under a dangerous offender designation. We had
427 if we go back right to 1978 designations.

I do not have the specific statistics in front of me, but our other
research on dangerous offenders shows that the vast majority are
sexual offenders, probably in the vicinity of 90 per cent. I do not
have in this book that I brought with me the breakdown in terms
of Aboriginal or non-Aboriginal. I can tell you that out of
the 370 offenders, 29 came from Saskatchewan. I believe
Correctional Service of Canada could provide the information
as to how many are Aboriginal and how many are non-
Aboriginal. They would have that information.

Senator Cowan: Mr. Cooper, what is the rate of success in your
bailiwick of long-term offender applications?

Mr. Cooper: We make applications under Part XXIV for
dangerous and long-term offender applications. The court is
bound to consider three different sentencing avenues for one of
these applications if we apply for desigation as a dangerous
offender, and the court, in terms of risk assessment, has to first
decide whether the Crown has met the criteria, and that is
virtually always the case; and if that is the case, then the difficult
work begins, and that entails the assessments of risk. The court
must then make the decision, notwithstanding that the offender
meets the qualifications of a dangerous offender, whether the risk
that that offender poses can be managed in the community with a
simple, determinative sentence, X years or X months; or a
determinative sentence supplemented by a period of long-term
supervision, which is simply that a long-term offender gets
sentenced to X years or X months plus X years or X months
supervision thereafter, after their warrant expiry date; or does the
individual have to be given an indeterminate sentence, so that he
will be released when the National Parole Board has determined
that the risk that he poses can be, in fact, managed in the
community. Every judge has to make that decision. It is one of
three slots as to where the individual should be placed.

When we talk about the rate of success, the current caseload of
30-some cases does not take into account the cases that we have
had from 2000 until now. We have had two cases that did not
make it through the system that I did not pull, and several that
I have pulled.

Senator Cowan: I understand the screening and gatekeeper
system that you have described, but when the cases ultimately get
to court, what is the success rate?

Le sénateur Cowan : Et c’était en quelle année?
M. Bonta : En 2007.

Le sénateur Cowan : Il s’agit d’un total cumulatif; cela ne
représente pas les chiffres enregistrés pendant une année, n’est-ce
pas?

M. Bonta : Oui, cela représente le total cumulatif. Ils sont
toujours vivants et sont toujours désignés comme délinquants
dangereux. Si ’on remonte a 1978, il y en a eu 427.

Je n’ai pas a portée de la main les statistiques particulieres,
mais nos autres travaux de recherche sur les délinquants
dangereux démontrent que la majorité d’entre eux sont des
délinquants sexuels, probablement environ 90 p. 100 d’entre eux.
Dans le livre que j’ai apporté avec moi, je n’ai pas la ventilation de
ces délinquants & savoir combien sont Autochtones et combien
sont non-Autochtones. Je peux simplement vous dire que sur les
370 contrevenants, 29 venaient de la Saskatchewan. Je crois que
le Service correctionnel du Canada pourrait vous fournir les
renseignements quant au nombre d’Autochtones. Le service
disposerait de ces renseignements.

Le sénateur Cowan : Monsieur Cooper, quel est votre taux de
succés quand vous demandez qu’un contrevenant soit désigné
délinquant a controéler?

M. Cooper : Nous avons présenté des demandes conformément
a la partie XXIV pour la désignation de délinquant a contrdler et
de délinquant dangereux. Le tribunal doit envisager trois types de
peines possibles lorsque nous demandons que 1’on désigne un
contrevenant comme délinquant dangereux, et lorsque le tribunal
doit évaluer les risques, il doit d’abord et avant tout déterminer si
la Couronne a respecté les critéres établis, ce qui est pratiquement
toujours le cas; puis, si la Couronne a respecté les critéres établis,
le travail plus difficile commence, car il faut évaluer le risque. Le
tribunal doit alors se prononcer, peu importe si le contrevenant
répond a la définition de délinquant dangereux, si le risque que ce
dernier présente peut étre contrélé dans la communauté par une
peine de durée déterminée, un nombre d’années ou de mois; ou
une peine de durée déterminée a laquelle vient s’ajouter une
période de surveillance de longue durée, ce qui veut dire qu'un
délinquant a contréler recoit une peine de tant de mois ou de tant
d’années auxquels viennent s’ajouter tant de mois ou d’années de
surveillance par la suite, aprés la date d’expiration du mandat;
doit-on imposer au contrevenant une peine de durée indéterminée
pour qu’il soit libéré une fois que la Commission des libérations
conditionnelles aura déterminé que le risque qu’il présente peut en
fait étre controlé au sein de la collectivité. Chaque juge doit
prendre cette décision. C’est une des trois catégories que I’on peut
choisir.

Lorsqu’on parle du taux de succés, j’aimerais signaler que la
charge de travail actuelle, quelque 30 dossiers, ne tient pas compte
des cas que nous avons da étudier depuis 1’an 2000. Il y a eu deux
cas qui n’ont pas franchi toutes les étapes du systéme et que je n’ai
pas choisis, et d’autres que j’ai éliminés tout simplement.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je comprends le principe du controéle et de
gardien que vous venez de décrire, mais lorsque ces questions sont
étudiées par les tribunaux, quel est le taux de succes?
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Mr. Cooper: I have only had two cases that were not successful.
Senator Cowan: So the success rate is high?

Mr. Cooper: Extremely high, because we are selective at the
outset.

Senator Cowan: I understand that. Can I assume the kind of
system that you have in Eastern Ontario is more elaborate than
would be the case across the country?

Mr. Cooper: I cannot speak for across the country. I can speak
for within Ontario. My supervisor, Mr. James Stewart, the
director for this region, has permitted me and Mr. Cam — who
is seated behind me — to engage in an unfunded pilot project for
the last several years, in my case, and about a year and a half for
Mr. Cam. In August, the premier announced that that project
would be expanded to the other five regions of Ontario, and that
process has begun this week.

Senator Cowan: I perhaps should not characterize it as success
or failure, but I will. In terms of applications across the country,
you have a high success rate, and that is probably due in part to
the careful screening that goes into the cases before they get to
court. Do either of you gentlemen have any sense of the success
rate across the country?

Mr. Bonta: We conducted a research study in 1996 on
dangerous offenders specifically. I would agree with
Mr. Cooper that the success rate is very high because so much
effort is put into it. They cross their Ts and dot their Is.

The Chair: Could I ask a supplementary to that? Mr. Cooper,
how many applications do you make per month or per year? At
one point you said you had 30 applications on the go in any
month, but if you were bringing in 30 applications a month, then
you alone would have accounted for all the people now in the
system. How many applications do you actually bring?

Mr. Cooper: All of these applications to which I have made
reference will be brought unless I determine, in my gatekeeper
role, that they will not be brought, so we can assume we are going
forward with the 30-plus cases that are in our system now.
However, you have to appreciate that these cases sometimes take
two years to get through the system.

The Chair: Is it one a month or three a year?

Mr. Cooper: Kingston has about 12 cases because of the high
number of penitentiaries in that area. I would say we are doing six
to twelve a year.

Senator Cowan: Mr. Cooper, the Canadian Bar Association
has made a submission to this committee. While they support —
as indeed we all support — initiatives to protect society and, in
particular, to identify and segregate these dangerous offenders,
the point they make is that the system within the existing
legislation works well, and that offenders who do endanger the

M. Cooper : Je n’ai connu que deux échecs.
Le sénateur Cowan : Donc, le taux de succes est trées élevé?

M. Cooper : Trés élevé, parce que nous choisissons de fagon
judicieuse les cas ou nous présenterons une demande.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je comprends. Puis-je présumer que le
systéme que vous avez dans I’Est de I’Ontario est un peu plus
perfectionné que celui qu’on retrouve dans les autres régions du
pays?

M. Cooper : Je ne peux pas parler pour les autres régions. Je ne
peux que vous parler de ce qui se passe en Ontario. Mon
superviseur, M. James Stewart, directeur de la région, m’a permis
ainsi qu’a M. Cam — qui est assis derriére moi — de lancer un
projet pilote non financé ces derniéres années, et pour M. Cam,
cela représente les derniers 18 mois. En aott, le premier ministre
provincial a annoncé que la portée du projet serait élargie pour
inclure les cinq autres régions de 1’Ontario. Nous avons
commencé nos travaux a cet égard cette semaine.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je devrais peut-étre éviter d’en parler en
termes de réussite ou d’échec, mais je le ferai néanmoins. Si vous
avez un taux aussi élevé de succes, en ce qui a trait aux demandes
présentées partout au pays, c’est sans doute di en partie aux
vérifications minutieuses qui sont faites des dossiers avant qu’ils
soient présentés aux tribunaux. L’un de vous est-il au courant du
taux de succés pour ’ensemble du pays?

M. Bonta : Nous avons effectué une recherche sur les
délinquants dangereux en 1996. Je suis d’accord avec
M. Cooper lorsqu’il dit que le taux élevé de réussite est di
aux grands efforts qui sont déployés. Le travail est fait
minutieusement.

La présidente : Puis-je poser une question supplémentaire a ce
sujet? Monsieur Cooper, combien de demandes présentez-vous
par mois ou par an? Vous avez dit précédemment que vous aviez
30 demandes en traitement chaque mois, mais si vous présentez 30
demandes chaque mois, ces demandes représentent a elles seules
toutes celles qui sont présentées a 1’égard de tous les délinquants
du systéeme. Combien de demandes présentez-vous réellement?

M. Cooper : Toutes ces demandes dont j’ai parlé seront
présentées a moins que je décide, en ma qualité de contrdleur,
qu’elles ne le seront pas. On peut donc supposer que nous
présentons les quelque 30 dossiers qui sont déja dans notre
systéme. Il faut néanmoins comprendre que ces dossiers prennent
parfois jusqu’a deux ans pour étre traités.

La présidente : Cela représente-t-il un dossier par mois ou trois
par an?

M. Cooper : Kingston 12 dossiers, compte tenu du nombre
élevé de pénitenciers dans cette zone. Nous en traitons de six a
12 par an.

Le sénateur Cowan : Monsieur Cooper, notre comité a regu le
témoignage de 1’Association du Barreau canadien. Bien que,
comme nous tous, I’association appuie les initiatives qui protégent
la société et qui, plus particuliérement, permettent d’identifier et
de tenir a I’écart ces délinquants dangereux, elle a fait valoir que le
systéeme qui existe déja de par la loi fonctionne bien et que la
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community are well dealt with under the current legislation, even
without this three-strikes approach which is contemplated by this
act.

In support of that, they make the point that the current
legislative regime has been subject to thorough litigation; the
constitutional parameters are well set out and the balance
between the need to protect society and the requirements of the
Charter are well understood and well established; and that if we
now make changes, that will open the floodgates to new
constitutional Charter challenges. They wonder whether that is
a worthwhile consequence in order to get these changes.

They say that the number of cases would add to an already
clogged judicial system and that, in their view, the resources that
would be expended in that endeavour would be better focused if
we were to spend that money on improved public safety measures.
Do you have any comment on that?

Mr. Cooper: Yes, I do. The provision, colloquially referred to
as the three-strikes provision, deals with that part of the process
that I referred to earlier as one of the four disjunctive tests that get
you into the threshold. The cases I bring forward are so far above
that test that this has no effect at all on my practice of law, or the
practice of law of any Crown counsel in the East region of
Ontario, and I do not anticipate it will have an effect on other
Crown counsel.

These cases are so much work that they will not be done unless
they are necessary. In particular, because it is Crown-driven and
we can control our workload, we can take that plea negotiation
that is offered by the defence counsel or we can ask for a
traditional sentence and be done in one day. These hearings can
take three weeks on average, so we do not go through this
incredible amount of effort unless the case merits it to begin with.

The reverse onus provision simply gets you in the door, in any
event. Even if that was utilized by someone, that would just get
you in the door through the threshold criteria. The difficult part is
the risk assessment process.

The provision to which you make reference could potentially
serve to raise awareness, generally speaking, and that is a good
thing. It is a good thing that people, Crown attorneys in
particular, are taking more interest in these processes and
loading up their plate, which is something that is not done
unless it is necessary. I do not anticipate there to be any
floodgates because I do not think any Crown attorney will place it
that close to the line that it would not qualify under the other
criteria as well.

The reverse onus will not cause me to bring one more case to
court, because I am fully aware of what is involved in one of these
cases. What I expect that provision will do is raise awareness for
Crown counsel all across Canada, so that they may be more

législation actuelle suffit dans les cas de délinquants qui
constituent un danger pour la communauté, méme sans la régle
des trois fautes qui est prévue dans cette loi.

A Tlappui de son argument, elle fait valoir que le régime
1égislatif actuel a déja été mis a 1’épreuve au moyen de nombreux
litiges; les paramétres constitutionnels sont bien établis, I’équilibre
entre la nécessité de protéger la société et les exigences de la
Charte sont bien compris et bien établis, et si nous apportons
maintenant des changements a tout cela, nous ouvrirons la porte a
de nouvelles contestations constitutionnelles en vertu de la
Charte. L’Association du Barreau canadien se demande si les
changements proposés valent les conséquences qui pourraient en
découler.

Elle dit que les nombreuses contestations viendraient s’ajouter
a un systéme judiciaire déja engorgé et, qu’a son avis, il vaudrait
mieux consacrer les ressources prévues pour cette initiative a des
mesures permettant d’améliorer la sécurité publique. Qu’en
pensez-vous?

M. Cooper : Je suis d’accord. La disposition que 'on appelle
familiérement la régle des trois fautes s’inscrit dans le processus
que j'ai décrit précédemment, et c’est I'un des quatre critéres
disjonctifs qui permet de vérifier si un certain seuil est atteint. Les
dossiers que je présente vont si loin au-dela de ce critére que cela
n’a aucun effet sur I’exercice que je fais du droit, ou qu’en font les
procureurs de la région est de ’Ontario. Je ne prévois donc pas
qu’il aura des répercussions pour les autres procureurs.

Ces dossiers exigent tant de travail qu’il n’y aura pas de
demande a moins que ce soit nécessaire. Comme c’est la
Couronne qui amorce le processus et comme nous pouvons
contrbler notre charge de travail, nous pouvons accepter la
négociation de plaidoyer que propose ’avocat de la défense ou
nous pouvons demander I'imposition de la peine conventionnelle.
Tout cela peut se faire en une journée. Ces audiences peuvent
prendre jusqu’a trois semaines en moyenne, et nous évitons donc
de déployer ces incroyables efforts a moins que le dossier ne le
justifie au départ.

De toute fagon, I'inversion du fardeau de la preuve, méme si on
I'utilisait, ne permettrait que d’atteindre le critére du seuil. C’est
I’évaluation du risque qui est difficile.

La disposition dont vous avez parlé pourrait peut-étre servir a
fournir de I'information, et d’une fagon générale, c’est une bonne
chose. C’est une bonne chose que les gens, et plus particuliérement
les procureurs de la Couronne, s’intéressent davantage a ces
procédés et qu’ils étoffent leurs dossiers, ce qui ne se fait
généralement qu’en cas de nécessité. Je ne prévois pas
d’avalanches de contestations, car aucun procureur n’appliquera
de conditions si serrées que les autres ne puissent appliquer
également.

Pour ma part, I'inversion du fardeau de la preuve ne fera pas
que je vais amener un seul dossier supplémentaire devant le
tribunal, car je sais trés bien ce que cela entraine. L’effet de cette
disposition, a mon avis, sera de mieux informer tous les
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inclined to take a second look and see if they want to load up their
plate. I do not anticipate that adding to a clogged system.

Frankly, I was not aware of this situation. I started as a police
officer in 1975 and I have been a Crown attorney since 1989. I was
not involved in one of these cases until I took on an
administrative role in 2000. One Crown attorney in Ontario,
Rita Zaied, gave presentation after presentation in our
educational system. That raised my awareness and, in turn, has
been helpful in my own region.

It is a matter of getting people interested enough to take the
load. It is the only time that we, as Crown attorneys, are engaged
in preventive detention and in preventing crime. After almost 30
years in this business in one role or another, I am invigorated
when I come to work because this is work that makes a difference.

Senator Di Nino: Let me deal with this three-strikes-you’re-out
provision. It has been referred to on a regular basis as such. I
guess what we are trying to do here is suggest that it is like some
of our neighbours down south. This is very much unlike that, and
it is not anything similar to that. I would like to put that on the
record, at least as far as my opinion is concerned.

Senator Cowan commented before he asked a question about
the effectiveness of the legislation in helping you and the police
community do their job. He did not ask the question specifically,
but could you tell us where you think this legislation will be
helpful to the policing community, to the justice community and
to your specific job? How will this help you do your job?

Mr. Cooper: It will help me to do my job, as I mentioned in my
opening remark, in that section 43, an amendment to 753.01,
provides for a mandatory psychiatric assessment for a breach of
long-term supervision order. This is a fresh area of law. Long-
term supervision orders have only been around for 10 years. They
are being used all the time now across Canada, but the courts are
accustomed to dealing with breach of an order as a breach of
probation or a breach of recognizance, and these are things where
they garner a punishment of 30 or 60 days.

In 753.3, the breach provision for long-term supervision orders
is a whole different situation and means that that judge has to
learn everything that the judge at the original Part XXIV hearing
knew, and then also learn what has transpired from that date to
this date. What are the red flags that caused this offender to
reoffend and endanger people? If the offender, for example, poses
a heightened risk when he is drinking, the fact that he has been
charged with breaching his long-term supervision order to not
consume alcohol does not mean a 30-day sentence. It means he
has demonstrated that the risk he poses has escalated because

procureurs du Canada, de sorte qu’ils seront plus enclins a
réexaminer les dossiers et a voir s’ils veulent les étoffer. Je ne crois
pas que cela ajoutera a ’engorgement du systéme.

A vrai dire, je n’étais pas au courant de ce probléme. Jai
commencé ma carriére comme policier en 1975 et je suis procureur
de la Couronne depuis 1989. Je ne me suis occupé de tels dossiers
que lorsque j’ai accepté des fonctions administratives en 2000.
Une procureure de I’Ontario, Rita Zaied, a fait de nombreuses
présentations dans le cadre de nos cours de formation. Cela m’a
sensibilisé a cette réalité et cela m’a été utile dans ma propre
région.

Ce qu’il faut, c’est intéresser suffisamment les gens pour qu’ils
acceptent la charge de travail que cela représente. Cest la
premicre fois que les procureurs de la Couronne participent a la
détention préventive et a la prévention de la criminalité. J’occupe
diverses fonctions dans ce domaine depuis presque 30 ans, et je
suis stimulé lorsque je viens travailler parce que c’est un travail
qui a des effets positifs.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Parlons de la régle des trois fautes. On en
discute régulierement. Ce que nous essayons de dire, c’est que
cette regle est semblable a celle que I’on trouve chez nos voisins du
Sud. Pour ma part, jestime qu’il y a une grande différence et
qu’elle n’a rien de semblable. Je tiens a le dire officiellement, car
c’est mon opinion.

Dans ses observations, le sénateur Cowan vous a demandé si la
mesure législative vous aide, vous et la police communautaire, a
faire votre travail. Il n’a pas posé la question expressément, mais
pourriez-vous nous dire si cette mesure législative sera utile
au service de police communautaire, au systéme de justice
communautaire et a vous-méme, dans vos fonctions
particuliéres? En quoi vous aidera-t-elle a faire votre travail?

M. Cooper : Comme je l’ai dit dans mes remarques
préliminaires, cette mesure m’aidera dans mon travail du fait
que l’article 43, qui modifie D’article 753.01, prévoit une
évaluation psychiatrique obligatoire pour les cas de violation
d’une ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée. Ces
ordonnances sont un nouvel élément en droit, puisqu’elles
n’existent que depuis environ 10 ans. Elles sont constamment
utilisées partout au pays, mais les tribunaux ont coutume de
traiter des cas de violation de probation ou d’inobservation de
I’engagement, pour lesquels ils infligent habituellement une peine
de 30 a 60 jours.

La violation de 'ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée
dont il est question a l’article 753.3 présente un cas différent.
Dans de tels cas, le juge doit passer en revue tous les éléments qui
ont été présentés au juge dans le cadre de ’audience initiale en
vertu de la Partie XXIV, en plus de prendre connaissance de ce
qui s’est produit entre cette audience et maintenant. Quels sont les
catalyseurs qui ont amené ce délinquant a récidiver et a mettre la
population en danger? Par exemple, si le délinquant pose un
risque plus grand lorsqu’il consomme de I’alcool, la peine infligée
pour avoir violé 'ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée lui



21-2-2008

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

9:23

those are circumstances that are a catalyst for his re-offence. That
has to be taken back to square one.

What was his risk at the time that he was designated a long-
term offender, and how has the risk changed? It often has been
lowered because the offender has gone through the system with
the CSC and received programming and training and has proven
himself on various forms of incremental release, but if he or she
has reverted back to the circumstances that have proven to result
in offences in the past, then we have to get right on that and
reassess the risk, and that can involve a sentence of up to 10 years.

The important part here is that, in certain circumstances, we
can have a reverse onus dangerous offender hearing, which seems
pretty rational or reasonable in any event, but until it was
articulated in Bill C-2, it was a submission that I would have
had to make as a Crown. Now, if this bill is passed, it will be
stronger than that. Those provisions dealing with the long-term
supervision order scenarios are very helpful, given the fact that
the individual will be serving a federal sentence in every case and
that when they breach, or if they breach, and over 30 per cent of
them do breach, we will be in a position to have another
psychiatric assessment to lift the hood and see what has transpired
in the interim. In certain circumstances, if they breach, we are
into a reverse onus dangerous offender hearing. Those three
provisions in particular are of enormous help to the
administration of criminal justice dealing with the worst
offenders who harm the most victims.

Senator Di Nino: Mr. Cooper, I was struck by your
commentary that one of the first things you look at, when you
are looking at a dangerous offender designation, is an exit
strategy. That is something I had not heard before put into those
terms. That, combined with the comment you made about the
community management or management in the community, leads
me to believe that obviously everything possible is being done to
be fair in an assessment and to have real justice in effect when
dealing with potential dangerous offenders. Could you focus on
those two points and give us further clarification on those two
points?

Mr. Cooper: Crown attorneys, in their daily role in courts,
perform a quasi-judicial function in many cases when making
certain assessments and determining whether there is a reasonable
likelihood of success or whether to withdraw charges, so that
sort of function is not uncommon to Crowns. In dealing with
Part XXIV, this is the least adversarial work I have ever been
engaged in as a lawyer. We make a point of gathering every piece
of available information that is helpful or non-helpful in terms of
the Crown’s position. We are not the trial Crowns. Another trial
Crown is moving this case forward and he or she who will be
making the arguments at the end of the day. We are facilitating

interdisant de consommer de I’alcool ne sera pas une peine de
30 jours. La violation démontre que le risque a augmenté puisque
c’est ce facteur qui est le catalyseur de la récidive. Il faut revenir a
la case départ.

Quel risque posait-il au moment ou il a été déclaré délinquant a
contréler, et dans quelle mesure le risque a-t-il évolué? Le risque
est souvent évalué a la baisse étant donné que le délinquant est
passé par le systéme de SCC, s’est soumis a des programmes ainsi
qu’a une formation et a fait ses preuves avec diverses formes de
libération graduelle, mais s’il a replongé dans les circonstances
dont on sait qu’elles étaient a I'origine des infractions qu’il a
commises par le passé, nous devons alors obtenir le droit de
réévaluer le risque, et cela peut lui valoir une peine allant jusqu’a
10 ans de réclusion.

Mais ce qui est important ici, c’est que, dans certaines
circonstances, nous puissions avoir une audience relative a la
déclaration de délinquant dangereux avec inversion du fardeau de
la preuve, ce qui semble parfaitement motivé ou raisonnable quel
que soit le cas, mais avant que cela soit énoncé dans le projet de
loi C-2, c¢’était une proposition que j’avais a défendre a titre de
procureur de la Couronne. Maintenant, si ce projet de loi est
adopté, cette mesure sera resserrée. Ces dispositions qui traitent
des ordonnances de surveillance de longue durée sont trés utiles
étant donné que I'intéressé purgera une peine fédérale dans tous
les cas et lorsqu’il y a manquement, ou s’il y a manquement, et il y
a manquement dans plus de 30 p. 100 des cas, nous serons en
mesure de faire faire une nouvelle évaluation psychiatrique qui
nous permettra de voir au fond des choses et de savoir ce qui
s’est passé entre-temps. Dans certaines circonstances, s’il y a
manquement, il y aura tout de suite audience relative au statut de
délinquant dangereux avec inversion du fardeau de la preuve. Ce
sont notamment ces trois dispositions qui aideront grandement le
systéme de justice pénale a prendre en charge les délinquants qui
font le plus de victimes.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Monsieur Cooper, j’ai été frappé par ce
que vous avez dit, a savoir que I'une des premiéres choses que
vous envisagez, lorsque vous demandez le statut de délinquant
dangereux, c’est la stratégie de sortie. Je n’avais jamais entendu
la chose exprimée en ces termes. Vous avez parlé en plus de la
gestion communautaire ou de la gestion du délinquant dans le
milieu, ce qui m’améne évidemment a croire que ’on fait tout ce
qui est possible afin d’avoir une évaluation juste et de faire en
sorte qu’on ait une vraie justice lorsqu’on fait affaire avec des
délinquants dangereux potentiels. Pouvez-vous vous en tenir a ces
deux points et nous donner davantage de détails?

M. Cooper : Les procureurs de la Couronne, dans le réle
quotidien qu’ils jouent devant les tribunaux, exercent une
fonction quasi judiciaire dans de nombreux cas lorsqu’ils
font certaines évaluations et déterminent s’il y a probabilité
raisonnable de succes, ou lorsqu’il s’agit de retirer des
accusations, donc ce genre de fonction n’est pas étranger a celle
de procureur de la Couronne. L’application de la Partie XXIV est
le travail le moins antagonique que j’ai jamais eu a faire depuis
que je suis avocat. On s’assure de réunir toutes les informations
disponibles qui avantagent ou désavantagent la position de la
Couronne. Ce n’est pas nous qui allons plaider les procés. C’est
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the gathering of all the relevant information for the court’s
consideration, and it is considered by the Crown expert and by the
defence expert. In virtually every one of these cases, two experts
are involved. Of course they often come to slightly different
conclusions. We gather absolutely everything and strive to get the
original evidence.

By the time I get involved in this process, they are convicted, so
they are an offender and no longer an accused by the time I finish
the process, and anything that can assist with the analysis of the
risk posed is valuable information. We make a point of gathering
all of that and presenting it in a completely objective fashion. All
of this is disclosable, and all of it is preserved indefinitely when it
goes to national flagging. The defence counsel and the offender do
not want a derivative police report when there could be a
transcript of what actually happened on conviction in 2001. We
dig and dig. If we kept records on the worst offenders with the
same fervour that we do the worst hockey players, we would be
well suited to proceed with one of these cases, but unfortunately
that is not a situation that we encounter.

The Chair: Time is starting to creep up on us here, so I would
suggest that we tighten up on questions and responses.

Senator Di Nino: My next question is for Mr. Bonta or
Mr. Yumansky, and it deals with the programming offered to
federal offenders to facilitate their reintegration, et cetera.
I would like to ask either one of you, or both, if you wish, to
clarify whether or not offenders are obliged or required to
take programming, and how many of them refuse to take
programming. Would you have that information?

Mr. Bonta: I would not have that information. I am in the
Department of Public Safety in corrections research, and
Correctional Services Canada has another research unit. They
may be able to answer your question.

Mr. Yumansky: It is my understanding that there are officials
from Corrections Services Canada appearing this afternoon. That
would be a perfect question for them to answer.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: I want to be certain I understand the national
flagging system. The system came into effect in 1995 on the
recommendation of a joint federal-provincial-territorial justice
task force, and it has 10 coordinators across Canada. The main
concern was related to the ease with which offenders could move
across Canada, as well as the need to make information accessible
to crown prosecutors. In 2006, the federal government announced
its commitment to enhancing its support.

un autre procureur de la Couronne qui va piloter le dossier, et ce
sera lui ou elle qui plaidera au bout du compte. Nous facilitons la
collecte de toutes les informations pertinentes qui seront soumises
au tribunal et qui seront évaluées par I'expert de la Couronne et
I’expert de la défense. Dans presque chacun de ces cas, il y a deux
experts. Bien sir, ils parviennent souvent a des conclusions
légérement différentes. Mais il est stir que nous ne laissons rien de
c6té et que nous nous efforcons de réunir les preuves originales.

Lorsque c’est a mon tour d’intervenir, la personne a été
déclarée coupable, je me retrouve donc devant un délinquant et
non plus un accusé lorsque je conduis le processus a son terme, et
toute information qui permet de faciliter I’analyse du risque qui
est posé est une information valable. Nous nous efforgons de
réunir toutes ces preuves et de les soumettre de la maniére la plus
objective qui soit. Toutes ces preuves sont divulguables, et elles
sont toutes préservées indéfiniment lorsqu’elles sont versées au
systéme national de repérage. Le procureur de la défense et le
délinquant ne veulent pas d’un rapport de police dérivé alors qu’il
existe une transcription de ce qui s’est vraiment passé lorsque le
délinquant a été déclaré coupable en 2001. Nous creusons et nous
creusons. Si nous conservions des dossiers sur les pires
délinquants avec la méme ferveur que nous mettons a suivre les
pires joueurs de hockey, nous serions bien équipés pour aller de
I’avant dans I'un de ces cas, mais malheureusement, ce n’est pas le
genre de situation qu’on voit.

La présidente : Nous commengons a manquer de temps, je vous
prie donc d’étre moins long dans vos questions et réponses.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Ma prochaine question s’adresse a
M. Bonta ou a M. Yumansky, et elle traite des programmes qui
sont offerts aux délinquants fédéraux afin de faciliter leur
réinsertion, et cetera. J’aimerais que I'un ou l'autre, ou les deux,
si vous voulez, me disent si les délinquants sont obligés de suivre
des programmes, et combien d’entre eux refusent de le faire.
Avez-vous ce genre d’information?

M. Bonta : Je n’ai pas ce genre d’information. Je suis au
ministére de la Sécurité publique, a la recherche correctionnelle, et
Service correctionnel Canada a une autre unité de recherche. Le
SCC pourrait répondre a votre question.

M. Yumansky : Je crois savoir que des responsables du Service
correctionnel du Canada vont témoigner cet aprés-midi. Ils seront
parfaitement bien placés pour vous répondre.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Chaput : Je veux étre bien certaine de comprendre
le systéme national de repérage. Ce systéme national a été mis en
place en 1995 sur la recommandation d’un groupe de travail
fédéral, provincial et territorial de la Justice et il comporte dix
coordonnateurs a travers le Canada. La préoccupation majeure a
été suscitée par la facilité avec laquelle les délinquants pouvaient
se déplacer au Canada et le besoin de rendre les informations
accessibles au procureur de la Couronne. En 2006, le
gouvernement fédéral a annoncé un engagement accru.
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When do you identify high-risk offenders, before or after their
incarceration? If it is before, on what basis are they put in the
system? Are they in the system for life or does there come a time
when they are no longer in it?

[English)

Mr. Yumansky: The best way for me to respond would simply
be to indicate, yes, in 2006, the federal government did in fact
proceed with an announcement to fund the National Flagging
System. The funds basically are at the level of $500,000 per year
and this was essentially to enhance the existing program across
the country. There was, I would say, just generally speaking, an
unevenness in terms of the kind of commitment to the program,
depending on the jurisdiction. The added funding that is now
being provided will allow all jurisdictions to be brought up to a
level where we could say that they are actively pursuing this
initiative now. That is the hope we have with this system, so the
funding is very much welcome.

Ideally, you are correct: the file gathering is really essential and
helpful, as Mr. Cooper has indicated, in preparing the file, for
example, in the case of pursuing a dangerous offender
application. Obviously, for the most part, this is preceding; it is
file gathering that precedes incarceration.

As to whether they are on the system for life, you must
understand that it is not information readily available beyond the
circle of individuals and professionals who work in that particular
system: Crown, police, corrections officials. That information is
not available to anyone else who is working outside the system.

Senator Chaput: It is not public information then?

Mr. Yumansky: Absolutely not.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: They are therefore always in the data bank,
which is not accessible to the public, it is restricted. Now, does
Bill C-2 support an initiative like yours? Are there any parts of the
bill that serve to support the national flagging system? Or are
there any parts of the bill that could hinder the initiative?

[English)

Mr. Yumansky: My answer will be short. Mr. Cooper may
want to add a comment or two as well because I know he is
familiar with the National Flagging System as well, and he is
working frontline with respect to dangerous offender
applications.

I think the way we need to look at the National Flagging
System is that this is an important tool to assist the justice system,
particularly Crown prosecutors, police and corrections, that is
complementary to the legislation. In fact, it was announced at the
time that Bill C-27 — which preceded Bill C-2 — was introduced

Quand rejoignez-vous les délinquants a risques élevés, avant ou
apres leur incarcération? Si c’est avant, quelle est la base utilisée
pour qu’ils fassent partie du systéme? Font-ils partie du systéme
pour le reste de leur vie ou il arrive un moment ou ils n’en font
plus partie?

[Traduction]

M. Yumansky : Le plus simple, c’est que je vous réponde oui,
en 2006, le gouvernement fédéral a en effet annoncé qu’il
financerait le Systéme national de repérage. Ce fonds, qui se
situe essentiellement a 500 000 $ par année, a pour objet
d’améliorer le programme qui existe aujourd’hui au pays. Il y
avait, je dirais, et je parle seulement de maniére générale, une
certaine inégalité dans la maniére de gérer le programme, selon la
province ou le territoire. Avec ces fonds supplémentaires, toutes
les administrations sont maintenant en mesure d’agir a un niveau
dont on peut dire que oui, elles sont toutes engagées dans cette
initiative maintenant. C’est I’espoir que nous avons avec ce
systéme, donc ce financement fait beaucoup de bien.

Idéalement, vous avez raison : la collecte de données est
vraiment essentielle et utile, comme M. Cooper I’a dit, dans la
préparation du dossier, par exemple, lorsqu’on demande le statut
de délinquant dangereux. Evidemment, dans I’ensemble, cela se
fait avant; le montage du dossier précéde 'incarcération.

Pour ce qui est de savoir si on reste dans le systéme a vie, vous
devez comprendre que la transmission de ces informations ne
dépasse pas le cercle de personnes et de professionnels qui
ccuvrent dans ce systéme : les procureurs de la Couronne, les
policiers, les responsables des services correctionnels. Ces
informations ne sont jamais communiquées a quelqu’un qui se
trouve en marge du systéme.

Le sénateur Chaput : Ce ne sont donc pas des informations
publiques?

M. Yumansky : Absolument pas.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Chaput : Ils sont donc toujours dans la banque de
données, qui n’est pas accessible au public, c’est réservé.
Maintenant, le projet de loi C-2 appuie-t-il une initiative telle
que la vétre? Y a-t-il des parties du projet de loi qui servent au
soutien du systéme national de repérage? Ou y a-t-il des parties du
projet de loi qui pourraient nuire a cette initiative?

[Traduction]

M. Yumansky : Ma réponse sera bréve. M. Cooper pourrait
vouloir ajouter un mot ou deux parce que je sais qu’il connait bien
aussi le Systéme national de repérage, et c’est lui qui est a ’avant-
plan des demandes de déclaration pour les délinquants dangereux.

Je crois qu’il faut voir dans le Systéme national de repérage un
outil important qui vient en aide au systéme de justice pénale,
particulierement aux procureurs de la Couronne, aux services
de police et aux services correctionnels, et cet outil complete la
loi. En fait, c’est ce qu’on a annoncé au moment ou le projet
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by this government. From an operational perspective, I view it
very much as another tool that is very much complementary to
current legislation.

The Chair: I have a couple of questions; one and a half perhaps
for you, Mr. Cooper. You indicated that you were pleased with
the proposal to diminish the threshold sentence level down to two
years, but I would assume that this would mean that there was, at
the very least, a greater chance of scooping up people who are
perhaps less dangerous than the ones who had the old 10-year
threshold. Will you be scooping up people who were less
dangerous than those who, under the present system, would be
scooped up? As a semi-corollary to that, what do you think will
happen to the number of cases that you are likely to bring under
the new regime, compared with the 30-odd that you have on the
go right now?

Mr. Cooper: The minimum sentence of two years simply
affords us a greater protection in that the tools that CSC is
accustomed to, which are excellent, will be available to them to
develop and try and manage the risk in the institution and,
thereafter, in the community. However, the two years is simply a
clarification of the legislation in 1997 that pertained to long-term
offenders. It was the intention at that point in time, clearly, that
the punishment of two years would be warranted. The courts
subsequently interpreted that to include dead time, or pre-
sentence custody. That is what has whittled away the two years.
I believe that was the intention of Parliament in 1997, and now it
is reiterated more explicitly, so that will presumably be the
practical effect of what happens with the long-term offender
designation in the future. That corrects a weakness in the 1997
legislation. It will not affect who is scooped up, so to speak, in
terms of the case load.

I do not anticipate that anything in Bill C-2 will direct my
attention to less serious offenders. We simply do not have the
capacity to deal with an infinite number of these. The Attorney
General of the province reads virtually every one of these
applications. We cannot bring 50 a year, I do not think, so we
will be selecting the worst of the worst. We will forecast our scarce
resources to provide the most protection for the resources
available.

The Chair: Do you see any increase?

Mr. Cooper: Not particularly in my jurisdiction because, as
I said previously, it is mostly a raising of awareness situation,
and we are already fully aware.

Our increase in our jurisdiction will be because of the breach of
long-term supervision order cases. These have just come in. They
will be our new biggest challenge. I had three in a two-week
period last month. That will increase our workload. Now that a
full psychiatric assessment is available, we will be gathering a lot
of information for these breach charges when they come forward.

The Chair: In regard to the National Flagging System, I want
to thank you for mentioning psychiatric assessments because one
thing that struck me was that this system gathers together an

de loi C-27 — qui a précédé le C-2 — a été déposé par le
gouvernement. D’un point de vue opérationnel, j'y vois
absolument un autre outil qui compléte parfaitement bien la
loi actuelle.

La présidente : J’ai quelques questions; peut-étre une demie
pour vous, monsieur Cooper. Vous avez dit que vous étiez
heureux de la proposition visant a diminuer a deux ans le seuil
pour les sentences, mais j'imagine que cela veut dire qu’il y aurait,
a tout le moins, une meilleure chance de rafler des gens qui sont
peut-étre moins dangereux que ceux qui avaient le seuil de 10 ans.
Allez-vous rafler des gens qui sont moins dangereux que ceux qui,
dans le systéme actuel, seraient raflés? Semi-corollaire a cette
question, a votre avis, qu’est-ce qui va advenir du nombre de cas
que vous aurez probablement avec le nouveau régime, comparé a
ces quelque 30 p. 100 que vous avez maintenant?

M. Cooper : La peine minimale de deux ans nous donne plus
de protection. En effet, les excellents outils auxquels s’est habitué
le SCC seront a leur disposition pour qu’ils tentent de gérer les
risques dans I’établissement et, ultimement, dans la collectivité.
En fait, ces deux années ne font que clarifier la loi de 1997 qui
portait sur les délinquants a contréler. A I’époque, Iintention
était clairement de justifier une peine d’'une durée de deux ans. Les
tribunaux ont ensuite interprété que cela incluait le temps mort ou
la détention avant le proces. C’est cela qui a grugé dans les deux
ans. Je pense que, en 1997, ¢’était cela I'intention du Parlement.
Maintenant, on reformule le tout de maniére plus explicite. Cela
aura sans doute un effet pratique sur linterprétation de la
désignation de délinquant a contréler a 'avenir. Cela corrige une
lacune qui se trouvait dans la loi de 1997. Mais cela n’aura pas
d’incidence sur le nombre de cas qui seront traités sous cette
désignation.

Je ne vois rien dans le projet de loi C-2 qui me fera préter
davantage attention aux délinquants moins dangereux. Nous
n’avons tout simplement pas les moyens de faire face a un nombre
infini de ces cas. Le procureur général de la province lit presque
chacune des demandes. Nous ne pouvons pas présenter 50 cas par
année. Ainsi, nous allons faire une sélection parmi les pires. Nous
allons prévoir nos maigres ressources afin de fournir le plus de
protection possible a partir des ressources disponibles.

La présidente : Voyez-vous une augmentation?

M. Cooper : Pas tellement dans ma province, car comme je 1’ai
déja mentionné, il s’agit plutot d’une question de sensibilisation et
nous sommes déja pleinement au courant.

L’augmentation de la charge de travail dans notre province
sera liée aux cas de violation d'une ordonnance de surveillance de
longue durée. Ces cas viennent d’apparaitre. Ce sera notre plus
grand défi a relever. J’en ai regu trois en deux semaines le mois
dernier. Cela va augmenter notre charge de travail. Maintenant
qu'une évaluation psychiatrique compléte est disponible, nous
allons recueillir beaucoup d’information sur les accusations de
violation d’une ordonnance.

La présidente : Parlons maintenant du Systéme national
de repérage. Je suis ravie que vous ayez parlé des évaluations
psychiatriques dans ce contexte, car j’ai été particulicrement
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enormous amount of information about people, and some of it
very personal information. Particularly notable are the psychiatric
evaluations of which Mr. Cooper spoke in his investigations, such
as going back to check behaviour in one’s early teens when the
person in question may now be 45 or 50, for all I know.

What are the privacy safeguards in this system? It is a national
system. Once someone in Eastern Ontario is in the system,
I assume the information is now available across the land. What
are the privacy safeguards? Has the Privacy Commissioner
examined the system or been consulted about the system?

Mr. Yumansky: I am not sure whether the Privacy
Commissioner has been consulted about the system. I believe
that there may be in existence in each of the provincial
jurisdictions privacy legislation which would dictate how the
information is to be shared. I understand that not everyone, even
in the police community, can just do a check on the system and
get information. They must go through the holder of the file, who
is the provincial coordinator, and the check has to be for
legitimate purposes under the National Flagging System. There is
no legislative base for the National Flagging System, that is
correct, but the access to it is quite limited in terms of the
purposes expressed in the National Flagging System.

The Chair: I must have missed something following your initial
description. A serious case is brought: At what point does
someone check or seek to check the National Flagging System to
see if this person has already been flagged?

Mr. Yumansky: If there is a query on the CPIC system with
respect to whether an offender has committed an offence —

The Chair: The flag will pop up?
Mr. Yumansky: That is right.

The Chair: The flag will pop up but not the supporting
information?

Mr. Yumansky: No. What will appear on the flag will simply
be the name of the person to contact and the fact that there exists
information about that person.

The Chair: The gatekeeper then becomes the local coordinator;
provincial or territorial?

Mr. Yumansky: Exactly.

The Chair: I see. It becomes a little clearer to me. Thank you
very much.

Senator Merchant: I think I got part of my question, because it
was specific. When you said that 29 of the 370 people were from
Saskatchewan, we can assume — because of the population in our
institutions — that a high number of those people must be
Aboriginal people. I think that should be a concern to us all. It

frappée par le fait que ce systéme recueille énormément
de renseignements sur les gens et qu’il s’agit souvent de
renseignements trés personnels. Je songe notamment aux
évaluations psychiatriques dont nous parlait M. Cooper au
cours de ses enquétes. Il fallait notamment aller vérifier le
comportement qu’'une personne avait lorsqu’elle était adolescente
et qui était probablement dgée a I’heure actuelle de 45 ou de
50 ans.

Qu’en est-il des politiques de confidentialité du systéme?
Il s’agit d’un systéme national. Une fois qu’une personne de
I’Est de I’Ontario se trouve dans le systéme, j'imagine que les
renseignements sont disponibles partout au Canada. Quelles sont
les mesures de protection de la confidentialité? Est-ce que le
Commissaire a la vie privée a examiné le systéme? L’a-t-on
consulté a cet effet?

M. Yumansky : Je ne sais pas si le Commissaire a la vie privée a
été consulté au sujet du systéme. J'imagine que dans chaque
province il existe des lois sur la confidentialité qui dicteraient
comment ’on échange les renseignements. A ma connaissance,
méme dans les forces policiéres, ce n’est pas n’importe qui qui
peut faire une vérification dans le systéme et récolter de
I'information. Il faut d’abord passer par le détenteur du dossier,
qui est un coordonnateur provincial. La vérification doit
également étre effectuée pour des raisons légitimes en vertu du
Systéme national de repérage. Le Systéme national de repérage
n’a pas d’assise législative, mais son acces est limité en raison des
objectifs exprimés dans le systéme en question.

La présidente : Je pense que je n’ai pas bien saisi ce que vous
avez dit. Nous parlons d’une question trés sérieuse : a quel
moment est-ce qu’une personne doit vérifier aupres du Systéme
national de repérage pour voir si on a déja repéré le délinquant?

M. Yumansky : Si 'on demande au systeme CIPC si un
délinquant a commis un délit...

La présidente : On verra un indicateur?

M. Yumansky : C’est exact.

La présidente : L’indicateur s’affichera, mais on ne verra pas les
autres renseignements?

M. Yumansky : Non. Ce que vous verrez sur l'indicateur sera
tout simplement le nom de la personne a contacter et le fait qu’il y
a des renseignements sur le délinquant.

La présidente : Le contréleur devient alors le coordonnateur
local, provincial ou territorial?

M. Yumansky : C’est exact.

La présidente : Je vois. Ca me semble un peu plus clair. Merci
beaucoup.

Le sénateur Merchant : Je pense qu’on a répondu a une partie
de ma question, car elle était trés précise. Lorsque vous dites
que 29 de ces 370 personnes venaient de la Saskatchewan, nous
pouvons tenir pour acquis — en raison de la démographie dans
nos établissements — qu’un grand nombre de ces personnes
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seems to me that the system is harsher on our Aboriginal Peoples
because of their circumstances.

I mentioned to you some of the compelling evidence that our
Aboriginal Peoples are not able to deal with our system. Thank
you very much for that number. That is fine for now, unless you
have something to add.

That was a high number because we have around 1 million
people in Saskatchewan, and you said that 29 out of the
370 people on your list were from Saskatchewan. I think that
is a very high percentage.

Senator Stratton: It has been a very interesting presentation,
and thank you. I have learned a lot from the information you
provided us this morning.

I was struck by the fact that, despite the difficulties that the
individuals have of dangerous offenders and repeat offenders, the
success rate appears to be really high when you take them through
this program. I am happy to hear that we are still trying, despite
all, to bring these people back into society. That is the end
objective, no matter who they are and what they have done. That
is really good to hear.

It is more a statement, and if you want to comment on that,
fine. In the end, that is the bottom line I like to hear.

Senator Di Nino: To follow up on the statistic that was
presented to us which, frankly, I was not only unaware of but was
surprised by, am I correct that I heard that 90 per cent of
dangerous offenders are related to sexual offences?

Mr. Bonta: I am not sure of the specific number, but it is very
close; probably between 80 to 90.

Senator Di Nino: Fair enough, it is still a staggering number.

Mr. Bonta: Yes. The vast majority are sexual offenders.

Senator Di Nino: You are talking about 370 dangerous
offenders and approximately 90 per cent would be sexual
offenders. That is a unique problem.

What role does mental health play, if any, in the reason that
these offenders are committing the offences? Do we know that?

Mr. Bonta: In general, mental health factors are relatively
minor predictors of violent behaviour and criminal behaviour.
Even having a major mental disorder such as schizophrenia or
manic depression is a very low predictor of violence.

Senator Di Nino: That is interesting. It is an issue that some
day we should look at. Obviously these are not normal human
beings that commit these crimes.

The Chair: If that is a low predictor, what about high
predictors? Give me one or two examples of high predictors, if
you would.

doivent étre des Autochtones. Je pense que cela devrait nous
préoccuper. Il me semble que le systéme est plus dur a I’endroit
des Autochtones en raison de certaines circonstances.

Je vous ai fait part de certains témoignages probants qui
permettent de voir comment nos peuples autochtones ne sont pas
capables de composer avec notre systéeme. Merci beaucoup pour
vos chiffres. C’est trés bien pour le moment, & moins que vous ne
vouliez rajouter quelque chose.

Ce chiffre était élevé, car il y a environ un million de personnes
en Saskatchewan. Vous avez dit que 29 des 370 personnes sur
votre liste provenaient de la Saskatchewan. Je pense que ce
pourcentage est fort élevé.

Le sénateur Stratton : J’aimerais vous remercier de nous avoir
remis un exposé fort intéressant. J’ai appris beaucoup de choses
grace aux renseignements que vous nous avez fournis ce matin.

Jai été interpellé par le fait que, malgré les difficultés
auxquelles doivent faire face les délinquants dangereux et les
récidivistes, le taux de succés semble étre véritablement élevé
quand ils suivent ce programme. J’ai été ravi de voir que nous
essayons quand méme, malgré tout, de réintégrer ces gens dans la
société. C’est notre objectif final, peu importe ce qu’ils ont fait ou
qui ils sont. C’était vraiment fantastique de vous I’entendre dire.

Je vous ai plutdét fait une déclaration que posé une question. Si
vous voulez faire des observations la-dessus, allez-y. Il était bon
d’entendre une telle conclusion.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’aimerais revenir aux statistiques que
I’on a présentées. Pour étre franc avec vous, ai-je bien compris que
90 p. 100 des délinquants dangereux ont commis un délit sexuel?
Si oui, je ne le savais pas et ¢ga m’a surpris.

M. Bonta : Je ne me rappelle plus du chiffre exact. Mais c’est
probablement de I’ordre de 80 a 90 p. 100.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Trés bien. Ce chiffre est néanmoins
ahurissant.

M. Bonta : Oui. La plupart sont des délinquants sexuels.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Vous nous dites que, lorsque vous parlez
des 370 délinquants dangereux, environ 90 p. 100 d’entre eux sont
des délinquants sexuels. Ce probléme est unique.

Qu’en est-il du réle que jouent les problémes de santé mentale?
Est-ce une des raisons pour lesquelles les délinquants commettent
ces crimes? Avons-nous des renseignements la-dessus?

M. Bonta : En régle générale, les questions relatives a la santé
mentale sont de faibles indicateurs d’'un comportement violent ou
criminel. Méme lorsqu’on souffre d’un trouble de santé mentale
de taille, tel que la schizophrénie ou encore une psychose
maniaco-dépressive, cela n’est qu’un faible indicateur de violence.

Le sénateur Di Nino : C’est intéressant. C’est une question qu’il
faudrait examiner un jour. De toute évidence, les gens qui
commettent de tels crimes ne sont pas des personnes normales.

La présidente : Si cela n’est pas un bon prédicteur, quels sont
les bons prédicteurs? Donnez-moi, je vous prie, un ou deux
exemples.
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Mr. Bonta: The four best predictors of criminal behaviour, if
you only have four questions to ask: Lengthy criminal history;
antisocial personality, which means impulsiveness, poor self-
control; having criminal friends at the expense of any pro-social
friends; and cognitions, attitudes in favour of criminal behaviour.
The evidence is quite clear those are the four best predictors.
Mental health variables are close to the bottom of the list.

The Chair: As Senator Di Nino said, we could keep you here
all day. With every question it gets more interesting. We cannot
do that. We thank you very much for the assistance you have
brought and the time you have given us. It is very helpful as we
continue our study.

We are very glad to welcome Mr. Andrew Murie, Chief
Executive Officer of MADD Canada (Mothers against Drunk
Driving); and, from the Traffic Injury Research Foundation,
Robyn Robertson, President and CEO. Have you decided which
of you will go first?

Andrew Murie, Chief Executive Officer, MADD Canada
(Mothers against Drunk Driving): I will go first.

As you said in your introductions, I am the Chief Executive
Officer for MADD Canada (Mothers against Drunk Driving).
I have been in that capacity for the past 11 years. Despite the
gains that have been made on the issue of impaired driving
between 1980 and 1999, the progress in Canada has now stalled.
In fact, when you look at the year 2005, and the statistical
information that we have, we actually see an increase in the
percentage of alcohol-related deaths.

Impaired driving remains the largest single criminal cause of
death and impaired driving takes a disproportionate toll amongst
young Canadians. For example, 16 to 25 year olds constitute
13.7 per cent of the population, but 32.1 per cent of Canada’s
alcohol-related traffic deaths in 2003.

MADD Canada regards Bill C-2 as a major step forward in
addressing many of the weaknesses in Canada’s existing federal
impaired driving laws. Given the time available, I will limit my
oral presentation to the drug-impaired driving provisions and the
narrowing of the Carter and last-drink defences.

Regarding drug impaired driving in Canada, the Centre for
Addiction and Mental Health has reported the rates of driving
following cannabis use have been increasing. Such conduct is now
common among Ontario high school students. For example, in
a 2005 survey, 14 per cent of licensed Grade 10 to 12 drivers
reported driving within an hour of consuming two or more
drinks, while 20 per cent reported driving within one hour of
using cannabis. That shows us that cannabis use among youth has
exceeded the drinking and driving. In one sense, we have driven

M. Bonta : Les quatre meilleurs prédicteurs de comportement
criminel, si vous devez vous limiter a quatre, sont les suivants : de
longs antécédents criminels; une personnalité antisociale
caractérisée par I'impulsivité et un manque de maitrise de soi;
cotoyer des criminels au détriment d’amis a caractére sociable, et
des attitudes favorables au comportement criminel. Les preuves
démontrent clairement que ce sont les quatre meilleurs
prédicteurs. Les variables liées a la santé mentale figurent
presque au bas de la liste.

La présidente : Comme I’a dit le sénateur Di Nino, nous
pourrions poursuivre notre entretien avec vous jusqu’a ce soir. A
chaque question, la discussion devient plus intéressante.
Toutefois, nous devons nous arréter. Merci beaucoup de I’aide
que vous nous avez apportée et du temps que vous nous avez
consacré. Vos témoignages nous seront trés utiles dans nos
délibérations.

Nous sommes heureux d’accueillir maintenant M. Andrew
Murie, chef de la direction de MADD Canada (Mothers against
Drunk Driving) et, de la Fondation de recherches sur les blessures
de la route, Robyn Robertson, présidente-directrice générale.
Avez-vous décidé qui prendra la parole en premier?

Andrew Murie, chef de la direction, MADD Canada (Mothers
against Drunk Driving) : Ce sera moi.

Comme vous venez de le dire, je suis chef de la direction de
MADD Canada (Mothers against Drunk Driving). J’occupe ce
poste depuis 11 ans. Malgré les progrés réalisés en matiére de
conduite avec facultés affaiblies entre 1980 et 1999, on n’avance
plus au Canada. D’ailleurs, comme [I’indiquent toutes les
statistiques que nous avons, notamment pour 2005, il y a eu
une hausse du pourcentage de décés liés a I’alcool.

La conduite avec facultés affaiblies demeure de loin la premiére
cause criminelle de déces et elle tue un nombre disproportionné de
jeunes Canadiens. Ainsi, en 2003, les jeunes adgés de 16 a 25 ans ne
représentaient que 13,7 p. 100 de la population, mais 32,1 p. 100
des personnes mortes dans un accident de la route lié a I’alcool.

MADD Canada estime que le projet de loi C-2 représente un
élément important de réponse a plusieurs des lacunes des lois
fédérales sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Compte tenu du
peu de temps dont je dispose, j'aborderai uniquement les
dispositions concernant la conduite avec les facultés affaiblies
par les drogues et les mesures visant a limiter la portée des moyens
de défense Carter et du dernier verre.

En ce qui concerne la drogue au volant au Canada, le Centre de
toxicomanie et de santé mentale a révélé que les taux de conduite
sous l’effet du cannabis avaient augmenté. Ce comportement est
maintenant courant chez les éléves du niveau secondaire en
Ontario. Ainsi, selon un sondage mené en 2005, 14 p. 100 des
éleves de la 10° a la 12° année détenant un permis de conduire
ont indiqué avoir pris le volant moins d’une heure aprés avoir
consommé un ou deux verres, et 20 p. 100 d’entre eux ont

reconnu avoir pris le volant moins dune heure aprés avoir
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home the message on drinking and driving with youth, but they
have switched drugs. We need this Bill C-2 provision.

Moreover, 22 per cent of Grade 10 to 12 students report being
in a vehicle driven by someone who has used drugs prior to
driving. They are not only taking liberties of using drugs and
driving but also getting into vehicles as passengers when the driver
has been using drugs.

A similar study in Atlantic Canada in 2005 shows that
15.1 per cent report driving under the influence of cannabis,
whereas 11.7 report driving under the influence of alcohol. This is
Ontario; this is Atlantic Canada. The material from Manitoba
holds the same as well. Statistically, this is fairly consistent right
across Canada.

Students who drove under the influence of cannabis were twice
as likely as cannabis-free students to report being in a collision.
Not only do we have the use, but from the Atlantic Canada
survey we are now getting data that shows it has an impact on
collision rates as well.

There is no doubt that cannabis and other drugs do affect
driving performance. While the exact causal role of various
drugs in crashes requires more research, it is clear that drug
use constitutes a significant traffic safety problem. For example,
a Canada-wide study estimated in 2004 that drug use alone,
or in combination with alcohol, contributed to approximately
368 traffic fatalities, 21,702 traffic injuries and 71,276 property-
damage-only crashes. The author estimated that the total cost
of these drug-related traffic crashes might have been as high as
$3.55 billion.

These statistics are of particular relevance for young drivers
because this group has the highest rates of illicit drug use in fatal
crashes per kilometre driven. Moreover, the recent increases in
drug use and driving among young drivers make the enactment of
Bill C-2 essential.

I will now talk about the Carter and last-drink defences. The
Canadian courts have interpreted the Criminal Code in a manner
that results in evidentiary breath and blood test results being
thrown out based solely on the accused’s unsubstantiated denial
of impairment. In the absence of the test results, the charge of
impaired driving with a blood alcohol concentration level above
0.8 per cent is invariably dropped or the accused is acquitted. In

consommé du cannabis. Cela nous montre que la conduite sous
I’emprise du cannabis est maintenant plus fréquente que la
conduite en état d’ébriété chez les jeunes. Il semble que nous
ayons réussi a faire passer le message sur les dangers de I’alcool au
volant auprés des jeunes, mais que ceux-ci se sont tournés vers
les drogues. Cette disposition du projet de loi C-2 est donc
nécessaire.

En outre, 22 p. 100 des éléves de la 10° & la 12° année ont
indiqué avoir été dans un véhicule conduit par une personne qui
avait consommé des drogues peu de temps auparavant. Non
seulement les jeunes prennent le risque de prendre le volant sous
I’effet de la drogue, mais ils prennent aussi le risque de circuler
dans un véhicule conduit par une personne qui a consommé de la
drogue.

Une étude semblable réalisée dans la région de I’Atlantique en
2005 a révélé que 15,1 p. 100 des répondants avaient indiqué
avoir conduit sous I'emprise du cannabis et 11,7 p. 100, sous
I’emprise de l'alcool. Ce sont des données qui proviennent de
I’Ontario et du Canada atlantique, mais les études menées au
Manitoba présentent les mémes résultats. Du point de vue
statistique, les données sont trés semblables a 1’échelle du pays.

Les éléves qui avaient conduit sous I’emprise du cannabis
étaient deux fois plus susceptibles de déclarer un accident que les
non-consommateurs de cannabis. Les données confirment la
consommation de drogue et celles de I’étude menée en Atlantique
démontrent que cela a une incidence sur le taux de collision.

Les effets néfastes du cannabis et des autres drogues sur la
capacité de conduire sont trés bien documentés. Bien que des
recherches plus approfondies s’imposent pour identifier le role
causal précis des différentes drogues dans les collisions, il n’y a
aucun doute que la consommation de drogues constitue un
important probléme de sécurité routiére. Par exemple, une étude
pancanadienne réalisée en 2004 indique que la consommation
de drogues, seules ou avec de I’alcool, serait liée a environ
368 décés dans des accidents de la route, a 21 702 blessures et a
71 276 collisions ayant causé des dommages matériels seulement.
L’auteur de cette étude a estimé que les coits totaux de ces
collisions liées a la consommation de drogues pouvaient avoir
atteint 3,55 milliards de dollars.

Ces statistiques sont particulierement pertinentes pour les
jeunes conducteurs, car ils affichent le taux le plus élevé de
consommation de drogues illicites et de collisions mortelles par
kilométre parcouru. De plus, la fréquence accrue de conduite a la
suite de consommation de drogues observée derniérement chez
les jeunes rend d’autant plus nécessaire I’adoption du projet de
loi C-2.

J’aborderai maintenant les moyens de défense Carter et du
dernier verre. En raison de linterprétation que donnent les
tribunaux du Canada au Code criminel, les résultats d’analyse de
sang ou d’haleine peuvent étre rejetés sur la foi des déclarations
non corroborées d’un accusé qui nie que ses facultés étaient
affaiblies. L’exclusion des résultats d’analyse entraine
nécessairement le retrait des accusations avec une alcoolémie



21-2-2008

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

9:31

many jurisdictions, the threat by defence of a Carter defence
results in many section 253(b) charges being plea bargained down
to either a highway traffic offence or a motor vehicle act offence.

The current federal legislation and the courts’ interpretation of
these defences have created insurmountable barriers to efficient
enforcement and prosecution. National and provincial surveys
have documented police officers’ growing frustration with
loopholes in their increased reluctance to lay impaired driving
charges. This sense of frustration may help explain why Canada’s
charge rate for impaired driving offences per 100,000 licensed
drivers was only 39 per cent of the American rate in 2003. These
defences do not exist in other jurisdictions and they bring the
administration of the criminal justice system in Canada into
disrepute. Indeed, some Canadian defence counsel boast openly
about their ability to virtually get any impaired driver acquitted.
For example, in a newspaper article entitled “How Big Bucks Can
Beat .08,” one Saskatoon lawyer bragged about having never lost
more than one of his 50 or more impaired driving trials per year,
while another claimed to have achieved a string of 28 consecutive
acquittals. Another lawyer includes glowing client testimonials on
his website from impaired drivers who have escaped criminal
responsibility through technicalities. One thankful client is quoted
as saying, “My readings were very high, so I thought I was dead in
the water. My lawyer said he would help me stay out of jail and
possibly get off on a technicality. That is exactly what happened.”

The courts do not throw out drug analysis, fingerprint evidence
or DNA samples based on an accused’s unsubstantiated claim or
denial. Surely, victims of impaired driving are no less deserving
of protection and respect than victims of other violent crimes.
Bill C-2 will narrow the Carter and last-drink defences and help
ensure that the .08 offence is enforced and prosecuted as
Parliament originally intended.

The proposed amendments would also bring Canada’s .08
offence into line with the law in comparable democracies.
MADD Canada strongly supports the changes to the Carter
and last-drink defence.

Robyn Robertson, President and CEQO, Traffic Injury Research
Foundation: To give you some background, the Traffic Injury
Research Foundation is a not-for-profit road safety institute. We

supérieure a 0,08 p. 100 ou l'acquittement de 'intimé. Dans bon
nombre de provinces et territoires, quand la défense menace
d’invoquer le moyen de défense des deux bicres (Carter), les chefs
d’accusation au titre de ’alinéa 2535) font I’objet de négociations
et ’accusé n’a plus qu’a plaider coupable a une infraction moindre
au Code de la route ou a la loi sur les véhicules a moteur.

La loi fédérale actuelle et l'interprétation qu’en font
les tribunaux constituent essentiellement des obstacles
insurmontables pour I'application des lois et les poursuites. Les
sondages nationaux et provinciaux font clairement état de la
frustration croissante des agents de police a I’égard de ces
échappatoires et de leur réticence grandissante a déposer des
accusations pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Cette
frustration pourrait nous aider a comprendre pourquoi
le taux d’accusation pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies
par 100 000 titulaires de permis de conduire au Canada n’était,
en 2003, que 39 p. 100 de celui des Etats-Unis. Ces moyens de
défense n’existent pas ailleurs et ils jettent, a juste titre, le discrédit
sur le systéme de justice pénale au Canada. D’ailleurs, certains
avocats de la défense se vantent ouvertement de pouvoir obtenir
un acquittement dans presque tous les cas de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies. Par exemple, dans un article de journal intitulé
« How Big Bucks Can Beat .08 » ou comment éviter une
condamnation pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies a grands
frais, un avocat de Saskatoon se vante de ne jamais perdre plus
d’un cas de conduite avec facultés affaiblies sur 50 par année,
tandis qu’un autre se targue d’avoir obtenu 28 acquittements
consécutifs. Un autre avocat a affiché sur son site Web
d’éloquents témoignages de clients accusés de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies qui ont réussi a se soustraire a toute
responsabilité criminelle grace a une formalité judiciaire. Un
client reconnaissant aurait affirmé : « Mon alcoolémie était si
élevée que j’étais convaincu que c’était perdu d’avance. Mon
avocat m’a dit qu’il m’aiderait a éviter la prison et qu’il pourrait
probablement exploiter une formalité judiciaire pour me faire
acquitter. C’est exactement ce qu’il a fait ».

Les tribunaux ne rejettent pas les certificats d’analyse de
drogue, les preuves dactyloscopiques ou les preuves génétiques sur
la foi des déclarations non corroborées ou des plaidoyers de non-
culpabilité des intimés. Les victimes de la conduite avec facultés
affaiblies ont certainement droit a la méme protection et au méme
respect que les victimes d’autres crimes violents. Le projet de
loi C-2 limitera considérablement la portée des moyens de défense
des deux bi¢res Carter et du dernier verre et fera en sorte que
lapplication de la loi et les poursuites dans les cas de conduite
avec une alcoolémie de 0,08 p. 100 coincideront davantage avec
les intentions originales du Parlement.

Avec les modifications proposées en matiére de conduite
avec une alcoolémie de 0,08 p. 100, les lois du Canada se
rapprocheront de celles en vigueur dans des démocraties
semblables. MADD Canada appuie pleinement les
modifications aux moyens de défense des deux bieres Carter et
du dernier verre.

Robyn Robertson, présidente-directrice générale, Fondation de
recherches sur les blessures de la route : La Fondation de
recherches sur les blessures de la route est un organisme a but
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have been around since the mid-1960s. We are primarily a
research organization and we do a lot of work in the area of
impaired driving. I am a criminologist. I spend a lot of time
working with police, prosecutors and judges in probation both in
Canada and the United States on the issue of impaired driving.

Today, we would like to thank the committee for the
opportunity to come and speak about Bill C-2. We will provide
some information in the area of drug driving based on our
research and then we would be happy to answer your questions.

I am sure many of you know that drugs and driving is a much
more complicated issue than alcohol-impaired driving. There are
several shortcomings in the available evidence and there are
different interpretations of the scientific evidence. As such, it
makes the field somewhat controversial and certainly confusing.
There are a number of important reasons why we do not have
good information on drugs and driving. It has a lot to do with the
limitations in terms of science. Generally, you need much larger
sample sizes to do studies on drug-impaired driving because the
incidence of drug use is much lower in the general population.
Refusal rates tend to be high. The National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration in the U.S. completed a roadside survey
looking at alcohol and drug impairment asking for samples from
drivers. Their refusal rates tended to be higher. Generally, when
you do roadside surveys for alcohol, you get anywhere from
a 90 to a 95 per cent participation rate. In the U.S. they got
80 per cent compliance for both, 67 per cent compliance for
saliva, and only 42 per cent compliance for blood. Because your
refusal rates are higher, it is harder to get good information.

Intrusive testing procedures, the methods of collecting, storing
and analyzing the samples also have implications for the analyses
and affect the results. Certainly, more elaborate and expensive
analyses are needed. There is a much broader range of drugs to be
tested for. If you look at poly drug use and designer drugs, it is a
growing field. Again, in the survey that was done, they had to
keep expanding the number of drugs they were testing for because
of what was being found.

The timing of testing is certainly important because the speed
with which drugs are eliminated varies. The correlation between
drug levels in the blood and impairment is low and unreliable for
certain kinds of drugs. As I said, there is a wide variety of drugs,
there are different populations of users and you find that certain
drugs are more prevalent among some types of drivers. The
pharmacodynamics, or effects of the drugs, differ among users
and, again, testing for the presence of drugs is very complex.

non lucratif ceuvrant pour la sécurité routiére depuis le milieu des
années 1960. Nous faisons essentiellement de la recherche, avant
tout dans le domaine de la conduite avec les facultés affaiblies.
Moi-méme, je suis criminologue. Et je consacre le plus gros de
mon temps a la recherche sur la conduite avec les facultés
affaiblies en collaboration avec des policiers, des procureurs de la
Couronne et des juges autant du Canada que des Etats-Unis.

Je remercie le comité de m’avoir invitée a parler du projet de
loi C-2. Je vous donnerai des informations découlant de nos
recherches sur la drogue au volant puis je serais heureuse de
répondre a vos questions.

Je suis certaine que bon nombre d’entre vous savent que les
drogues au volant sont un probléme beaucoup plus complexe que
I’alcool au volant. Les preuves disponibles sont lacunaires et les
preuves scientifiques sont interprétées de bien des fagons. Par
conséquent, c’est un domaine ou il y a controverse et confusion.
De bonnes raisons expliquent pourquoi nous ne disposons pas de
données solides sur la drogue au volant. En grande partie, c’est
attribuable aux limites de la science. Généralement, il faut un
échantillon important pour pouvoir faire une étude valable sur les
facultés affaiblies par les drogues, mais la consommation de
drogues n’est pas trés élevée dans la population en général. De
plus, les taux de refus sont plutét élevés. La National Highway
Traffic Safety Administration, aux Etats-Unis, a réalisé une étude
a partir d’échantillons prélevés auprés de conducteurs en bordure
de la route. Le taux de refus a été assez important. Généralement,
quand on méne une étude de ce genre sur I’alcool au volant, le
taux de participation est de 90 & 95 p. 100, mais aux Etats-Unis,
le taux de participation a été de 80 p. 100 pour les deux types
d’échantillons, de 67 p. 100 pour la salive et de 42 p. 100 pour le
sang. Parce que le taux de refus est élevé, il est difficile d’obtenir
de bonnes informations.

Les procédures intrusives employées, les méthodes de
prélevement, d’entreposage et d’analyse des échantillons ont
aussi une incidence sur les analyses et sur les résultats. Il ne
fait aucun doute qu’il faudrait effectuer des analyses plus
approfondies et colteuses. La vaste gamme de drogues qu’il
faut détecter doit étre prise en compte. La consommation de
drogues multiples et de drogues de synthése est en hausse. Dans
I’étude dont j’ai parlé, il a fallu élargir constamment le nombre de
drogues a dépister en raison de ce qu’on détectait dans les
échantillons.

Le moment ou des tests sont administrés est aussi important en
raison de la vitesse variable a laquelle les différentes drogues sont
¢éliminées de I'organisme. La corrélation entre la concentration de
drogues dans le sang et I'affaiblissement des facultés est faible
et peu fiable pour certains types de drogues. Comme je viens de
le dire, il existe une vaste gamme de drogues différentes, mais
aussi toutes sortes de consommateurs; certaines drogues sont
plus souvent présentes chez certains types de conducteurs.
La pharmacodynamie, l'effet des drogues, varie selon le
consommateur. Par conséquent, il est trés complexe de
concevoir des tests de dépistage de drogues.
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We do have an extensive body of experimental literature that
looks at the effects of drugs on driving, and we know that many
drugs affect various driving tasks but we do not have a lot of
reliable information on the frequency with which drivers use these
drugs because either we cannot get them to participate in surveys
or because testing rates for fatally injured drivers are relatively
low.

Generally, our most reliable estimate is that about 10 per cent
of drivers are using impairing drugs, meaning prescription drugs,
over-the-counter medications as well as illicit drugs. Of course,
marijuana is the most commonly reported and detected drug. We
generally see it in the young male driver population, as Mr. Murie
stated.

More important, the extent to which drugs are a causal factor
in motor vehicle collisions is unknown due to the difficulty of
measuring drug use by drivers, the large number of drugs and the
difficulty in developing research designs to allow us to measure
these things.

As some of you may know, our organization conducts public
opinion polls on various driving issues. We have looked at the
issue of drugs and driving twice, once in 2002 and again in 2005.
These surveys were done under funding from Transport Canada,
the Brewers Association of Canada as well as Toyota Canada. We
asked people about the prevalence of drug use and driving, about
the level of concern they have with regard to drug driving, as well
as their support for various enforcement measures.

Generally when we look at the 2002 and the 2005 results, we
see that there is an increase in drug driving in Canada. In 2002,
our study looked specifically at prescription medications, illicit
drugs and over-the-counter medications. Our 2005 study focused
specifically on marijuana.

In 2002, if you look at all drug use, an estimated 3.7 million
Canadians admitted to driving after taking some kind of
medication or drug that could potentially impair their ability to
drive. That is about 17 or 18 per cent of licensed drivers. The
most commonly used drugs were over-the-counter medications.
About 16 per cent admitted to using these drugs and then driving.
Considerably less frequent is driving after using prescription
medication with about 2.3 per cent of the respondents, marijuana
at 1.5 per cent and illegal drugs at less than 1 per cent.
Prescription drug use is obviously more common among older
individuals, whereas illicit drug use and marijuana use is much
more common among younger drivers.

Il y a de nombreux rapports d’études exhaustives sur les effets
des drogues sur la conduite d’un véhicule, et nous savons que bien
des substances ont une incidence sur les différentes taches
inhérentes a la conduite d’un véhicule, mais nous avons peu
d’informations fiables sur la fréquence de la consommation de
drogues des conducteurs parce qu’ils refusent de participer a nos
études ou parce qu’il est encore relativement rare qu’on procéde a
un test de dépistage de drogues chez les conducteurs tués dans un
accident de la route.

Selon nos estimations générales les plus fiables, environ
10 p. 100 des conducteurs consomment des substances qui
affaiblissent les facultés, soit des médicaments sur ordonnance,
des médicaments en vente libre ou des drogues illicites. Il va sans
dire que la marijuana est la drogue la plus souvent signalée et
détectée. On la voit généralement chez les jeunes conducteurs de
sexe masculin, comme 1’a indiqué M. Murie.

Le plus important, c’est qu’on ignore encore dans quelle
mesure les drogues sont un facteur causal dans les collisions parce
qu’il est difficile de mesurer la consommation de drogues chez
les conducteurs, parce que les drogues consommées sont si
nombreuses et parce qu’il est difficile de concevoir des
méthodologies de recherche nous permettant d’évaluer ces
facteurs.

Vous savez sans doute que notre organisation meéne des
sondages d’opinion publique sur diverses questions touchant la
conduite automobile. Nous nous sommes penchés sur la
drogue au volant deux fois, en 2002 et en 2005. Ces sondages
ont été réalisés grace au financement de Transports Canada, de
I’Association des brasseurs du Canada et de Toyota Canada.
Nous avons interrogé les répondants sur la fréquence de la
conduite sous ’emprise de la drogue, le niveau d’inquiétude quant
a la drogue au volant et le soutien qu’on accorderait a diverses
mesures répressives.

De fagon générale, en examinant les résultats de 2002 et de
2005, on constate qu’il y a eu une augmentation de la drogue au
volant au Canada. En 2002, nous avions étudié plus précisément
les médicaments sur ordonnance, les drogues illicites et les
médicaments en vente libre. En 2005, nous avons concentré
notre étude sur la marijuana.

En 2002, en ce qui concerne la consommation de drogues,
environ 3,7 millions de Canadiens ont déclaré avoir pris le volant
aprés avoir pris un médicament ou une drogue qui pouvait
affaiblir leurs facultés. Cela représente approximativement 17 ou
18 p. 100 des détenteurs de permis de conduire. Les substances les
plus souvent consommées étaient les médicaments en vente libre.
Environ 16 p. 100 des répondants ont déclaré avoir pris de ces
médicaments avant de conduire. La conduite aprés avoir pris des
médicaments sur ordonnance était moins fréquente, elle n’a été
déclarée que par environ 2,3 p. 100 des répondants; pour la
marijuana, ce taux est de 1,5 p. 100 et pour les drogues illicites,
moins de 1 p. 100. De toute évidence, la prise de médicaments sur
ordonnance est plus fréquente chez les personnes plus agées, alors
que les drogues illicites et la marijuana sont plus souvent
consommées par les jeunes conducteurs.
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Polls indicate that the number of drivers who report driving a
vehicle within two hours of using marijuana in the past year is
increasing. This is not just substantiated by our own studies but
studies done by other organizations in Canada as well, which
Mr. Murie mentioned.

Our poll specifically showed that in 2002, 1.5 per cent of
drivers reported using marijuana. This increased to 2.1 per cent
in 2004, and then 2.4 per cent in 2005. We are seeing steady
increases in the use of marijuana and driving in the Canadian
population. That works out to about a half million drivers driving
under the influence of marijuana, which is in comparison to about
1.5 million Canadians who have admitted to using alcohol when
they thought they were over the legal limit and drove.

What is also generally seen from the research is that frequently
marijuana is combined with alcohol use, which again makes
studying the problem more challenging. About 70 per cent of
drivers in our survey admitted to using alcohol as well as
marijuana. This is comparable to what you see in other studies
that have been done. The combination of drugs and alcohol is
prevalent. This has important safety implications. We know that
drugs can impair the ability to drive, as does alcohol, and we
suspect that the effects of combining the two are additive or
multiplicative. Therefore, it is a substantial issue.

We also asked the people who admitted to driving after using
drugs to tell us about themselves. We found that users are
different from non-users in several ways. Users of marijuana are
typically younger and more likely to be male. They are unmarried
and live in urban areas relative to non-users.

We also found that marijuana users are more inclined to be
risk-takers in their driving. They will take risks when driving for
fun, are more likely to speed or to have received a traffic ticket,
and are more likely to have been involved in a collision than
non-users.

Of greater importance, we also see that concern about the
drug-driving issue is increasing in Canada. In 2002, we asked
the question regarding concern, and about 77 per cent of the
population said that this was a very important issue. In our 2005
poll, it went up to 87 per cent. The vast majority of the Canadian
population is very concerned about the drug-driving issue.

However, there seems to be much greater concern for young
drivers using drugs and lower concern for older drivers using
prescription medications. Concern was only 60 per cent for older
drivers using prescription medications.

There was strong support for the enforcement of drug-driving
laws. Of course, you see less support among marijuana users.
They have less support for enforcement actions, including testing
drivers who cause injury, for drugs, tests of physical coordination

Les études indiquent que le nombre de conducteurs qui
déclarent avoir pris le volant dans les deux heures suivant la
consommation de marijuana pendant I’année précédente est en
hausse. Ca été confirmé par nos propres études, mais aussi par
celles d’autres organisations canadiennes, ainsi que I'a indiqué
M. Murie.

Plus précisément, notre sondage a démontré qu’en 2002,
1,5 p. 100 des conducteurs ont déclaré avoir consommé de la
marijuana. Ce taux est passé a 2,1 p. 100 en 2004 et a 2,4 p. 100
en 2005. Nous assistons donc a une hausse constante de la
conduite sous 'emprise de la marijuana au sein de la population
canadienne. Ces chiffres représentent environ un demi-million de
conducteurs, alors qu’environ 1,5 million de Canadiens ont
reconnu avoir pris le volant aprés avoir consommé de 1’alcool et
avec une alcoolémie supérieure a la limite permise.

La recherche a aussi démontré de fagon générale que,
fréquemment, la marijuana est combinée a 1’alcool, ce qui rend
I’étude du probléme d’autant plus difficile. Environ 70 p. 100 des
conducteurs interrogés dans le cadre de notre sondage ont déclaré
avoir consommé de I’alcool et de la marijuana. Ce chiffre est
comparable aux résultats d’autres études menées sur ce sujet.
La combinaison drogue et alcool est fréquente. Cela a des
conséquences importantes pour la sécurité routiére. Nous savons
que les drogues peuvent altérer la capacité de conduire,
comme I’alcool, et nous croyons que les effets combinés des
deux s’amplifient ou se multiplient. C’est donc une question
d’importance.

Nous avons aussi demandé aux répondants qui avaient déclaré
avoir pris le volant aprés avoir consommé des drogues de nous
parler un peu d’eux-mémes. Ceux qui consomment différent
de ceux qui ne consomment pas a bien des égards. Les
consommateurs de marijuana sont généralement plus jeunes et
plus souvent de sexe masculin. IIs sont célibataires et vivent dans
des régions urbaines.

Nous avons aussi constaté que les consommateurs de
marijuana ont davantage tendance a prendre des risques au
volant. Ils prennent des risques au volant pour le plaisir, sont plus
susceptibles de faire de la vitesse ou d’écoper d’une contravention
et d’étre impliqués dans une collision que les non-consommateurs.

Il importe de noter que ’on se préoccupe de plus en plus de la
question de la drogue au volant au Canada. En 2002, en réponse a
cette question, environ 77 p. 100 des répondants ont jugé que
¢’était un enjeu trés important. Dans notre sondage de 2005,
cette proportion était passée a 87 p. 100. La vaste majorité des
Canadiens est donc trés préoccupée par le probléme de la drogue
au volant.

Toutefois, on semble s’inquiéter davantage des jeunes
conducteurs qui consomment des drogues que des personnes
agées qui prennent des médicaments d’ordonnance. Seulement
60 p. 100 des répondants ont dit s’inquiéter des ainés qui
prennent des médicaments d’ordonnance.

On appuie fortement Iapplication des dispositions législatives
sur la conduite avec les facultés affaiblies par les drogues. Cet
appui est toutefois moindre chez les consommateurs de
marijuana. Ils sont moins nombreux a étre pour les mesures
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if drugs are suspected, and tests of bodily fluids as well as spot
checks. Not surprisingly, those using drugs are not particularly
supportive of enforcement measures, but the vast majority of
drivers who do not use drugs are supportive.

We are pleased with Bill C-2. We think it is important that the
drug-impaired driving issue be addressed. Certainly, there is
strong concern among Canadians, and from what we know with
respect to drug use and driving, there is cause for concern.

As an organization, we encourage the higher testing of fatally
injured drivers, which is one of the main limitations that we have
in drug-driving research. Our testing rate for alcohol is high.
Almost all fatally injured drivers are tested for alcohol but very
few are tested for drugs. That can range anywhere from about
20 per cent of drivers who are tested for drugs in Alberta and
80 per cent who are tested in Saskatchewan. Across the board, we
see different testing rates, and it is important that jurisdictions be
encouraged to test more drivers in order to give us better
information.

The DRE program holds promise for enforcing drug-driving
laws. We would also like to encourage that similar attention be
given to the prosecution and adjudication of drug-driving cases.

We recently completed a national survey of Crown attorneys
and defence attorneys on the issue of alcohol-impaired driving,
and there is certainly concern about the drug-driving issue and the
ability of Crown attorneys to prosecute the cases as well as the
ability of judges to adjudicate. Education is required if we want to
see the successful prosecution of cases all the way through the
system and see positive outcomes at the end.

Certainly, in drug-impaired driving, cases will be more
challenging to prosecute. With the complexities of scientific
evidence, some of the gaps in knowledge I think have the potential
to open doors to challenges by defence attorneys, so it is
important that we ensure that the prosecution of these cases will
be strong.

As a last comment, we would like to encourage jurisdictions to
give consideration to the provincial sanctions already in place for
impaired driving and how the drug-impaired convictions will be
reconciled with alcohol-impaired convictions.

d’application de la loi, y compris les tests de dépistage de drogues
chez les conducteurs qui causent des blessures, les épreuves de
coordination physique quand on soupgonne la présence de
drogues et les analyses d’échantillons de fluides corporels, ainsi
que les controles aléatoires. Il n’est pas étonnant que les
consommateurs de drogues ne soient pas particuliérement en
faveur de ce genre de mesures, mais la vaste majorité des
conducteurs qui ne consomment pas de drogues le sont.

Nous sommes satisfaits du projet de loi C-2. Nous considérons
qu’il est important que I’on s’occupe de la question de la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies par les drogues. Il ne fait aucun doute que
c’est une question qui préoccupe vivement les Canadiens, et
d’aprés ce que nous savons a propos de la conduite sous ’'emprise
de la drogue, il y a matiére a préoccupation.

Notre organisation encourage l'intensification du dépistage
chez les conducteurs mortellement blessés, ce qui est 'une des
principales limites auxquelles nous faisons face dans la recherche
sur la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par les drogues. Notre taux
de dépistage de la consommation d’alcool est élevé. On administre
a pratiquement tous les conducteurs mortellement blessés des tests
de dépistage d’alcool mais les tests de dépistage de drogues sont
trés rares. Ce pourcentage peut varier d’environ 20 p. 100 des
conducteurs qui font 1'objet de tests de dépistage de drogues en
Alberta jusqu’a 80 p. 100 qui font ’objet de tests de dépistage en
Saskatchewan. De fagon générale, les taux de dépistage varient et
il est important que les provinces soient encouragées a faire ce
dépistage auprés d’un plus grand nombre de conducteurs pour
qu’elles puissent nous fournir une meilleure information.

Le programme ERD est prometteur pour assurer I’application
des lois qui régissent la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la
drogue. Nous encouragerions également qu’une attention
similaire soit accordée a la poursuite et au jugement de causes
de conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la drogue.

Nous venons de terminer un sondage national auprés de
procureurs de la Couronne et procureurs de la défense sur la
question de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par I’alcool, et on a
effectivement constaté une préoccupation a propos de la question
de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la drogue et de la
capacité des procureurs de la Couronne d’intenter des poursuites
ainsi que de la capacité des juges de rendre une décision. La
sensibilisation s’impose si nous voulons intenter avec succés des
poursuites et obtenir des résultats positifs au bout du compte.

Il ne fait aucun doute qu’en ce qui concerne la conduite avec
facultés affaiblies par la drogue, il sera plus difficile d’intenter
des poursuites. Compte tenu de la complexité de la preuve
scientifique, une absence de connaissances risque a mon avis
de donner lieu a des contestations de la part des avocats de la
défense. C’est pourquoi il est important de nous assurer que la
poursuite dans ce genre de causes soit solide.

J’aimerais, comme derniére observation, encourager les
provinces a envisager les sanctions provinciales qui existent déja
pour la conduite avec facultés affaiblies et la fagon de faire
concorder les condamnations en cas de conduite avec facultés
affaiblies par la drogue et les condamnations avec facultés
affaiblies par I’alcool.
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Senator Stratton: Thank you for appearing today. It is much
appreciated.

I would like to get into the topic of marijuana use. With that
many drivers on the road, is it an attitudinal thing, on the part of
people who smoke marijuana, that they are okay behind the
wheel? If you smoke cigarettes, you are okay behind the wheel.
Is the attitude the same for marijuana use?

Ms. Robertson: I would say it is probably a factor. We know
even with alcohol- impaired driving, those who admit to driving
after drinking repeatedly do not think they pose a greater risk on
the road. I think it could be true for marijuana-using drivers as
well; they do not see themselves as being impaired or understand
that they are impaired.

Generally, what we have seen from the research is mixed
results. Some of the studies show decrements in terms of driving
performance, whereas others do not show any effects at all.
I think the science is still out, but the attitude that they are not
impaired is certainly a factor.

Mr. Murie: I would comment on the behavioural piece and
relate it back to alcohol. It was only 25 years ago that drinking
and driving was an acceptable activity. It was something where
most people drank and drove, and I think we are in the same
frame with cannabis. Not only must we do the research, but we
also need to have a number of public awareness campaigns to
educate the public, especially young people, of the potential
dangers of cannabis and driving, just like drinking and driving.

Senator Stratton: In the presentation by Ms. Barr-Telford,
director of the Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, she talks
about the rate of cocaine offences having increased since 2002 and
peaking in 2006. Do you have any knowledge of the different drug
effects? For example, if you take cocaine and get behind a wheel,
is there a substantial difference or enhanced danger as compared
to, say, alcohol or marijuana?

Ms. Robertson: They have not done as much research on
stimulants. Most of the research is focused on cannabis and
benzodiazepines. For stimulants, they have not seen any effect on
driving performance. It is something that is difficult to test and
measure.

Senator Stratton: It is too early. The science has not yet
caught up.

Ms. Robertson: The science is really not there yet. Generally,
with stimulants, you are more alert and pay attention a little
better, but I do not know for what sustained period of time,
if any.

Le sénateur Stratton : Je tiens a vous remercier d’avoir
comparu devant nous aujourd’hui.

Jaimerais aborder la question de la consommation de
marijuana. Compte tenu du nombre de conducteurs, est-ce une
question d’attitude, de la part de ceux qui fument de la marijuana,
qui estiment étre en état de conduire? Si 'on fume des cigarettes,
on est en état de conduire. Est-ce que c’est la méme attitude que
I’on adopte en ce qui concerne la consommation de marijuana?

Mme Robertson : Je dirais que c’est probablement un facteur.
Nous savons que méme dans les cas d’ivresse au volant, ceux qui
avouent avoir conduit aprés avoir bu a plusieurs occasions ne
considérent pas qu’ils représentent un risque plus élevé sur la
route. Je pense que les conducteurs qui ont consommé de la
marijuana auraient probablement la méme attitude; ils ne
considérent pas que leurs facultés sont affaiblies ou ils ne le
comprennent pas.

De fagon générale, les résultats de la recherche sont plutot
mitigés. Certaines études indiquent une diminution des capacités
de conduite tandis que d’autres n’indiquent absolument aucune
incidence. Je pense que les données scientifiques ne sont pas
encore concluantes, mais il ne fait aucun doute que ’attitude selon
laquelle leurs facultés ne sont pas affaiblies est un facteur qui
entre en ligne de compte.

M. Murie : Je commenterai sur 1’aspect comportemental et
ferai le lien avec I’alcool. 11 y a 25 ans seulement, conduire aprés
avoir bu était une activité acceptable. A ’époque, la plupart des
gens buvaient et prenaient le volant, et je pense que c’est la méme
chose dans le cas du cannabis. Non seulement devons-nous faire
de la recherche, mais nous devons également mettre sur pied un
certain nombre de campagnes de sensibilisation publiques pour
sensibiliser le public, particuliérement les jeunes, aux risques que
pose la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par le cannabis, au méme
titre que I’alcool au volant.

Le sénateur Stratton : Dans son exposé, Mme Barr-Telford,
directrice du Centre canadien de la statistique juridique, indique
que le taux d’infractions mettant en cause la cocaine a augmenté
depuis 2002 et a atteint un sommet en 2006. Etes-vous au courant
des effets des différentes drogues? Par exemple, si vous conduisez
aprés avoir consommé de la cocaine, existe-t-il une différence
importante ou un risque accru comparativement a, par exemple,
la consommation d’alcool ou de marijuana?

Mme Robertson : On n’a pas fait autant de recherches sur les
stimulants. La majorité de la recherche met laccent sur le
cannabis et les benzodiazépines. En ce qui concerne les stimulants,
on n’a constaté aucune incidence sur la capacité de conduire. C’est
difficile a tester et a mesurer.

Le sénateur Stratton: Il est trop tét. Les connaissances
scientifiques ont du retard.

Mme Robertson : Il y a encore des lacunes au niveau des
connaissances scientifiques. De fagon générale, dans le cas de
stimulants, les personnes sont plus alertes et un peu plus
vigilantes, mais j'ignore pendant combien de temps.
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Senator Stratton: You would think those drugs combined with
alcohol would make you a higher risk-taker, just by the nature of
the two combined.

Senator Campbell: 1 have to preface my questions with
background. I spent 32 years as a police officer and coroner, so
I have seen the first-hand devastation of impaired driving.

My questions are more related to how we answer people who
have these types of questions. Do you know what the incidence is
of the use of the Carter defence and the two-beer defence? Do you
know how often it is used and how successful it is?

Mr. Murie: There was a survey done by the OPP and Toronto
police in their area, and for a number of months they monitored
the number of cases they brought before the courts. The Carter
defence is used a lot more than the last-drink defence. The last-
drink defence tends to be used on issues more when there is death
or serious injury. Even though it is used less, it is done in that
circumstance. They found that about 50 per cent of their cases
were being lost because of the Carter defence.

Ms. Robertson: It is probably higher in some jurisdictions. We
did a national survey of Crowns and defence attorneys on the
issue of impaired driving, and we asked specifically about
evidence to the contrary. When that defence is used, anywhere
from 50 to 100 per cent of the time it is successful. It is probably
the most significant problem in the prosecution of impaired
driving cases, next to constitutional issues.

We find that the last-drink defence is more common in western
regions while the Carter defence is very popular in Ontario and
Quebec. We find that evidence to the contrary is not much of an
issue at all in the Atlantic region, so there is certainly disparity,
but there is a unanimous feeling that it has a detrimental effect on
the prosecution of impaired driving cases. One of the Crown
attorneys that we had spoken to said it is comparable to saying, “I
did not commit the murder so the DNA must be wrong.” That is
what they are up against.

Senator Campbell: Perhaps you could give us a summary of the
Carter defence.

Mr. Murie: This is where an individual appears before the
court, and there is an Ontario case, Clarke, 2005. He was pulled
over on a R.I.D.E./Sobriety Checkpoint with clear signs of
impairment — in fact he almost hit the officers at this
checkpoint — and given a roadside screening test, failed that,
had two readings on a Breathalyzer at 146 and 144. I do not know
how big Clarke was, but let us suppose he is a 200-pound man.
That is about 12 standard drinks to get a 146, just to give you

Le sénateur Stratton : On pourrait croire que ceux qui mélent
drogues et alcool seraient portés a prendre plus de risques,
simplement parce qu’ils mélent les deux substances.

Le sénateur Campbell : Avant de poser mes questions j’aimerais
préciser que j’ai travaillé pendant 32 ans comme policier et
coroner. J’ai donc eu ’occasion de constater la dévastation causée
par la conduite en état d’ébriété.

Ce que j’aimerais savoir, ¢’est comment répondre a ceux qui
posent ce genre de questions. Savons-nous que lincidence de
I'utilisation de la défense Carter et de la défense des deux bieres?
Est-ce que vous savez si cette défense est souvent invoquée et
quelle est son efficacité?

M. Murie : La police provinciale de I’Ontario et la police de
Toronto ont fait une enquéte dans leur région, et pendant un
certain nombre de mois, elles ont surveillé le nombre de causes
quelles ont porté devant les tribunaux. La défense Carter est
invoqué beaucoup plus souvent que la défense du dernier verre.
La défense du dernier verre est plutot invoquée dans les cas de
décés ou de blessures graves. Méme si elle est moins souvent
invoquée, elle I'est dans ces circonstances. La police a constaté
que dans environ 50p. 100 des cas, elle n’a pas obtenu gain de
cause lorsque la défense Carter a été invoquée.

Mme Robertson : Ce pourcentage est probablement plus élevé
dans certaines provinces. Nous avons fait un sondage national
auprés des procureurs de la Couronne et de la défense sur la
question de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies, et nous leur avons
posé des questions précises a propos de la preuve contraire.
Lorsque cette défense est invoquée, elle est acceptée environ
50 p. 100 du temps. C’est probablement le probléme le plus
important qui se pose dans le cas de la poursuite de causes
de conduite avec facultés affaiblies, aprés les probléemes
constitutionnels.

Nous constatons que la défense du dernier verre est plus
courante dans les régions de 1’Ouest tandis que la défense Carter
est trés populaire en Ontario et Québec. Nous constatons que la
preuve contraire n’est pas vraiment un probléme dans la région de
I’Atlantique, donc il existe de toute évidence une disparité, mais
tout le monde convient que cela nuit a la poursuite de causes de
conduite avec facultés affaiblies. L'un des procureurs de la
Couronne a qui nous avons parlé a indiqué que cette défense
équivaut a dire « Je n’ai pas commis le meurtre, donc les résultats
de I’analyse de ’ADN doivent étre erronés » C’est donc la sorte
de situation a laquelle ils doivent faire face.

Le sénateur Campbell : Vous pourriez peut-étre nous résumer
la défense Carter.

M. Murie : Il s’agit du cas ou une personne comparait devant
le tribunal, et il y a un cas en Ontario, l'affaire Clarke, qui
remonte a 2005. Il a été intercepté lors d’un contrdle routier dans
le cadre du programme R.I.D.E parce qu’il manifestait des signes
évidents de facultés affaiblies — en fait il a pratiquement frappé
les policiers a ce poste de contrdle — et il s’est vu administrer un
alcotest qu’il n’a pas passé et un deuxiéme test a été administré et
dans les deux cas les résultats de I'ivressométre étaient de 146
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an idea. These readings were taken probably two hours after the
time he stopped drinking.

Thus there was the physical evidence, there was the
Breathalyzer evidence, and when it got to court, what happened
is that the accused would say, “I only had two drinks that
evening.” They would bring friends to say: “I was with them all
evening, and that is all they had to drink.” The defence then
introduces a toxicologist who says, “If what the accused is telling
you is true,” as a qualification to their expert testimony, and say,
“given the size of that gentlemen, then their BAC would be well
below the .08 BAC.” Thus, evidence to the contrary.

There is legitimate evidence to the contrary: Was the
Intoxilyzer or the Breathalyzer properly maintained and
calibrated? Was the person who took the test on that accused
properly certified and trained? All those questions, if the police
have not done that part, are legitimate and it should be thrown
out as evidence to the contrary; but the way it has taken off with
Carter is ridiculous. So that is what happens, and in many of these
cases the judge says “I do not really believe the accused” but the
fact that the accused introduced evidence to the contrary means
that the case is simply thrown out.

There is another piece that is important with Carter and groups
like us and TIRF, who have worked hard over the years to put in
rehabilitation treatment and countermeasure programs based on
a conviction of impaired driving. Even though we talk about
50 per cent, the number could be higher. Many of these are plea-
bargained away. In Ontario, it is routine to get a conviction to a
careless driving offence. They lose six points and get a $1,000 fine
but continue to drive, and all those countermeasure programs like
treatment and ignition interlock are not used, and then, when they
come back into the system, they are treated as a first-time
offender. It is wrong.

Senator Campbell: I want your opinion with regard to the
marijuana. Do you think it is possible that young people today
realize the risk of drinking and driving but, until the DREs started
in, thought that there was no real risk of impairment due to, for
instance, marijuana? Do you think that is one of the reasons why
we see this higher incidence of alcohol impairment versus drug
impairment because there was no way of recognizing that in a
substantial scientific way?

Ms. Robertson: You mean that they are switching?

Senator Campbell: Right.

et 144. J’ignore quel était le poids de M. Clarke, mais disons qu’il
s’agit d’un homme de 200 livres. Pour obtenir un résultat de 146,
il faut qu’il ait pris 12 consommations ordinaires, simplement
pour vous donner une idée. Ces résultats ont probablement été
obtenus deux heures aprés sa derniére consommation.

Il ya donc la preuve physique, c’est-a-dire la preuve fournie par
I'ivressometre, et lorsque ’accusé a comparu devant le tribunal, il
aurait dit, « Je n’ai bu que deux consommations ce soir-la ». Il
serait accompagné d’amis qui diraient : « J’ai été avec eux toute la
soirée, et c’est tout ce que j’ai bu ». La défense convoque alors
un toxicologue qui dit, « Si ce que "accusé dit est vrai », pour
nuancer son témoignage d’expert, et il ajoute, « compte tenu de la
taille de ce monsieur, alors son alcoolémie serait nettement
inférieure a 0,08 ». Il vient donc de présenter la preuve contraire.

Il existe une preuve contraire légitime : I'ivressométre était-il
correctement entretenu et calibré? La personne qui a administré
les tests a I’accusé possédait-elle ’accréditation et la formation
appropriée? Toutes ces questions, si la police ne s’est pas occupée
de cet aspect-la, sont légitimes et les accusations devraient étre
rejetées sur la foi de la preuve contraire; mais l'utilisation que
I’'on a faite de la défense Carter est ridicule. C’est donc ce qui se
produit, et dans un grand nombre de ces causes, le juge dira « je
ne crois pas vraiment l’accusé » mais le fait que laccusé ait
présenté une preuve contraire signifie que les accusations seront
simplement rejetées.

Iy a un autre aspect qui est important dans le cas de la défense
Carter et des groupes comme le nétre et la FRBR, qui ont
travaillé fort au fil des ans pour établir des programmes de
mesures de réadaptation et de prévention dans le cadre d’une
condamnation pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Méme si
nous parlons d’environ 50 p. 100, le pourcentage pourrait étre
plus élevé. Un grand nombre de ces causes font I'objet de
négociations de plaidoyer. En Ontario, il est courant d’obtenir
une condamnation pour conduite imprudente. L’accusé perd
six points et recoit une amende de 1 000 $, mais continue de
conduire, et aucun des programmes de prévention, comme les
traitements et les interrupteurs d’allumage n’est utilisé, et ensuite,
lorsque ces personnes reviennent dans le systéme, elles sont
traitées comme des délinquants primaires. C’est inacceptable.

Le sénateur Campbell : J’aimerais connaitre votre opinion en ce
qui concerne la marijuana. Croyez-vous qu’il soit possible que les
jeunes aujourd’hui se rendent compte du risque de I’alcool au
volant mais pensaient, jusqu’a ce que les programmes ERD soient
mis sur pied, qu’il n’y avait pas de risque réel de facultés affaiblies
par la marijuana, par exemple? Croyez-vous que c’est 'une des
raisons pour lesquelles nous constatons un nombre plus élevé de
cas de facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool plutét que par la drogue,
parce qu’il n’existait aucun moyen de le reconnaitre concrétement
sur le plan scientifique?

Mme Robertson : Vous voulez qu’ils remplacent 'un par
lautre?

Le sénateur Campbell : Exact.
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Ms. Robertson: There is anecdotal evidence to suggest that they
have figured out that we can catch them for alcohol impairment
but that drugs are harder to detect.

Senator Campbell: It would be safe to assume that with the
DRE program we should see a substantial increase? If the
statistics are correct, we should see a substantial increase in the
number of people arrested for impairment by marijuana?

Mr. Murie: Not necessarily. If it is properly done and young
people become aware that police have that power, what happens
is that the incidence of that activity drops, and so then there is this
false impression that all of the sudden the courts will be
overwhelmed with drugs and driving charges. That will not
happen.

Senator Campbell: I was not suggesting that. I was suggesting
that there will be a rise once the recognition is there.

Mr. Murie: In all these things there is a small blip on the
enforcement piece to get the message out there and, you are right,
there is then a significant drop.

Ms. Robertson: As many of them are using alcohol and drugs,
the prosecution will be for the alcohol charge because it is a lot
easier than doing the drugs analyses.

Senator Campbell: In my experience, if you find cocaine and/or
heroin, and/or almost any other drug, invariably you will find
alcohol in the mix.

Senator Cowan: Senator Stratton and Senator Campbell have
covered the points that I wanted to raise.

It strikes me that because of the work that your organizations
and others have done to raise public awareness of the dangers of
drinking and driving, people are more aware and more cautious
than they once were. However, part of the puzzle with respect to
drugs and driving is exactly that prolonged education part. I am
not discounting the enforcement part, but we should not lose sight
of the public education role.

I would like your comments in terms of support from
governments. This is not just a federal government issue; all
levels of government have a responsibility, and as well perhaps
the private companies who are manufacturing at least the
prescription drugs and over-the-counter medications that are
contributing causes to some of these offences. Are you getting the
response that you would like to get from those sectors of our
society in support of the public education and public awareness
component of this problem, leaving aside the enforcement part?

Mme Robertson : 11 existe des preuves empiriques qui semblent
indiquer qu’ils savent maintenant que nous pouvons les attraper
pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies par I’alcool mais que la
présence de drogues est plus difficile a détecter.

Le sénateur Campbell : On peut donc partir du principe que
grace au programme ERD, nous constaterons une augmentation
importante? Si les chiffres sont exacts, nous devrions constater
une augmentation importante du nombre de personnes arrétées
pour conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la marijuana?

M. Murie : Pas nécessairement. Si cela est fait correctement et
si les jeunes se rendent compte que la police posséde ce pouvoir,
alors la fréquence de cette activité diminuera et on aura ensuite la
fausse impression que soudainement les tribunaux seront
submergés d’accusations de conduite avec facultés affaiblies par
la drogue. Ce n’est pas ce qui se produira.

Le sénateur Campbell : Ce n’est pas ce que je voulais dire. Je
voulais dire qu’il y aura une augmentation une fois que la
reconnaissance existera.

M. Murie : Dans ce genre de situations, on constate une légére
hausse temporaire en ce qui concerne le volet de ’application de la
loi pour transmettre le message et, vous avez raison, il y a alors
une baisse importante.

Mme Robertson : Comme un grand nombre d’entre eux
consomment de I’alcool et des drogues, la Couronne portera
une accusation de conduite avec facultés affaiblies par I’alcool
parce que cela est beaucoup plus facile que de faire des analyses de
dépistage de drogues.

Le sénateur Campbell : D’aprés mon expérience, si vous
constatez la présence de cocaine ou d’héroine, ou de
pratiquement n’importe quelle autre drogue, invariablement
vous constaterez également la présence d’alcool.

Le sénateur Cowan : Le sénateur Stratton et le sénateur
Campbell ont abordé les points que je voulais soulever.

Je trouve qu’en raison du travail accompli entre autres par les
organisations que vous représentez, pour sensibiliser le public
aux dangers de I’alcool au volant, les gens sont de plus en plus
conscients et plus prudents que par le passé. Cependant, un
¢élément important concernant la drogue au volant, c’est
précisément la sensibilisation. Je ne suis pas en train de
minimiser 'importance de I’application de la loi, mais nous ne
devrions pas perdre de vue I'importance de la sensibilisation du
public.

J’aimerais connaitre vos commentaires concernant I'appui des
gouvernements. Il ne s’agit pas uniquement d’une question qui
intéresse le gouvernement fédéral; tous les paliers de
gouvernement ont une responsabilité, de méme peut-étre que les
entreprises privées qui fabriquent du moins les médicaments
d’ordonnance et les médicaments en vente libre qui contribuent a
certaines de ces infractions. Obtenez-vous la réaction que vous
aimeriez de ces secteurs de notre société pour appuyer le réle de
sensibilisation et de conscientisation du public, en laissant de coté
I’aspect qui se rattache a I’application de la loi?
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Ms. Robertson: Obviously, we have interest at the federal
government level because we are seeing important pieces of
legislation move forward. Also, among the Canadian Council
of Motor Transport Administrators, drug-driving is also an
important issue. We are seeing provincial governments take an
interest in the issue. Some jurisdictions are moving forward with
much broader traffic safety campaigns. Certainly, organizations
such as ours and others have promoted the message that drug-
driving is an important issue for Canadians.

From pharmaceutical companies, we have seen a little less
support and interest. It has been difficult to get them to come to
the table. This is something we pursued a few years ago and
obviously there is some hesitancy there to recognize the problems.
More needs to be done in that area. However, we need continued
and sustained efforts in terms of education and making people
aware that drug-driving is dangerous and something we should
not be doing, and getting that message out there.

Mr. Murie: I would comment and relate it back to Bill C-2
that, as you are aware, this is the fourth time a bill of this nature
has been before the federal Parliament. A lot of information on
public awareness has been on hold because one of the key pieces
to that is that if you do this, here are the ramifications of what
might happen. Not having that piece there to include has groups
such as ourselves and provincial governments waiting for the
federal legislation so that we can enshrine this in our awareness
programs. The police are a very important aspect of that public
awareness.

When we go out to the public and speak with young people,
most of the time police are part of the presentations. There is a
victim perspective and an enforcement perspective, and it is very
effective. As you can see, without the enforcement piece there on
drugs, it is difficult to do that type of presentation.

Senator Cowan: At the end of your submission,
Ms. Robertson, you say that consideration must be given to
how provincial sanctions currently in place for alcohol-impaired
driving will be applied to drug-driving offenders. What were you
driving at?

Ms. Robertson: Most jurisdictions have ignition interlock
programs that, upon conviction for an impaired-driving offence,
you must have an interlock. An interlock does not do anything for
drug-driving, so would drug-driving offenders also be required to

Mme Robertson : De toute évidence, nous nous intéressons a ce
qui se fait au niveau fédéral compte tenu des importantes mesures
législatives qui sont proposées. Par ailleurs, le Conseil canadien
des administrateurs en transport motorisé considére que la drogue
au volant est également une question importante. Nous
constatons que les gouvernements provinciaux s’intéressent a la
question. Certaines provinces mettent en place des campagnes de
sécurité routiére plus générales. Il ne fait aucun doute que des
organisations comme la notre et d’autres groupes ont répandu le
message selon lequel la drogue au volant est un important
probléme aux yeux des Canadiens.

Les compagnies pharmaceutiques ont manifesté peu d’appui et
d’intérét. 11 a été difficile de les rallier a notre cause. C’est une
initiative que nous avons prise il y a quelques années et de toute
évidence elles hésitent a reconnaitre I’existence de problémes. Il
faut en faire plus dans ce domaine. Cependant, nous avons besoin
des efforts soutenus et continus en matiére de sensibilisation pour
faire comprendre a la population que la drogue au volant est
dangereuse et est un comportement qu’il faut éviter, et nous
travaillons a répandre ce message.

M. Murie : J’aimerais faire un commentaire qui se rapporte
au projet de loi C-2 c’est-a-dire, comme vous le savez, c’est la
quatriéme fois qu’un projet de loi de ce genre est présenté au
Parlement fédéral. Nous avons di mettre en veilleuse une bonne
partiec de l'information a communiquer dans le cadre de nos
campagnes de sensibilisation du public, étant donné que I'un des
éléments clés, c’est que si vous faites telle ou telle chose, en voici
les ramifications possibles. Comme nous n’avons pas cet élément
d’information, des groupes comme le notre et les gouvernements
provinciaux attendent I'option de la loi fédérale pour pouvoir
incorporer cet élément dans nos programmes de sensibilisation.
La police joue un réle trés important dans le cadre de cette
sensibilisation du public.

Lorsque nous prenons la parole devant des jeunes, la plupart
du temps, la police participe aux présentations. On présente le
point de vue de la victime et le point de vue de ceux qui sont
chargés d’appliquer la loi, et c’est trés efficace. Comme vous
pouvez le constater, il est difficile de faire ce genre de présentation
sans présenter ’aspect qui se rattache a I'application de la loi, en
ce qui concerne les drogues.

Le sénateur Cowan: A la fin de votre mémoire, madame
Robertson, vous dites qu’il faut envisager la fagon dont les
sanctions provinciales en vigueur a I’heure actuelle pour la
conduite avec facultés affaiblies par 1’alcool s’appliqueront aux
contrevenants qui conduisent sous I'emprise de la drogue. Ou
vouliez-vous en venir?

Mme Robertson : La plupart des provinces ont mis sur pied des
programmes d’interrupteurs d’allumage qui sont obligatoires
pour toute personne reconnue coupable de conduite avec
facultés affaiblies. Un interrupteur d’allumage n’est d’aucune
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get an interlock, even though it would not prevent them from
driving while impaired? Those are the types of issues.

Senator Di Nino: My questions are related to the prescription
drugs issue. We had Sergeant Martin from the RCMP training
area and Mr. Prokopanko from the Canadian Society of Forensic
Sciences. There has been some concern expressed that
prescription drugs potentially should be looked at differently.

Before I ask my question, I want us to remind ourselves that
Sergeant Martin explained the 12-step procedure to identifying
potentially impaired drivers. In effect, the use of either the
Breathalyzer or the DRE would only come after an officer who
has been well trained — and he spoke about this training — has
identified impairment, so they covered the question that maybe he
is not impaired. The DRE process really starts when an officer is
convinced that impairment exists.

I would like your comments on the concern that some people
have expressed about treating prescription drugs in the same way
as illicit drugs.

Ms. Robertson: I do not know if I have an answer for you on
that point.

Senator Di Nino: Do you think that is the case?

Ms. Robertson: We need to keep in mind that prescription
drugs are legally prescribed by a doctor. The issue is that people
do not necessarily follow the directions of the prescribing
physician. Maybe that is an area for concern, but I do not
know if we should be treating them in the same fashion for that
reason. I do not have an answer for you.

Senator Di Nino: As a follow-up to my question to you, would
you not think that impairment is impairment, whether it is by one
means or the other? That is the issue with which we are dealing
here.

Ms. Robertson: I am not saying that people who take
prescription drugs should not be sanctioned if they are driving
while impaired. More education would be required on the part of
doctors, in terms of articulating what the parameters are for
taking those prescription drugs. With some over-the-counter
medications we have seen better labelling, recommending that
people not drive.

I do not have an answer for that question.

Mr. Murie: That goes to the education piece. A lot of times the
medical doctor or family doctor prescribing these medications has
a history of the patient so he or she might know the patient has a
problem with alcohol or might be a constant prescription drug
user, and at that time it is important, as Ms. Robertson said, to

efficacité dans les cas de conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la
drogue. Faudrait-il alors obliger les personnes reconnues
coupables de conduite avec facultés affaiblies par la drogue de
se procurer un interrupteur d’allumage, méme si ce dispositif ne
les empéche pas de conduire avec des facultés affaiblies? C’est le
genre de question que I’on se pose.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Mes questions portent sur la question des
médicaments d’ordonnance. Nous avons entendu le témoignage
du sergent Martin, du service de formation de la GRC, et
de M. Prokopanko, de la Société canadienne des sciences
judiciaires. Certains ont exprimé la préoccupation selon laquelle
les médicaments d’ordonnance devraient faire I’objet d’un
traitement différent.

Avant de poser ma question, je tiens a nous rappeler que le
sergent Martin nous a expliqué la procédure en douze étapes qui
permet d’identifier les conducteurs qui pourraient conduire avec
des facultés affaiblies. En effet, ’administration de I’alcooltest ou
I’évaluation ERD n’auront lieu qu'une fois qu'un agent qui a été
correctement formé — et il a parlé de la formation en question —
a déterminé qu’il y a facultés affaiblies, donc il s’est assuré de la
chose. Le processus ERD ne commence vraiment qu’au moment
ou un agent est convaincu que le suspect présente des signes de
facultés affaiblies.

D’aucuns s’inquiétent qu’on puisse traiter les médicaments sur
ordonnance de la méme facon que les drogues illicites. Qu’en
pensez-vous?

: i i jai ¢
Mme Robertson : Je ne sais pas si jai une réponse pour
I’instant.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Pensez-vous que c’est possible?

Mme Robertson : Il faut bien dire que les médicaments délivrés
sur ordonnance le sont légalement par un médecin. En fait, le
probléme est que les gens ne respectent pas nécessairement les
prescriptions du médecin. C’est sans doute inquiétant mais je ne
sais pas s’il faudrait que les deux catégories soient traitées de la
méme fagon a cause de cela. Je ne peux pas vous répondre.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Un complément d’information. Ne
pensez-vous pas que lorsque les facultés sont affaiblies, elles le
sont de toute fagon quelle que soit la cause? C’est de cela qu’il
s’agit ici, n’est-ce pas?

Mme Robertson : Je ne dis pas que les gens qui prennent des
médicaments délivrés sur ordonnance ne devraient pas étre
sanctionnés s’ils prennent le volant avec des facultés affaiblies.
Il faudrait que les médecins soient plus vigilants quant aux
renseignements qu’ils donnent a leurs patients qui prennent des
médicaments sur ordonnance. Nous avons constaté que des
médicaments en vente libre portent un étiquetage plus adéquat
qui recommande a ceux qui les prennent de ne pas conduire.

Je n’ai pas de réponse a votre question.

M. Murie : A propos de I’ceuvre éducative auprés des patients :
trés souvent, le médecin ou le médecin de famille qui prescrit ces
médicaments connait les antécédents de son patient. Il peut savoir
que le patient a un probléme d’alcoolisme ou consomme des
médicaments sur ordonnance en permanence et a ce moment-la,
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step up the warning, that “You know this could be a potential
Criminal Code offence of impaired driving if you put yourself in
that situation.” Again, a lot of information could go a long way in
helping this issue.

You must remember that when one is picked up for either
alcohol or drugs impairment, most of the observations are not
done at sobriety checkpoints. Seventy per cent of people charged
with impaired driving are picked up at random police stops, and
they are showing gross signs of impairment in their driving.
Whether that is due to the ingestion of prescription drugs, illicit
drugs, alcohol, or potentially a combination of all three, each of
those will be dealt with on an individual basis at that point in
time.

Senator Di Nino: Bill C-2, in effect, gives the police and the
peace officers the authority now to demand a drug test. Today,
drug tests are conducted only if the person being interviewed
voluntarily agrees to one. Thus Bill C-2, in effect, will give
authority to the police to demand a drug test, whether voluntary
or otherwise.

Do you think that is an appropriate provision that should be in
the legislation?

Mr. Murie: Absolutely. I will explain why. As I said earlier,
even before the police officer has picked up the person, he or she
has shown gross signs of impairment on the road. They have
then been given a roadside test for alcohol, and if alcohol is
not the cause of impairment, the police can proceed with a
DRE at that point. Then they walk through the 12 steps of the
drug recognition evaluation, and only with positive results of
that 12-step test do the police ask for a sample.

It is very different from the situation you are raising, where the
police officer says: “Give me a drug test.” There are a number of
things that happen before that drug test is requested by the police
officer. It is not a random type of testing by the police officer.
I think the right precautions are there for drugs, just as we put
the right precautions there for alcohol: the officer has to have a
reasonable suspicion before they move to the approved screening
device. Even when the police have those two elements, they move
to an approved instrument.

I think what we have done with the DRE and drugs and
driving is very similar to what has been an acceptable practice for
alcohol.

Ms. Robertson: I agree with Mr. Murie. We do see an
escalating standard, so there are certainly grounds for
proceeding and finally getting to the point where the police test
bodily fluids. We have had a number of indicators before we get
to the point where we are making that demand, so I think it is
reasonable.

comme I’a dit Mme Robertson, il importe de mettre 1’accent sur
I’avertissement suivant : « Vous savez que vous pourriez étre
inculpé de conduite avec facultés affaiblies en vertu du Code
criminel si vous vous mettez dans une telle situation. » Il faut le
redire, une information accrue pourrait aider grandement en
l’occurrence.

Il faut se rappeler que quand quelqu’un est arrété en raison de
facultés affaiblies aprés consommation d’alcool ou de drogues, la
plupart des caractéristiques observées ne le sont pas a des
barrages de contréle de la sobriété. Soixante-dix pour cent de ceux
qui sont déclarés coupables de conduite avec facultés affaiblies
sont repérés lorsque la police arréte des voitures au hasard, les
chauffeurs présentant des signes manifestes d’ébriété dans leur
fagon de conduire. A ce moment-1a, chaque cas est traité
individuellement, que le comportement résulte de I’absorption
de médicaments sur ordonnance, de drogues illicites, d’alcool ou
peut-étre une combinaison des trois.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Le projet de loi C-2, en effet, donne a la
police et aux agents de la paix le pouvoir d’exiger désormais des
tests de dépistage des drogues. En ce moment, ces tests ne sont
faits que si la personne arrétée accepte volontairement de s’y
soumettre. Le projet de loi C-2 donnera effectivement le pouvoir
a la police d’exiger un tel test, méme si 'intéressé ne s’y soumet
pas de plein gré.

Pensez-vous que c’est judicieux d’inclure une telle disposition
dans la loi?

M. Murie : Absolument, je vais vous expliquer pourquoi.
Comme je I’ai dit tout a I’heure, avant que ’agent de police n’ait
arrété la personne en question, il a constaté qu’elle présentait des
signes manifestes de conduite avec facultés affaiblies. La personne
subit donc un alcootest routier et si ’alcool n’est pas la cause des
facultés affaiblies, la police peut alors procéder a un ERD. Il
s’agit d’'une évaluation en 12 étapes de reconnaissance de la
présence de drogues, et c’est seulement si le résultat de ce test
en 12 étapes est positif que la police demande un échantillon.

Les circonstances sont donc trés différentes de la situation que
vous décrivez, ou I'agent de police dit : « Soumettez-vous a un
test de dépistage des drogues. » Ainsi, avant que I’agent de police
n’exige un tel test, certaines étapes devront étre franchies. Cela
n’est pas fait au hasard par ’agent de police. Je pense que les
précautions qui s’imposent sont prévues dans le cas des drogues,
tout comme nous avons prévu les précautions qui s’imposent dans
le cas de l'alcool : il faut que I’agent de police ait un soupgon
raisonnable avant d’utiliser le dispositif de dépistage approuvé.
Méme quand I’agent de police a en main ces deux éléments, il lui
faut avoir recours a un instrument approuvé.

A mon avis, ce que nous avons fait pour 'ERD et la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies par les drogues est trés semblable a ce qui
est considéré comme une pratique acceptable pour I’alcool.

Mme Robertson : Je suis d’accord avec M. Murie. Nous
constatons que la norme est plus exigeante, et cela nous incite a
aller de ’avant pour en arriver au point ou la police prend des
échantillons de fluides de I'organisme. Il y a certaines étapes a
franchir avant d’en arriver au point ou nous exigeons ces tests, si
bien que je pense que c’est raisonnable.
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The Chair: I would like to come back to Senator Di Nino’s
earlier question about impairment. The discussion this morning
with the example of cocaine brought to mind testimony from a
couple of interesting witnesses yesterday, and also the problem
that has been agreed on by many people, that we have so much
less information about threshold levels at which impairment can
realistically be assumed to occur for substances other than
alcohol, the number of which just grows and grows.

We had a criminologist before us yesterday who said basically
that what we should be focusing on is not the consumption of
illicit or licit substances, it is impairment; that they are two
different issues. Listening to you this morning, I found myself
thinking again: Realistically, should we not be focusing more on a
more accurate determination of impairment rather than whether
someone has a miniscule blood level of cocaine, when we do not
even know if cocaine, in fact, impairs? Could you comment on
that?

Ms. Robertson: We certainly need a lot more research evidence
in terms of impairment. As I said, there are a number of reasons
why we do not have that information. We have decades of
research on alcohol. Alcohol is a consistent drug in that it is
absorbed and eliminated and there are certain measurable
parameters, whereas for drugs, we really do not have that
information at all. Therefore, making any type of determination
with regard to impairment can be challenging. I wholeheartedly
agree that we need much more evidence with regard to
impairment due to drugs and what those levels of impairment
are. However, in terms of the technology and the testing
procedures, we are not there yet.

The Chair: The argument was that one can be impaired by a
host of things, not just consumption of drugs: fatigue, stress, you
name it. Stress is probably stretching it a little. If someone is a
menace on the roads, is it not perhaps more logical and more
feasible to spend your time focusing on how to determine
whether, at that moment, someone was in fact impaired in some
way when they were driving, rather than building endless data
banks of data that we do not yet have, and rather than endlessly
proliferating numbers of legal and illegal drugs? Do you see what
I am getting at?

Ms. Robertson: Yes.

Mr. Murie: During the observation at the roadside, there are a
number of steps that a police officer goes through to observe that
impairment on many different levels. It is fine to drink alcohol,
but when you drink alcohol at a level that puts others at risk, that
is impairment, and that is a Criminal Code offence. That is what
we need to focus on: When you use a drug or alcohol, or a
combination thereof, are you putting others at risk? We know

La présidente : Je voudrais revenir a la question du
sénateur Di Nino sur les facultés affaiblies. Ce matin on a
donné I’exemple de la cocaine qui a rappelé certains témoignages
intéressants entendus hier. Cela a également évoqué le probléme
reconnu par bien des gens, a savoir que nous avons beaucoup
moins de renseignements concernant les seuils ou I'on peut de
fagon réaliste présumer que les facultés sont affaiblies dans le cas
de I’absorption de substances autres que 1’alcool, substances dont
le nombre ne cesse de croitre.

Hier, nous avons entendu le témoignage d’un criminologue qui
a dit que I’attention devrait se porter moins sur la consommation
de substances illicites ou licites, mais sur I’affaiblissement des
facultés. Ce sont 1a deux choses différentes. A vous écouter, je
constate que je reviens a ma propre réflexion : de fagon réaliste,
ne devrions-nous pas nous concentrer sur la détermination de plus
en plus fiable de 'affaiblissement des facultés plutdt que sur le
constat d’un niveau sanguin minuscule de cocaine, alors que nous
ne savons méme pas si la cocaine, en fait, affaiblit les facultés?
Qu’en pensez-vous?

Mme Robertson : Assurément, il nous faut beaucoup plus de
preuves vérifiées en ce qui concerne les facultés affaiblies. Comme
je lai dit, diverses raisons expliquent que nous n’ayons pas ces
renseignements. Nous avons des dizaines d’années de recherche
sur I'alcool. L’alcool est une drogue stable, car il est absorbé et
¢éliminé et on peut lui appliquer certains paramétres mesurables,
tandis que pour les drogues, nous n’avons pas vraiment le méme
type de renseignements. Par conséquent, toute affirmation
concernant les facultés affaiblies comporte des défis. Je suis de
tout ceeur avec vous pour dire qu’il nous faut plus de preuves a
I’appui quant a I’affaiblissement des facultés en raison de
la consommation de drogues et quant au niveau de cet
affaiblissement. Toutefois, la technologie et les procédures de
dépistage actuelles a cet égard ne sont pas encore au point.

La présidente : On a argué que quelqu’un pouvait voir ses
facultés s’affaiblir pour toute une gamme de raisons, non
seulement la consommation de drogues : la fatigue, le stress,
que sais-je encore. C’est peut-étre un peu exagéré d’inclure le
stress dans ces causes. Si quelqu’un est un danger public sur les
routes, ne serait-il pas plus logique et plus facile a déterminer de
passer du temps a mesurer si, a un moment précis, quelqu’un en
fait conduisait avec des facultés affaiblies, plutét que d’édifier
d’énormes banques de données avec des données que nous ne
possédons pas encore et plutét que de multiplier sans fin le
nombre des drogues licites et illicites? Comprenez-vous mon point
de vue?

Mme Robertson : Oui.

M. Murie : Pendant que I’agent de police fait ses observations
sur la route, il doit procéder a un certain nombre d’étapes pour
déterminer d’éventuelles facultés affaiblies a divers niveaux. On
peut trés bien consommer de I’alcool mais quand cela est en
quantité telle que cela met la vie d’autrui en péril, ¢’est considéré
comme conduire avec facultés affaiblies et c’est une infraction en
vertu du Code criminel. Voici ou il faut concentrer I’attention :
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that alcohol accounts for about 40 per cent of the fatality rate,
and we do not even have the drug numbers for that.

You are right: there are other contributors in addition to
alcohol and drugs. The person could be fatigued or talking on
their cell phone. However, if you just focus on alcohol and drugs,
the 50 per cent figure is not an unreasonable percentage of the
almost 3,000 fatalities we have on our roads that are related to
that, and I think it merits a Criminal Code offence and I think it
merits that attention.

The Chair: I understand. I was not, in fact, disputing the
current system with relation to alcohol, because it has been so
widely tested. Chemically, what we are looking for is a single
substance. The evidence has been accumulated over decades. We
are dealing with a known quantity there. It is all the rest that is
not known.

Do you remember, Mr. Murie, when you caught me aback by
stopping before you got to the end of your brief and 1 was so
flustered?

Mr. Murie: Yes.

The Chair: I was flustered because on page 10 you recommend
two additional changes to the current statutory presumptions and
framework for demanding samples. I will not walk through them
all; everyone has the brief.

I was not clear on whether, in your brief, you are
recommending that we amend this bill or whether you are
saying that these are changes that should be made at some future
date, probably sooner rather than later.

Mr. Murie: I think it is important that Bill C-2 pass without
any further amendments right now. The federal justice committee
is also looking at another review of impaired driving.

The Chair: You mean the House of Commons committee?

Mr. Murie: In the House of Commons. I presented there last
week. There will be a number of stakeholder-type opportunities
to get together. Though those two amendments that we originally
presented to the House of Commons Justice Committee are
important, I think at some point in time we can pick those things
up, especially the taking of the sample by other than medical
doctors, will play itself out as Bill C-2 is implemented and we see
various things that we need to improve upon as time goes on.

The Chair: Finally, your frustration with the Carter defence in
particular is clear and, heaven knows, understandable. However,
under this bill, is it not at least conceivable that the pendulum
has gone as far in the other direction in that the only defence
you as the accused can offer depends on your ability to prove a
malfunction of the equipment? Without going all the way back
to Carter, where I, unsupported, can claim, “No, no, I did not do
any of it,” and all other evidence is thrown out, would you think

quand vous consommez une drogue ou de I’alcool, ou une
combinaison des deux, mettez-vous la vie d’autrui en péril? Nous
savons que ’alcool est la cause de 40 p. 100 des accidents mortels
et nous n’avons pas de chiffres a cet égard pour les drogues.

Vous avez raison : il y a d’autres facteurs qui contribuent a
créer un danger, outre 1’alcool et les drogues. Le conducteur peut
étre fatigué ou en train de parler au cellulaire. Cependant, si on ne
retient que I’alcool et les drogues, il n’est pas exagéré de dire que
ces deux facteurs sont responsables de prés de 3 000 accidents
mortels sur nos routes, et je pense que cela justifie qu’une
infraction figure dans le Code criminel et qu’on s’y attarde.

La présidente : Je comprends. En fait, je ne contestais pas le
régime actuel qui porte sur ’alcool, car il a largement fait ses
preuves. Sur le plan chimique, ce que vous tentez de déterminer
est une substance unique. Depuis des dizaines d’années, nous
avons réuni des preuves. Nous sommes ici en présence d’une
quantité connue. C’est tout le reste qui est inconnu.

Monsieur Murie, vous souvenez-vous que vous m’avez
interloquée avant de finir votre exposé et que j'étais trés
désemparée?

M. Murie : Oui.

La présidente : J’étais désemparée, car a la page 6 vous
recommandez deux changements supplémentaires aux
présomptions et au cadre législatif qui régissent le droit d’exiger
des échantillons. Je ne vais pas en parler dans tous les détails, car
tout le monde a le mémoire entre les mains.

A la lecture de votre mémoire, je n’ai pas compris si vous
recommandiez que nous amendions ce projet de loi ou si vous
dites que ces changements doivent étre envisagés plus tard, plutot
tot que tard.

M. Murie : Je pense qu’il est important que le projet de loi C-2
soit adopté sans amendement pour I'instant. Le comité fédéral de
la justice se penche également sur un autre examen de la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies.

La présidente : Vous parlez du comité de la Chambre des
communes?

M. Murie : Oui. Je suis allé témoigner devant le comité la
semaine derniére. Ce sera ’occasion pour certains intéressés de se
réunir. Il est vrai que ces deux amendements que nous avions
présentés au comité de la justice de la Chambre des communes au
départ sont importants; nous pourrons y revenir a Iavenir et
examiner les conséquences d’une prise d’échantillons par d’autres
techniciens que des médecins au fur et a mesure que le projet de
loi C-2 sera appliqué et que nous pourrons constater ce qui
s’impose comme améliorations.

La présidente : Enfin, je constate que la défense Carter vous
irrite en particulier et c’est trés clair comme c’est tout a fait
compréhensible. Toutefois, en vertu des dispositions du projet de
loi, peut-on imaginer que les choses sont allées trop loin, car la
seule défense a la disposition d’un accusé est sa réussite & prouver
que I’équipement utilisé était défectueux? Sans revenir sur tous
les détails de l'affaire Carter, qui permet de dire, sans preuve a
Pappui : « Non, non, je n’ai rien fait de tel », cela annihilant
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it feasible to have a middle ground that would allow accused
persons to bring other relevant, provable evidence in their
defence?

Mr. Murie: I would say no.
The Chair: Why not?

Mr. Murie: The original Carter case was related to a blood
sample that was not labelled properly. That is evidence to the
contrary. That is legitimate. That is like the Breathalyzer not
being calibrated right or the police officer not being properly
trained. Those abilities to bring evidence to the contrary will still
exist, going forward.

You must remember that the person who is using Carter has
shown clear signs of intoxication at the roadside, so the officer
had a reasonable suspicion to ask for a roadside test. They failed
the roadside test. They failed two evidenciary tests. All of that is
sophisticated equipment. If all of that is true and properly done
then, as in every other democratic country, you will probably be
found guilty of impaired driving. That is why the offence is in the
Criminal Code. That was the original intent of Parliament. There
does not need to be a halfway point in that.

The Chair: You did not actually answer my question, but you
did make your position clear.

Senator Campbell: Would you agree that we know so much
about the effects of alcohol because it is legal? We can buy it.
We have been able to study it for years. We do not have that
capability with the other drugs. I am not getting into drug
legalization here, but we do not have that capability. The offence
was possession of the drug, not the impairment that may be
caused by it. Would you agree that that is sort of where we are
here because of the incidents? Also, there is the fact that all drugs
are metabolized differently by our bodies, and we know with
alcohol that you will get rid of 0.015 an hour, no matter who you
are. My question is, should we be putting more money into the
scientific study of, for instance, levels of THC, marijuana or levels
of cocaine and the legal derivatives that we use medicinally?
Should we be putting money into that so that we can actually
determine levels of impairment, or is it simply enough that,
through the DRE process, we can recognize impairment?

Ms. Robertson: 1 would agree that we definitely need more
research in terms of impairment with the drugs. Part of the reason
for that weakness is that the technologies are not there, and there
is a lot of poly-drug use. I would certainly agree that we need
more research in quantifying what drugs and how much
impairment, but I think the DRE program already provides us
with good indications of impairment.

toutes les autres preuves, ne pensez-vous pas qu’il serait bon de
trouver un juste milieu permettant a ’accusé de présenter d’autres
preuves pertinentes et vérifiables a sa décharge?

M. Murie : Je dirais que non.
La présidente : Et pourquoi?

M. Murie : L’affaire Carter au départ portait sur un
échantillon de sang qui n’avait pas été étiqueté correctement.
C’est une preuve contraire. C’est légitime. C’est comme si
I’analyseur d’haleine n’avait pas été calibré correctement ou si
I’agent de police n’avait pas été formé comme il se doit. A I’avenir,
la possibilité de présenter des preuves contraires existera toujours.

Il faut savoir que la personne qui invoquerait 'affaire Carter
est une personne qui a présenté des signes manifestes d’ébriété,
sur la route, de sorte que 'agent de police avait un soupgon
raisonnable d’administrer 1’alcootest routier. Ce dernier se
révélant positif, les deux autres tests se révelent probants. Tout
cela est administré avec un matériel sophistiqué. Si donc tout cela
est vrai et administré comme il se doit, la personne, comme dans
n’importe quel autre pays démocratique, sera sans doute déclarée
coupable de conduite avec facultés affaiblies. Voila pourquoi
I'infraction est inscrite au Code criminel. C’était I'intention du
Parlement au départ. Il n’y a pas de demi-mesure en I’occurrence.

La présidente : Vous n’avez pas vraiment répondu a ma
question mais vous avez certainement exprimé clairement votre
point de vue.

Le sénateur Campbell : Si nous avons tant de renseignements
sur les effets de 1’alcool, c’est parce que c’est une substance licite,
n’en convenez-vous pas? Nous pouvons I’acheter. Nous avons pu
I’étudier pendant des années. Ce n’est pas le cas des autres
drogues. Je ne préconise pas ici qu’on légalise les drogues mais il
n’en demeure pas moins que nous n’avons pas les mémes
possibilités quant a elles. L’infraction est la possession de la
drogue et non pas les facultés affaiblies en raison de sa
consommation. Reconnaissez-vous que nous en sommes la
aujourd’hui? En outre, il y a le fait que toutes les drogues ne se
métabolisent pas de la méme fagon dans notre organisme et que
nous savons que l’alcool peut étre évacué chez n’importe quel
sujet a un rythme de 0,015 a ’heure. Voici ma question : devrions-
nous financer plus d’études scientifiques sur, par exemple, les
niveaux de THC, de marijuana ou de cocaine ou sur les dérivés
licites utilisés en médecine? Devrions-nous consacrer de I’argent a
ces ¢études afin de pouvoir déterminer précisément le niveau
d’affaiblissement des facultés ou est-il suffisant de pouvoir
reconnaitre ’affaiblissement des facultés grace a 'ERD?

Mme Robertson : Je reconnais qu’il faut absolument que nous
fassions plus de recherches dans le domaine des facultés affaiblies
par la drogue. Cette faiblesse est en partie attribuable au fait
que les technologies n’existent pas, et il y a beaucoup de
polytoxicomanie. Il ne fait aucun doute que nous avons besoin
de faire plus de recherches pour quantifier les drogues en question
et le niveau d’affaiblissement des facultés, mais je pense que
le programme d’ERD nous permet déja de bien connaitre
laffaiblissement.
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Mr. Murie: I would support something Ms. Robertson said
earlier. Money needs to go into the testing at the coroner stage. If
there is a dead driver from a traffic crash, then we need to test to
know if it is alcohol, drugs or poly use.

Senator Campbell: We do that.

Ms. Robertson: We do not do it consistently. Testing rates
among fatally injured drivers for drugs are very low; as low as
20 per cent, in some jurisdictions.

Senator Campbell: In British Columbia, as a matter of course,
we run a full drug screen.

Ms. Robertson: That is not done in all jurisdictions.

Senator Campbell: That surprises me.

Ms. Robertson: It is a function related with what type of crash
has taken place. It surprises us too, but we work with most of the
coroners’ offices and generally, if they do not have cause to test
for drugs, they do not.

Mr. Murie: In some jurisdictions, if there is not a bag of
cocaine sitting on a person’s lap, they are not tested for drugs. We
have been able to make progress with alcohol because we have the
numbers and the proof. We know what percentage they make
of the traffic crashes, deaths and injuries, so we can recommend
good policy, good counter-measures and good legislation.

The DRE part of this is really good evidence to get a guilty plea
in a criminal justice system, but it does not help much on the
research or what we can do to lower those numbers in the future.
I think you need to have both.

Senator Oliver: The Chair asked you a question about Bill C-2
and the Carter defence, Mr. Murie, and you gave a response. At
the end of your response, the Chair said that you did not answer
her question. I have looked at your brief, and your brief says on
page 9 that:

Bill C-2 will significantly narrow the Carter and last-drink
defences, and help ensure that the 0.08 per cent offence is
enforced and prosecuted as Parliament originally intended.

On the next line, you say:

The proposed amendments would also bring Canada’s
0.08 per cent offence into line with the law in comparable
democracies.

Does that not state your position, and is that not the answer
you tried to give to the chair?

Mr. Murie: Yes.

The Chair: In fairness, I did say he had made his position
very clear, and I was grateful for that because that is useful
information.

M. Murie : J’appuierais quelque chose que Mme Robertson a
dit tantot. Il faut affecter des fonds aux tests a I’étape du coroner.
Lorsqu’un conducteur décéde d’un accident de la route, il faut
savoir s’il s’agit d’alcool, de drogue ou de polytoxicomanie.

Le sénateur Campbell : Nous le faisons.

Mme Robertson : Nous ne le faisons pas tout le temps. Les taux
d’échantillonnage parmi les conducteurs blessés mortellement
sont trés bas; a peine 20 p. 100 dans certaines administrations.

Le sénateur Campbell : En Colombie-Britannique, nous
effectuons des tests de dépistage de drogue systématiquement.

Mme Robertson : Ce n’est pas le cas de toutes les
administrations.

Le sénateur Campbell : Je trouve cela surprenant.

Mme Robertson : Tout dépend du genre de collision. Cela nous
surprend également mais nous travaillons de concert avec la
plupart des bureaux du coroner et, en général, s’ils n’ont aucune
raison de faire ce genre de tests, ils ne le font pas.

M. Murie : Dans certaines administrations, s’il n’y a pas un sac
de cocaine sur les genoux de la personne, aucune analyse n’est
faite. Nous avons pu faire du chemin avec ’alcool parce que nous
avons des données et la preuve. Nous connaissons quel
pourcentage cela représente de collisions ou il y a des morts et
des blessures, donc nous pouvons recommander de bonnes
politiques, des mesures préventives et de bonnes mesures
législatives.

Le volet ERD vous fournit une excellente preuve dans la
recherche d’un plaidoyer de culpabilité dans le systéme judiciaire,
mais cela ne nous aide pas beaucoup dans le domaine de la
recherche, ni dans nos tentatives de réduire ces chiffres dans
lavenir. Je crois qu’il faut avoir les deux.

Le sénateur Oliver : La présidente vous a posé une question sur
le projet de loi C-2 et la défense Carter, monsieur Murie, et vous
avez répondu. A la fin de votre réponse, la présidente a dit que
vous n’aviez pas répondu a sa question. J’ai regardé votre
mémoire, et le mémoire dit ceci a la page 6 :

Le projet de loi C-2 limitera considérablement la portée des
défenses « Carter » et « dernier verre ». Par conséquent,
I’application de la loi et les poursuites des cas de conduite
avec une alcoolémie de 0,08 p. 100 coincideront davantage
avec les intentions initiales du Parlement.

A la ligne suivante vous dites :
Les modifications proposées permettraient également
d’aligner la loi du Canada concernant la conduite avec

une alcoolémie de 0,08 p. 100 avec les lois en vigueur dans
des démocraties semblables.

N’est-ce pas votre position, et n’est-ce pas la réponse que vous
avez tenté de fournir a la présidente?

M. Murie : Oui.

La présidente : En toute franchise, je dis que sa position était
trés claire, et je lui en étais reconnaissante parce que ce sont des
renseignements utiles.
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Senator Oliver: | heard you say that he had not answered your
question.

The Chair: I went on to say that he had made his position very
clear.

Senator Oliver: Anyway, the answer to the question is that
Bill C-2 does go a long way, and you would like to see it passed?

Mr. Murie: Absolutely.

Senator Oliver: And you agree with the language in the letter
from your president to that effect?

Mr. Murie: I do.

Senator Oliver: That letter is part of our record.

The Chair: I thank Senator Oliver for drawing our attention to
that portion of your brief because it had piqued my attention at
the time.

Do you have, Mr. Murie, information in summary form that
you could give us about the law in comparable democracies?
Would that be readily available?

Mr. Murie: Yes, we do have it and could provide to the clerk
within a day or so that information looking at Australia, New
Zealand, Ireland, Great Britain and the U.S. and various other
countries.

The Chair: If you could do that, that would be terrific.

Mr. Murie: You must understand that when we go to
international conferences and talk about the Carter and last-
drink defence, they laugh at us because they have never heard of it
and it sounds so ridiculous.

Ms. Robertson: 1 work with district attorneys in the United
States, and they are stunned, shocked and amazed. Just given how
they tend to be more lenient at times in the U.S. in terms of what
types of challenges are available, they are absolutely stunned that
the Carter defence would be permitted.

The Chair: I think they may not be the only ones.

The other study that you referred to, Ms. Robertson, was a
survey of Crown prosecutors. Could we have that?

Ms. Robertson: Yes. It is in draft form and is currently
going through the approval process. We surveyed a little over
1,000 Crown and defence counsel from all the jurisdictions. As
I said, we looked at evidence to the contrary. We have submitted
a draft report to Transport Canada and to the Canadian Council
of Motor Transport Administrators, but we can make a copy of
that draft report available to you, I am sure.

The Chair: That would be extremely interesting for us to have.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je vous ai entendu dire qu’il n’avait pas
répondu a votre question.

La présidente : Et ensuite j’ai dit qu’il avait bien énoncé sa
position.

Le sénateur Oliver : De toute facon, la réponse a la question
c’est que le projet de loi C-2 constitue un progres considérable,
est-ce que vous aimeriez le voir adopter?

M. Murie : Absolument.

Le sénateur Oliver : Et vous étes d’accord avec les propos de
votre président a cet effet dans la lettre?

M. Murie : Oui.

Le sénateur Oliver : Cette lettre a été consignée au compte
rendu.

La présidente : J’aimerais remercier le sénateur Oliver de nous
avoir souligné cette partie de votre mémoire parce que cela avait
retenu mon intérét a ce moment.

Monsieur Murie, avez-vous des renseignements, sous forme
récapitulative, que vous pouvez nous envoyer sur les lois dans des
démocraties semblables? Serait-ce facile a trouver?

M. Murie : Oui, nous en avons et nous pourrons remettre au
greffier demain ou aprés-demain les renseignements portant sur
I’Australie, la Nouvelle-Zélande, I'Irlande, la Grande-Bretagne,
les Etats-Unis ainsi que divers autres pays.

La présidente : Si vous le pouviez, ce serait formidable.

M. Murie : Il faut comprendre que lorsque nous assistons a des
conférences internationales, et que nous parlons de la défense
Carter et de la défense du dernier verre, on se moque de nous
parce que c’est inoui et cela leur parait tellement ridicule.

Mme Robertson : Je travaille avec des procureurs locaux aux
Etats-Unis, et ils sont renversés, bouleversés et étonnés. Etant
donné qu’on a tendance a étre moins rigoureux parfois aux Etats-
Unis en ce qui concerne les genres de contestations disponibles, ils
sont complétement éberlués qu'une défense comme Carter soit
permise.

La présidente : Je crois qu’ils ne sont pas les seuls.

L’autre étude a laquelle vous avez fait référence, madame
Robertson, portait sur les procureurs de la Couronne. Pouvons-
nous l'avoir?

Mme Robertson : Oui. C’est a I’état de projet et passe
actuellement par le processus d’approbation. Nous avons sondé
plus de 1 000 procureurs de la Couronne et avocats de la défense
de toutes les administrations. Comme je 1’ai dit, nous avons
examiné la preuve contraire. Nous avons présenté une ébauche
de rapport a Transports Canada et au Conseil canadien des
administrateurs en transport motorisé, mais je suis certaine que
nous pourrions vous fournir une copie de cette ébauche de
rapport.

La présidente : Ce serait trés intéressant pour nous de 1’avoir.
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Thank you both very much indeed. You have been
knowledgeable and very helpful to us.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 21, 2008

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-2, An Act to amend the
Criminal Code and to make consequential amendments to other
Acts, met this day at 2:02 p.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) is in the chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: Honorable senators, the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs continues his
study of Bill C-2, an Act to amend the Criminal Code and to
make consequential amendments to other Acts.

We will hear this afternoon witnesses from the Correctional
Service of Canada and from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

[English]

From Correctional Service Canada we welcome Mr. Ross
Toller, Assistant Commissioner, Correctional Operations and
Programs; and Mr. lan McCowan, Assistant Commissioner,
Policy and Research. From the RCMP we have Chief
Superintendent D.C. Doug Reti, Director General, National
Aboriginal Policing Services.

Ian McCowan, Assistant Commissioner, Policy and Research,
Correctional Service Canada: We have a brief opening statement,
which I believe has been distributed to the committee. It basically
talks about CSC’s current situation and the impact of Bill C-2.

CSC is responsible for offenders who have been sentenced for a
term of two or more years, along with offenders who are under
long-term supervision orders or LTSOs. Our core contribution to
public safety is achieved through the safe and secure custody
of inmates; through the provision of programs and other
interventions to assist inmates to reintegrate safely into the
community; and by supervising offenders once they have been
conditionally released.

CSC is a large organization with 58 institutions, 16 community
correctional centres and 71 parole offices. They operate 24-7. On
any given day, there are 21,000 offenders under our care 12,700 of
whom are incarcerated and 8,400 are in the community. We have
a staff complement of about 14,500 employees and an annual
budget of $1.9 billion.

The work of our front-line staff is important but challenging.
One of our challenges is the changing offender population. Over
the last 10 years, upon admission, we have seen a change in the

Je vous remercie beaucoup tous les deux. Vous maitrisez bien
les enjeux et vous nous avez été trés utiles.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 février 2008

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 14 h 2, pour étudier le
projet de loi C-2, Loi modifiant le Code criminel et d’autres lois
en conséquence.

L’honorable Joan Fraser (présidente) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

La présidente : Honorables sénateurs, le Comité sénatorial
permanent des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles poursuit
son étude du projet de loi C-2, Loi modifiant le Code criminel et
d’autres lois en conséquence.

Nous accueillons cet aprés-midi des témoins de Service
correctionnel Canada et de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada.

[Traduction]

Nous souhaitons la bienvenue aux représentants du Service
correctionnel du Canada, M. Ross Toller, commissaire adjoint
aux Opérations et programmes correctionnels et a M. lan
McCowan, commissaire adjoint, Politiques et recherche. Nous
allons entendre le surintendant principal D.C. Doug Reti,
directeur général, Services nationaux de police autochtone de la
Gendarmerie royale du Canada.

Ian McCowan, commissaire adjoint, Politiques et Recherche,
Service correctionnel Canada : Nous allons vous présenter une
bréve déclaration préliminaire qui a été, je crois, distribuée aux
membres du comité. Elle traite essentiellement de la situation
actuelle du SCC et de l'effet du projet de loi C-2.

Le SCC a la responsabilité des délinquants condamnés a des
peines de deux ans ou plus et il assure également la surveillance
des délinquants frappés dune ordonnance de surveillance de
longue durée. Nous contribuons a la sécurité publique par la
garde slre et sécuritaire des délinquants, exercée au moyen de
programmes et d’autres interventions destinés a les aider a se
réinsérer sans danger dans la collectivité, et par la surveillance des
délinquants mis en liberté sous condition.

Le SCC est une grande organisation, responsable de
58 établissements, 16 centres correctionnels communautaires et
71 bureaux de libération conditionnelle, ouverts 24 heures par
jour, 7 jours par semaine. En moyenne, le SCC s’occupe chaque
jour de 21 000 délinquants, dont environ 12 700 sont incarcérés
et 8400 sont surveillés dans la collectivité. Nous avons un effectif
d’environ 14 500 employés et un budget annuel de 1,9 milliard de
dollars.

Notre personnel de premiére ligne s’acquitte d’un travail
important mais difficile, en raison notamment de I’évolution de la
population carcérale. Ainsi, depuis dix ans, nous avons constaté,
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population. There are an increasing number of offenders who
have a number of characteristics. I will give you a short list of
those characteristics.

We have seen offenders who have more previous youth and
adult convictions. Right now it is nine out of ten offenders who
fall into that category. With respect to more extensive histories of
violence and violent offences, one in four offenders are serving
time for homicide. More offenders have affiliations with gangs
and organized crime; this has increased about 33 per cent in the
last 10 years. We have more offenders with serious substance
abuse histories and problems; they represent four out of five
offenders. We have an increasing overrepresentation of
Aboriginal offenders, with about 19 per cent of our institutional
population of Aboriginal ancestry, while less than 3 per cent of
the Canadian population is Aboriginal.

Finally, and significantly, there is an increase in offenders with
serious mental health disorders, namely, 12 per cent of the men
and 26 per cent of the women. On that front, I would note that
the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and
Technology recognized that CSC faces some serious challenges in
this area in its report Out of the Shadows at Last. We look
forward to working with the newly established Canadian Mental
Health Commission in this regard.

I will now turn to the impacts of Bill C-2. With regard to any
proposed legislative changes, CSC works closely with other
government departments, such as Justice Canada, to assess the
likely impacts including costs. With respect to Bill C-2, only two
components have costing implications for the Correctional
Service of Canada: the mandatory minimum penalty proposal
for fircarms and the proposed amendments to the dangerous
offender provisions.

In November of 2006, Minister Toews provided costing
implications of the mandatory minimum penalty provisions
in Bill C-10, as it was then known. I believe you all have the
numbers before you, but, in summary, after five years, CSC
would see an increase of 270 offenders. This would require an
additional $245 million over five years with approximately
$37.5-million costs after that.

With respect to the dangerous offender proposal, Minister
Toews reported there would be approximately 35 more
DO applications per year. Obviously, applications do not
automatically become DO destinations, so the number of actual
designations would be smaller than 35. We are talking about
costs that would be significantly less than the MMP sum I just
indicated.

au moment de I’admission, un changement dans la population des
détenus. Il y a aujourd’hui un nombre croissant de détenus qui
présentent un certain nombre de caractéristiques particuliéres. Je
vais vous en fournir une bréve liste.

Un nombre croissant de délinquant ont déja fait ’objet de
condamnations par des tribunaux de la jeunesse ou des tribunaux
pour adultes. A I’heure actuelle, neuf délinquants sur dix font
partie de cette catégorie. Pour ce qui est des antécédents plus
lourds de violence et d’infractions violentes, un délinquant sur
quatre purge une peine pour homicide. Il y a davantage de
délinquants qui ont des affiliations avec des gangs et avec le
crime organisé; une augmentation de 33 p. 100 au cours des dix
derniéres années. Il y a davantage de délinquants qui ont des
antécédents et des problémes graves de toxicomanie; ils
représentent quatre délinquants sur cinq. La surreprésentation
des délinquants autochtones s’aggrave, puisqu’ils constituent
19 p. 100 de la population carcérale, alors qu’ils comptent pour
moins de 3 p. 100 de la population canadienne.

Enfin, il est important de signaler qu'un nombre croissant de
délinquants souffrent de troubles graves de santé mentale, a
savoir 12 p. 100 chez les hommes et 26 p. 100 chez les femmes.
Sur ce point, j’aimerais souligner que le Comité sénatorial
permanent des affaires sociales, des sciences et de la technologie
a reconnu que le SCC était confronté a des difficultés a cet égard
dans son rapport intitulé De 'ombre a la lumiére et nous sommes
impatients de collaborer avec la nouvelle Commission canadienne
de la santé mentale dans ce domaine.

Je vais maintenant passer aux effets du projet de loi C-2.
Lorsque le gouvernement propose des changements législatifs, le
SCC travaille étroitement avec d’autres ministéres, comme le
ministére de la Justice, pour évaluer les répercussions probables
de ces changements, y compris les codts. Pour ce qui est du
projet de loi C-2, deux éléments seulement ont des répercussions
financieres pour Service correctionnel du Canada : la proposition
relative aux peines minimales obligatoires pour les infractions
commises avec des armes a feu et les changements proposés aux
dispositions relatives aux délinquants dangereux.

En novembre 2006, le ministre Toews a fait connaitre les
répercussions financiéres des dispositions sur les peines minimales
obligatoires du projet de loi C-10 comme il était appelé a
I’époque. Je pense que vous avez tous les chiffres devant vous
mais, en résumé, apres cing ans, le SCC connaitrait probablement
une augmentation de 270 délinquants. Il lui faudrait donc
245 millions de dollars de plus pour ces cinq années, et environ
37,5 millions de dollars en financement permanent par la suite.

Quant aux propositions concernant les délinquants dangereux,
le ministre Toews a déclaré qu’il y aurait environ 35 demandes de
déclaration de délinquants dangereux de plus par année. Bien
évidemment, les demandes ne sont pas toutes acceptées, de sorte
que le nombre de délinquants déclarés dangereux serait inferieur
a 35, et les cotts globaux seraient considérablement moindres que
ceux engagés pour les peines minimales obligatoires, comme je
viens de 'indiquer.
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The specific numbers in terms of the costing of the dangerous
offender LTSO piece have not been made public. They are still
considered a cabinet confidence. I am not able to provide more
detail other than what I have just indicated in terms of things that
have been made public.

As you are aware, the sections of the bill dealing with both
MMPs and dangerous offenders were modified somewhat from
the time Minister Toews spoke about them. For example, in the
case of the MMPs, it has been narrowed, so the cost impact to the
Correctional Service of Canada will be slightly reduced.

CSC only begins to work with the Treasury Board in terms of
accessing additional funding once the bill is proclaimed. If there
have to be costing adjustments in terms of reflecting those
changes, those will be done once the legislation is finally
approved.

The bottom line of everything that I have just said is that I can
confirm to the committee that the monies have been allocated
through the government process to address the issue of an
increase in the federal offender population should either of these
provisions become law. Beyond that, those are the basics of our
opening remarks. Mr. Toller and I are happy to entertain any
questions you may have on any of that or anything else.

Chief Superintendent D.C. (Doug) Reti, Director General,
National Aboriginal Policing Services, Royal Canadian Mounted
Police: I must apologize; I do not have any opening comments.
This is my first time before a committee like this.

I was a bit anxious when I was told on Tuesday about
appearing before you, but since I have been in this room, seeing it
is an Aboriginal room, it gives me a certain level of comfort. It
was certainly good to see when I came in.

As I said, I first learned of appearing before this committee on
Tuesday. It was not completely clear what you wanted to know
about, but I certainly respect the good work you are doing. Any
time I have an opportunity to talk about Aboriginal policing and
my experience, I like to take advantage of that opportunity.

I should point out that I do not have the exclusive or right
answer about Aboriginal policing. I like to think that I have
learned something over the last 24 years of working with
Aboriginal communities. I have moved 11 different times over
those 24 years to 11 different communities. I have served in two
territories and three provinces. I like to think that I learned
something during that time. I hope that I will be able to share
some of that knowledge with you and provide any assistance that
you need in bringing some clarity to what exists in our Aboriginal
communities.

Senator Stratton: Mr. Reti, could you describe your job to this
committee. It is rather interesting to hear that you have been
working in the Aboriginal community for such a length of time.

Les chiffres précis concernant les cofts relatifs aux délinquants
dangereux n’ont pas été publiés. Ils sont encore considérés comme
des données confidentielles du Cabinet. Je ne suis donc pas en
mesure de vous donner plus de détails sur ces cofits, au-dela des
aspects qui ont déja été rendus public.

Comme vous le savez, les articles du projet de loi C-2 relatifs
aux peines minimales obligatoires et aux délinquants dangereux
ont été modifies quelque peu depuis novembre 2006 quand le
ministre Toews s’est prononcé sur le sujet. Par exemple, dans le
cas des peines minimales obligatoires, les répercussions financiéres
seront légérement réduites.

Le SCC collaborera avec le Conseil du Trésor afin d’obtenir
des fonds additionnels seulement une fois que le projet de loi sera
adopté; s’il y a lieu de procéder a des ajustements financiers afin
de refléter ces changements, il y sera procédé une fois le projet de
loi approuvé définitivement.

L’idée essentielle qui ressort de ce que je viens de vous dire est
que je peux confirmer au comité que des fonds suffisants ont été
alloués au moyen du processus gouvernemental pour tenir compte
de augmentation de la population carcérale sous responsabilité
fédérale si ces deux propositions étaient adoptées. Voici donc les
éléments essentiels de nos observations préliminaires. M. Toller et
moi serons heureux de répondre aux questions que vous voudrez
poser sur ces aspects ou sur d’autres.

Surintendant principal D.C. (Doug) Reti, directeur général,
Services nationaux de police autochtone, Gendarmerie royale du
Canada : Je vous demande de m’excuser; je n’ai pas de
commentaires préliminaires a vous présenter. C’est la premiére
fois que je comparais devant un comité comme le votre.

J’étais un peu nerveux lorsqu’on m’a dit mardi que je
comparaitrais devant votre comité, mais depuis que je me
trouve dans cette salle, j’ai constaté que c’était une salle
autochtone, et je me suis senti mieux. C’est un aspect qui m’a
fait plaisir lorsque je suis entré dans cette salle.

Comme je I’ai dit, j’ai appris mardi que j’allais comparaitre
devant votre comité. Il ne m’a pas été expliqué clairement ce que
vous vouliez savoir, mais je respecte beaucoup I’excellent travail
que vous accomplissez. Chaque fois que j’ai la possibilité de parler
des services de police autochtone et de mon expérience, je le fais.

Je tiens a mentionner que je n’ai pas la réponse ou la bonne
réponse aux problémes que connaissent les services de police
autochtone. J’aime toutefois croire que j’ai appris quelque chose
pendant les 24 années au cours desquelles j’ai travaillé avec des
collectivités autochtones. J’ai déménagé 11 fois pendant ces 24 ans
dans 11 collectivités différentes. J’ai travaillé dans deux territoires
et dans trois provinces. J’aime a croire que j’ai appris un certain
nombre de choses pendant ce temps. J’espére que je pourrais vous
communiquer une partie de ces connaissances et vous préciser, si
vous le souhaitez, la situation qui existe dans nos collectivités
autochtones.

Le sénateur Stratton : Monsieur Reti, vous pourriez peut-étre
décrire au comité la nature de votre travail. Il est intéressant de
savoir que vous avez travaillé pendant aussi longtemps dans les
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I have been on many reserves in the North, and I would like you
to give us an overview of your job and where you think the future
lies with respect to those communities in particular.

Mr. Reti: My job today is more working at policy and strategic
levels in terms of moving the organization towards one of its key
strategic priorities, which is service to Aboriginal communities;
more specifically, safe and healthy Aboriginal communities.

My entire career has been spent working at the front line with
First Nations Inuit communities. Most recently, I was the officer
in charge of the Wetaskiwin-Hobbema detachment. That
community had a number of challenges and even though it is in
one of the most prosperous provinces in Canada, the people in
that community do not seem to have a place in that prosperity.

One of our biggest challenges — and I think it is indicative of
what we see throughout the country — is some of the youth
cohort. As you know, Aboriginal people are overrepresented in
the justice system. As far as our youth are concerned, it is the
fastest growing population. It is a population that, in many ways,
due to a loss of culture, language and identity, is trying to find its
way and place.

You talk about some of the challenges. I feel, as an Aboriginal
person, that one of our biggest challenges right now, is a growing
population that feels marginalized to a certain degree and is trying
to find its place in society. In many ways we are at a crossroads.
Either we help this cohort find its place, or it will find its place on
its own. It will find its place and represent itself in the type of
things we see in Western Canada in terms of gang activity and
some of the things my colleagues have mentioned.

I started a community response unit when I was in Hobbema.
It was a 10-person unit specifically focused on violence in
whatever form it came. In that specific community our members
dealt with 291 Criminal Code files per member. The national
average was around 60 at that time. It gives you context of how
busy they were.

With respect to this community response unit, I challenged
them to look at different alternatives other than the jail system.
Many of the youth we were dealing with, if they were not gang
members going into jail, they certainly were coming out. We had
some real issues in Hobbema. We had drive-by shootings on a
weekly basis and so forth.

The youth cohort, from my perspective, is our biggest
challenge. They feel marginalized in a number of different ways.
They do not know what their place is in society and they do not
feel they are a meaningful part of the Canadian fabric. I think we
have to reach out to them and find alternatives.

collectivités autochtones. Je me suis rendu dans de nombreuses
réserves du Nord, et jaimerais que vous me donniez une
description générale de votre travail et nous dire ce que réserve
I’avenir a ces collectivités en particulier

M. Reti : Mon travail actuel consiste davantage a m’occuper
de politiques et de stratégie en vue de réaliser une des principales
priorités stratégiques de notre organisation, a savoir les services
fournis aux collectivités autochtones; plus précisément, assurer la
sécurité et la bonne santé des collectivités autochtones.

Jai consacré toute ma carriére a faire du travail de premiére
ligne aupres des collectivités des Premieres nations et des Inuits.
Plus récemment, j’ai été officier responsable du détachement
Wetaskiwin-Hobbema. Cette collectivité a connu un certain
nombre de problémes et méme si elle est située dans une des
provinces les plus prospéres du Canada, il ne semble pas que les
membres de cette collectivité participent a cette prospérité.

Un de nos plus gros défis — et je pense que cela refléte ce que
nous constatons partout — vient de certains jeunes. Comme vous
le savez, les Autochtones sont surreprésentés dans le systéme
judiciaire. Nos jeunes représentent le secteur de la population
carcérale qui augmente le plus rapidement. C’est un groupe qui
essaie de trouver sa place parce qu’il a perdu sa culture, sa langue
et son identité.

Vous avez parlé de certains défis. J’estime, en tant
qu’Autochtone, qu'un des plus gros défis auxquels nous faisons
face a I’heure actuelle, vient du fait que cette population croit
rapidement, se sent marginalisée jusqu’a un certain point et essaie
de trouver sa place dans la société. Sous bien des rapports, nous
nous trouvons a une croisée des chemins. Soit nous allons aider ce
groupe a trouver sa place, soit il va trouver lui-méme sa place. Il
va trouver sa place et faire le genre de choses que nous voyons
dans I’Ouest du Canada pour ce qui est des activités de gangs et
d’autres aspects que mes collégues ont mentionnés.

Jai démarré une unité de réponse communautaire quand je
me trouvais & Hobbema. C’était une unité qui comprenait dix
personnes et qui était congue pour lutter contre la violence, quelle
quen soit la forme. Dans cette collectivité, les membres de
I'unité s’occupaient chacun de 291 dossiers du Code criminel. La

moyenne nationale était d’environ 60 dossiers a cette époque.
Cela vous donne une idée du travail que nous avions.

J’ai demandé aux policiers qui appartenaient a cette unité de
réponse communautaire de réfléchir a des mesures de rechange au
systéme carcéral. La plupart des jeunes dont nous nous occupions
ne faisaient peut-étre pas partie de gangs lorsqu’ils allaient en
prison, mais ils en faisaient partie lorsqu’ils en revenaient. Nous
avons connu de graves probléemes a Hobbema. Toutes les
semaines, il y avait des jeunes en voiture qui tiraient des coups
de feu, ce genre de chose.

De mon point de vue, le groupe des jeunes représente notre
plus gros défi. Ils se sentent marginalisés sur plusieurs plans. IIs ne
savent pas quelle est leur place dans la société et n’ont pas le
sentiment d’en faire vraiment partie. Je pense qu’il faut essayer de
les rejoindre et trouver d’autres solutions.
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We started a community cadet corps, and we had upwards of
900 youth who registered from that community. People asked,
“What did you do?” We did nothing. They were looking for some
structure and identity in their lives, and this happened to be one
alternative they could reach out to. It was something they could
take pride in.

I tell the story of a number of our members who answered a
call at a house one day. They went in, and there were a number of
children in the house. It was in chaos and it was a mess. The
members asked, “Why are you not in school?” They said, “Mom
wanted us to clean the house.” The members told the children
they had to get to school, and they helped the children clean the
house. While in the house, they looked in one of the closets. In
this environment of chaos, the one place that had some order to it
was this closet in which one young boy in the residence kept his
cadet corps uniform folded with his boots on top. That was the
only place of order.

These kids are looking for something other than what exists in
some of these communities. You asked me what the challenges
are. That is probably the number one challenge.

Senator Stratton: I have always felt, during my journeys to
these places, the isolation of those communities. The isolated
Northern communities particularly were a detriment to the
potential of youth. I first experienced that in the late 1970s, and
I really do not think it has changed much today.

I have racked my brain, and I am sure others far more
experienced than I have done the same, trying to figure out how
we resolve the future education and potential of those young kids
when they are so isolated. It really bothers me, that there is
nothing for them. At first blush, when you look at the youth in
these areas, your heart goes out to them because that is their
future, the future of the country.

Do you think there is any potential, or how do you overcome
what 1 consider to be a very fundamental problem in these
Northern communities, which is simply isolation with no real
economic driving force?

Mr. Reti: I do not know what the answer is. I joined from the
community of Old Crow, which was an isolated community in
Northern Yukon. I have quite frequently had this discussion with
a number of colleagues, both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal.

I had worked in Nunavut for three years, where they have
some of the highest rates of youth suicide, to a point where we
have had to draw members out of the communities just to get
relief from having to attend those different types of occurrences.

One of the single differences I find is that in some of these
communities, there is not a tremendous amount of hope. All of
their investment is perhaps in a relationship to the community
because there is not much else to look forward to.

Nous avons mis sur pied un corps de cadet communautaire, et
plus de 900 jeunes de cette collectivité se sont inscrits. Les gens
nous ont demandé : comment avez-vous fait? Nous n’avions rien
fait. Ces jeunes cherchaient une structure et une identité, et ils ont
simplement constaté qu’ils pouvaient trouver la ce qu’ils
cherchaient. C’était quelque chose dont ils pouvaient étre fiers.

Je raconte souvent I’histoire des policiers de notre unité qui ont
répondu un jour a un appel. Ils sont entrés dans une maison ou il
y avait un certain nombre d’enfants. La situation était chaotique
et la maison était trés en désordre. Les policiers ont demandé :
« Pourquoi n’étes-vous pas a I’école? » Ils ont répondu : « Notre
meére voulait qu'on range la maison. » Les policiers ont dit aux
enfants qu’ils devaient aller a 1’école et ils les ont aidés a ranger la
maison. Pendant qu’ils se trouvaient dans la maison, ils ont
regardé dans une des garde-robes. Dans tout ce chaos, il y avait
un endroit qui était bien rangé et c’était le placard ou un des
jeunes garcons de la maison avait placé son uniforme de cadet
bien plié, avec ses bottes par-dessus. C’était le seul endroit qui
était rangé.

Ces jeunes cherchent autres choses que ce qu’on leur offre dans
ces collectivités. Vous m’avez demandé quels étaient les défis.
C’est peut-étre 1a le défi le plus important.

Le sénateur Stratton : Au cours des voyages que j’ai faits dans
ces endroits, j’ai toujours été frappé par l'isolement des ces
collectivités. Les collectivités isolées du Nord, en particulier, ne
favorisent pas le développement des jeunes. J’ai connu cela pour
la premiere fois a la fin des années 1970 et je ne pense pas que cela
ait beaucoup changé aujourd’hui.

Jai réfléchi et réfléchi, et je suis str qu’il y a des gens qui ont
beaucoup plus d’expérience que moi qui ont fait la méme chose,
pour essayer de trouver une solution et assurer I’éducation de ces
jeunes et les aider a exploiter leurs possibilités alors qu’ils se
trouvent trés isolés. Cela me dérange beaucoup qu’on n’ait rien a
leur offrir. La premieére réaction, lorsqu’on voit ces jeunes dans
ces régions, c’est de s’inquiéter pour eux, parce que c’est leur
avenir, ’avenir de notre pays.

Pensez-vous qu’il existe des possibilités, et comment résoudre
ce qui me parait étre le probléme de ces collectivités du Nord, a
savoir étre isolé sans aucune possibilité économique réelle?

M. Reti : Je ne connais pas la réponse. Je viens de la collectivité
d’Old Crow, une collectivité isolée du Nord du Yukon. J’ai
souvent eu cette discussion avec des collégues, tant Autochtones
que non-Autochtones.

Javais travaillé au Nunavut pendant trois ans, une région ou le
nombre de suicides chez les jeunes est particuliérement élevé, au
point ou nous avons été obligés de retirer des policiers de ces
collectivités pour leur donner le temps de se remettre d’avoir
assisté a toutes ces choses.

Jai trouvé une différence importante, c’est que dans certaines
de ces collectivités, il n’y a pas beaucoup d’espoir. Les jeunes
s’investissent beaucoup pour établir une relation avec la
collectivité, parce qu’il n’y a pas grand-chose d’autre a espérer.
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It was interesting. When we talked about suicide, people often
think that these suicides come along with drug or alcohol abuse.
The reality is we were finding a break-down in relationship, and
often it was not a single thing that caused it but it was the single
thing that they had hope in that community.

I listened to a conversation my daughter was having. She came
with us to all these different communities in the North and so
forth. Just the nature of the conversation with her friends in these
isolated communities in the North was very different than they
were when we eventually moved down to Ottawa. This is my
second time here, by the way. I was here in Aboriginal policing
and national recruiting before.

The conversation was very different. In the North, it was what
she was going to do on the weekend and that evening and so
forth. When we came down here and her friends had discussions,
it was about what they were going to do when they went to
university and what they were going to do after that.

The only thing I can come back to is some of these
communities do not offer much in terms of a sense of hope.
Where am I going beyond high school? What do I have to aspire
to?

When you have communities riddled with gang activity and so
forth, what do you aspire to? You aspire to be a gang member or
whatnot. It ends up perpetuating itself. Why would a young
person not join a gang, really? It gives them that sense of identity
and security, all the things a young person is looking for.

If you ask me what would be the answer, I cannot tell you what
the single answer would be. I have followed this process with our
communities. When I go to a community, I never focus on the
solution. I focus on the process of getting there. We need to be
able to engage communities. They need to take ownership over
those different issues in their communities. So often people
come from the outside and tell us about what is good for the
communities. So often those answers lie within those
communities. We do not give them the opportunity to come
out. I sincerely believe that those answers are there.

From my perspective, in terms of hope for the Aboriginal
community, I believe that is there. When I see the young people,
I see some of the dysfunction; I also see the positive side. Many
more Aboriginal youth are going to university are looking at their
schooling and are involved in different types of activities and so
forth. There is also that positive side. It is not all negative.

Senator Stratton: I appreciate that. [ was hoping to hear that in
the end because I guess the future, really, is through education.

C’était intéressant. Lorsqu’on parle de suicide, les gens pensent
souvent que ces suicides sont associés a la toxicomanie ou a
I’alcoolisme. En réalité, nous constations qu’il y avait un échec sur
le plan des relations; il n’y avait pas un élément unique qui était la
cause de ces suicides mais, la seule chose qui les en dissuadait,
c’était qu’il y avait de 1’espoir pour eux dans leur collectivité.

J’ai écouté les conversations de ma fille. Elle était avec nous
lorsque nous avons habité dans ces différentes collectivités du
Nord. Les conversations qu’elle avait avec ses amies dans ces
collectivités isolées du Nord étaient trés différentes de celles
qu’elle avait lorsque nous avons finalement déménagé a Ottawa.
C’est la deuxieme fois que je me retrouve a Ottawa. Je suis déja
venu ici pour m’occuper des services de police autochtone et du
recrutement national.

Ses conversations étaient trés différentes. Dans le Nord, elle
parlait de ce qu’elle allait faire la fin de semaine et le soir, ce genre
de choses. Lorsque nous sommes arrivés ici et qu’elle parlait avec
ses amies, elles parlaient de ce qu’elles allaient faire lorsqu’elles
iraient a I'université et de ce qu’elles feraient aprés.

Le seul élément qui me parait déterminant est que bien
souvent, ces collectivités n’ont pas grand-chose a offrir pour ce
qui est des perspectives d’avenir. Que vais-je faire apres 1’école
secondaire? A quoi puis-je aspirer?

Lorsque vous avez des collectivités ou il y a des gangs, a quoi
pouvez-vous aspirer? Vous aspirez a devenir membre d’'un gang.
Cela devient un cercle vicieux. Pourquoi est-ce qu’un jeune ne
deviendrait pas membre d’un gang, en fait? Cela lui donne un
sentiment d’identité et de sécurité, et ce sont la les choses que
recherchent les jeunes.

Si vous me demandez quelle est la réponse, je ne peux pas vous
dire quelle pourrait étre cette réponse unique. J’ai suivi ce
processus dans nos collectivités. Lorsque j’arrive dans les
collectivités, je ne pense pas a trouver une solution. Je pense
plutot a trouver le processus qui permettra d’en dégager une. Il
faut trouver le moyen de faire bouger ces collectivités. Elles
doivent s’approprier les différents problémes qu’elles connaissent.
Il arrive si souvent que les gens de ’extérieur viennent nous dire ce
que la collectivité doit faire. Bien souvent, il faut plutét chercher
ces réponses dans la collectivité. Nous ne prenons pas le temps de
les chercher la. Je suis sincérement convaincu que les réponses
sont la.

De mon point de vue, je dirais qu’il y a de I’espoir pour les
collectivités autochtones. Lorsque je regarde les jeunes, oui, je
vois qu’il y a des problémes de fonctionnement; mais je vois aussi
le coté positif. Il y a davantage de jeunes autochtones qui vont a
I'université, qui se préoccupent de leurs études et qui participent a
toutes sortes d’activités. Il y a aussi ce coté positif. Tout n’est pas
négatif.

Le sénateur Stratton : J’en suis heureux. C’est ce que j’espérais
entendre, parce que l’avenir, je crois, passe nécessairement par
I’éducation.
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Senator Merchant: Welcome to the guests at table, and I would
like to welcome Constable Moran who comes from Meadow
Lake. We are happy to have you. Constable Moran is a policy
program analyst here in Ottawa right now.

I have a very specific question. I would like to ask Mr. Reti
about this because he is Aboriginal and has worked with his
people. What is the impact of the dangerous offender designation
on the Aboriginal population? I think the numbers for
Saskatchewan are devastating. The national admission number
of Aboriginal people is 21 per cent. In Saskatchewan — I am
talking about 2003-04, but I think it is constant — 80 per cent of
those admitted to adult provincial institutions were Aboriginal;
58 per cent of Aboriginal people reoffend within four years with
approximately one half of readmissions within the first year.

How will the changes in Bill C-2 bear on being just and fair to
the Aboriginal people? Could you deal with our parole and
obtaining pardons for dangerous offenders?

Mr. Reti: 1 am not entirely familiar with the dangerous
offender legislation. I have read some of it, so I do have a bit
of an overview of what it will look like. At first blush, as a police
officer, it looks like a solid approach. Enforcement and jail has its
place in society; it certainly does. In many ways it protects the
community.

As an Aboriginal person, I do have concerns over things that
are done to perhaps once again disadvantage an already
disadvantaged group of people. That is always a concern.

Legislation is only one element. The enforcement thereof is
only one element of a police response or approach. Just as
important is early intervention and early identification. As police
officers always talk about, when a kid turns 12 years and you end
up charging him, sometimes it is too late by that point. I do not
say it is too late, but we often talk about once they have reached
that level, where they are involved with the police, it has obviously
taken that step where there must be intervention.

There are a number of strategies from education, awareness,
early invention and diversion. For those at a higher risk, then
legislation and enforcement is important. There is no single
answer. It is not to say it will not work. It is not to say it will
either. It must come along. It is a system that must work in
concert with other things because there is no single thing to
address those different issues.

I challenge our members to look at alternatives to jail systems,
such as intervention and engaging the community. What can we
do with this offender? I know CSC looks frequently at different
types of approaches once they are in the system. Pé Sakastéw in
Hobbema was an example where offenders were brought back

Le sénateur Merchant : Bienvenue aux invités qui se trouvent a
notre table et j’aimerais souhaiter la bienvenue a I’agent Moran
qui vient de Meadow Lake. Nous sommes trés heureux de vous
avoir avec nous. L’agent Moran est un analyste des politiques et
des programmes ici, a Ottawa, en ce moment.

Jaimerais poser une question tres précise. J’aimerais la poser a
M. Reti parce qu’il est Autochtone et a travaillé avec son peuple.
Quel est I'effet de la désignation de délinquant dangereux sur la
population autochtone? Je pense que les chiffres concernant la
Saskatchewan sont terribles. Le pourcentage national des
Autochtones dans les prisons est de 21 p. 100. En Saskatchewan
— je parle de I'année 2003-2004, mais je crois que ce chiffre
n’a pas changé — 80 p. 100 des personnes admises dans des
établissements provinciaux pour adultes étaient des Autochtones;
58 p. 100 des Autochtones récidivent dans les quatre ans, et prés
de la moitié d’entre eux sont réadmis en prison aprés moins
d’un an.

Les changements qu’apporte le projet de loi C-2 vont-ils avoir
un effet équitable sur les Autochtones? Pouvez-vous nous parler
de libération conditionnelle et de la possibilit¢ d’obtenir la
réhabilitation pour les délinquants dangereux?

M. Reti : Je ne connais pas trés bien les dispositions relatives
aux délinquants dangereux. J’en ai lu une partie et j’en connais
donc les grandes lignes. A premiére vue, je dirais, comme policier,
que cela semble étre une bonne approche. L’application de la loi
et 'emprisonnement ont un réle a jouer dans la société, cela est
certain. Ces mesures ont pour effet de protéger la collectivité.

En tant qu’Autochtone, je crains que les mesures prises
viennent désavantager, encore une fois, un groupe de personnes
qui est déja désavantagé. C’est une préoccupation constante.

Les dispositions législatives ne constituent qu’un seul élément.
L’application de la loi n’est qu’un des aspects de I’action de la
police. Il est tout aussi important de viser les interventions
précoces et les signalements précoces. Comme le disent toujours
les agents de police, lorsqu’un jeune vient d’avoir 12 ans et qu’il
faut porter des accusations contre lui, on peut dire qu’il est déja
trop tard. Je ne dis pas qu’il est trop tard, mais nous disons
souvent que, lorsque les rapports en sont arrivés a ce point,
lorsqu’ils font ’objet d’une intervention de la part de la police, il
est évident qu’il faut faire quelque chose a I’égard de ces jeunes.

Il existe un certain nombre de stratégies, 1’éducation, la
sensibilisation, l'intervention précoce et la déjudiciarisation.
Pour ceux qui représentent un risque élevé, alors les aspects
« mesures législatives » et « application de la loi » sont
importants. Il n’y a pas de réponse unique. Je ne dis pas que
cela ne marchera pas. Je ne dis pas non plus que cela donnera des
résultats. Il faut que cela suive son cours. C’est un systéme qui
doit travailler de concert avec les autres acteurs parce qu’il n’y a
pas une seule mesure qui permette de s’attaquer a ces différents
problémes.

Je demande a nos policiers d’étudier quels sont les mesures de
rechange au systéme carcéral, comme l'intervention et ’action de
la collectivité. Que pouvons-nous faire avec ce contrevenant? Je
sais que le SCC examine souvent différents types d’approches
lorsque ces jeunes se retrouvent dans un établissement. Pé
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and reconnected with their background, reconnected with
spirituality and so forth. There are some values there. I always
look at CSC. In many ways they promoted or brokered
spirituality in many of our communities and brought it back.
I went down to Pé Sakastéw quite frequently, and there is some
excellent programming in some of those facilities. There is no
single approach that does or does not work. It is an array, and it is
a coordinated approach.

Senator Merchant: I appreciate your answer. | agree with many
of the things you have said, but once they have the dangerous
offender destination, I think this weighs heavily on First Nations
Aboriginal people. Parole is a discretionary matter, and so for a
dangerous offender, it is very difficult to get parole. If you want to
get a pardon, you get a pardon when you have finished your
sentence; but when you are a dangerous offender, your sentence is
never really finished.

In order to get a pardon, you must have some money. You
have to get specialists to vouch for you. The reverse onus in this
bill is a barrier. I would like someone to tell us how this bill will
make it more difficult for Aboriginal people to deal with the
system. To give them some hope. If you are a dangerous offender,
you have no hope.

Ross Toller, Assistant Commissioner, Correctional Operations
and Programs, Correctional Service Canada: 1 will take a few
minutes and provide a little context from where we sit in the
criminal justice system. As has been noted here, we are the
recipients of people who come to us. On average, there are 20-25,
dangerous offenders who come into our system each year. Parole
eligibility date is at seven years.

Let us focus on the Aboriginal perspective you are looking at
here. You may or may not be aware that the population coming
to us, from an Aboriginal perspective, has much more violent
crimes served by that particular group.

The crime rates on reserve are generally about three times
higher than non-reserve. Spousal violence, as was mentioned here,
is about three and a half times higher. The Aboriginal rate of
homicide, cases under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs, is
significantly higher, close to 10 times. As to the young offenders,
they tend to be prone to different types of criminal activity; it is
about 50 per cent in that group versus 39 per cent for non-
Aboriginal. Violent crime in the Aboriginal group is around
81 per cent; non-Aboriginal, 67 per cent. The women Aboriginal
group, by way of example, is 76 per cent, with close to 49 per cent
non-Aboriginal.

The context of what we receive is an offender with much more
violence and some more of the factors that were mentioned by
Mr. McCowan in terms of gang affiliation. Generally, those

Sakastéw a Hobbema est un exemple de cas ou des mesures ont
été prises pour rétablir les liens entre les délinquants et leurs
racines, et leur spiritualité, notamment. Il y a la des choses
importantes. Je regarde toujours ce que fait le SCC. De plusieurs
fagons, ce service a ramené la spiritualité dans de nombreuses
collectivités. Je me suis rendu trés souvent a Pé Sakastéw, et j’ai
constaté que l'on offrait d’excellents programmes dans cet
établissement. Il n’y a pas une seule approche qui donne de
bons ou de mauvais résultats. C’est un ensemble et c’est une
approche intégrée.

Le sénateur Merchant : J’apprécie votre réponse. Je souscris a
la plupart des choses que vous avez dites, mais lorsqu’on parle de
déclaration de délinquants dangereux, je crois que cela touche
lourdement les peuples autochtones des Premiéres nations. La
libération conditionnelle est une décision discrétionnaire et il est
trés difficile pour un délinquant dangereux d’obtenir une telle
libération. Le détenu qui souhaite obtenir sa réhabilitation peut la
demander lorsqu’il a fini de purger sa peine, mais un délinquant
dangereux n’a jamais fini de purger sa peine.

Pour obtenir une réhabilitation, il faut avoir un peu d’argent. Il
faut que des spécialistes se portent garants de vous. La disposition
du projet de loi qui renverse le fardeau de la preuve constitue un
obstacle. J’aimerais que quelqu’un nous dise si, avec ce projet de
loi, la situation des Autochtones sera plus difficile. 11 faut leur
donner de I'espoir. Un délinquant dangereux n’a plus d’espoir.

Ross Toller, commissaire adjoint, Opérations et programmes
correctionnels, Service correctionnel Canada : Je vais prendre
quelques minutes pour décrire notre role au sein du systéeme de
justice pénale. Comme cela a été noté ici, nous accueillons les
gens qui nous sont envoyés. En moyenne, 20 a 25 délinquants
dangereux sont admis dans notre systéme chaque année. Un
délinquant dangereux est admissible a la libération conditionnelle
apres sept ans.

Concentrons-nous sur le point de vue des Autochtones que
vous examinez ici. Vous ne savez peut-étre pas que la population
carcérale autochtone a commis beaucoup plus de crimes violents
que les autres.

D’une fagon générale, les taux de criminalité dans les réserves
sont trois fois plus élevés qu’hors réserve. La violence conjugale,
comme cela a été mentionnée ici, est trois fois et demie plus
fréquente dans les réserves. Le nombre des homicides, les cas
d’infractions commises sous I’effet de I’alcool ou des drogues par
les Autochtone sont sensiblement plus élevés, pres de 10 fois plus.
Quant aux jeunes contrevenants, ils ont tendance a exercer
différents types d’activités criminelles; ces activités sont exercées
par 50 p. 100 de ce groupe contre 39 p. 100 chez les non-
Autochtones. Quatre-vingt pour cent du groupe autochtone a
commis un crime violent alors que ce pourcentage est de 67 p. 100
pour les non-Autochtones. Pour les Autochtones de sexe féminin,
ce pourcentage est de 76 p. 100, alors qu’il est de prés de 49 p. 100
pour les non-Autochtones.

Nous recevons donc des délinquants qui sont beaucoup plus
violents et chez qui 'on retrouve un bon nombre des facteurs
mentionnés par M. McCowan pour ce qui est de I'appartenance
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Aboriginal inmates that come to us have about a 27 per cent
gang affiliation when they arrive versus 13 per cent for
non-Aboriginal.

What do we do from our end of the correctional spectrum? We
operate with an individual intake assessment. We look at the
crime that has occurred. We look at mitigating or aggravating
factors in terms of management of these people in our system.

In many ways we are proud that we actually consider a number
of factors specific to Aboriginals that are worth mentioning
here. In the context of mitigating factors, we look at the history
of residential schools: Are there any residential school
considerations that need to be considered as mitigating or
aggravating factors? What are the unemployment factors that
may be there due to a lack of access to employment opportunities?

We consider the lack or, even in some cases, the irrelevance of
education — as you know, in our traditional society we put a
strong focus on education. In some of the northern communities,
formal education is not seen as important as the traditional
education. Is there a history of discrimination, any restorative
sanctions that may have occurred on various reserves or
communities? Is there a history of any paths that have been
taken in Aboriginal teachings in the past from the elders, and any
history of living on or off the reserve?

At the front end, we look at our Aboriginal people coming
into the correctional system from a different perspective from
our traditional non-Aboriginal people. From there we work in a
number of significant areas. I will speak more, if time permits,
about one of the healing lodges. Some of the areas we have moved
on to address this issue involve the elders. We look at the
utilization of elders in guidance and leadership, even in the
correctional planning, for those who are interested in following a
traditional path. Even at intake, if an Aboriginal inmate comes
into our system we will engage elders for their advice, guidance
and wisdom in terms of how to best manage these offenders. We
now have Aboriginal liaison officers in the community. These are
people out there working with the community, looking at unique
needs and histories of inmates, both in the institution and in the
community, so that their issues are understood and we can meet
these challenges.

We have Aboriginal correctional program officers who are
people of Aboriginal origin who deliver culturally appropriate
types of programs. Obviously, for us that is a significant issue.
“Pathways” is a terminology given to the management of specific
units in our medium-security facilities. We have three of those in
which inmates have chosen to follow a traditional path. If you
walked into one of our penitentiaries, you would find this unit

aux gangs. D’une facon générale, 27 p. 100 des détenus
autochtones admis dans nos établissements étaient membres
d’un gang a leur arrivée contre 13 p. 100 pour les
non-Autochtones.

Quel est le role qui est le notre au sein du systéme
correctionnel? Nous procédons a une évaluation initiale
individuelle. Nous prenons en compte l'infraction qui a été
commise. Nous examinons les facteurs aggravants ou atténuants
pour bien gérer ces personnes dans le systéme.

Nous sommes en fait fiers du fait que nous prenons en
considération un certain nombre de facteurs particuliers aux
Autochtones qui méritent d’étre mentionnés ici. Dans le contexte
des facteurs atténuants, nous examinons les antécédents en
matiére de pensionnat : y a-t-il lieu de prendre en compte les
éléments reliés aux pensionnats qui constituent des facteurs
atténuants ou aggravants? Parmi les facteurs qui expliquent le
chomage, y en a-t-il qui sont dus a un manque d’accés a des
possibilités d’emploi?

Nous tenons compte de I’absence d’éducation et méme,
dans certains cas, c’est un aspect qui est reconnu comme
n’étant pas pertinent — comme vous le savez, dans notre
société traditionnelle, nous attachons une grande importance a
I’éducation. Dans certaines collectivités du Nord, 1’éducation
officielle n’est pas considérée comme étant aussi importante
que I’éducation traditionnelle. Y a-t-il des antécédents de
discrimination, des sanctions réparatrices qui ont été prises dans
diverses réserves ou collectivités? Le détenu en question a-t-il suivi
des enseignements autochtones de la part des Anciens et a-t-il
vécu dans une réserve ou a l’extérieur d’une réserve?

Au départ, nous examinons les Autochtones qui sont admis
dans le systéme correctionnel d’un point de vue autre que le point
de vue traditionnel utilisé pour les non-Autochtones. A partir
de la, nous agissons dans un certain nombre de domaines
importants. Je vais parler un peu plus, si le temps me le permet,
des pavillons de ressourcement. Pour tenir compte de cette
situation, nous avons pris des initiatives dans certains domaines
qui appellent la participation des Anciens. Nous envisageons le
recours aux Anciens, dans un réle de guide et de chef, méme dans
la planification correctionnelle, pour les détenus qui souhaitent
suivre un chemin traditionnel. Lorsqu'un détenu autochtone
est admis dans notre systéme, nous demandons aux Anciens
leurs conseils et leurs commentaires sur la facon de bien gérer
ces détenus. Nous avons maintenant des agents de liaison
autochtones dans la collectivité. Ce sont des gens qui travaillent
dans la collectivité, qui tiennent compte des besoins et des
antécédents uniques des détenus, tant dans I’établissement que
dans la collectivité, de fagon a comprendre leurs difficultés et & y
répondre.

Nous avons des agents de programmes correctionnels
autochtones qui sont d’origine autochtone et qui s’occupent
d’offrir des programmes adaptés culturellement. Bien
évidemment, c’est une question importante pour nous. Les
« Sentiers autochtones » est une expression qui désigne la
gestion d’unités spéciales de nos établissements a sécurité
moyenne. Nous avons trois unités dont les détenus ont choisi de
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significantly different from a mainstream unit, with elders
involved directly in smudging ceremonies and spiritual
ceremonies. As Mr. Reti pointed out, the healing lodge is one.
There are others, one specific to women. Again, it is to look at an
Aboriginal environment specific to addressing cultural needs.

I want to make the point that after the criminal justice system,
there are many avenues to address during the incarceration phase.

Senator Di Nino: Is there a significant difference between
Aboriginals who come from a city or a community environment
and those who come from the reservations?

Mr. Toller: Yes, I can offer a quick comment. I have to
generalize here, but in some circumstances, we find that those who
come from reserves have not been actively involved in cultural or
spiritual processes. However, we often find that in those cases
with elders’ intervention there comes an interest and in some cases
we have found success. I mentioned the healing lodges. We have
research that shows strong success with those people involved in
that environment, along with the Pathways unit that I mentioned.

We branch out into the urban communities as well. There is a
dichotomy resulting from those who wish to leave the reserve and
go to the urban environment. We involve ourselves actively with
the urban communities to address Aboriginal issues. Normally,
inside we find that where they come from becomes secondary to
the response to the path they wish to follow; in other words, an
interest to go into a Pathways unit.

Senator Di Nino: On any given day, there are 21,000 offenders,
8,400 of whom are in the community. What do you mean by “in
the community?” Are these people on parole?

Mr. Toller: Yes, parole under a number of variations, day
parole, a full parole or a statutory release. It could be a long-term
supervision order in the community. To clarify, that means that
while in the community they remain under sentence with a certain
set of conditions.

Senator Di Nino: Although I am convinced that we need
Bill C-2 to make our streets safer, one of the main responsibilities
of our community when we incarcerate people is the area of
making these folks productive members of the community.

I would like you to tell me about behavioural intervention,
educational or vocational training, sex offender treatment and
drug and alcohol treatment. What programs do we have to teach
the inmates a trade or to give them an opportunity for
employment in the community when we release them?

Mr. Toller: Madam Chair, I promise I will be quick. This is
another hour answer.

suivre une voie traditionnelle. Si vous venez dans un de nos
pénitenciers, vous constaterez que cette unité est trés différente
des unités habituelles, puisque les Anciens participent directement
a des cérémonies spirituelles et de purification par la fumée.
Comme I’a signalé M. Reti, le pavillon de ressourcement est une
de ces unités. I1 y en a d’autres, dont une est destinée aux femmes.
La encore, il s’agit de créer un environnement adapté aux
Autochtones pour répondre a leurs besoins culturels.

Je tiens a faire remarquer qu’aprés le systéme de justice pénale,
la phase d’incarcération offre de nombreuses possibilités.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Existe-t-il une différence importante
entre les Autochtones qui viennent de la ville ou d’une collectivité
et ceux qui viennent d’une réserve?

M. Toller : Oui, je peux faire un bref commentaire. Je dois bien
sr généraliser, mais dans certains cas, nous constatons que ceux
qui viennent des réserves n’ont pas participé activement a des
cérémonies culturelles ou spirituelles. Toutefois, nous constatons
souvent que ces Autochtones sont sensibles a I'intervention des
Anciens et nous avons parfois connu des succés avec eux. J’ai
parlé des pavillons de ressourcement. Nous avons des études qui
démontrent que les personnes qui acceptent de vivre dans cet
environnement, ainsi que dans les unités Sentiers autochtones que
j’ai mentionnées, obtiennent d’excellents résultats.

Nous agissons également dans les collectivités urbaines. Il y a
une dichotomie parce qu’il y a des Autochtones qui souhaitent
quitter la réserve pour aller vivre dans un environnement urbain.
Nous collaborons activement avec les collectivités urbaines
pour résoudre les problémes particuliers aux Autochtones.
Habituellement, nous constatons que 1’origine des détenus est
un aspect secondaire par rapport au choix de la voie qu’ils
souhaitent suivre; autrement dit, par rapport a 'intérét manifesté
pour vivre dans une unité de cheminement autochtone.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Chaque jour, il y a 21 000 délinquants,
dont 8 400 se trouvent dans la collectivité. Qu’entendez-vous par
« dans la collectivité? » S’agit-il de libérés conditionnels?

M. Toller : Oui, divers types de libération conditionnelle, semi-
liberté, libération conditionnelle totale ou libération d’office.
Certains font 1’objet d’une ordonnance de surveillance a long
terme dans la collectivité. Pour simplifier, cela veut dire que les
détenus qui se trouvent dans la collectivité continuent a purger
leur peine et doivent respecter un certain nombre de conditions.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je suis convaincu qu’il faut adopter le
projet de loi C-2 pour améliorer la sécurité de la population, mais
une des principales responsabilités de notre société est de faire de
ces détenus des membres productifs de la société.

Jaimerais que vous me parliez des interventions sur le plan du
comportement, de la formation générale et professionnelle, du
traitement des délinquants sexuels et du traitement de la
toxicomanie et de I’alcoolisme. Quels sont les programmes
existants qui permettent d’enseigner un métier au détenu ou qui
leur offrent la possibilité de se trouver un emploi dans la
collectivité lorsque nous les libérons.

M. Toller : Madame la présidente, je vous promets d’étre bref.
C’est une autre réponse qui prendrait une heure.
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Senator Di Nino: Just give me three minutes.

The Chair: Obviously, we are interested in the details; equally
obviously, we are time-limited, so it might be worthwhile recalling
that it is possible for you to say, “Here are the five main points
and then I will send you data on the 18 others.”

Senator Di Nino: Are we doing a job there, and if so, are we
doing a good job? Do we have enough resources? Do we make a
point of ensuring that we reintegrate these inmates into the
community as soon as we can, with the best possible results?

Mr. Toller: Yes, we do target criminogenic behaviour, the
reasons why a person has been incarcerated. We then extrapolate
that into the various programs. You have mentioned sex offender,
high-intensity alcohol and substance abuse, family and spousal
violence. If you need more detail, we will undertake to provide the
various components of those. There is a natural transition into
the community. We try to make sure that the programs have
maintenance programs while in the community at different
capacities.

As far as I am concerned, there are never enough resources, as
we continue to target interventions. Certainly the community is
exactly where the vast majority of offenders return to. In my view,
the more we can work with the community that is where we get
the best public safety result.

Senator Di Nino: Are the inmates required to take these
programs?

Mr. Toller: They are not required. They do have the right to
refuse programs, but that is, of course, translated into not
following their correctional plan. The likelihood then of an
inmate who has not looked to address their criminogenic
behaviour obtaining parole becomes limited. We do find an
increase of offenders who are unmotivated, and we look to target
their motivation and to get them involved and to participate in
levels of programming.

Senator Di Nino: What percentage does not participate?

Mr. Toller: It is small. I do not have the exact figure, but I
would say less than 10 per cent.

Mr. McCowan: One of the challenges we are facing in terms of
the population changing a little is that we have many offenders
serving short sentences and many serving long sentences. One of
the challenges in terms of program interventions is for those
people who have short sentences and who consequently are not
with us long at all. Those are people who can wait us out, for lack
of a better way of describing it, because they will not be with us
long, and our window for successful intervention and successful
programming is narrowed. That becomes a challenge that

Le sénateur Di Nino : Donnez-moi trois minutes seulement.

La présidente : Evidemment, nous nous intéressons aux détails,
mais il est également évident que nous devons respecter les
contrainte de temps, de sorte qu’il serait peut-étre bon de vous
rappeler que vous pouvez dire : « Voici les cinq points essentiels,
mais je vous enverrai ensuite des données au sujet des 18 autres ».

Le sénateur Di Nino : Faisons-nous quelque chose dans ce
domaine et, si c’est le cas, faisons-nous du bon travail? Avons-
nous suffisamment de ressources? Nous efforgons-nous de
réinsérer ces détenus dans la collectivité le plus rapidement
possible, en obtenant les meilleurs résultats possibles?

M. Toller : Oui, nous ciblons les comportements criminogénes,
les raisons pour lesquelles la personne a ¢été incarcérée. Nous
intégrons ensuite ces aspects dans les divers programmes. Vous
avez parlé de délinquants sexuels, d’alcoolisme et de toxicomanie
graves, de violence familiale et conjugale. Si vous voulez
davantage de détails, nous nous engageons a vous fournir les
différents éléments de ces programmes. Il s’effectue une transition
naturelle vers la collectivité. Nous essayons de faire en sorte que
les programmes comportent des composantes de suivi dans la
collectivité a différents niveaux.

En ce qui me concerne, les ressources sont toujours
insuffisantes, parce que nous essayons toujours de cibler nos
interventions. Il est vrai que 'immense majorité des délinquants
retournent dans la collectivité. A mon avis, c’est en travaillant en
collaboration avec la collectivité que nous pouvons le mieux
assurer la sécurité de la population.

Les détenus sont-ils obligés de suivre ces programmes?

M. Toller : Ils ne sont pas obligés de le faire. Ils sont en droit
de refuser de participer aux programmes, mais cela veut alors dire,
bien str, que ces détenus ne suivent pas leur plan correctionnel. I1
est en effet peu probable qu'un détenu qui n’a rien fait pour
modifier son comportement criminogene obtienne une libération
conditionnelle. Il y a de plus en plus de délinquants qui ne sont
pas motivés, et nous essayons de susciter leur intérét et de les faire
participer a différents types de programmes.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Quel est le pourcentage de ceux qui ne
participent pas a ces programmes?

M. Toller : Il est faible. Je n’ai pas le chiffre exact, mais je
dirais qu’il est inférieur a 10 p. 100.

M. McCowan : La population carcérale se modifie 1égérement
et cela pose un probléme, parce qu’il y a de nombreux délinquants
qui purgent des peines de courte durée et un grand nombre
d’autres qui purgent des peines de longue durée. Une des
difficultés consiste a amener les personnes qui ont été
condamnées a une peine de courte durée et qui, par conséquent,
ne demeureront pas trés longtemps dans 1’établissement, a
participer a des programmes. Ce sont des gens qui peuvent tout
simplement attendre la fin de leur peine, je ne sais pas comment le
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compounds some of the other challenges that Mr. Toller spoke
about.

Senator Di Nino: I would imagine that participation or lack
of participation would be a consideration in parole. Is that
correct?

Mr. Toller: It is very much a consideration, yes.

Senator Andreychuk: We are talking about fundamental
issues regarding our police and corrections and our Aboriginal
communities, which is way beyond the scope of Bill C-2.
However, somewhere that dialogue has to continue, and so be
it. We will try to keep it within your short mandate here.

Chief Superintendent, thank you for putting forward again
that 12 years of age may be even too late when you start
addressing criminal activity. [ appreciate your comment that if we
start providing hope and education at an early age we might not
see these Aboriginal children in correction centres at 12 years of
age. I agree that we should identify interrelationships and the
mental health problems. We would be much better off to start this
when the children are young as opposed to dealing with them
when they are 15, 20 or 25 years. I think that point needs to be
underscored over and over again, particularly in our Aboriginal
community. Whether we are in isolated communities or not, you
have identified the problems that we have to address.

Having been in the justice system myself, often those issues
were beyond the criminal justice system, and so I would be
looking at an Aboriginal leader and he would be looking at me
and we would say we are discussing these issues. This child is
committing offences. What do we do?

That gets me back to the point that I think that the Aboriginal
community, on anyone’s scale, is overrepresented in the criminal
justice system. However, Bill C-2 is talking about violent and
repeat offences. We were given statistics this morning that
90 per cent of those — I cannot remember whether it was
repeat offenders or the violent offences — were sexual offences.

Do you, in your Aboriginal policing, see a variation on what
the rest of the Aboriginal community is asking for concerning the
repeat violent offenders?

I have been told that in Saskatchewan, Aboriginal offenders
are oversubscribed in the system, but Aboriginal victims are
oversubscribed, because it is either marital or community issues
that hit. When it comes to this narrow band of repeat, dangerous,
violent offenders, often sexual, the communities there are asking
for protection and for something to be done with these people,
just as I am in my own area. Therefore, is the response to isolate

dire autrement, parce qu’ils ne vont pas rester longtemps avec
nous; nous disposons par conséquent de peu de temps pour
intervenir avec succes ou leur offrir des programmes efficaces.
Cela constitue un défi qui vient s’ajouter aux autres défis dont a
parlé M. Toller.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’imagine que le fait de participer ou de
ne pas participer a un programme est un ¢élément qui est pris en
compte pour l'attribution de la libération conditionnelle. Est-ce
bien exact?

M. Toller : C’est effectivement un élément important.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Nous parlons de questions
fondamentales qui touchent nos services de police et nos
services correctionnels ainsi que nos collectivités autochtones,
des aspects qui dépassent largement le cadre du projet de loi C-2.
Mais il faut bien que ce dialogue se poursuive et cela n’est pas
mauvais. Nous allons essayer de respecter votre horaire.

Monsieur le surintendant principal, je vous remercie d’avoir
redit qu’il est peut-étre trop tard pour intervenir aupreés des jeunes
de 12 ans qui exercent déja des activités criminelles. J’ai aimé
votre commentaire selon lequel nous ne verrions peut-étre pas des
enfants autochtones de 12 ans dans les centres correctionnels si
nous avions commencé a leur fournir plus tot de I’espoir et une
éducation. J’admets également qu’il y a lieu d’examiner les
relations interpersonnelles et les problémes de santé mentale. Il
serait bien préférable de commencer a le faire lorsque les enfants
sont jeunes plutét que d’attendre qu’ils aient 15, 20 ou 25 ans. 11
me parait souhaitable de souligner constamment cet aspect, en
particulier dans notre collectivité autochtone. Qu’il s’agisse de
collectivités isolées ou non, vous avez cerné les problémes
auxquels nous devons nous attaquer.

Jai déja travaillé au sein du systéme judiciaire et j’ai bien
souvent constaté que ces aspects dépassaient le cadre du systeme
de justice pénale. J’ai donc été amené a parler directement de ces
questions avec des chefs autochtones, au sujet d’un enfant qui
commettait des infractions. Je leur demandais que pouvons-nous
faire?

Cela me raméne a I'idée que, quelle que soit I’échelle retenue, la
collectivité autochtone est surreprésentée dans le systéme de
justice. Le projet de loi C-2 traite cependant des délinquants
violents et récidivistes. On nous a donné des chiffres ce matin
selon lesquels 90 p. 100 de ces infractions — je ne me souviens pas
s’ll s’agissait de récidivistes ou d’infractions violentes — étaient
des infractions sexuelles.

Dans vos services de police autochtone, voyez-vous des
différences dans ce que demande le reste de la collectivité
autochtone a I’égard des délinquants violents récidivistes?

On m’a dit qu’en Saskatchewan, les délinquants autochtones
étaient surreprésentés dans le systéme mais que les victimes
autochtones étaient également surreprésentées, parce qu’il s’agit
toujours de questions conjugales ou communautaires. Quand il
s’agit de ce groupe restreint de délinquants violents, dangereux et
récidivistes, bien souvent sexuels, les collectivités demandent a
étre protégées et elles souhaitent que ’on fasse quelque chose avec
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them from the community when they are repeat, repeat, repeat
dangerous, the same answer as to the repeat, repeat dangerous
anywhere in our community?

Mr. Reti: Some of our communities are suffering the effects
of residential schools and what that has brought on our
communities. Some of our communities, unfortunately, have
seen that continue in their communities, where our own people
are abusing our own people. Unfortunately, some people in our
communities are not prepared or not ready to heal and as a result,
they create casualties along the way. Unfortunately, in a case of
pedophiles they create more casualties in the community. I have
talked to my relatives about some communities where it was
difficult for us to find kids who were not possibly sexually abused
in the community.

It is a very serious thing in our community and there is no
single answer for that problem. Sometimes the community does
need relief from people who choose to victimize other people in
the community because some of these young people cannot
defend themselves.

The flipside is that person still has to come back to that
community at some point. If they are isolated from the
community, the question becomes: What is being done to
reintroduce them into the community? That is just as
important, the work that CSC or the provincial jail systems do
while the abuser is there and what they are doing to reintegrate
them back into the community, because inevitably they will have
to live there.

I was at a workshop with a number of residential school
survivors and we talked about that very issue. As the Truth and
Reconciliation Commission comes forward, it is not just about
those who were abused in the residential schools, but they will
also talk about the abusers who live in their community and who
create risks in the community today, and the turmoil and chaos
that will create by bringing those matters forward. Some of the
communities are close-knit, and the reality is that those people are
our aunts and uncles and could be respected elders in our
community.

I do not think people really understand sometimes how far-
reaching that residential school era was in our communities and
the chaos it created. Places in Saskatchewan and the western part
of the country see that firsthand on a daily basis. We see the
effects of re-victimization on the streets of Regina, Winnipeg and
Edmonton time and time again.

I hope I answered your question.

Senator Andreychuk: You certainly did, and it is helpful. The
prison population is oversubscribed by Aboriginals, but we
should look for alternate rehabilitation sentencing, and we have

ces personnes, tout comme je le fais dans mon propre domaine.
La solution consiste-clle a les isoler de la collectivité puisqu’il
ainsi la solution que nous appliquons a ces mémes délinquants
dans notre collectivité?

M. Reti : Certaines collectivités subissent les répercussions
des pensionnats et les conséquences que cela a eues sur ces
collectivités. Malheureusement, ces répercussions continuent a se
faire sentir dans ces mémes collectivités, et il y a des Autochtones
qui agressent d’autres Autochtones. Il y a malheureusement des
membres de notre collectivité qui ne sont pas préts ou disposés a
guérir ces blessures et c’est la raison pour laquelle ils font encore
des victimes. Malheureusement, il y a des pédophiles qui font
d’autres victimes dans la collectivité. J’ai dit & des membres de ma
famille qu’il y avait des collectivités ou il était difficile de trouver
de jeunes enfants qui ne risquaient pas d’avoir été agressés
sexuellement.

C’est un phénomene trés grave que connaissent nos collectivités
et il n’y a pas de solution unique a ce probléme. Parfois, la
collectivité doit exclure les personnes qui choisissent de victimiser
d’autres membres de la collectivité pace qu’il y a des jeunes qui ne
peuvent pas se défendre.

L’autre aspect est que ces personnes devront néanmoins revenir
dans la collectivit¢ a un moment donné. Si on les isole de la
collectivité, il faut alors se poser la question suivante : Que fait-on
pour assurer leur réinsertion dans la collectivité? C’est un aspect
tout aussi important; c’est le travail qu’effectue le SCC ou le
systéme carcéral provincial a I’égard de I’agresseur pour qu’il
puisse réintégrer la collectivité, parce qu’inévitablement, il devra y
retourner.

J’ai participé a un atelier avec un certain nombre de jeunes qui
ont survécu aux pensionnats et nous avons parlé de cette question.
Avec la Commission de la réconciliation et de la vérité, il ne s’agit
pas uniquement de parler de ceux qui ont été agressés dans les
pensionnats, mais il faut également parler des agresseurs qui
vivent dans leur collectivité et qui constituent aujourd’hui un
danger pour leur collectivité, ainsi que des bouleversements et du
chaos qu’entrainera le fait de parler de ces choses. Il y a des
collectivités dont les membres entretiennent des liens trés étroits et
il faut tenir compte du fait que nous parlons de nos oncles et de
nos tantes et que ce pourraient étre des Anciens respectés dans
notre collectivité.

Je ne pense pas que les gens comprennent vraiment 1’étendue
des répercussions qu’a eues le systéme des pensionnats dans nos
collectivités et du chaos que cela a entrainé. Il y a des endroits en
Saskatchewan et dans I’Ouest du pays ou on le constate encore
tous les jours. Nous voyons les effets de la revictimisation dans
les rues de Regina, de Winnipeg et d’Edmonton, et cela
constamment.

Jespére que j’ai répondu a votre question.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Effectivement et c’est une réponse
utile. Les Autochtones sont surreprésentés dans la population
carcérale mais nous devrions envisager d’autres peines qui visent
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put that in the Criminal Code, namely, to take into account the
Aboriginal background of someone before we sentence that
person.

My concern is that the majority of people in the courts are not
violent. They are there because of other sections in the Criminal
Code, and I am not saying they were not properly convicted.
However, it is the chronic, repeat violent offenders that are a
difficulty. Not only is it the residential schools, but it is also
the idea of gangs. How they interrelate gang-to-gang is a
phenomenon. I grew up in Saskatchewan next to many reserves
and that was not a phenomenon then. Many of the elders tell me
it seems to be a “modern” phenomenon. How do you attack that
problem?

Mr. Reti: We are seeing it more, especially in Manitoba and,
I think, somewhat in Saskatchewan. The gangs are no longer
just restricted to the major centres. They are moving out into
the smaller communities. I was at a community in Island Lake,
Manitoba, more than 15 years ago, and the population has just
about doubled. This is a community of 9,000 people, and it is a
fly-in, isolated community. I remember a gang expert came up
to the community, and he said, “You have tagging in the
community.” I chuckled and said, “There are no gangs in this
community.” Little did I know young people were going down to
school and being influenced that way. The school went only to
Grade 10 at that point, and then the students went south. Then
they came back, and some of the young people who were sent to
jail were coming back as gang members and perpetuating it in the
community. Now we see it is threatened almost as governance in
some of these communities. The one difference between gang
activity in small communities and larger communities is it that it is
so much closer to the community fabric and to the governance in
those communities. When I talk to people about good governance
in communities, they are not separable issues. You have to have
public safety because young people do not learn, parents do not
parent and leaders do not lead in an environment of chaos.

Senator Cowan: We have had some evidence before us and a
number of witnesses who have expressed concern that mandatory
minimum penalties would have a disproportionate effect upon
Canadian Aboriginals. Those witnesses have said that the threat
of a minimum sentence does not do anything to address the root
causes of Aboriginal offending and will merely lead to more
Aboriginal people being sent to jail for longer and longer periods
of time. That particular quotation is from Jonathan Rudin of the
Aboriginal Legal Services of Toronto. I am sure you know him.
Similar views have been expressed to us yesterday morning by
Dr. Roberts, a professor of criminology at the University of
Oxford and in the brief by the Canadian Bar Association.

la réinsertion et cela figure dans le Code criminel, a savoir, tenir
compte de l'origine autochtone de I’accusé avant I’envoyer en
prison.

Le fait que la majorité des personnes qui se retrouvent devant
les tribunaux ne sont pas violents me préoccupe. Ces personnes se
retrouvent la a cause d’autres articles du Code criminel, et je ne
dis pas qu’elles n’ont pas été déclarées coupables en respectant
les formes. Ce sont en fait les délinquants violents récidivistes
chroniques qui constituent le probléme. Il y a non seulement les
pensionnats, mais il y a aussi I'idée des gangs. Les relations entre
les gangs constituent un phénomeéne. J’ai grandi en Saskatchewan
et il y avait de nombreuses réserves a proximité; ce n’était pas
un phénoméne a cette époque. Il y a beaucoup d’Anciens qui
me disent que cela semble étre un phénomeéne « moderne ».
Comment peut-on s’attaquer a ce probléme?

M. Reti : Nous le voyons de plus en plus, en particulier au
Manitoba et je crois, un peu en Saskatchewan. Les gangs ne sont
pas un phénomeéne qui touche uniquement les grands centres. Il 'y
en a maintenant dans les petites collectivités. Je me trouvais, il y a
plus de 15 ans, dans une collectivité d’Island Lake, au Manitoba,
dont la population venait de doubler. C’est une collectivité de
9 000 personnes, une communauté isolée qu’on ne peut atteindre
que par avion. Je me souviens qu’un spécialiste des gangs
est arrivé la collectivité et il a dit, « Il y a des graffitis dans la
collectivité ». Je me suis mis a rire et j’ai dit « Il n’y a pas de gang
dans la collectivité ». Je ne savais pas qu’il y avait des jeunes qui
allaient a I’école dans le sud et qui subissaient ce genre d’influence.
L’école locale ne donnait des cours que jusqu’en dixiéme année et
ensuite, les éléves allaient étudier dans le Sud. Ils revenaient
ensuite dans leur collectivité mais certains d’entre eux avaient été
envoyés en prison et étaient devenus des membres d’un gang et
conservaient ce statut dans la collectivité. On peut presque dire
aujourd’hui que cela menace la gouvernance dans certaines
collectivités. La grande différence entre les activités d’un gang
dans une petite communauté et dans une grande est que dans les
petites, ces activités touchent de beaucoup plus prés le tissu
social et la gouvernance. Lorsque je parle aux gens de bonne
gouvernance dans les collectivités, il faut que je parle des gangs
parce que ces questions sont inextricablement liées. I1 faut assurer
la sécurité de la population parce que les jeunes ne peuvent pas
apprendre, les parents ne peuvent pas élever leurs enfants et les
chefs ne peuvent pas diriger leur collectivité lorsqu’il y a le chaos.

Le sénateur Cowan : Nous disposons de certains éléments qui
indiquent, comme ’ont affirmé un certain nombre de témoins,
que les peines minimales obligatoires auraient un effet
disproportionné sur les Canadiens autochtones. Ces témoins ont
affirmé que la menace de recevoir une peine minimale n’avait
aucun effet sur les causes profondes de la criminalité des
Autochtones et allaient simplement avoir pour effet
d’augmenter le nombre d’Autochtones qui sont envoyés en
prison pour des périodes de plus en plus longues. Cette citation
est tirée de I’exposé de Jonathan Rudin des Aboriginal Legal
Services of Toronto. Je suis sir que vous le connaissez. Hier
matin, M. Roberts, professeur de criminologie de I’Université
d’Oxford et ’Association du Barreau canadien nous ont présenté
des points de vue semblables.
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There are two parts to my question. First, do you believe
mandatory minimum sentences have a deterrent effect? Second,
we have mandatory minimum sentencing now in the Criminal
Code, and we are seeking to expand the scope. Have you seen and
do you and anticipate that you will see a disproportionate effect
on Aboriginal Canadians, and if you do, why, and if you do not,
why?

Mr. Reti: We already know that Aboriginal people have more
of a chance of being charged or more of a chance of going to jail.
I think it is said in some communities that a young Aboriginal
person has more of a chance of going to jail than graduating from
high school. I guess the logical next step would be to assume that,
perhaps, Aboriginal people would likely be more readily
identified as dangerous offenders. Do mandatory sentences,
longer sentences and so forth have an effect on Aboriginal
people as a deterrent? I suppose it would act as a deterrent for
some. For many others, I do not think it would matter. When you
do not care about yourself, you have no self-esteem or identity; it
does not matter. I do not think it would get a tremendous effect.
It might with some, but with many others it would not. We have
many people walking around our communities who do not care
what happens to them.

To give an example, often when we look at cultivating sources
and so forth, we will use leverages of charges and that type of
thing. To many Aboriginal offenders, that does not matter.
Having a criminal record does not matter because they still get a
job in the community with a criminal record. If I have no
aspirations and there are no jobs here anyway, what are the
implications at the end of the day? For some, it does have an
impact. For a large majority, I do not think it does.

Senator Cowan: Mr. McCowan, there are a number of
minimum sentences proposed in Bill C-2 which are one-year
imprisonment and that would have an impact on provincial jail
populations. What discussions have you had with your provincial
and territorial counterparts with respect to that expected increase?

Mr. McCowan: The short answer is if those discussions have
occurred, they would have happened through the Department of
Justice Canada. We would not have been involved in them
directly. The focus for mandatory minimum penalties has been to
look at it through our own operation.

Senator Cowan: Are you aware of any discussions?

Mr. McCowan: I am not aware of any discussions my
Department of Justice colleagues have had. They may well have
happened, but I am not aware of them.

Senator Cowan: Do you know of any funding transferred
between governments with respect to this situation?

Mr. McCowan: It could well be, but I do not know.

Senator Cowan: Mr. Toller, when you gave evidence in
November 2006 before the House of Commons committee
dealing with the predecessor of this bill, you expressed concern

Ma question comporte deux parties. Premiérement, pensez-
vous que les peines minimales obligatoires ont un effet dissuasif?
Deuxiémement, le Code criminel prévoit déja des peines
minimales obligatoires et nous cherchons a en élargir la portée.
Pensez-vous que cela aura un effet disproportionné sur les
Canadiens autochtones, si c’est le cas, pourquoi et si ce n’est
pas le cas, pourquoi?

M. Reti : Nous savons déja que les Autochtones sont plus
fréquemment inculpés ou plus fréquemment emprisonnés. On dit
dans certaines collectivités qu’un jeune Autochtone a plus de
chance de se retrouver en prison que de terminer ses études
secondaires. J'imagine que logiquement, I’étape suivante consiste
a dire que les Autochtones risquent plus que les autres d’étre
déclarés délinquants dangereux. Est-ce que les peines obligatoires,
les peines plus longues ont un effet sur les Autochtones a titre de
mesures dissuasives? Je suppose que cela peut avoir un effet
dissuasif sur certaines personnes. Pour la plupart des autres, je ne
pense pas que cela ait un effet. Quand on se fiche de ce qui peut
arriver, on n’a aucune estime de soi ni identité; rien n’est
important. Je ne pense pas que cela aurait un effet important.
Peut-étre avec certains, mais avec beaucoup d’autres, cela n’aurait
aucun effet. Il y a beaucoup de gens dans nos collectivités qui ne
se soucient absolument pas de ce qui peut leur arriver.

Pour vous donner un exemple, lorsque nous essayons d’amener
les délinquants autochtones a reprendre contact avec leurs
racines, nous utilisons parfois les accusations portées contre eux
et ce genre de choses. Mais pour de nombreux délinquants
autochtones, cela n’a aucun effet. Peu leur importe d’avoir un
casier judiciaire parce qu’ils peuvent quand méme obtenir un
travail dans les collectivités en ayant un casier judiciaire. Si je n’ai
aucun but dans ma vie et que je peux, de toute facon, avoir du
travail, qu’est-ce que cela veut dire, en fin de compte? Pour
certains, cela a un effet, mais pour I'immense majorité, je ne pense
pas que cela ait un effet.

Le sénateur Cowan : Monsieur McCowan, le projet de loi C-2
prévoit un certain nombre de peines minimales d’un an de prison
et cela aurait un effet sur la population carcérale provinciale.
Quelles discussions avez-vous eues avec vos homologues
provinciaux et territoriaux au sujet de I’augmentation prévue?

M. McCowan : Je vous répondrai en vous disant que, s’il y a eu
des discussions, elles ont eu lieu avec le ministére de la Justice du
Canada. Nous n’y aurions pas participé directement. Nous avons
examiné la question des peines minimales obligatoires du point de
vue du fonctionnement de notre organisation.

Le sénateur Cowan : Savez-vous s’il y a eu des discussions?

M. McCowan : Je ne suis pas au courant des discussions que
mes collégues du ministére de la Justice ont pu avoir. Il est
possible qu’il y en ait eu, mais je ne suis pas au courant.

Le sénateur Cowan : Savez-vous s’il y a eu des transferts de
fonds entre les gouvernements au sujet de cette situation?
M. McCowan : C’est possible, mais je ne le sais pas.

Le sénateur Cowan : Monsieur Toller, lorsque vous avez
témoigné en novembre 2006 devant le comité de la Chambre
des communes qui examinait le prédécesseur de ce projet de loi,
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about the lack of prison facilities, recognizing the number of
Aboriginals in the system and the number of Aboriginals who live
in the North or more remote communities. You expressed
concern about the lack of prison facilities in those communities.
You said that there was no federal capacity in Nunavut but there
is an institution near Toronto that was crafted specifically to deal
with Nunavut offenders. Has there been any change since you
spoke in 2006? Have any facilities been constructed?

Mr. Toller: No, there have not been in Nunavut. We have
developed a northern correctional framework with Nunavut
government officials to look at increasing community capacity.
We have identified the need for community resources. Some
halfway houses returned to the community, but in terms of an
actual facility, no.

Nunavut does have the Baffin Correctional Centre located in
Iqaluit. We have shared a number of programs and assisted them
in the development of modernizing their processes and a number
of reviews to aid support to them in that particular area.
However, as far as an actual facility, the answer is no.

Senator Cowan: Are there any plans for such a facility?
Mr. Toller: Not at this time, no.

Senator Oliver: We are here to study Bill C-2, and we are
interested in knowing how Bill C-2 affects the Correctional
Service of Canada. There are two provisions of the bill that
might do that: mandatory minimum penalties for crimes involving
firearms and the proposed dangerous offender provisions. In your
overview you described who you are, what you do, what your
payroll is, how many employees you have and so on. You looked
at these two provisions and concluded that they are basically a
matter of money. The information you have about how you will
be funded for this new increase is still a matter of cabinet
confidence, so you cannot tell us those figures. However, you
concluded by saying that money has been advanced.

As I understand it, in Budget 2007, $102 million was provided
to you over two years so that you could begin to address some of
the requirements that flow from this proposed legislation. You
told us that you would use this money to address some of the
immediate infrastructure issues, to begin work toward
implementing the mental health strategy for offenders and to
provide training and protection, et cetera. You mentioned that
you were pleased with the new Mental Health Commission of
Canada and that you want to work with them.

vous avez exprimé certaines inquiétudes au sujet du manque de
locaux carcéraux, compte tenu du nombre des Autochtones qui se
trouvent dans le systéme et du nombre des Autochtones qui vivent
dans le Nord ou dans des collectivités isolées. Vous avez exprimé
des préoccupations au sujet du manque d’installations carcérales
dans ces collectivités. Vous avez dit qu’il n’y avait aucun centre de
détention fédérale au Nunavut et qu’'un établissement situé a
proximité de Toronto avait été congu spécialement pour accueillir
les délinquants du Nunavut. Y a-t-il eu des changements depuis
que vous nous avez dit cela en 20067 A-t-on construit des
établissements?

M. Toller : Non, il n’y en a pas eu au Nunavut. Nous avons
mis sur pied un cadre correctionnel pour le Nord avec des
fonctionnaires du gouvernement du Nunavut pour examiner la
possibilité d’augmenter cette capacité dans les collectivités. Nous
avons constaté la nécessité d’augmenter les ressources des
collectivités. Certains foyers de transition ont été récupérés par
la collectivité mais pour ce qui est d’un véritable établissement,
non.

Il y a, au Nunavut, le Centre correctionnel de Baffin a Iqaluit.
Nous avons mis en commun un certain nombre de programmes et
les avons aidés a moderniser leurs processus et a effectuer un
certain nombre d’examens pour les aider dans ce domaine.
Cependant, pour ce qui est de la construction dun établissement,
la réponse est qu’il n’y en a pas eu.

Le sénateur Cowan : Est-il prévu d’en construire un?
M. Toller : Pas pour le moment, non.

Le sénateur Oliver : Nous étudions le projet de loi C-2 et nous
aimerions savoir comment le projet de loi C-2 va toucher le
Service correctionnel du Canada. Le projet de loi contient deux
dispositions qui pourraient avoir cet effet. Les peines minimales
obligatoires pour les crimes commis a 1’aide d’une arme a feu et le
projet de disposition relative aux délinquants dangereux. Dans
votre exposé général, vous avez décrit votre organisation, votre
mission, votre budget, et le nombre des employés qui travaillent
dans ce service. Vous avez examiné ces deux dispositions et avez
conclu que c’était principalement une question d’argent.
L’information que vous possédez au sujet du financement de
cette nouvelle augmentation fait encore partie des renseignements
confidentiels du Cabinet de sorte que vous ne pouvez nous fournir
ces chiffres. Vous avez toutefois déclaré que vous aviez obtenu des
fonds.

D’apres ce que j’ai compris, dans le budget 2007, on vous a
fourni 102 millions de dollars sur deux ans pour que vous puissiez
commencer a vous préparer aux conséquences que risque
d’entrainer ce projet de loi. Vous nous avez dit que vous alliez
utiliser ces fonds pour répondre aux besoins immédiats en matiére
d’infrastructure, pour commencer a mettre en ceuvre une stratégie
de santé mentale pour les détenus, pour leur fournir formation et
protection, et cetera. Vous avez mentionné que vous étiez satisfait
de la création de la nouvelle commission de la santé mentale du
Canada et que vous vouliez travailler avec elle.
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Since you have some confidential cabinet information of the
possibility of more money should Bill C-2 pass — and we hope
that it does — what are your main concerns with Bill C-2?

Mr. McCowan: I take your point that finances are only one
element.

Senator Oliver: I understand that that was looked after in
Budget 2007 and that there is more to come, but it is confidential.

Mr. McCowan: That is right. There are two aspects to this.

Senator Cowan: Do not spend it yet.

Mr. McCowan: In Budget 2007, the government provided
$102 million to address our most urgent critical integrity issues.
It was an infusion of resources to stabilize the organization,
and it was done over two years to allow for an independent
review of CSC. That review has been completed and the report
came out in December.

Senator Oliver: It made 109 recommendations.

Mr. McCowan: Yes, you are right, and we are awaiting the
government’s response to that report. In terms of the financial
integrity of the organization, there was a much needed infusion of
money in Budget 2007, and we are awaiting the government’s
response to the recommendations of the independent panel.

The second aspect has to do with specific increases that might
be associated with a population increase as a result of Bill C-2.
Those are the figures that I gave at the outset of my presentation.
I apologize if I did not make a clear delineation between those two
issues, but that is the framework I was advancing.

Mr. Toller may want to address the non-financial impacts
of Bill C-2. It is in the context of our changing offender
population — more gangs, more mental health.

Mr. Toller: Some of the figures speak to the need for increased
bed space at both maximum- and medium- security levels, as we
alluded to previously when discussing minimum mandatory
sentences. That is where that dollar figure came from; we did
our extrapolations based on what we anticipated CSC would
require to respond to a change in Bill C-2.

Senator Oliver: Even though you are a corrections agency, you
realize the importance of having laws passed in Canada that will
protect the public and provide for public safety. With that
understanding, are the three of you generally in agreement with
the thrust of Bill C-2?

Etant donné que vous possédez certains renseignements
confidentiels du Cabinet au sujet de la possibilité de recevoir
davantage de fonds dans le cas ou le projet de loi C-2 serait
adopté — nous espérons qu’il le sera — quelles sont les
principales préoccupations que souléve pour vous le projet de
loi C-2?

M. McCowan : Je prends note de votre remarque selon laquelle
I’aspect financier n’est qu'un aspect parmi d’autres.

Le sénateur Oliver : Je crois comprendre que cela a été pris en
compte dans le budget 2007 et que vous recevrez davantage de
fonds mais que cela est confidentiel.

M. McCowan : C’est exact. Cette question comporte deux
aspects.

Le sénateur Cowan : Ne dépensez pas tout de suite ces fonds.

M. McCowan : Dans le budget 2007, le gouvernement nous a
fourni 102 millions de dollars pour résoudre nos problémes
d’intégrité les plus urgents et les plus critiques. C’est une injection
de ressources destinées a stabiliser ’organisation et cela se fait sur
deux ans pour permettre un examen indépendant du SCC. Cet
examen est achevé et le rapport a été publié en décembre.

Le sénateur Oliver : Il contient 109 recommandations.

M. McCowan : Oui, vous avez raison, et nous attendons la
réponse du gouvernement a ce rapport. Pour ce qui est de
I'intégrité financiére de I'organisation, nous avions regu grace au
budget 2007 une injection de fonds qui était bien nécessaire et
nous attendons la réponse que le gouvernement va apporter aux
recommandations du comité indépendant.

Le second aspect concerne les augmentations de cofts
susceptibles d’étre attribuées a une augmentation de la
population découlant de 'application du projet de loi C-2. Ce
sont les chiffres que je vous ai fournis au début de mon exposé.
Je vous demande de m’excuser si je n’ai pas bien distingué ces
deux aspects mais c’est le cadre que je vous ai présenté.

M. Toller souhaite peut-étre aborder les aspects non financiers
du projet de loi C-2. Il faut replacer cela dans le contexte d’une
population carcérale en évolution — davantage de membres de
gang, davantage de problemes de santé mentale.

M. Toller : Certains chiffres concernent la nécessité
d’augmenter le nombre de lits tant dans les établissements a
sécurité maximale que moyenne, comme nous y avons fait
allusion précédemment lorsque nous avons parlé des peines
minimales obligatoires. C’est de 1a que vient ce chiffre; nous avons
fait des projections en nous basant sur ce dont le SCC aurait
besoin pour tenir compte des changements découlant du projet de
loi C-2.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous étes une agence correctionnelle et
vous reconnaissez I'importance qu’il y ait au Canada des lois qui
protégent la population et en assurent la sécurité. Dans ce
contexte, étes-vous tous les trois, d’une fagon générale, favorables
a l'effet du projet de loi C-2?
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Mr. McCowan: This is a Criminal Code amendment.
I understand that the Department of Justice people have given
their best advice to you with regard to the proposed changes to
the Criminal Code.

CSC operates within the legislative framework of the day. We
are guided by Parliament on the appropriate legislative
framework, and we operate within it, whatever it may be.

Senator Oliver: You are a $2-billion operation, and that money
comes from the government.

Mr. McCowan: Yes.

Senator Oliver: You say that on any given day there
are 21,000 offenders under your care and approximately
12,700 incarcerated. Of the 12,700, what percentages would be
what the government calls visible minorities and what percentage
would be Black people? Are Black people disproportionately
represented in your system?

Mr. McCowan: I understand that this issue came up at an
earlier session of this committee, and we do have some numbers
to offer you. Our information, based on data from a week or so
ago, is that approximately 7.2 per cent of the incarcerated
population is Black and 6.0 per cent of supervised offenders are
Black.

Senator Oliver: That adds up to 13.2 per cent.

Mr. McCowan: That is 7.2 per cent of the incarcerated
population and 6 per cent of the supervised population, and
they are separate populations.

Senator Oliver: Does that mean that Blacks are
disproportionately represented?

Mr. McCowan: I do not have the statistics for the Canadian
population as a whole, so I cannot guide you in comparing that to
the population as a whole.

Senator Campbell: Thank you very much for coming today.
Will the prison population increase if Bill C-2 passes?

Mr. McCowan: Yes.

Senator Campbell: You currently have a budget of about
$1.8 billion. Of that, 1.5 per cent, or $27 million, goes to core
programming. If I heard you correctly, core programming,
which includes mental health, gangs, and other issues within
the corrections system, is important, if not paramount, to the
release of inmates into society to be rehabilitated.

I have only heard about increase in beds and increase in size.
It reminds me of the privatization of the American penal system.
I am more concerned about the people coming out of jail. If
1.5 per cent of the budget goes to core programming, what are we
doing to train these people to help them with the issues that get
them into prison in the first place? How do we help them so they
do not come back as dangerous offenders?

M. McCowan : C’est une modification au Code criminel. Je
crois savoir que les fonctionnaires du ministére de la Justice vous
ont fourni des conseils au sujet des changements proposés au
Code criminel.

Le SCC fonctionne a l'intérieur du cadre législatif qui est le
sien. C’est le Parlement qui définit notre cadre 1égislatif et nous
fonctionnons a l'intérieur de ce cadre, quel qu’il soit.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous avez un budget de deux milliards de
dollars et cet argent vient du gouvernement.

M. McCowan : Oui.

Le sénateur Oliver : Vous dites que tous les jours, vous
vous occupez de 21 000 délinquants dont 12 700 environ sont
incarcérés. Parmi ces 12 700 détenus, quels sont les pourcentages
correspondants a ce que le gouvernement appelle les minorités
visibles et les Noirs? Les Noirs sont-ils représentés de fagon
disproportionnée dans votre systéme?

M. McCowan : Je crois savoir que cette question a été soulevée
a une réunion antérieure du comité et nous pouvons effectivement
vous fournir certains chiffres. D’aprés notre information, qui est
fondée sur des données remontant a une semaine environ, il y a
environ 7,2 p. 100 de la population carcérale qui est de race noire
et 6,0 p. 100 des délinquants surveillés sont des Noirs.

Le sénateur Oliver : Cela donne en tout 13,2 p. 100.

M. McCowan : Ils représentent 7,2 p. 100 de la population
carcérale et 6 p. 100 de la population sous surveillance. Ce sont
deux populations distinctes.

Le sénateur Oliver : Cela veut-il dire que les Noirs sont
représentés de fagon disproportionnée?

M. McCowan : Je n’ai pas les chiffres pour I’ensemble de la
population canadienne et je ne peux donc pas vous aider a faire
des comparaisons entre les Noirs et ’ensemble de la population.

Le sénateur Campbell : Merci d’étre venus aujourd’hui. La
population carcérale va-t-elle augmenter si le projet de loi projet
de loi C-2 est adopté?

M. McCowan : Oui.

Le sénateur Campbell : Vous disposez a I’heure actuelle d’un
budget d’environ 1,8 milliards de dollars. Environ 1,5 p. 100 de ce
budget, soit 27 millions de dollars, est consacré aux programmes
de base. Si je vous ai bien compris, les programmes de base, qui
comprennent la santé mentale, les gangs et d’autres aspects du
systéme correctionnel, sont importants, voire essentiels, si ’on
veut remettre en liberté dans la société des détenus réadaptés.

J’ai uniquement entendu parler d’'une augmentation du nombre
de lits et de la taille des établissements. Cela me fait penser a la
privatisation du systéme pénal américain. Je m’inquiéte davantage
des détenus qui sont libérés. Si 1,5 p. 100 de votre budget est
consacré a vos programmes de base, que faisons-nous pour
former ces personnes pour les aider a régler les problémes qui les
ont amenés initialement en prison? Que faisons-nous pour les
aider a ne pas devenir des délinquants dangereux?
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Mr. Toller: In terms of core programming, when you get into
the numbers that are sometimes cited in different circles and by
different groups, we allot $37 million to core programming. This
figure involves direct program delivery officers. Separate from
that are the health care budgets that are allotments with
psychiatric nursing and social worker nurses. In addition, there
is case management, rehabilitation, psychology and psychiatry.
I must couch the programs in a broader frame, if I may. I believe
the OCI mentioned $27 million, but that figure is actually
$37 million.

Your point about the programs is extremely important.
Obviously, the correctional system is all about correcting the
behaviour. When we talked earlier at a committee relative to our
presentations on minimum mandatory sentences, our costing
assumptions included programming as well. It was not only about
bed spaces but also about the type of offender that we would look
at and how to address his needs, as you described, both at the
front and at the back end.

For CSC, obviously the question is about public safety. On any
given day and in any institution, you will find some inmates
undergoing education; some taking programs for substance
abuse, aggression and anger management; and some for spousal
and family violence. The programming segment is critical to the
success of public safety and is embedded in all of our costing
assumptions.

Senator Campbell: With regard to the tools used to assess risk
and the needs, how are they evaluated? I will give you an example.
One witness told us that there is evidence that some tools continue
to impose higher than necessary security classifications and results
in some offenders, particularly women and Aboriginal offenders,
being unnecessarily placed in higher security institutions than the
situation warrants.

How do you evaluate these tools to ensure that this is not the
case regarding these two groups?

Mr. McCowan: The short answer is that we are always
evaluating our tools, which are empirically based. We look at
them regularly through our research branch to ensure that they
are doing the work that they are designed to do. For example,
with respect to Aboriginal offenders, we have had work done on
that in the past; there is work being done this year in terms of this
year’s research plan. To date, the results have shown that our
tools are valid in terms of assessing risks for the population as a
whole, including Aboriginal offenders. We are constantly in the
frame of asking ourselves the question: Given that the population
is always evolving, do we have it right? Is it still a valid tool? Is it
still doing the job in terms of being an effective guide for assessing
public safety?

M. Toller : Pour ce qui est des programmes de base, pour ce
qui est des chiffres qui sont parfois cités dans différents milieux et
par différents groupes, je peux vous dire que nous affectons 37
millions de dollars aux programmes de base. Ce chiffre comprend
la rémunération des agents qui offrent directement ces
programmes. Il y a en plus les budgets de santé mentale qui
comprennent des fonds pour les soins infirmiers psychiatriques et
les travailleurs sociaux. De plus, il y a la gestion des cas, la
réadaptation, la psychologie et la psychiatrie. J’estime qu’il y a
lieu d’¢élargir cette notion de programme, si vous le permettez. Je
pense que le BEC a parlé de 27 millions de dollars, mais ce chiffre
est en fait de 37 millions de dollars.

La remarque que vous avez faite au sujet des programmes est
extrémement importante. Bien évidemment, le Service
correctionnel a pour but de corriger le comportement des
détenus. Lorsque nous avons présenté, il y a quelques temps, un
exposé¢ devant un comité au sujet des peines minimales
obligatoires, nos hypotheéses de colit concernaient également les
programmes. Il ne s’agissait pas seulement du nombre de lits mais
également du genre de délinquants qui seraient admis et de la
facon de répondre a leurs besoins, comme vous 1’avez dit, aussi
bien au début qu’a la fin.

Pour le SCC, l'essentiel est évidemment la sécurité de la
population. Tous les jours, dans tous les établissements, il y a des
détenus qui regoivent une formation; certains suivent des
programmes pour toxicomanie, pour la gestion de l’agression,
de la colére et d’autres pour la violence conjugale et familiale. Le
volet programme est un élément essentiel de la sécurité de la
population et il est inclus dans toutes nos hypothéses de coft.

Le sénateur Campbell : Les outils utilisés pour évaluer le risque
et les besoins sont-ils validés? Je vais vous donner un exemple. Un
témoin nous a dit qu’il existait des éléments indiquant qu’avec
certains outils, on continuait a établir des classifications
sécuritaires plus élevés que nécessaires et que, par conséquent,
certains délinquants, en particulier les femmes et les délinquants
autochtones, étaient placés dans des établissements ayant un
niveau de sécurité supérieur a ce qu’exigeait la situation.

Comment validez-vous ces outils pour éviter que ce genre de
chose arrive a ces deux groupes?

M. McCowan : Je peux vous répondre bri¢vement en disant
que nous validons constamment nos outils, qui sont de nature
empirique. Notre service de recherche les examine réguliérement
pour veiller a ce qu’ils donnent les résultats qu’ils doivent donner.
Par exemple, pour ce qui est des délinquants autochtones, nous
avons déja travaillé sur cet aspect; nous allons poursuivre ce
travail cette année car cela fait partie de notre programme de
recherche de cette année. Jusqu’ici, les résultats montrent que nos
outils permettent effectivement d’évaluer le risque que pose
I’ensemble des détenus, y compris les délinquants autochtones;
nous nous posons constamment la question suivante : étant
donné que la population carcérale est en évolution constante,
avons-nous les bons outils? Ces outils sont-ils toujours valides?
Ces outils sont-ils toujours un guide efficace pour ce qui est
d’évaluer la sécurité de la population?
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Mr. Toller: I mentioned earlier about the specific Aboriginal
piece that we look at. There are some tools that we use, but it is
also the comprehensive factors that we gather. We look at
everything from history of involvement in past institutions, the
age at the time of sentencing, alcohol and drug use, street stability
and gang affiliation to previous periods of parole and release. It
all comes in with both a clinical perspective as well as an overall
look at aggravating, mitigating factors. The tools are but one area
that gets us into a zone.

As Mr. McCowan pointed out, a couple of years ago, we
actually revamped the tools for security reclassification for
women. We are now still undertaking, as was pointed out, to
look at the classification tool for women offenders themselves.
That continues to be under review. There is international research
out there looking at this specifically in relation to correctional
systems. We are anxiously awaiting those results and will make
adjustments if need be.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: According to the information we
have received, we know that Aboriginals offenders are
overrepresented in our jails. The bill, which has been referred to
us, proposes to increase the penalties for dangerous offenders, as
well as the duration of those penalties, which would, in my view,
cause an increase in the prison population.

Knowing this, and taking to account the fact that this
population is not yet ready to heard as you said a while ago,
how can we think of setting up rehabilitation programs to give
some hope to Aboriginals when the healing as not even yet
happened?

With this type of legislation, do not you think it would be
useful to recommend that specific program at the Aboriginal
population be developed?

I suggest this idea and I would like to have your opinion on
that.

[English]

Mr. Reti: Senator Chaput, I would agree with you that there is
a certain population that, perhaps, is not ready to heal. However,
once in contact with the justice system, they might find that at
that point in their lives they will want to begin to heal. It is
important that we have both the facilities and the appropriate
programming for those people who make that decision.

As I said earlier, legislation and the enforcement thereof is only
one component of dealing with these different issues. Early
intervention, diversion, and all those different components must

M. Toller : J’ai parlé, il y a un instant, de cet aspect particulier
qui concerne les Autochtones et que nous avons examiné. Nous
utilisons effectivement certains outils mais il faut également tenir
compte des facteurs généraux que nous prenons en considération.
Nous tenons compte de tout, depuis les s¢jours antérieurs dans les
établissements, ’age au moment de la détermination de la peine,
la consommation d’alcool et de drogue, la stabilité du détenu
lorsqu’il est en liberté, son appartenance a un gang jusqu’aux
périodes antérieures de libération conditionnelle et de mise en
liberté. Tous ces ¢léments sont examinés dun point de vue
clinique et aussi d’'un point de vue général pour rechercher les
facteurs aggravants et atténuants. Les outils ne sont qu'un des
¢éléments qui nous amenent a effectuer une évaluation.

Comme I’a fait remarquer M. McCowan, nous avons
effectivement révisé, il y a quelques années, les outils utilisés
pour la réévaluation de niveau de sécurité des femmes. Nous
sommes encore en train d’examiner, comme cela a été mentionné,
les outils d’évaluation utilisés pour les délinquantes. Ces aspects
continuent d’étre révisés. Il se fait a I’heure actuelle de la
recherche a I’échelle internationale sur ce point précis en rapport
avec le systéme correctionnel. Nous avons héate d’obtenir les
résultats de ces études et procéderons a des ajustements si cela est
nécessaire.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Chaput : D’apres les informations qui nous ont
été remises, nous savons qu’il y a une surreprésentation de
délinquants d’origine autochtone dans nos prisons. Le projet de
loi, qui est devant nous, aborde la question d’augmenter les peines
pour les délinquants dangereux ainsi que la durée de ces peines, ce
qui résulterait en une augmentation de la population carcérale,
d’apres moi.

Sachant cela et considérant le fait que cette population n’est
pas encore préte a guérir, comme vous nous l'avez dit tout a
I’heure, comment pouvons-nous penser a mettre sur pied des
programmes de réhabilitation pour donner espoir aux
Autochtones alors que la guérison n’a méme pas encore eu lieu?

Parallélement a ce type de projet de loi, la recommandation
d’un programme spécifique aux besoins de la population
autochtone ne serait-il pas souhaitable?

Je lance I'idée comme ¢a et j’apprécierais votre opinion a ce
sujet.

[Traduction]

M. Reti : Sénateur Chaput, je suis d’accord avec vous lorsque
vous dites qu’il y a une partie de la population carcérale qui n’est
peut-étre pas préte a guérir. Cependant, lorsque ces détenus sont
en contact avec le systéme judiciaire, ils vont peut-étre se dire que
le moment est venu de commencer a guérir. Il est important que
nous ayons a la fois des locaux et des programmes appropriés
pour les personnes qui prennent cette décision.

Comme je I’ai dit plus tot, les dispositions législatives et leur
mise en application ne constituent qu’un aspect de ces différents
problémes. Les interventions précoces, la déjudiciarisation et tous
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also be strongly emphasized. Especially, as my colleagues
mentioned, that there is an anticipated increase, there will likely
be a need for addition programming.

Senator Chaput: Would you be able to give us examples of
concrete programming? That is, according to your experience,
things that work better with the Aboriginal population.

Mr. Reti: The things that seem to work well and that seem to
have sustainability in a community — and I am talking before
they get into the system — are those things where the community
is fully engaged and takes ownership of the program. I often talk
to other officers about coming into the community and initiating
programs, whether crime prevention programs or different
activities in the community such as hockey or what not.
I always ask the question: What are you leaving the community
with? It must be sustainable.

When you go into a community, it is important for the
community to take ownership over those things so that when that
police officer or that service provider leaves, that program does
not fail. The programs that seem to work well have strong
community ownership. There is no single thing that works.

To give you an example, we initiated a suicide intervention
program. It was a grandiose program where we went into
communities and taught people about suicide prevention, and so
on. Arguably, it has some effect in the community as it trains
people to better identify and deal with people who may have
suicidal tendencies.

I was recently at a conference where a school secretary
produced a little yellow card. All that the card said was “I am
having thoughts of suicide. I am struggling in my life right now.
Would you call this number?” It was a consistent number. When
people come forward, often they do not want to talk about those
issues. In this case, all they had to do was lay the card down and
the person in front of them would make the call so that they could
get some help. The secretary talked about how that decreased
suicide in the community. It was not a grandiose program; it was
a simple solution in the community, but it was effective and it
worked.

As I mentioned before, there is no single thing that works. The
important thing is that the community is engaged in that solution
and that the community take some ownership over it and focus on
the process and not on the solution. If you work with the
community, take ownership over those issues. Do not hand it off
to them and let them flounder. You need to nurture communities
along.

ces différents éléments doivent étre également privilégiés. En
particulier, comme mes collégues 1’ont mentionné, étant donné
que I'on prévoit une augmentation de cette population, il faudra
probablement offrir des programmes supplémentaires.

Le sénateur Chaput : Pourriez-vous nous donner des exemples
de programmes concrets? C’est-a-dire de ceux qui, d’aprés votre
expérience, donnent de bons résultats avec la population
autochtone.

M. Reti : Le genre de choses qui semblent donner de bons
résultats et qui paraissent susceptibles de durer dans une
collectivité — et la, je parle avant que les délinquants soient
pris en charge par le systéme — sont des programmes auxquels
la collectivité participe pleinement et qui va jusqu’'a se les
approprier. Je parle souvent aux autres policiers de lancer de
programmes dans une collectivité, qu’il s’agisse de programmes de
prévention de la criminalité ou d’autres activités comme le
hockey, par exemple. Je pose toujours la question suivante :
qu’allez-vous laisser a la collectivité? Il faut que la collectivité
puisse continuer a offrir le programme par la suite.

Lorsqu’on intervient dans une collectivité, il est important que
celle-ci prenne en charge ce genre d’activités de fagon a ce que,
lorsque I’agent de police, ou le fournisseur de services s’en va, le
programme ne s’arréte pas. Les programmes qui semblent donner
de bons résultats sont étroitement intégrés a la collectivité. Il n’y a
pas de solution unique.

Pour vous donner un exemple, nous avons lancé un
programme de prévention du suicide. C’était un programme
grandiose dans lequel les policiers se rendaient dans diverses
collectivités pour parler a la population de prévention du suicide.
On peut affirmer qu’il a eu un certain effet dans la collectivité
parce qu’il a permis a la population de mieux identifier les
tendances suicidaires et de mieux interagir avec les personnes qui
en ont.

Jai assisté récemment a une conférence au cours de laquelle
une secrétaire d’école a sorti une petite carte jaune. Cette carte
disait uniquement ceci : « Je pense au suicide. J’ai beaucoup de
problémes a 1’heure actuelle. Pourriez-vous composer ce
numéro? » C’était un numéro unique. Il y a des gens qui sont
préts a demander de I’aide, mais qui, bien souvent, ne veulent pas
parler de leurs problémes. Dans ce cas-ci, tout ce qu’ils avaient a
faire était de déposer cette carte et la personne devant eux
s’occuperait de composer le numéro pour qu’ils aient accés a de
l’aide. La secrétaire a expliqué que cela avait réduit sensiblement
le nombre des suicides dans la collectivité. Ce n’était pas un
programme grandiose; ¢’était une solution toute simple, mais elle
était efficace et elle a donné de bons résultats.

Comme je I’ai déja mentionné, il n’y a pas de solution unique.
L’important est que la collectivité adopte la solution proposée,
qu’elle se charge de la mettre en ceuvre et s’intéresse au processus
plus qu’a la solution. Lorsque vous travaillez avec une collectivité,
il faut prendre en charge ces aspects. Il ne faut pas se contenter de
les confier a la collectivité et de la laisser avec ces problémes. Il
faut aider les collectivités a progresser.
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For instance, the justice system has been taken away from our
communities for so long; to immediately hand it back is almost
irresponsible in some ways. It must be a partnership. I cannot tell
you about any one thing that works.

To give an example, the community cadet corps in Hobbema
worked for some kids but not all. There are some kids who
gravitated towards that program. Interestingly, young Aboriginal
females seemed to be attracted to that program, which I never
expected. The most vulnerable and high-risk group of people in
our community is young mothers and it was encouraging to see
them attracted to something like a youth corps.

There is no single thing, but it must have community
ownership and it must be community driven.

The Chair: Mr. McCowan, in your presentation, you said that
the five-year projection is an increase in inmate population of
270 because of the mandatory minimum penalties, and roughly
35 because of dangerous offender rules. Let us say that leaves us
at roughly 300 more inmates over the next five years.

As you are aware, there have been predictions that the increase
in the number of people incarcerated would be significantly higher
than that figure. Can you tell us upon which numbers these
assumptions were based?

Mr. McCowan: Generally, the process we go through in terms
of determining assessments is actually quite formal. We work with
our partners in terms of other government departments, whether
it is the Department of Justice Canada or Public Safety Canada,
sometimes Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics at Statistics
Canada, to try to get the best assumptions possible in terms of a
likely projection. We then draw those estimates up, and they form
part of the memorandum to cabinet process. Typically, our senior
financial officer — in our case a chartered accountant — will sign
off on those estimates and say this is a realistic projection in terms
of the likely outcome.

In relation to the two specific components of Bill C-2, you are
correct; after five years, it would go to 270 offenders. We did
provide more information to the House committee in terms of the
breakdown of the estimates on the MMPs. If it is helpful, I could
see whether we could provide that information to you.

The Chair: Fax it over, please.

Mr. McCowan: I have conveyed as much information as I
could find on the public record with respect to the dangerous
offender LTSO piece. Minister Toews referred to 35 applications
per year; it was not the aggregate figure. That is as much as I have
been able to locate on the public record.

I can undertake to request my colleagues in the Department of
Justice Canada to see what additional light might be shed on the
matter.

Par exemple, cela fait tellement de temps que nos collectivités
ont été exclues du systéme judiciaire. Il serait presque
irresponsable de les intégrer immédiatement dans ce systéme. Il
faut agir en partenariat. Je ne peux pas vous dire qu’il existe une
solution unique.

Pour vous donner un exemple, le corps de cadet
communautaire Hobbema a donné de bons résultats pour
certains jeunes mais pas pour tous. Il y a des jeunes qui se sont
intéressés a ce programme. Il est intéressant de noter que de jeunes
autochtones de sexe féminin ont semblé étre attirées par ce
programme, chose a laquelle je ne m’attendais pas. Dans notre
collectivité, le groupe le plus vulnérable et qui coure le plus de
risque est celui des jeunes méres et il était encourageant de voir
qu’elles étaient attirées par quelque chose comme ce corps de
jeunes.

Il n’y a pas de solution unique, mais il faut que la collectivité
s’approprie ces programmes et qu’elle se charge de les offrir.

La présidente : Monsieur McCowan, vous avez déclaré dans
votre exposé que vos prévisions sur cinq ans indiquent que la
population des détenus va augmenter de 270 détenus a cause
des peines minimales obligatoires et d’environ 35 délinquants
dangereux. Disons que cela va se traduire par 300 détenus de plus
au cours des cinq prochaines années.

Comme vous le savez, d’aprés d’autres prévisions,
l’augmentation de la population carcérale serait sensiblement
plus élevée que vous le pensez. Pouvez-vous nous dire sur quels
chiffres reposent ces hypothéses?

M. McCowan : En général, le processus d’évaluation que nous
utilisons est en fait trés formel. Nous travaillons avec nos
partenaires au sein du gouvernement, a savoir le ministére de la
Justice ou Sécurité publique Canada, parfois le Centre canadien
de la statistique juridique de Statistique Canada, pour essayer
d’obtenir les meilleures hypothéses possibles sur lesquelles baser
nos prévisions. Nous élaborons ensuite des prévisions et elles font
partie d’un mémoire qui est transmis au Cabinet. Habituellement,
notre chef des finances — dans notre cas, un comptable agréé —
approuve ces prévisions et déclarent qu’elles sont réalistes et
qu’elles refletent les résultats probables.

Pour ce qui est de ces deux aspects précis du projet de loi C-2,
vous avez raison. Aprés cinq ans, il y aurait 270 délinquants de
plus. Nous avons en fait communiqué d’autres renseignements
au comité de la Chambre des communes pour ce qui est de la
répartition des prévisions relatives aux peines minimales
obligatoires. Si cela peut vous étre utile, je vais voir si nous ne
pourrions pas vous envoyer également ces renseignements.

La présidente : Faites-le par télécopieur, s’il vous plait.

M. McCowan : J’ai communiqué toute l'information que
jai trouvée pour ce qui est du volet délinquants dangereux
et surveillance a long terme. Le ministre Toews a parlé
de 35 demandes par an. Ce n’était pas un total. C’est le chiffre
auquel je suis arrivé aprés avoir consulté les documents publics.

Je peux m’engager a demander a mes collégues du ministére de
la Justice du Canada de voir s’ils ne pourraient pas apporter
d’autres éléments sur cette question.
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The Chair: Did you make projections for the new impaired
driving provisions? We heard from Mothers against Drunk
Driving and listening to them, I got the feeling there were to be
quite a few more people behind bars because of the elimination of
things likes the Carter defence. Have you looked at those
provisions?

Mr. McCowan: There are several issues and one comes down
to whether it is a provincial or federal impact. Some costs can be
looked after in terms of getting money in relation to each
additional offender. When you talk about adding significant
offenders, you have to pursue this additional route.

We only have cost projections on those two components. We
do not have costing components for the other three that, as you
pointed out, we have not yet discussed.

The Chair: The publicly announced funds refer only to the
mandatory minimums. They not refer to anybody else, correct?

Mr. McCowan: Correct. The only other money that has been
discussed is the separate issue of the integrity money, which
Senator Oliver raised a few moments ago.

The Chair: You mean the hundred-year-old buildings that need
to be fixed.

Mr. McCowan: Exactly, we have an impressive array of
decaying infrastructure, and we have difficult offender
population changes, as we have discussed. There are a number
of factors at play.

The Chair: Mr. Sapers from the Office of the Correctional
Investigator told us that the budget for core programming had
diminished by 26 per cent over the last six years. He also said that
there was a shortage of core programming in maximum-security
prisons, which is I gather, where dangerous offenders are sent
first.

Can you explain both of those assertions to us: the budget
decline and the situation in the maximum-security institutions?

Mr. Toller: I read Mr. Saper’s testimony and I am not sure
exactly where he received that information.

We have experienced a 16 per cent decrease in correctional
program enrolment, but we did that in a strategic fashion. We did
that because it was mentioned earlier how we went around and
continuously looked at our programs in terms of effectiveness,
our changing population and where we should make adjustments.
There are always limited resources.

La présidente : Avez-vous fait des prévisions au sujet des
nouvelles dispositions relatives a la conduite avec facultés
affaiblies? Nous avons entendu les Mothers against Drunk
Driving et lorsqu’elles ont témoigné, j’ai eu le sentiment que la
suppression de choses comme la défense Carter aurait pour effet
d’envoyer pas mal plus de gens en prison. Avez-vous examiné ces
dispositions?

M. McCowan : Cela souléve plusieurs problémes et ’'un d’entre
eux est de savoir s’il s’agit d'un effet qui se fait sentir au
palier provincial ou au palier fédéral. Il est possible d’examiner
les couts et d’obtenir un certain montant pour chaque détenu
supplémentaire. Lorsque 1I’on parle d’une augmentation
importante du nombre de délinquants, il faut utiliser cette
méthode.

Nous n’avons effectué des prévisions de coit que pour ces deux
composantes. Nous n’avons pas de prévisions de cofit pour les
trois autres qui, comme vous l’avez signalé, n’ont pas fait ’objet
d’une discussion de notre part.

La présidente : Les fonds qui ont été annoncé publiquement
concernent uniquement les peines minimales obligatoires. Ils ne
touchent pas les autres aspects, est-ce bien exact?

M. McCowan : Exact. Les seuls autres fonds qui ont fait ’objet
de discussion concernaient la question distincte de I'intégrité des
batiments, aspect que le sénateur Oliver a soulevé il y a quelques
instants.

La présidente : Vous voulez parler des batiments de plus de
100 ans qu’il faut réparer.

M. McCowan : Exactement, nous devons nous occuper d’un
ensemble impressionnant d’infrastructures en ruine; nous allons
connaitre des changements dans la population carcérale qui
seront difficiles a assumer, comme nous 1’avons mentionné. Il y a
toute une série de facteurs qui jouent dans ce domaine.

La présidente : M. Sapers du Bureau de I’enquéteur
correctionnel fédéral nous a déclaré que le budget affecté aux
programmes de base avait diminué de 26 p. 100 au cours des six
derniéres années. Il a également déclaré que les programmes de
base offerts dans les établissements a sécurité maximale, a savoir
ceux ou, je crois, les délinquants dangereux sont envoyés au
début, étaient insuffisants.

Pouvez-vous nous expliquer ces deux affirmations: La
diminution du budget et la situation dans les établissements a
sécurité maximale?

M. Toller : Jai lu le témoignage de M. Saper et je ne sais pas
trés bien ou il a obtenu cette information.

Nous avons connu une diminution de 16 p. 100 des
inscriptions aux programmes correctionnels, mais nous avons
procédé de facon stratégique. Nous I’avons fait parce que, comme
nous I’avons expliqué plus tot, nous examinons constamment nos
programmes sur le plan de I’efficacité, sur le plan de I’évolution de
la population carcérale et pour savoir quels sont les aspects qu’il
conviendrait de modifier. Nos ressources sont toujours limitées.
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To give an example, at one particular point in time we had a
referral for inmates for just cognitive skills, life skills. However, as
the numbers of inmates with violent propensities or violent crimes
emerged more strongly in our institutions, we had to move that
into a frame to target violent offender types of programs.

We have actually revamped our system. In contrast to that
decrease, we have improved in terms of our completion rates and
programs. We have moved from 72 per cent to 77 per cent
completion. That is truly a success for us because a completion
in programs talks about public safety. When you talk
programming dollars, we have $37 million going directly toward
program delivery staff.

It needs to be articulated that the role of maximum security is
to instil an environment of responsibility to get people ready for
the next phase as they move through the transition of cascading
down from maximum to medium to minimum.

The programming infrastructure in maximum security is
significantly less than you would find in a medium- or
minimum-security institution, as we get closer to the
community. The raw numbers must be considered in the
backdrop of the roles of the security institutions.

Senator Stratton: Mr. McCowan, I am concerned about the
statistics you talked about in your opening remarks, which seem
quite disturbing. You say we have more previous youth and adult
convictions and approximately nine out of ten offenders reoffend.
There are more extensive histories of violence and violent
offences. One in four offenders is serving time for homicide.
There are more affiliations with gangs and organized crime,
increased by 33 per cent since 1977. You tell us that four out of
five offenders have serious substance abuse histories and
problems.

That ties in with the presentation made by Lynn Barr-Telford
of the Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics. Because of these
statistics, you can see why we have Bill C-2 before us. It is scary.
The attempted murder rate is up 24 per cent since 2004. This
information is from the Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics.
Youth accused of firearm-related violent offences is up
32 per cent since 2002.

We see a dramatic trend happening and it is frightening,
especially in Winnipeg where I live. I know there are many
reasons, but is the drug trade at the core of this increased gang-
related violence? Are the gangs looking for turf? What is
happening here? Do you have any sense of some of the reasons
for it?

Mr. McCowan: We welcome discussions about CSC with open
arms. The organization is facing some challenges as I tried to
outline earlier. The factors that you list can be even more

Pour vous donner un exemple, 8 un moment donné, on nous a
demandé d’offrir aux détenus des programmes relatifs aux
aptitudes ou aux habiletés psychosociales. Cependant, le
nombre des détenus ayant des tendances violentes ou ayant
commis des crimes violents ayant augmenté dans nos
établissements, nous avons did modifier ces programmes pour
mieux cibler les délinquants violents.

Nous avons di revoir notre systéeme. Contrairement a ces
diminutions, nous avons amélioré nos taux de réussite a I’égard de
ces programmes. Notre taux de réussite est passé de 72 p. 100 a
77 p. 100. C’est vraiment une réussite pour nous parce que la
réussite de ces programmes a un effet sur la sécurité de la
population. Pour ce qui est des fonds consacrés aux programmes,
nous avons affecté 37 millions de dollars qui vont directement au
personnel chargé d’offrir les programmes.

Il convient de préciser que I’établissement a sécurité maximale
doit créer un environnement qui a pour effet de responsabiliser les
détenus pour les préparer a I’étape suivante, a mesure qu’ils
passent d’un établissement a sécurité maximale a un établissement
a sécurité moyenne et ensuite, minimale.

Dans I’établissement a sécurité maximale, 'infrastructure des
programmes est moins importante que celle que 1’on retrouve
dans les établissements a sécurité moyenne ou minimale parce que
ces derniers sont plus proches de la collectivité. 11 convient
d’examiner les chiffres bruts en tenant compte du réle que jouent
les différents types d’établissements.

Le sénateur Stratton : Monsieur McCowan, les statistiques que
vous avez mentionnées dans vos remarques préliminaires me
semble particulierement troublantes. Vous avez déclaré qu’il y
avait davantage de jeunes et d’adultes ayant des condamnations
antérieures et qu’environ neuf délinquants sur dix récidivaient.
Les antécédents de violence et d’infractions violentes sont plus
fournis. Un délinquant sur quatre est condamné pour homicide.
Il y a davantage de détenus appartenant a des gangs et au crime
organisé, une augmentation de 33 p. 100 par rapport a 1977.
Vous nous dites que quatre délinquants sur cinqg ont des
antécédents et de graves problémes de toxicomanie.

Cela va dans le sens de 1’exposé qu’a présenté Lynn
Barr-Telford du Centre canadien de la statistique juridique.
Ces statistiques expliquent pourquoi nous ¢étudions le projet
de loi C-2. La situation est trés inquiétante. Le taux des tentatives
de meurtre a augmenté de 24 p. 100 depuis 2004. Cette donnée
vient du Centre canadien de la statistique juridique. Le nombre de
jeunes accusés d’infractions violentes reliées aux armes a feu a
augmenté de 32 p. 100 depuis 2002.

Nous constatons une tendance trés forte qui est méme
alarmante, en particulier a Winnipeg ou je vis. Je sais qu’il y a
de nombreux facteurs qui jouent, mais j’aimerais savoir si le trafic
des drogues est la principale cause de l'augmentation de la
violence reliée aux gangs? Les gangs cherchent-ils a élargir leur
territoire? Que se passe-t-il dans ce domaine? Avez-vous une idée
des raisons a ’origine de la situation?

M. McCowan : Nous sommes trés ouverts a avoir des
discussions au sujet du SCC. Notre organisation fait face a
certains défis, comme j’ai essayé de l’expliquer plus tot. Les
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daunting because sometimes you are dealing with individuals who
have a couple of them — a mental health problem in addition to a
substance abuse problem. When you are trying to intervene in
those situations, particularly with a lot of our population who are
getting short sentences, you have a narrow window of
opportunity to deal with individuals who have a couple of real
challenges. If you do not get through the substance abuse
problem, you will not get to the anger management problem that
lies somewhere underneath. It is a challenging situation but one
which enthusiastic folk tackle each day.

Mr. Reti: To build on the comment, drugs certainly fuel the
problem, but I do not think that drugs are the root of it. I do not
think there is any single reason why we see an increase in this
activity. If there were one single reason, it often starts with high-
risk children. High-risk youth seem to be a common theme
throughout much of this activity. Drugs are not the root of it but
certainly fuel the activity.

When I was in Hobbema, many of the drive-by shootings that
we saw and much of the activity between rival gangs was because
of drug turf. However, when you look at the people involved in
that activity and with a tendency to be attracted to that activity,
they usually came from high-risk environments.

Senator Merchant: My concern is that crime rates have been
steadily going down in this country and yet we are looking for
ways to incarcerate more people. I am very concerned about this
dangerous offender legislation because I think it is unbalanced
and unfair when it comes to minorities and the Aboriginal
communities. Very often people do not understand our criminal
system, our legal system, the court system, and plead guilty
without understanding the implications.

On February 7, we had a response from Mr. Goldstein of the
Criminal Lawyers’ Association. Mr. Goldstein said that there is
nothing in this provision that says that only criminal convictions
arising after the passage of this bill count, that, in fact, it is quite
the opposite. The idea is to capture people who have criminal
records, and so that is a massive problem.

We are going to go back now to offences committed maybe 10,
20, 30 years ago and try and capture those people and declare
them dangerous offenders. Do you feel that that is a problem for
certain communities? Do you feel that it weighs unfairly on
minorities and Aboriginal people and others who do not
understand the justice system and the implications of pleading
guilty?

Mr. Reti: As I said earlier, we already see a disproportionate
number of Aboriginal or minority people in the correctional
system. We already see a disproportionate number of Aboriginal
people charged or more prevalently being charged, so I would

facteurs que vous avez énumérés sont méme parfois plus
alarmants parce qu’il arrive que des personnes subissent les
effets de plusieurs facteurs — un probléme de santé mentale
combiné a un probléme de toxicomanie. Lorsque nous essayons
d’intervenir dans ce genre de situations, en particulier avec une
bonne partie de notre population qui purge des peines de courte
durée, nous ne disposons pas de beaucoup de temps pour aider les
détenus qui font face a de graves problémes. Si vous n’arrivez pas
a régler le probleme de toxicomanie, vous ne pourrez pas vous
attaquer au probléme de gestion de la colére qui est sous-jacent.
C’est une situation difficile, mais c’est le genre de situation a
laquelle s’attaque tous les jours notre personnel enthousiaste.

M. Reti : J’aimerais poursuivre sur ce commentaire et dire que
les drogues alimentent certainement le probléme mais je ne pense
pas qu’elles en soient la cause. Je ne pense pas qu’il existe une
raison unique qui explique cette augmentation d’activité. S’il y
avait une raison unique, ce serait sans doute les enfants a haut
risque. Les jeunes a haut risque semblent étre un théme que I'on
retrouve constamment dans ce genre d’activité. Les drogues ne
sont pas la cause du probléme, mais elles alimentent certainement
cette activité.

Lorsque j’étais a Hobbema, les fusillades en voiture et une
bonne partie de la rivalité qui opposait les gangs s’expliquaient
par une guerre de territoire. Cependant, lorsqu’on examine les
personnes qui exercent ce genre d’activité et qui ont tendance a
étre attiré par elles, on constate qu’elles viennent le plus souvent
d’environnements a haut risque.

Le sénateur Merchant : Je m’inquiéte du fait que les taux de
criminalité diminuent constamment dans ce pays et que nous
cherchons en fait d’autres fagons d’incarcérer davantage de
délinquants. Je suis trés préoccupé par les dispositions relatives
aux délinquants dangereux, parce que je pense qu’elles auront un
effet inéquitable et déséquilibré sur les minorités et les collectivités
autochtones. Il arrive trés souvent que les gens ne comprennent
pas notre systéme pénal, notre systéme judiciaire, nos tribunaux et
plaident coupables sans vraiment comprendre les conséquences
d’un tel plaidoyer.

Le 7 février, nous avons une réponse de M. Goldstein de la
Criminal Lawyers’ Association. M. Goldstein affirme que cette
disposition ne prévoit pas que seules les condamnations pénales
enregistrées apres ’adoption du projet de loi seront prises en
compte, et que c’est en fait tout a fait le contraire qui se fera.
L’idée est de viser les personnes qui ont des antécédents judiciaires
et c’est donc un probléme grave.

Nous allons donc prendre en considération les infractions
commises il y a peut-étre 10, 20 ou 30 ans et essayer de faire
déclarer ces personnes des délinquants dangereux. Pensez-vous
que cela pose un probléme pour certaines collectivités? Pensez-
vous que cela va toucher inéquitablement les minorités, les
Autochtones et ceux qui ne comprennent pas le systéme judiciaire
et les conséquences d’un plaidoyer de culpabilité?

M. Reti : Comme je I’ai dit plutdt, il y a déja un nombre
disproportionné d’Autochtones et de détenus appartenant a des
minorités dans le systéme correctionnel. Nous constatons déja que
le nombre des Autochtones qui sont inculpés est disproportionné
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assume the most logical assumption is that we likely will see more
Aboriginal people identified as dangerous offenders. It is a logical
assumption to make.

Senator Di Nino: Thank you for agreeing to provide the
information that I asked for on those five points, and if you did
not get them all down, I will give them to you later.

I would like to have some statistics on the programs for
employment and training as strongly suggested by the
independent panel review of CSC. One of the recommendations
was to develop employability and employment skills and that is
one of the areas on which I would like to focus, but I will wait to
get information from you.

My question deals with the discussion we have been having
about the increase in costs of the penitentiary system. My take is
based on the information you provided, particularly the first
bullet, where you say that nine out of ten offenders had previous
convictions. In your opinion, have we done everything that we
could have to prepare the inmates for reincorporation into the
community, or have we failed based on the statistics that you
provided? Nine out of ten of them had been under our care before
and they are back again.

Mr. Toller: Whenever you get into the causes of crime, we have
heard across the table a number of spectrums. It is complex. Often
you cannot zero into one issue, as you indicated. It ties into the
question of Senator Stratton. When I look at our group here,
77 per cent of our fellows coming in have no high school
education; 70 per cent have an unstable job history; 80 per cent
have been characterized as impulsive. We heard the mental
health statistics. We heard 80 per cent have drug problems and
80 per cent have poor problem-solving skills. We are dealing with
a complex individual who, by the time he arrives at our doorstep,
has failed many types of interventions intended to help in his
decision-making.

That is our starting point. Who do we have in front of us? How
do we develop an individual plan to deal with that particular
person? Sometimes we have to carefully and strategically target
the cognitive factors first. You may not want to have a person
who has extremely short or high impulsivity, depending which
way you want to do it, to learn to become a carpenter. If they
cannot control that other piece, you have trained an impulsive
carpenter.

We look at it from the cognitive perspective, and then from the
basics. If we can get that through some means of progression, if
we can get the anger management capacity reduced and then get
the vocational and education piece tied together there is a
likelihood of success. We work toward the inmate finding stable
employment once he is released. We attempt to teach the inmates

ou qu’ils sont plus fréquemment accusés, de sorte qu’il parait
logique que le nombre des Autochtones qui seront déclarés étre
des délinquants dangereux augmentera également. C’est une
déduction tout a fait logique.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je vous remercie d’avoir accepté de me
fournir 'information que j’ai demandé sur ces cinq points et si
vous ne les avez pas tous noté, je vous les redonnerai plus tard.

Jaimerais avoir quelques données au sujet des programmes en
matiére d’emploi et de formation comme le suggere fortement
I’examen du SCC qu’a effectué le comité indépendant. Une des
recommandations de ce rapport était de renforcer I’'employabilité
et les aptitudes professionnelles et c’est un des domaines que
jaimerais approfondir mais j’attendrai que vous me fournissiez
ces renseignements.

Ma question porte sur la discussion que nous avons eue au
sujet de 'augmentation des cofits pour le systéme pénitentiaire.
Ma position est fondée sur I'information que vous nous avez
fournie, en particulier la premiére puce, dans laquelle vous dites
que neuf délinquants sur dix ont un casier judiciaire. A votre avis,
avons-nous fait tout ce que nous pouvions pour préparer les
détenus a réintégrer la collectivité ou avons-nous échoué si I'on se
fie aux statistiques que vous avez fournies? Neuf sur dix d’entre
eux ont déja bénéficié de nos services et nous les retrouvons
encore une fois en prison.

M. Toller : Chaque fois que ’on aborde la question des causes
de la criminalité, il se dit toutes sortes de choses. C’est une
question complexe. Bien souvent, il est impossible d’isoler un
facteur unique, comme vous I’avez mentionné. Cela est relié¢ a la
question qu’a posée le sénateur Stratton. Lorsque j'examine notre
groupe, 77 p. 100 de nos détenus n’ont pas fait d’études
secondaires; 70 p. 100 d’entre eux n’ont occupé que des emplois
précaires; 80 p. 100 sont qualifiés d’impulsifs. Nous avons
entendu les chiffres relatifs a la santé mentale. Nous avons
entendu dire que 80 p. 100 d’entre eux avaient des problémes de
drogue et que 80 p. 100 avaient du mal a résoudre des problémes.
Il s’agit d’individus qui connaissent plusieurs difficultés et qui,
lorsqu’ils arrivent chez nous, n’ont pas tiré profit des nombreuses
interventions différents dont ils ont fait 'objet pour les aider a
prendre des décisions.

Voila notre point de départ. Qu’est-ce qui s’offre a nous?
Comment élaborer un plan individuel qui convienne a cette
personne? Parfois, il faut commencer par adopter une stratégie
qui cible précisément les facteurs cognitifs. Il n’est peut-étre pas
souhaitable de donner a une personne qui est trés impulsive une
formation de charpentier. Si cette personne n’est pas en mesure de
se controéler, vous aurez alors formé un charpentier impulsif.

Nous examinons la situation du point de vue cognitif et
ensuite, a partir des éléments fondamentaux. Si nous réussissons a
les faire progresser par étape, si nous réussissons a améliorer leur
capacité de gérer la colére, et qu’ensuite nous réussissons a leur
faire acquérir des connaissances générales et professionnelles,
alors ils ont une chance de réussir. Notre but est d’amener les
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how to manage themselves in situations in which they have been
impulsive and aggressive. We try to help them control their
behaviour; that is what we are all about.

The community’s involvement is very important to this success
because over 90 per cent of the inmates face determinate
sentences and return to the community. Whatever support the
community can offer helps to keep them crime free.

Mr. McCowan: On the employment-employability question,
there is a constant evolution in all of the elements we have
discussed. Concerning the employment issue, we have had
farming operations associated with our institutions. One of the
challenges that the independent panel laid down is to get us to
look at the best way to connect inmates with job possibilities once
they move on. Farming might have made more sense 20 or
30 years ago than it does now. Right now, B.C. and Alberta have
labour shortages in a number of key sectors of the economy. It is
a constantly evolving thing. We are trying to adjust our approach
to give us the best chance at encouraging success.

Senator Di Nino: I appreciate that and I did not say it was
simple. That is why I listed five focus areas.

Some 14 years ago, I was dealing with the youth crime bill on
behalf of a previous government. For three consecutive days,
I went to the Syl Apps Youth Centre in Oakville. This is for
youth, but the same message was given to me by the folks. When
we wrapped up, many psychologists, sociologists and social
workers asked me to send a message, which I did and tried to do
strongly. I do not know if anyone was listening but the message
was that we make sure to give these kids training before they leave
the centre. They have to have a skill before going back into the
communities.

I suggest that we are experiencing the same problem. Maybe we
are being slow in the uptake and that is not necessarily a reflection
on you gentlemen. In general, the whole system needs to be
looked at so that when we do release them — because we will
release the vast majority of them — they are better prepared to
deal with the challenges of life, otherwise they will be back.

Mr. Toller: As we were saying, we are trying to determine the
labour market needs and how we can train our inmates to fill
those needs once they return to society. You just cannot turn it
around on a dime. We have recently redeveloped our CORCAN,
which looks after employment for offenders. This has and
advisory team and links to the community. This has brought
together Canadian citizens from the business community. The
minister himself talked to the group, our commissioner has been
in front of group, and I am regularly with this group, looking at
how to develop partnerships with private industry to determine

détenus a trouver un emploi stable lorsqu’ils sont mis en liberté.
Nous essayons d’enseigner aux détenus comment se comporter
dans les situations dans lesquelles ils ont été impulsifs et agressifs.
Nous essayons de les aider a contrdler leur comportement; voila
ce que nous faisons.

La réussite de ces détenus dépend beaucoup de la participation
de la collectivité parce que plus de 90 p. 100 des détenus purgent
des peines a durée déterminée et retournent dans la collectivité.
L’appui que la collectivité leur accorde, peut les aider a ne pas
récidiver.

M. McCowan : Pour ce qui est de la question emploi-
employabilité, il faut signaler que tous les éléments dont nous
avons parlé évoluent constamment. Pour ce qui est de la question
de I’emploi, nous avons associé¢ des activités agricoles a nos
établissements. Un des défis sur lesquels le comité indépendant a
insisté consiste a trouver la meilleure fagon de donner aux détenus
des possibilités d’emploi lorsqu’ils sont libérés. L’agriculture
aurait peut-étre été une meilleure solution, il y a 20 ou 30 ans qu’a
I’heure actuelle. En ce moment, la C.-B. et I’Alberta connaissent
une pénurie de main-d’ceuvre dans un certain nombre de secteurs
clés de I’économie. C’est une situation qui évolue constamment.
Nous essayons d’adapter notre approche dans le but d’obtenir le
plus possible de réussite.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je comprends tout cela et je n’ai pas dit
que c’¢était simple. C’est la raison pour laquelle j’ai énuméré cinq
secteurs importants.

Il y a pres de 14 ans, je m’occupais d’un projet de loi sur la
criminalité des jeunes pour le compte d’un gouvernement
antérieur. Pendant trois jours consécutifs, je me suis rendu au
Syl Apps Youth Centre a Oakville. C’est un centre pour jeunes
mais les gens de la-bas m’ont donné le méme message. Lorsque
nous avons terminé, plusieurs psychologues, sociologues et
travailleurs sociaux m’ont demandé de transmettre un message,
ce que j’ai fait, et j’ai essayé de bien le faire. Je ne sais pas si ce
message a été entendu, mais ces gens me demandaient de dire qu’il
fallait veiller a ce que ces jeunes regoivent une formation avant
qu’ils quittent le centre. Il fallait qu’ils aient acquis une formation
avant de retourner dans la collectivité.

Je pense que nous faisons face au méme probleme. Nous avons
peut-étre pris un peu de retard et cela n’est peut-étre pas votre
faute. D’une fagon générale, il faut réviser complétement le
systéme pour qu’au moment de leur mise en liberté — parce que la
plupart des détenus seront remis en liberté — ils soient mieux
préparés a résoudre les problémes quotidiens, car sinon, ils
risquent de revenir. ,

M. Toller : Comme nous le disions, nous essayons d’évaluer les
possibilités qu’offre le marché de travail, pour que nous puissions
donner a nos détenus une formation dans ces professions avant
qu’ils ne retournent dans la société. Il est impossible de tout
changer d’un seul coup. Nous avons récemment restructuré le
CORCAN, un service qui s’occupe d’emploi pour les détenus. Cet
organisme est doté d’un conseil consultatif et il a des liens avec la
collectivité. Cette initiative a permis d’intégrer des citoyens
canadiens du monde des affaires. Le ministre lui-méme a parlé
a ce groupe, notre commissaire a lui aussi pris la parole devant ce
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the skill sets that are necessary for re-entry into society. We are
working with the trades. In one example, inmates start building
house frames while institutionalized. In Calgary, an employer
offers released prisoners jobs when they re-enter the community.
We are on that path. It is just starting and we feel we can cover
three, four or five items for the country as a whole as this begins
to take shape.

The Chair: How much does it cost to keep a prisoner in jail at
each one of the levels?

Mr. McCowan: We have the cost of maintaining offenders’
index, which is updated every year. The last statistics are available
for 2006-07. I will be happy to provide them to the committee.

To give you the bottom lines of the results for 2006-07, the
average cost to maintain an offender is $74,261. I am happy
to provide further details by security level, men’s, women’s,
community and institution.

Senator Cowan: I recall seeing a figure of $100,000 or more.

Mr. McCowan: For maximum security, the cost is $121,294 per
year.

The Chair: Is it your experience that dangerous offenders tend
to go to maximum-security institutions?

Mr. Toller: Yes, the person undergoes an individualized
assessment and individual consideration based on a number of
factors including specifics for Aboriginals. If the crime was
extremely violent, depending on the person’s motivation, it could
very well mean the person would spend time in maximum-security
institutions. The general input is that about 15 per cent of
inmates go to maximum security. The vast majority are be
placed in medium-security institutions. Even if they start out in
maximum security, there are ongoing reviews, certainly at a
minimum a year from the initial placement, in terms of the
person’s progress. If a violent offender ended up in maximum
security after the initial classification system, then there would at
least be a yearly review and sometimes ahead of that, depending
on mitigating circumstances.

The Chair: How many of them normally would be bumped
down to medium or minimum security?

Mr. Toller: I do not have where they are situated, but over time
the vast majority would get bumped down. I can get that
information for you.

groupe et je participe réguliérement aux réunions de ce groupe,
pour essayer d’établir des partenariats avec I'industrie privée pour
savoir quelle est la formation dont les détenus ont besoin pour
pouvoir réintégrer la société. Nous travaillons avec les corps de
métiers. Par exemple, les détenus commencent a construire des
charpentes de maison pendant qu’ils sont en établissement. A
Calgary, un employeur a offert des emplois a des détenus
récemment libérés au moment ou ils réintégraient la collectivité.
Nous travaillons dans cette direction. Nous ne faisons que
commencer mais nous pensons pouvoir nous occuper de trois,
quatre ou cing choses qui seront utiles pour ’ensemble du pays.

La présidente : Combien cela coite-t-il d’avoir un détenu en
prison selon le niveau de sécurité?

M. McCowan : Il y a un indice du colt d’entretien d’un
délinquant, qui est mis a jour chaque année. Les derniers chiffres
sont ceux de 2006-2007. Je serai heureux de les fournir au comité.

Pour vous donner I’essentiel des résultats pour ’année 2006-
2007, le cotit moyen de I’entretien d’un délinquant est de 74 261 §.
Je serai heureux de vous fournir d’autres chiffres en fonction du
niveau de sécurité, pour les hommes, pour les femmes, pour les
détenus dans la collectivité et en établissement.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je me souviens avoir vu un chiffre de
100 000 $ ou plus.

M. McCowan : Pour la sécurité maximale, le coilit est de
121 294 § par année.

La présidente : D’aprés votre expérience, est-ce que les
délinquants dangereux sont généralement incarcérés dans des
établissements a sécurité maximale?

M. Toller : Oui, le détenu subit une évaluation individuelle et
un examen de sa situation en fonction d’un certain nombre de
facteurs, notamment des facteurs particuliers adaptés aux
Autochtones. Si le crime commis est extrémement violent,
cela peut souvent vouloir dire que le détenu, en fonction de
ses motivations, va purger une partiec de sa peine dans un
établissement a sécurité maximale. D’une fagon générale,
15 p. 100 des détenus vont dans des établissements a sécurité
maximale. L’immense majorité d’entre eux sont placés dans des
établissements a sécurité moyenne. Méme s’ils sont placés au
début dans un établissement a sécurité maximale, les détenus font
I’objet d’examens permanents, au minimum dans I’année qui suit
le placement initial, pour examiner les progrés réalisés. Si un
délinquant violent se retrouvait dans un établissement a sécurité
maximale aprés le classement initial, il ferait I’objet d’au moins un
examen dans l'année qui suit, parfois avant que I'année soit
écoulée, selon qu’il existe ou non des circonstances atténuantes.

La présidente : Quel est le nombre de détenus qui sont
habituellement transférés vers des établissements a sécurité
moyenne ou minimale?

M. Toller : Je ne sais pas ou ils sont placés, mais
progressivement, la plupart d’entre eux changent de niveau de
sécurité. Je peux vous obtenir cette information.
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The Chair: They would probably start out in maximum and
decline over time.

Mr. Toller: Yes. It is possible for an offender, after he has been
transferred to medium security, to be returned to maximum
security depending on behavioural characteristics or a potential
escape risk or information along those lines.

The Chair: If we are moving in thirty dangerous offenders a
year, it will cost us another $3 million a year.

Mr. McCowan: All I can undertake to do, as I have already
done, is to take your issue back to the Department of Justice
Canada in terms of the costing of the DO. I am not able to talk to
anything else. I will undertake to raise your concerns with the
department and see what additional information they might be
able to bring to bear.

Senator Di Nino: It is $37 million average after five years.

The Chair: No, that is only for mandatory minimums.

Mr. McCowan: There were two separate costing elements. One
related to the MMPs and one related to the DOs and LTSOs.

The Chair: We thank you very much. It has been an interesting
session. We are grateful to you. We will look forward to receiving
that information. Do not delay; better you should sent it as fast as
possible even if it does not all come at once.

We are now privileged to have with us, speaking as an
individual, Professor Ronald Langevin, from the University of
Toronto; and from Egale Canada, Mr. Ryan Dyck.

Ronald Langevin, Professor, University of Toronto, as an
individual: Thank you for the opportunity to speak to this
group. If there are any questions or issues that arise after the
meeting, my email address is at the top of the handout. I welcome
any additional question or comments. I will not read from the
handout. I will give you a general overview of my concerns.

I think that Bill C-2 will have a positive effect on protecting the
community. It will also scare many sex offenders into doing
something about their lives sooner.

I was asked to provide information on recidivism because
I have collected data over a 25-year period using a variety of
sources that include provincial, federal and RCMP records. I have
collected hospital records of informal criminal offences that may
not have been detected.

La présidente : Ils commencent probablement dans un
établissement a sécurité maximale et le niveau de sécurité
diminue ensuite.

M. Toller : Oui. Il est possible qu'un délinquant, qui a été
transféré dans un établissement a sécurité moyenne, soit renvoyé
dans un établissement a sécurité maximale en fonction de son
comportement, du risque qu’il s’échappe ou de renseignements
concernant ces aspects.

La présidente : Si nous ajoutons 30 délinquants dangereux par
année, cela va nous cofter trois millions de dollars par année.

M. McCowan : Tout ce que je peux faire, c’est m’engager,
comme je I’ai déja fait, a poser cette question au ministére de la
Justice du Canada, pour connaitre le colt des délinquants
dangereux. Je ne suis pas en mesure de vous parler d’autre
chose. Je m’engage a soulever cette question avec le ministére et
voir s’il ne pourrait pas vous fournir des renseignements
supplémentaires.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Cela représente en moyenne 37 millions
de dollars apres cinq ans.

La présidente : Non, cette somme représente uniquement les
colts associés aux peines minimales obligatoires.

M. McCowan : Il y a deux éléments de cotts distincts. L’un
concerne les peines minimales obligatoires et l'autre les
délinquants dangereux et les ordonnances de surveillance a long
terme.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup, nous avons eu une séance
intéressante. Nous vous en sommes reconnaissants. Nous serons
heureux de recevoir cette information. Ne tardez pas a nous
la transmettre, il est préférable que vous l’envoyiez le plus
rapidement possible, méme si vous ne pouvez pas nous fournir
tous les chiffres en méme temps.

Nous avons maintenant le privilége d’accueillir, a titre
personnel, M. Ronald Langevin, de 1’Université de Toronto et
M. Ryan Dyck, d’Egale Canada,

Ronald Langevin, professeur, Université de Toronto, a titre
personnel : Merci de m’avoir donné la possibilité de parler a
votre groupe. Si vous voulez me poser des questions apres notre
rencontre, vous trouverez mon adresse courriel en haut du
document distribué. J’accueillerai avec plaisir toutes vos questions
et commentaires. Je ne vais pas lire le document distribué. Je vais
vous donner un aper¢u général de mes préoccupations.

Je pense que le projet de loi C-2 aura un effet positif sur la
sécurité de la collectivité. Il va également inciter de nombreux
délinquants sexuels a faire plus rapidement quelque chose pour
changer leurs vies.

On m’a demandé de vous fournir des renseignements sur la
récidive parce que cela fait plus de 25 ans que je rassemble des
données en ayant recours a diverses sources, notamment, les
dossiers provinciaux, fédéraux et ceux de la GRC. J’ai également
réuni des dossiers d’hopitaux concernant des infractions pénales
informelles qui n’ont pas toujours été rapportées.
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Looking at sexual offence recidivism, it runs at 60 per cent of
all sex offenders. If you want to include any offence, because
many times other offences may be the product of plea-bargaining
from a sexual offence, the general recidivism runs at 80 per cent.
When you include undetected crimes — people used to tell us
about crimes they committed that were undetected — nine in ten
offenders will commit a subsequent offence. That is a very high
rate.

The Chair: You mean nine in ten of all offenders or nine in ten
of dangerous offenders?

Mr. Langevin: All offenders and that qualifies my concerns
about the dangerous offender. I believe we will have far more
cases than the indicated 30 to 50 a year. Seventy-two per cent of
cases — and I have over 3,000 cases — have a criminal career that
spans more than 10 years, and 44 per cent have a career that
spans more than 20 years, so it is a lifetime pattern of behaviour.

Looking at actual incarceration numbers, very few have served
any real time. Forty-four per cent have not served time; they have
been on probation or parole, or they have gotten into treatment
programs and so on. An additional 13 per cent have served less
than one year and 9 per cent have served one to two years. More
than half of the offenders have seen very little prison time for a
long-term pattern of criminal behaviour.

My concern about Bill C-2 is what constitutes three
convictions. Are they any three convictions that may occur
on one court appearance or does it have to be three consecutive
court appearances at different times?

I have presented numbers in my handout. If you look at any
conviction — and that is in Table 1 of the handout — you will see
that I have compared dangerous offenders, and there are 51 of
them. That is about one eighth of all dangerous offenders in
Canada at this time. One hundred percent of them have three or
more convictions based on that criterion. Notice that
47.6 per cent of non-dangerous offenders also have an equal
number. If you move to the line below that, with three or more
court appearances, you will see that the numbers drop
dramatically. Based on these numbers, I anticipate that between
one and five, and one in two sex offenders, will have dangerous
offender applications.

Given those numbers, I could have provided all of the
dangerous offenders in Canada, more than I have done that in
the last 30 years; I could have given you 624 of them, based on the

Pour ce qui est du récidivisme a I’égard des infractions
sexuelles, il se situe a 60 p. 100 pour tous les délinquants
sexuels. Si I'on ajoute la récidive a I’égard de toutes les
infractions, parce que bien souvent I’accusation peut porter sur
une infraction autre que sexuelle a la suite d’'un marchandage de
plaidoyer, le taux général de récidive s’éleve alors a 80 p. 100. Si
vous comptez les infractions non détectées — les gens nous
parlaient des infractions qu’ils avaient commises et qui n’avaient
pas été détectées — neuf délinquants sur dix commettent une
autre infraction. C’est un taux trés élevé.

La présidente : Vous parlez de neuf délinquants sur dix ou de
neuf délinquants dangereux sur dix?

M. Langevin : Je parle de tous les délinquants et cela atténue
mes préoccupations au sujet des délinquants dangereux. Je pense
que nous allons avoir beaucoup plus de dossiers que les 30 a
50 par an qui ont été mentionnés. Soixante-douze pour cent des
dossiers — et j’ai plus de 3 000 dossiers — font état d’une carriére
criminelle qui s’étend sur plus de dix ans et 44 p. 100 de ces
délinquants ont une carriere qui s’étend sur plus de 20 ans, cela
représente donc un comportement qui dure toute la vie.

Si 'on examine le nombre réel des délinquants incarcérés, on
constate qu’ils sont trés peu nombreux a avoir véritablement
purgé une peine de prison. Quarante-deux pour cent d’entre eux
n’ont pas été emprisonnés; ils ont bénéficié d’une ordonnance de
probation ou d’une libération conditionnelle ou ont participé a
des programmes de traitement, ce genre de choses. Un autre
13 p. 100 ont purgé une peine de moins d’un an et neuf pour cent
une peine de un a deux ans. Plus de la moitié des délinquants ont
passé trés peu de temps en prison, méme s’ils ont eu un
comportement criminel pendant des années.

La question que je me pose au sujet du projet de loi C-2 est de
savoir ce qui constitue trois déclarations de culpabilité. S’agit-il de
trois déclarations de culpabilité qui peuvent étre prononcées au
cours d’une seule comparution devant un tribunal ou faut-il
qu’elles aient été prononcées au cours de trois comparutions
consécutives devant un tribunal a des moments différents?

Jai présenté des chiffres dans mon mémoire. Si vous regardez
les chiffres correspondant a une déclaration de culpabilité quelle
qu’elle soit — et cela figure dans le tableau 1 du mémoire — vous
pourrez constater que j’ai comparé les délinquants dangereux et
qu’il y en a 51. Ils représentent environ un huitiéme de tous les
délinquants dangereux au Canada a ce moment-ci. Cent pour
cent de ces délinquants ont fait ’objet de trois déclarations de
culpabilité ou plus en se fondant sur ce critére. Notez que
47,6 p. 100 des délinquants non dangereux ont également fait
I’'objet du méme nombre de condamnations. Si vous passez a la
ligne en-dessous, celle des condamnations prononcées au cours
d’au moins trois comparutions devant les tribunaux, vous
constaterez que les chiffres baissent de fagon brutale. D’apres
ces chiffres, je prévois qu’entre un et cinq délinquants et un
délinquant sexuel sur deux feront I'objet d’une demande de
déclaration de délinquants dangereux.

Compte tenu de ces chiffres, j’aurais pu vous fournir la liste de
tous les délinquants dangereux qui existent au Canada, une liste
plus compléte que celle que j’ai élaborée depuis 30 ans; j’aurais pu
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three-court-appearance criterion, and I could have given you
1,428 of them based on the any-three-convictions criterion. That
is a real concern.

If the federal and provincial databases ever become united,
I think the numbers will go up again. The RCMP has only
54 per cent of my cases. That is true from the 1960s and it is true
now. If people have only provincial charges, the RCMP does not
know about them in half of the cases. If you add those charges in
with federal charges — and many of them are felony convictions
for sexual assault — you will find that the numbers will
dramatically increase. It is a good idea to have that integrated
database.

The other concerns relate to what is considered a serious or
harmful offence and the risk of harm. Often these are based on
nebulous criteria. If we are looking at actual physical harm to
the individual, it may be a different criterion that could be
incorporated into the legislation, or at least the Crown attorneys
could consider it, as opposed to just the nature of the crime.

Some dangerous offenders are not necessarily violent; they are
repeat sex offenders who may not engage in actual violent
behaviour, although most of them do. The definition of “physical
harm” and “psychological harm” are not clear in the definition of
that law.

You will see in Table 2 that most of the dangerous offenders,
73 per cent, have used a weapon, and 84 per cent have seriously
injured their victims, but notice that 35 per cent of the non-
dangerous offenders have also done that.

In short, I am expecting that our prison system will be
overflowing. If the Crown attorneys decide to pursue the
application, my understanding, as the bill stands, is that they
are required to announce whether they will pursue the
application, but they do not have to do it. If they do, I think
you will have many offenders, far in excess of the 30 or so a year.
I can provide you those figures myself, with my own small private
practice of one setting.

Finally, my concerns about the risk that is used might apply
to your concerns about Aboriginals. There are now actuarial
instruments such as the following: The SIR is used in the
Correctional Service of Canada as well as the Static-99; the
Violence Risk Appraisal Guide, or VRAG; and, the Sex Offence
Risk Appraisal Guide, or SORAG. All of these measures are
used, and they present an illusion of certainty. They are extremely
poor predictors of risk, as clinical judgment is. It is worth
considering alternative criterion for evaluating the risk of an

vous fournir 624 noms, en me fondant sur le critére de trois
comparutions devant le tribunal ou 1 428 noms en me fondant sur
le critére de trois déclarations de culpabilité quelles qu’elles soient.
C’est un grave probléme.

Si I’'on combine les bases de données fédérales et provinciales,
je crois que cela aura pour effet de faire augmenter ces chiffres. La
GRC ne posséde de données qu’a I’égard de 54 p. 100 de mes
dossiers. Cela était vrai pour les années 1960 et c’est toujours vrai.
La GRC ne posséde pas de donnée sur la moitié des délinquants
qui ont fait I'objet d’accusations provinciales. Si I'on ajoute ces
accusations aux accusations fédérales — et un bon nombre
d’entre elles sont des déclarations de culpabilité pour agression
sexuelle — vous constaterez que les chiffres augmentent
sensiblement. Il est bon d’utiliser une base de données intégrée.

Mon autre préoccupation porte sur ce que I'on considére
comme étant une infraction grave ou une infraction dommageable
et le risque de préjudice. Bien souvent, ces notions sont fondées
sur des critéres nébuleux. Le fait de prendre en compte le
préjudice physique réellement causé a un individu est un critére
différent qui pourrait étre incorporé dans le projet de loi ou du
moins dont les procureurs de la Couronne pourraient tenir
compte, par opposition au critére fondé uniquement sur la nature
de l'infraction.

Certains délinquants dangereux ne sont pas nécessairement
violents; ce sont parfois des délinquants sexuels qui ne sont pas
vraiment violents, méme si la plupart le sont. La définition de
« préjudice physique » et de « préjudice psychologique » n’est pas
claire dans la définition qu’offre ce projet de loi.

Vous constaterez dans le tableau 2 que la plupart des
délinquants dangereux, soit 73 p. 100, ont utilis¢é une arme et
que 84 p. 100 d’entre eux ont gravement blessé leurs victimes mais
notez que 35 p. 100 des délinquants non dangereux ont également
fait ce genre de chose.

En bref, je m’attends a ce que notre systéme carcéral soit
débordé. Si les procureurs de la Couronne décident de présenter
des demandes, je crois savoir qu’ils seront tenus, selon la
formulation actuelle du projet de loi, d’annoncer qu’ils vont
présenter des demandes de déclaration de délinquants dangereux,
mais ils ne seront pas tenus de les présenter. S’ils le font, je pense
qu’il y aura beaucoup plus de délinquants emprisonnés, bien plus
qu'une trentaine par an. Je peux moi-méme vous fournir ces
chiffres, grice a ma propre petite pratique privée et son seul
bureau.

Enfin, les questions que je me pose au sujet des outils
d’évaluation du risque utilisés rejoignent peut-étre les
préoccupations que vous avez exprimées au sujet des
Autochtones. Il existe, a I’heure actuelle, des instruments
actuariels, notamment le SIR qu’utilise le Service correctionnel
du Canada ainsi que le Static-99; le Guide d’évaluation du risque
de violence ou VRAG; le Guide d’évaluation du risque chez les
délinquants sexuels ou SORAG. Le SCC utilise tous ces
instruments de mesure qui donnent tous I'illusion d’obtenir des
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individual, something more objective than we have at present
time.

There is a need for a more standard and thorough assessment
of people considered dangerous, not just Aboriginals or Blacks.
You need to understand their culture for sure, but often
assessments are all too brief. I gave an example of a four-hour
interview and file review in which a psychiatrist declared an
offender not just dangerous, but incapable of being managed as a
long-term offender. That is appalling. It would be valuable to
have also built into legislation a minimum required assessment
time, who should do it, how long it should be and what should be
included.

I have added another table entitled “Features of the Offender,”
which reflects a number of the questions I heard in the
Correctional Service of Canada presentation. You can see that
they have many other issues that have been ignored. Of particular
concern is the number of people in special education classes. Two
to three per cent of Ontarians are in special education classes in
public and high school. Notice that 56 per cent of dangerous
offenders and 36 per cent of the non-dangerous offenders have
such a designation; they have learning problems.

What often happens, and I think it is fairly typical of
dangerous offenders, is they are warehoused. They are not
provided any treatment options; they are locked away forever;
they never see the light of day again. That is the most typical
outcome. You are talking about rehabilitation; it is not done. It is
given to people who will get out into the community.

Head trauma, disease and attention deficit disorders are over-
represented in this population as well as in the community at
large, and these issues are ignored. That is also with respect to
diseases, for example, endocrine disorders. You can see in Table 3
that it is far more common in that almost 38 per cent of
dangerous offenders have endocrine disorders, and it is difficult
to get that testing done in any setting. You usually have to get
lawyers to do court orders to get blood tests to evaluate endocrine
disorders. You can see it might be a significant factor in both
treatment and rehabilitation.

That is my overview. Having said all of those negative things,
the bill can have a positive impact on community safety as well as
changing offenders’ altitudes toward treatment. I think more of

certitudes. Ce sont des outils qui prévoient trés mal le risque, tout
comme le jugement clinique. Il serait bon d’utiliser d’autres
critéres pour évaluer le risque que représente un individu, des
critéres plus objectifs que ceux que nous utilisons a I’heure
actuelle.

Il faudrait normaliser et perfectionner 1’évaluation des
personnes que l’on considére comme dangereuses, pas
uniquement les Autochtones ou les Noirs. Il faut bien sir
comprendre la culture de ces personnes mais bien souvent les
évaluations se font trop rapidement. J’ai donné I’exemple d’une
entrevue de quatre heures et d’'un examen du dossier a la suite
desquels un psychiatre a déclaré que le délinquant n’était pas
seulement dangereux mais incapable d’étre géré au moyen d’une
ordonnance de surveillance de longue durée. Voila qui est
consternant. I1 serait utile que des dispositions législatives fixent
le minimum de temps requis pour effectuer une évaluation,
précisent la personne qui devrait le faire, la durée de I’examen et
les points sur lesquels il devrait porter.

J’ai ajouté un autre tableau intitulé « Caractéristiques des
contrevenants » qui touche un certain nombre de questions que
j’ai entendus dans I’exposé présenté par le Service correctionnel
du Canada. Vous pouvez constater qu’il existe de nombreuses
autres caractéristiques qui n’ont pas été abordées. Un aspect
particuliérement préoccupant est le nombre des personnes qui se
trouvent dans des classes d’éducation spécialisée. Deux a trois
pour cent des Ontariens sont placés dans les classes d’éducation
spécialisée des écoles secondaires publiques. Notez que 56 p. 100
des délinquants dangereux et 36 p. 100 des délinquants non
dangereux sont classés dans cette catégorie; ils ont des problémes
d’apprentissage.

Il arrive souvent, et je crois que c’est habituellement le cas
pour les délinquants dangereux, qu’on se contente de faire du
gardiennage. On ne leur offre aucune option en matiére de
traitement; ils sont tout simplement enfermés; ils ne voient jamais
la lumiére du jour. C’est ce qui leur arrive le plus souvent. Vous
parlez de réadaptation; on n’en fait pas. Elle est réservée aux
personnes qui seront relachées dans la collectivité.

Les traumatismes craniens, les maladies et les troubles
d’attention sont surreprésentés dans cette population, ainsi que
dans I’ensemble de la collectivité, mais on ne s’attaque pas a ces
problémes. Il en va de méme pour les maladies, par exemple, les
troubles endocriniens. Vous pouvez voir dans le tableau trois que
c’est une maladie trés courante puisque prés de 38 p. 100 des
délinquants dangereux souffrent de troubles endocriniens et qu’il
est difficile de dépister cette maladie dans quelque contexte que
ce soit. Il faut habituellement que les avocats obtiennent des
ordonnances judiciaires pour que I’on procéde a des analyses de
sang pour dépister les troubles endocriniens. Vous comprenez que
cela peut étre un facteur important, tant pour le traitement que
pour la réadaptation.

Voila I'apergu général que je voulais vous présenter. Apres
avoir dit toutes ces choses négatives, je mentionnerai que le projet
de loi peut tout de méme avoir un effet positif sur la sécurité de la
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them will think twice about ignoring treatment programs if they
see a dangerous offender application on the horizon, not after
19 charges as we see here.

The Chair: Thank you very much. Regarding the top six lines
of Table 1, what are those numbers? Are they percentages?

Mr. Langevin: The percentages are indicated with a percentage
sign after the number. That is number of offences. The dangerous
offenders have had over 19 total offence convictions before their
designation as a dangerous offender.

The Chair: That is an average, in other words, based on your
database.

Mr. Langevin: Yes.

Ryan Dyck, Youth Coordinator, Egale Canada: Thank you very
much. Egale Canada is Canada’s national advocacy organization
for lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans-identified individuals. I am
also a 22-year-old student at the University of Ottawa.

On behalf of Egale Canada, I want to thank you for inviting us
to speak with you concerning the sensitive issue of the age of
sexual consent for young Canadians. We are extremely grateful
to see that parliamentarians are diligent about consulting the
community in regards to this matter.

I am sure we can agree that the issue of young people and
sexuality is a delicate subject and should be carefully considered
before any laws are passed that would affect the health and well-
being of our country’s youth.

Unfortunately, Bill C-2 with its provision to raise the age of
consent from 14 years to 16 years does not meet the standard for
careful consideration in the views of Egale Canada. I hope we will
be able to contribute to ensuring this bill fulfills its intention of
securing the health and safety of young Canadians as this is an
intention that Egale Canada and its membership support in
full. However, from Egale Canada’s perspective, Bill C-2 is an
unnecessary and potentially harmful invasion into the sex lives of
young Canadians. Wherever young people do not consent to sex,
there are already sturdy laws in place to protect them. We have
laws against sexual assault at any age, laws against people in
position of authority who take advantage of minors in their care
and laws against child prostitution, child pornography and
Internet luring.

Any approach to this issue that is truly concerned about the
well-being and protection of Canadian teens should not be hastily
passed through Parliament, effectively stigmatizing sexually active
teens as criminals and inhibiting them from accessing the
information and education they need to make mature decisions
about their own relationships.

collectivité et modifier I'attitude des délinquants a I’égard des
traitements. Je pense qu’ils y penseront a deux fois avant de
refuser les programmes de traitement s’ils voient se profiler a
I’horizon une demande de déclaration de délinquant dangereux,
sans qu’il faille attendre que chacun ait fait I'objet de
19 accusations comme nous le voyons ici.

La présidente : Merci. Pour ce qui est des six lignes en haut du
tableau 1, que représentent ces chiffres? Sont-ce des pourcentages?

M. Langevin : Les pourcentages sont indiqués par le signe
de pourcentage placé aprés le chiffre. C’est le nombre
d’infractions. Les délinquants dangereux ont fait 'objet, au
total, de 19 déclarations de culpabilité avant d’étre déclarés
délinquants dangereux.

La présidente : C’est donc une moyenne qui a été calculée a
partir de votre base de données.

M. Langevin : Oui.

Ryan Dyck, coordonnateur de la jeunesse, Egale Canada : Merci
beaucoup. Egale Canada est un organisme canadien national de
défense des intéréts des lesbiennes, des gais, des bisexuels et des
transsexuels. Je suis également un étudiant de 22 ans de
I’Université d’Ottawa.

Au nom d’Egale Canada, je tiens a vous remercier de nous
avoir invités a vous parler de la question sensible de 1’age du
consentement a une activité sexuelle pour les jeunes Canadiens.
Nous sommes extrémement heureux de constater que les
parlementaires ont décidé de consulter la société a ce sujet.

Je suis str que nous nous entendons sur le fait que la question
des jeunes et la sexualité est une question délicate qu’il convient
d’examiner soigneusement avant d’adopter des lois qui auront des
répercussions sur la santé et le bien-étre des jeunes Canadiens.

Malheureusement, le projet de loi C-2 qui fait passer de 14 a
16 ans I’age du consentement a une activité sexuelle n’a pas fait,
de I'avis d’Egale Canada, ’objet d’'un examen détaillé. J’espére
que nous pourrons faire une contribution qui permettra a ce
projet de loi de réaliser son objectif, a savoir protéger la santé et la
sécurité des jeunes Canadiens, un objectif qu’Egale Canada et
ses membres appuient totalement. Cependant, du point de vue
d’Egale Canada, le projet de loi C-2 entrainera une intrusion
inutile et susceptible d’étre préjudiciable dans la vie sexuelle des
jeunes Canadiens. Lorsque les jeunes ne consentent pas a des
activités sexuelles, il existe déja toute une série de dispositions
législatives efficaces qui les protégent. Il y a des lois contre
l’agression sexuelle, quelle que soit I’dge de la victime, des lois
contre les personnes en situation d’autorité qui abusent des
mineurs qui leur sont confiées ainsi que des lois contre la
prostitution et la pornographie juvéniles et le leurre par Internet.

La recherche d’une solution a ce probléme, axée sur le souci de
préserver le bien-étre des adolescents canadiens et de les protéger
ne devrait pas déboucher sur I’adoption hative d’un projet de loi,
qui a pour effet de qualifier en fait de criminels les adolescents
actifs sexuellement et de les empécher d’avoir accés a
I'information et a la formation dont ils ont besoin pour prendre
des décisions réfléchies au sujet de leurs propres relations.
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Egale Canada is opposed to raising the age of consent from
14 years to 16 years. Whether any of us think teenagers should be
having sex at 14 or 15 years of age, the fact is many Canadian
teens of this age are having sex. Some of them are having
consensual sex with their same-age peers, and some are having
consensual sex with adults. We as a society should be teaching
young people to make decisions for themselves. We want
teenagers to get reliable information about sex from their
schools, guidance counsellors, local health clinics, peer support
groups, friends and adults they can trust. If young people feel
their behaviour is criminal, we have good reason to believe they
will not seek help. They will not report a sexually transmitted
infection or get the necessary medical attention out of fear of
criminalizing their older partners. If school boards get the
impression that youth sexuality is being criminalized, they will
be apprehensive about offering sexual health education before
students turn 16 years. This bill effectively puts young Canadians
further at risk rather than offering them the protection and
education they need.

Egale Canada strongly supports any measure that truly
increases the safety and well-being of young people. However,
ramming a hastily prepared bill through Parliament with
negligible debate is not an effective way of doing this. If we are
serious about our youth, then we should not be subjecting them to
arbitrary parliamentary deadlines. Egale Canada is only one of
many concerned organizations in Canada with valuable insight to
share regarding this issue. Most of these organizations have not
had an opportunity to share their knowledge at all.

Young Canadians themselves, in particular, have been absent
from the debate. Parliamentarians should be taking the time to
actively speak with the teens who will be most affected by this law.
Genuine consultation on this issue would reveal the many
problematic holes in this bill, including the need to ensure
confidentiality for teens who access sexual health services and
education, or the discriminatory differentiation between the age
of consent for anal sex compared to that for other forms of sexual
relationships. This is something declared unconstitutional in
numerous provincial courts, yet Bill C-2 does nothing to address
existing discrimination or ameliorate existing risk factors for
sexually active youth.

As a community, gay, lesbian, and trans-gendered Canadians
know what it is like to be stigmatized as criminals and to be afraid
of seeking out the information and services that are necessary to
lead a healthy and emotionally fulfilling life. It is precisely around

Egale Canada s’oppose au relévement de 14 a 16 ans de 1’age
du consentement a une activité sexuelle. Peu importe que nous
estimions que les adolescents devraient ou ne devraient pas avoir
de relations sexuelles a I’age de 14 ou 15 ans, le fait demeure que
les adolescents canadiens de cet dge sont actifs sexuellement.
Certains ont des relations sexuelles consensuelles avec des jeunes
de leur age et d’autres des relations sexuelles consensuelles avec
des adultes. Notre société devrait apprendre aux jeunes a prendre
les décisions qui les concernent. Nous voulons que nos
adolescents puissent obtenir des renseignements fiables au sujet
du sexe en s’adressant a leurs écoles, a leurs orienteurs, aux
cliniques de santé locale, a des groupes de soutien constitués de
pairs, a des amis et des adultes en qui ils ont confiance. Si les
jeunes estiment que leur comportement est criminel, nous avons
de bonnes raisons de croire qu’ils n’iront pas chercher de I'aide. Ils
n’iront pas rapporter une maladie transmise sexuelle ni obtenir
des soins médicaux, parce qu’ils craindront de criminaliser leurs
partenaires s’ils sont agés. Si les conseils scolaires ont I'impression
que la sexualité des jeunes est criminalisée, ils hésiteront a offrir
des cours d’éducation sexuelle avant que les étudiants n’aient
atteint I’dge de 16 ans. Ce projet de loi a en réalité pour effet
d’aggraver les dangers auxquels sont exposés les jeunes
Canadiens, au lieu de leur offrir la protection et I’éducation
dont ils ont besoin.

Egale Canada appuie vigoureusement toute mesure qui a
véritablement pour effet d’améliorer la protection et le bien-étre
des jeunes. Cependant, adopter a la hate un projet de loi trop
rapidement préparé aprés un débat insuffisant n’est pas la
bonne fagon de procéder. Si nous voulons vraiment protéger
nos jeunes, nous ne devrions pas leur imposer des dates limites
parlementaires arbitraires. Egale Canada n’est qu’une des
organisations canadiennes concernées qui a une grande
expérience des problémes que soulévent ces mesures. La plupart
de ces organismes n’ont pas eu la possibilit¢é de vous
communiquer leurs connaissances.

Les jeunes Canadiens eux-mémes, en particulier, n’ont pas
participé a ce débat. Les parlementaires devraient prendre le
temps de chercher a parler aux adolescents, puisque ce sont eux
qui seront le plus directement touchés par cette loi. De véritables
consultations sur ces questions feraient apparaitre les nombreuses
lacunes de ce projet de loi, y compris la nécessité d’assurer la
confidentialité pour les jeunes qui ont accés a des services de santé
sexuelle ou a I’éducation sexuelle, ou la discrimination qu’entraine
la différence entre I’dge du consentement pour les relations
sexuelles anales et ’age applicable aux autres formes de relations
sexuelles. C’est un aspect qui a été déclaré inconditionnel par de
nombreux tribunaux provinciaux, et pourtant, le projet de loi C-2
ne fait rien pour mettre un terme a cette discrimination, ni pour
améliorer les facteurs de risque qui touchent, a I’heure actuelle, les
jeunes qui sont actifs sexuellement.

La communauté que constituent les gais, les lesbiennes et les
transsexuels du Canada sait ce que veut dire étre étiqueté comme
criminel et avoir peur de chercher I'information et les services
dont ils ont besoin pour mener une vie saine et affectivement
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the ages of 14 and 15 years that many young Canadians are
struggling to come to terms with their sexual identities.

Egale Canada is concerned that raising the age of consent and
inhibiting access to information and education will make it even
more difficult and emotionally strenuous for these young people
to understand their identities and to develop healthy and mature
relationships.

In order to meet its desirable intention of protecting Canadian
teens from physical and emotional harm, Bill C-2 must ensure
that youth have access to age-appropriate sexual health
education, to medical services where necessary and to
confidential and trustworthy counselling and advice regarding
sexual behaviour and intimate relationships. Egale Canada fears
that rolling this provision in with a bill labelled “tackling violent
crime” will have only the opposite effect.

On behalf of Egale Canada, we would like to thank you for
your diligence in considering all the potential effects of this bill.

Senator Stratton: Mr. Dyck, my question is with regard to
raising the age of consent from 14years to16 years of age. The first
concern is Internet luring. The second concern is older men
enticing women into prostitution. That happens often in my city
of Winnipeg. They get them hooked on drugs and then tell them
that they must pay for the drugs, with their only recourse being
prostitution. Those are real and honest concerns, and that is what
this bill is intended to address. When girls as young as 12 years
become hookers, there is a problem.

I was at an urgent care clinic on the weekend. While I was
waiting to be examined, the police brought in a young girl who
had been drinking too much. They had to have her medically
assessed before they took her to the detention centre overnight.
One of police officers was asking why she goes near that guy, who
he said was just bad news. “He” was an older guy, and the girl was
a young kid.

The police need tools to enable them to tell that older guy to
stay away from that girl or he will be charged. That is the kind of
individual the government is after. It is a red herring to suggest
that others would be caught in that. This is specific to the serious
Internet problems we are having and the problem of young boys
and girls being enticed into prostitution and drugs.

Mr. Dyck: I agree that is a significant problem that must be
addressed. However, there are already laws in place to address
those things. Raising the age of consent would make is possible to
punish people afterwards; it does not tackle the root problem, the
social circumstances that lead to these situations or the lack of

satisfaisante. C’est précisément vers I’age de 14 et 15 ans que la
plupart des jeunes Canadiens tentent d’établir leur identité
sexuelle.

Egale Canada estime qu’avec le relevement de I’dge du
consentement et le manque d’acces a l'information et
I’éducation, les jeunes éprouveront encore davantage de
difficultés a comprendre leur identité et a entretenir des
relations saines et responsables.

S’il veut atteindre son objectif louable qui consiste a protéger
les adolescents canadiens de tout dommage physique et affectif, le
projet de loi C-2 doit veiller a ce que les jeunes aient acces a une
éducation sexuelle adaptée a leur age, a des services médicaux
lorsque cela est nécessaire et a des services de counselling
confidentiels de qualité au sujet du comportement sexuel et des
relations intimes. Egale Canada craint qu’ajouter cette disposition
a un projet de loi intitulé « La lutte contre les crimes violents » ait
un effet contraire.

Au nom d’Egale Canada, nous aimerions vous remercier des
efforts que vous déployez pour examiner tous les effets potentiels
de ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Stratton : M. Dyck, ma question concerne le
relévement de 14 a 16 ans I’age du consentement a une activité
sexuelle. Ma premiére préoccupation est le leurre par Internet. La
deuxiéme concerne les hommes qui incitent les femmes a se livrer
a la prostitution. Cela se produit fréquemment a Winnipeg, ma
ville d’origine. Ils les rendent dépendantes des drogues et ils leur
disent ensuite qu’elles doivent payer pour les drogues, leur seul
recours ¢étant la prostitution. Ce sont la des préoccupations
véritables et ce sont la aussi les situations auxquelles le projet
de loi cherche a remédier. Lorsque des jeunes de 12 ans se
prostituent, cela veut dire qu’il y a un probléme.

Je me trouvais dans une clinique de soins d’urgence cette fin de
semaine. Pendant que jattendais qu’on m’examine, la police a
amené une jeune fille qui avait trop bu. Ils devaient lui faire passer
un examen médical avant de la garder pour la nuit dans un centre
de détention. Un des policiers lui a demandé pourquoi elle
fréquentait ce gars-1a, qui, a-t-il ajouté, ne valait pas grand-chose.
Ce gars-la était un gars agé et la fille trés jeune.

Les policiers ont besoin d’outils qui leur permettent d’obliger
un homme agé a cesser d’avoir des contacts avec une jeune fille,
sous peine d’étre inculpé. C’est le genre d’individu que le
gouvernement cherche a empécher de nuire. Il n’est pas utile de
faire croire que ces dispositions vont en fait s’appliquer a d’autres
personnes. Ce projet de loi vise précisément les graves problémes
que nous avons avec Internet et ainsi que le probléme qui vient du
fait qu’on incite les jeunes garcons et les jeunes filles a se livrer a la
prostitution et a consommer des drogues.

M. Dyck : Je reconnais que c’est 1a un probléme grave contre
lequel il faut lutter. I existe toutefois déja des dispositions
législatives qui répriment ce genre de choses. Le relévement de
I’age du consentement permet de punir ces personnes par la suite;
cette mesure ne s’attaque a 1’origine du probléme, a la situation
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education of young people in such situations, particularly the
dangers on the Internet.

Raising the age of consent brings with it a stigma of criminality
and the danger that we will not educate people about sex before
they reach 16 years of age, particularly in schools. It is imperative
that people get this information without fear prior to this
happening.

Senator Stratton: Professor Langevin, you have obviously
looked at predators. What age must children be for a predator to
be classified as a pedophile? We have the classic example of a
young hockey player who was trapped years ago. What is the age
limit? Would you not want to protect youngsters from
pedophiles?

Mr. Langevin: There are somewhat different parameters for
men, and it is mostly men, who are more attracted to girls rather
than boys. The typical heterosexual pedophile prefers girls in the
nine- to eleven-year age range, and there is a clear demarcation of
physical immaturity.

Men who are attracted to boys prefer somewhat older boys,
tending to be in the range of puberty — 13, 14, 15 years, where
there may be much more sexual confusion in the mind of the boy,
regardless of orientation.

People who commit sexual offences on minors are a very mixed
group. Some can respond to almost any human and will have sex
with men, women, boys and girls. They may also prefer other
dangerous activities. The sadist, for example, really wants to hurt,
control, injure, and even kill someone as part of his sexual
gratification. He may get equal satisfaction from a 14-year-old
girl, a 15-year-old boy, or a 20-year-old woman.

On the age of consent, the concern for groups like Beyond
Borders Inc. is probably that there are many children being
victimized. These children are not engaging in consensual sexual
relations; they are not learning about sex; much older men are
victimizing them. They are not learning about love and they are
certainly having many emotional difficulties as a result. The desire
of Beyond Borders is to protect children by raising the age of
consent to 16 years. I would agree that is a positive goal with
regard to protecting minors.

Senator Cowan: So you think that raising the age is generally a
positive move?

Mr. Langevin: Yes, I think it will eliminate many ambiguous
cases in which people get away with this type of abuse.

sociale qui a donné naissance a ce genre de circonstances, ni au
fait que les jeunes qui se trouvent dans ce genre de situation n’ont
pas été sensibilisés a certains dangers, en particulier ceux qui sont
reliés a Internet.

Le relévement de I’dge du consentement entraine avec lui un
stigmate de criminalité et risque d’empécher de fournir une
éducation sexuelle aux jeunes de moins de 16 ans, en particulier
dans les écoles. Il est essentiel que ces jeunes puissent obtenir ces
renseignements sans avoir a craindre quoi que ce soit avant que
cela se produise.

Le sénateur Stratton : M. Langevin, vous avez évidemment
examiné les prédateurs. Quel adge doivent avoir les enfants pour
que le prédateur soit classé comme un pédophile? Il y a I'exemple
classique du jeune joueur de hockey qui a été agressé il y a des
années. Quel est I’dge limite? Ne pensez-vous pas qu’il faille
protéger les jeunes contre les pédophiles?

M. Langevin : Les paramétres pour les hommes sont
légérement différents et les pédophiles sont principalement des
hommes; ils sont davantage attirés par les filles que par les
gargons. Le pédophile hétérosexuel typique préfére les filles de
neuf a 11 ans, une tranche d’age associé a un manque évident de
maturité physique.

Les hommes qui sont attirés par les gargons préférent les
garcons légérement plus agés, ceux qui ont atteint I’dge de la
puberté, 13, 14 et 15 ans, un age ou I’esprit du gargon, quel que
soit son orientation sexuelle, est beaucoup plus confus sur le plan
des activités sexuelles.

Les gens qui commettent des infractions sexuelles sur des
mineurs sont un groupe trés divers. Certaines personnes sont
attirées par pratiquement tous les étres humains et peuvent avoir
des relations sexuelles avec des hommes, des femmes, des gargons
et des filles. Il arrive également qu’ils préferent d’autres activités
dangereuses. Le sadique, par exemple, cherche a faire mal, a
controler, a blesser et méme a tuer son partenaire, en recherchant
une gratification sexuelle. Il peut obtenir la méme satisfaction
sexuelle en ayant des relations avec une fille de 14 ans, un gargon
de 14 ans ou une femme de 20 ans.

Pour ce qui et de I’age du consentement, des groupes comme
Beyond Borders Inc. s’inquié¢tent probablement du fait que de
nombreux enfants sont victimisés. Ces enfants n’ont pas de
relation sexuelle consensuelle, ils n’apprennent pas ce qu’est le
sexe, ce sont des hommes beaucoup plus 4gés qui les victimisent.
Ils n’apprennent pas ce qu’est "amour et ils souffrent ensuite de
graves troubles affectifs a cause de ces expériences. Beyond
Borders est un organisme qui souhaite protéger les enfants en
faisant passer I’dge du consentement a 16 ans. Je dirais que c’est
un but positif si ’on veut protéger les mineurs.

Le sénateur Cowan : Vous pensez donc que le relévement de
I’age du consentement est, d’une fagon générale, une mesure
positive?

M. Langevin : Oui, je pense que cela va faire cesser de
nombreuses situations ambigués dans lesquelles ce genre de
personnes commettent des agressions et s’en sortent indemnes.
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Senator Cowan: What is your view on the mandatory minimum
sentence? I am sure that as a psychologist you have had
experience with this kind of thing over the years. Do you
believe it is a deterrent? We have heard evidence that it is not, or is
not for everyone, and that the real deterrent is the fear of being
caught. If you do not think you will get caught, the sentence that
would be imposed if you were caught and convicted is not a
relevant consideration.

Mr. Langevin: Men who sexually assault women get longer
sentences; rapists tend to spend more time in jail, so it is in effect a
logical deterrent. They are not in a community to commit crimes,
so in that sense a longer sentence is effective. However, the great
majority of sex offenders, who are the bulk of dangerous
offenders, serve very little time in jail; one or two years are
usually the maximum sentence.

Raising the minimum required time will reduce the crime rate,
because those people will not be at large for longer periods of
time. However, the recidivism rate remains very high because they
are generally not incarcerated for an extended period of time.

Senator Cowan: Obviously, if he is in prison, he not offending
against society, although he may offend within the prison
population. The longer he is in prison, the less time he has to
commit his crimes. Does that have a deterrent effect on his
propensity to reoffend when he gets out, or does it have any
deterrent effect on others who might be considering committing
those kinds of offences?

Mr. Langevin: I do not believe it does because it is sexual
behaviour. Some of these men try very hard; they are well
socialized and they fight their urges. Others do not care; they
come from very dysfunctional alcoholic families. If you look at
the normal cycle of sexual arousal and release in the average
human being between the ages of 14 years and 65 years at least,
you are seeing release once or twice a week on average across that
whole span as a minimum. These people have to fight those urges
on a fairly regular basis and at some point they break. They let go
and something happens. It is extremely difficult, if they are not in
some kind of treatment program taking drugs that will prevent
their sexual arousal, to stop those urges. I think that is one of the
reasons you see such a high recidivism rate in this population. It is
a lifelong phenomenon that sticks with them.

Senator Merchant: Professor Langevin, if I understood you
correctly, you indicated that you felt that more criminalization
and more imprisonment would make for safer communities and
better crime control.

Le sénateur Cowan : Que pensez-vous de la peine minimale
obligatoire? Je suis stir que comme psychologue, vous avez connu
ce genre de choses au cours de votre carriére. Pensez-vous que
cette mesure ait un effet dissuasif? Certains témoins ont déclaré
qu’elle n’en avait pas, ou du moins pas pour tout le monde, et que
le véritable élément dissuasif était la crainte d’étre pris. Lorsque le
délinquant ne pense pas se faire prendre, la peine a laquelle il
serait condamné s’il était pris et déclaré coupable n’est pas un
¢élément pertinent.

M. Langevin : Les hommes qui agressent sexuellement les
femmes regoivent des peines plus longues; les violeurs passent
souvent davantage de temps en prison, de sorte que cela constitue
en effet un élément dissuasif. Ils ne sont pas en liberté et ne
peuvent donc commettre de crimes, de sorte que, dans un sens, il
est efficace d’aggraver les peines. Cependant, la grande majorité
des délinquants sexuels, qui constituent la plus grosse partie des
délinquants dangereux, purgent de tres courtes peines en prison;
un ou deux ans d’emprisonnement est habituellement la peine
maximale.

Le fait de prolonger la durée de la peine minimale entrainera
une réduction de la criminalité, parce que ces personnes ne seront
pas en liberté pendant de longues périodes. Le taux de récidive
demeurera toutefois trés élevé parce que ces délinquants ne sont
généralement pas incarcérés pendant de longues périodes.

Le sénateur Cowan : Evidemment, le délinquant qui est en
prison ne peut commettre des infractions contre la société, méme
s’il peut commettre des infractions au sein de la population
carcérale. S’il reste longtemps en prison, il aura moins de temps
pour commettre ces infractions. Est-ce que cela a un effet dissuasif
sur sa tendance a récidiver une fois remis en liberté ou est-ce que
cela a un effet dissuasif sur les autres personnes qui penseraient
commettre ce genre d’infractions?

M. Langevin : Je ne pense pas que cette mesure ait un effet
dissuasif parce qu’il s’agit d’'un comportement sexuel. Certains de
ces hommes font de gros efforts; ils sont bien intégrés dans la
société et luttent contre leurs pulsions. D’autres ne s’en
soucient pas; ils viennent de familles alcooliques, gravement
dysfonctionnelles. Sachant que le cycle normal d’excitation et de
libération sexuelle chez 1’étre humain moyen entre I’dge de 14 ans
et 65 ans au moins est de une a deux fois par semaine au
minimum, pendant toute cette période, vous constaterez que ces
gens doivent lutter réguliérement contre ces pulsions et qu’il leur
arrive & un moment donné d’y céder. Ils se laissent aller et font ce
qu'ils ne doivent pas faire. C’est une situation extrémement
difficile, s’ils ne participent pas a un programme de traitement et
ne prennent pas de drogues pour supprimer leur libido, pour
réprimer ces pulsions. C’est une des raisons pour lesquelles le taux
de récidive est si élevé dans cette population. C’est un phénomeéne
qu’ils connaitront toute leur vie.

Le sénateur Merchant : Monsieur Langevin, si je vous ai bien
compris, vous avez déclaré qu’en aggravant la répression et la
durée des peines, on protége mieux la population et la criminalité.
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Mr. Langevin: It will because it will make people less available
in the community to commit crimes from that perspective only. In
terms of rehabilitating and changing the individual, I do not know
that it will tackle the actual root cause, namely that they are
sexually attracted to children or to raping people.

Senator Merchant: Are you dealing just with sexual offenders?

Mr. Langevin: Yes; they are the majority of dangerous
offenders — that is, 90 per cent of them.

Senator Merchant: Are there some countries that we should be
looking at that have systems that could serve as models for this
country; that is, countries where they have had good results? If so,
what are they doing that maybe we should be thinking about
doing?

Mr. Langevin: Canada has been a world leader for at least the
last 40 years in the treatment of sexual offenders. Corrections
Canada has led the way.

I did not hear it mentioned today but one of the things for their
funding is the Circles of Support and Accountability. The sex
offender released under that program often, as a long-term
offender, has a group of people involved in his life as family. It is
not a question of being asked if he did it again but he is asked,
“How are you doing? What fun are you having?” That makes him
feel a sense of belonging and a sense of community that he may
have never had ever. It is very effective in reducing the risk of
reoffending to a marginally small number. That is probably the
best thing I have seen in the last 30 years for reducing recidivism,
because you have people involved that are seeing that they do not
fall into recidivism.

Senator Merchant: I did not get to question him about this, but
the previous guest said that Canada is a leader, especially in the
treatment of our Aboriginals. I think they mentioned New
Zealand and other countries that have come to us and are
learning from us. This is something we neglected to elicit from our
previous guests.

The Chair: Indeed, Professor Roberts said the same thing
yesterday: We are respected worldwide for some of these
programs.

Senator Oliver: Professor Langevin, I liked your presentation.
I thought it was very helpful and useful. As I understand it, you
basically say that your reading of Bill C-2 indicates that the bill
has some beneficial effects. You said that you believe the
proposed legislation may have a number of beneficial effects on
community safety and on changing offender attitudes in
complying with treatment.

One of the things I liked about your presentation is that it
was so candid. You were very frank. You say that Bill C-2,
the legislation as it stands assumes that psychiatrists and
psychologists are accurate predictors of risk of future sexual
and violent offenders. You were critical of a whole group of tests.

M. Langevin : Cela vient du fait que de cette fagon, ces gens ne
se trouvent pas en liberté et n’ont donc pas la possibilité de
commettre des infractions. Sur le plan de la réadaptation et de
I’amendement de l'individu, je ne pense pas que cela touche la
cause a lorigine de leur délinquance, a savoir qu’ils sont
sexuellement attirés par les enfants ou par le viol.

Le sénatear Merchant : Etudiez-vous uniquement les
délinquants sexuels?

M. Langevin : Oui; ils constituent la majorité des délinquants
dangereux — en fait, 90 p. 100 d’entre eux.

Le sénateur Merchant : Devrions-nous examiner ce qu’ont fait
des pays qui ont adopté des systémes qui pourraient servir de
modéles pour nous; des pays qui ont obtenu de bons résultats
dans ce domaine? Si c’est le cas, quelles sont les mesures qu’ils ont
adoptées et que nous devrions envisager de prendre nous aussi?

M. Langevin : Pour ce qui est du traitement des délinquants
sexuels, le Canada est un chef de file dans ce domaine depuis au
moins 40 ans. Le Service correctionnel du Canada est un pionnier.

Je ne les ai pas entendus mentionner aujourd’hui, mais le SCC
regoit des fonds pour les Cercles de soutien et de responsabilité.
Bien souvent, le délinquant sexuel qui est libéré dans le cadre de ce
programme, en qualité de délinquant a controéler, a une famille
artificielle, un groupe de personnes qui I’entourent. On ne lui
demande pas s’il a récidivé, mais on lui demande « Comment ¢a
va? Est-ce que tu fais des choses qui te plaisent? » Cela lui donne
un sentiment d’appartenance et le sentiment de faire partie d’une
collectivité qu’il n’a peut-étre jamais eu auparavant. C’est un
programme trés efficace qui réduit considérablement le risque de
récidive. C’est peut-étre le meilleur programme de lutte contre la
récidive que j’ai vu en 30 ans, parce qu’il y a des gens qui suivent
le délinquant pour qu’il ne récidive pas.

Le sénateur Merchant : Je n’ai pas posé de question a ce sujet,
mais le témoin précédent a déclaré que le Canada était un chef de
file, en particulier dans le traitement de nos Autochtones. Je pense
qu’ils ont parlé de la Nouvelle-Zélande et d’autres pays qui sont
venus étudier nos programmes. C’est une question que nous
avons omis de poser a nos témoins précédents.

La présidente : En fait, M. Roberts a dit la méme chose hier : le
Canada est respecté a I’étranger a cause de ces programmes.

Le sénateur Oliver : Monsieur Langevin, j’ai aimé votre exposé,
je lai trouvé trés utile. Si j’ai bien compris, vous dites
essentiellement que, selon vous, le projet de loi C-2 aura
certains effets bénéfiques. Vous avez déclaré que vous pensiez
que les mesures proposées auraient un certain nombre d’effets
positifs pour la sécurité de la collectivité et pour changer ’attitude
des délinquants et les amener a accepter des traitements.

Un des aspects de votre exposé que j’ai aimé est que vous avez
été treés franc. Vous avez été treés direct. Vous dites que le projet de
loi C-2, sous sa forme actuelle, part du principe que les
psychiatres et les psychologues sont en mesure de prédire avec
exactitude le risque de récidive des délinquants violents et des
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I will not repeat them but SORAG and many others are referred
to in your paper. You seem to think that we need something more
objective.

In terms of this legislation relying upon psychologists and
psychiatrists, what is wrong with that? Is it that their verbal
judgments are not accurate? Are there scientific tests and more
objective, qualitative and quantitative tests that could be applied?
If so, what are they and what do you recommend?

Mr. Langevin: Those actuarial measures are supposed to be
scientific and objective. For some of them, such as the Static-99,
you do not really need a human to administer them; take the
police report and feed it into a computer and you will come out
with a score saying whether they are a danger to the community.
You do not have to see the person.

Senator Oliver: But that is not accurate.

Mr. Langevin: It is being put forward at this time as a useful
index of a person’s risk to be in the community. Similarly with the
VRAG and the SORAG, people may do a crime search primarily
looking at their correctional history, then do a brief interview and
fill out all the instruments and come up with some score that
looks objective and states that there is an 80 per cent chance this
man will reoffend. The problem is that the accuracy of that is
about 6 per cent. You may as well take a dart and throw it over
your back into a board to come up with a more reliable index.

Senator Oliver: What is reliable, what is objective and what do
you recommend?

Mr. Langevin: I recommend examining the use of a weapon in
the offence. More damage is done when there is a weapon in the
offence. Typically, — and I have numbers in Table 2 —
73 per cent of the dangerous offenders and 28 per cent of the
other offenders have used a weapon in their sexual offence. When
a weapon is used, more physical damage is done to the victim and
he or she must be hospitalized. The victim is bruised, cut,
unconscious, and sometimes dead. I am talking about this in
terms of objective criterion of physical injury to the person that
can be used in an evaluation of the danger to the victim. That is
one thing.

Senator Oliver: You would need to go on and look at various
types of weapons to determine which would make the risk higher,
would you not? If so, have you done that analysis?

Mr. Langevin: I have looked at them and it is interesting that
most of them use knives. When you look at people who are
drinking or drunk at the time, about half of them are using a
weapon. When alcohol is involved, there is likely to be more harm
to the victim and it is a weapon of convenience. It is more

délinquants sexuels. Vous avez critiqué toute une série d’outils
utilisés par eux. Je ne vais pas les énumérer a nouveau mais vous
mentionnez dans votre mémoire le SORAG et de nombreux
autres. Vous semblez penser qu’il faudrait disposer de tests plus
objectifs.

Pourquoi le fait que ce projet de loi s’appuie sur le travail des
psychologues et des psychiatres est-il mauvais? Cela vient-il du
fait que leurs jugements ne sont pas précis? Existe-t-il des tests
scientifiques et plus objectifs, des tests qualitatifs et quantitatifs
que ’on pourrait utiliser? Si c’est le cas, quels sont-ils et quels sont
ceux que vous recommanderiez?

M. Langevin : Ces mesures actuarielles sont en théorie
scientifiques et objectives. Pour certaines d’entre elles, comme le
Static-99, il n’est méme pas nécessaire que ce test soit administré
par un étre humain; il suffit de prendre le rapport de police, d’en
saisir les données dans un ordinateur et vous obtenez un score qui
vous dit si le délinquant en question constitue un danger pour la
collectivité. Il n’est méme pas nécessaire de voir la personne.

Le sénateur Oliver : Mais il n’est pas précis.

M. Langevin : On présente a I’heure actuelle ce test comme un
indice utile du risque que représente une personne donnée pour la
collectivité. De la méme fagon, avec le VRAG et le SORAG, les
gens peuvent établir une liste des crimes commis par la personne,
en examinant principalement leurs antécédents correctionnels,
procéder ensuite a une bréve entrevue, remplir tous les
instruments et obtenir un score qui a l'air objectif et qui
mentionne que le délinquant en question a 80 p. 100 des
chances de récidiver. Le probléme est que I'exactitude d’un tel
test est d’environ 6 p. 100. Il serait tout aussi efficace de lancer
une fléchette vers une cible les yeux fermés; en fait on détiendrait
ainsi un indice plus fiable.

Le sénateur Oliver : Quels sont les tests fiables, objectifs que
vous recommandez?

M. Langevin : Je recommande d’examiner ['utilisation dune
arme dans la perpétration d’une infraction. Lorsque I'infraction
est commise a l'aide d’une arme, elle entraine davantage de
dommage. Habituellement — et j’ai les chiffres dans le tableau 2,
73 p. 100 des délinquants dangereux et 28 p. 100 des autres
délinquants ont utilis¢é une arme dans la perpétration de leur
infraction sexuelle. Lorsqu’on utilise une arme, on cause des
lésions corporelles a la victime qui doit étre hospitalisée. La
victime a des ecchymoses, elle est lacérée, inconsciente et parfois
morte. Je parle de cet aspect comme d’un critére objectif des
lésions corporelles causées a une personne qui peut étre utilisé
pour évaluer le danger que représente le délinquant pour la
victime. C’est un élément.

Le sénateur Oliver : Il faudrait donc tenir compte des divers
types d’armes utilisées pour savoir si cela aggrave le risque, n’est-
ce pas? Si c’est le cas, avez-vous effectué cette analyse?

M. Langevin : J’ai examiné ces aspects et il est intéressant de
noter que la plupart des délinquants utilisent des couteaux. La
moitié environ des personnes qui buvaient ou étaient ivres au
moment de I'infraction ont utilisés une arme. Lorsque le facteur
alcool est présent, la probabilité que la victime subisse des
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emotionally satisfying for a sadist to use because if a person is
frightened of a weapon you can hold it to their throat and torture
them. However, with a gun you shoot them and they are dead;
that is it. For them, it is pre-empted foreplay. They will turn to the
knife as a weapon. There is also strangulation. The difference is
47 per cent of the dangerous offenders versus 9 per cent of the
non-dangerous offenders. Strangulation is also exciting because
they are in their control and they enjoy that. These are objective
criterion. Concerning the victim injury, you can get hospital
reports to see whether you want to pursue an application.

Senator Oliver: Is there any researcher, any scientist, or any
agency in Canada that has used the various criteria for their risk
assessment tests?

Mr. Langevin: Yes, there is one item in the VRAG and the
SORAG measures that I mentioned. It is the opposite of what you
would expect. If a person is murdered, the offender is considered
the least risk of future offence. You would not want a murderer
out on the street again. If there is more injury, then it is an
intermediate score; it is illogical. It is the reverse of what you
would anticipate as a danger, that the offender might harm
someone again. Those are some of the criterion that could play a
role.

Alcohol is also a perennial problem. You have heard how
many people in Correctional Service Canada are alcoholics. On
average, about one-half of all sex offenders and non-sexual
violent offenders are alcoholics. You also see in Table 3 that
among the dangerous offenders, 60 per cent of them are using
drugs at the time of their offence.

Senator Oliver: Alcohol and drugs?

Mr. Langevin: One or the other, often both. The people who
use drugs tend to be far more violent. Among sex killers, far more
of them are using drugs such as amphetamine or crystal meth,
which tends to spark their own violence.

Senator Oliver: When you were talking about the 3,000 cases
you have, you said you have a unique way of gathering the
information; you went to the RCMP, hospitals and many other
places. Then you said that there are many informal offences that
have not been detected.

Does that mean there have been a number of crimes that makes
it almost impossible to have accurate statistics about crime in
Canada?

violences est augmentée et c’est une arme de choix. C’est une arme
qui est plus satisfaisante sur le plan des émotions pour un sadique
parce que si la victime a peur de I’arme, il peut la lui mettre sur la
gorge et la torturer. Avec une arme de poing, le délinquant tire
et la victime est morte; c’est terminé. Cela supprime les
préliminaires. Les délinquants préférent utiliser un couteau
comme arme. Il y a aussi ’étranglement. La différence est de
47 p. 100 pour les délinquants dangereux contre 9 p. 100 pour les
délinquants non dangereux. L’étranglement est également un
moyen excitant parce que le délinquant exerce un contrdle sur sa
victime et il en retire du plaisir. Ce sont 1a des critéres objectifs.
Pour ce qui est des blessures subies par la victime, on peut
examiner les rapports d’hépital pour voir s’il y a lieu de présenter
une demande de déclaration de délinquant dangereux.

Le sénateur Oliver : Y a-t-il au Canada, un chercheur, un
scientifique ou une agence qui ait utilisé ces divers critéres pour le
processus d’évaluation du risque?

M. Langevin : Oui, j’ai mentionné un des éléments du VRAG
et du SORAG. C’et le contraire de ce a quoi vous pourriez vous
attendre. Lorsqu’une personne est assassinée, on considére que
lauteur de I'infraction est celui qui risque le moins de récidiver.
On ne voudrait pas qu’un meurtrier se retrouve en liberté. S’il y a
eu des blessures, alors 'auteur de I'infraction obtient une note
intermédiaire. Cela n’est pas logique. C’est le contraire de ce que
I’on pourrait prévoir pour ce qui est du danger, a savoir du danger
que le délinquant attaque quelqu’un d’autre. Ce sont la quelques-
uns des critéres qui peuvent jouer un role.

L’alcool est également un probléme qui perdure. On vous a dit
quel était le pourcentage des personnes détenues par le Service
correctionnel Canada qui étaient alcooliques. En moyenne, prés
de la moitié de tous les délinquants sexuels et de tous les
délinquants violents non sexuels sont alcooliques. Vous pouvez
également voir dans le tableau 3 que 60 p. 100 des délinquants
dangereux avaient consommé des drogues au moment de la
perpétration de I'infraction.

Le sénateur Oliver : L’alcool et les drogues?

M. Langevin : L’un ou l'autre, souvent les deux. Les personnes
qui consomment des drogues ont tendance a étre beaucoup plus
violentes. Un trés grand nombre des personnes qui commettent
des meurtres liés au sexe consomment des drogues comme les
amphétamines ou le crystal meth, des drogues qui ont tendance a
déclencher d’elles-mémes la violence.

Le sénateur Oliver : Lorsque vous parlez de vos 3 000 dossiers,
vous dites que vous avez une facon unique de recueillir ces
renseignements; vous vous étes adressé a la GRC, aux hopitaux et
a de nombreuses autres sources. Vous avez ensuite déclaré qu’il
existait de nombreuses infractions non formelles qui n’étaient
jamais signalées.

Cela veut-il dire qu’il est pratiquement impossible d’obtenir des
statistiques exactes au sujet de la criminalité au Canada a cause de
ces infractions?
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Mr. Langevin: Yes, I think if you looked at the offence rate,
used the provincial and federal records together; you would
capture 80 per cent of the cases.

Senator Oliver: Therefore, you would not know about
20 per cent.

Mr. Langevin: That is still pretty good. When they talk about
reoffending, you are only moving it up to 90 per cent. People do
not tell us that any more. This is from the days when they thought
we could cure them and everybody had a positive attitude.

Now, there are 20 per cent or less who will tell us they have a
sexual problem or that they had committed an offence. There is
less candour now.

Senator Oliver: What do you call these undetected informal
offences? Do most of these offences take place within a home?

Mr. Langevin: Not necessarily. They are sexual offences.

Senator Oliver: Do they take place in an office?

Mr. Langevin: More often not. They are more informal. They
can be in homes, bars, cars or in parks. Those are the more
common scenarios. With children, often the car is used or if they
are babysitting. There are quite a range of settings, not necessarily
just homes.

Senator Di Nino: Professor Langevin, we had heard from more
than one witness about the efforts of CSC about their efforts of
training and treatment, particularly of those who have been
convicted of some of the major crimes, such as violent crimes and
repeat offenders, et cetera. Are you familiar with the programs
and if so what is your opinion?

Mr. Langevin: There are a range of programs, such as
substance abuse, anger management and sex offender treatment
relapse prevention therapy. There is the use of medication and
drugs, such as sex drive reducing drugs. Of course, they also treat
major mental illnesses with the appropriate medications.

The idea is good and it works for some people. For some, it
only works temporarily because they are released to an
unstructured environment where they run into the problems
they had before they went to jail.

Many of the problems I have encountered, and I have used
many of these treatment methods myself, if you look at Table 3
with respect to the academic achievement of these individuals,
many of them are high school dropouts who have learning
disabilities. They also have cognitive impairment. There is at least
one-third overall who have significant brain dysfunction and they
have trouble processing information. In some ways, you may as

M. Langevin : Oui, je pense que si vous cherchiez a établir le
nombre d’infractions en utilisant a la fois les dossiers provinciaux
et les dossiers fédéraux vous arriveriez a recenser 80 p. 100 des
dossiers.

Le sénateur Oliver : Il vous manquerait donc 20 p. 100.

M. Langevin : Ce n’est tout de méme pas si mal. Si I’on parle de
récidive, ce pourcentage passe a 90 p. 100. Les gens ne nous disent
plus tout. Cela remonte a la période ou les délinquants pensaient
que nous pouvions les guérir et ou tout le monde avait une
attitude positive.

Aujourd’hui, il y a 20 p. 100 des délinquants ou un peu moins
qui nous déclarent avoir un probléme sexuel ou avoir commis une
infraction. Ils sont moins francs aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Oliver : Comment appelez-vous ces infractions non
formelles non signalées? Est-ce que la plupart de ces infractions
sont commises dans un logement?

M. Langevin : Pas nécessairement. Ce sont des infractions
sexuelles.

Le sénateur Oliver : Sont-elles commises dans un bureau?

M. Langevin : Le plus souvent non. Ce sont des infractions non
formelles. Elles peuvent étre commises dans des logements, des
bars, des voitures ou dans les parcs. Ce sont la les scénarios les
plus courants. Avec les enfants, on utilise souvent la voiture ou
ces infractions sont commises par la personne qui les garde. [1y a
toute une série de lieux possibles, ce ne sont pas toujours des
logements.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Monsieur Langevin, plusieurs témoins
nous ont parlé des efforts qu’avait déployés le SCC en matiére de
formation et de traitement, en particulier pour ceux qui ont été
déclarés coupables d’un crime grave, comme les crime violents et
les récidivistes, et le reste. Connaissez-vous ces programmes et si
c’est le cas, qu’en pensez-vous?

M. Langevin : Il y a différents programmes, comme la
toxicomanie, la gestion de la colére et les thérapies visant la
prévention de la rechute en matiére d’infraction sexuelle. On
utilise également des médicaments, notamment ceux qui ont pour
effet de réduire la libido. Bien entendu, le service traite également
les principales maladies mentales avec des médicaments
appropriés.

L’idée est bonne et donne de bons résultats pour certains
délinquants. Pour d’autres, les bons résultats ne durent pas, parce
que les détenus sont ensuite relachés dans un environnement non
structuré ou ils retrouvent les problémes qui étaient les leurs avant
d’étre incarcérés.

La plupart des probléemes que j’ai observés — et j’ai moi-méme
utilisé la plupart de ces méthodes de traitement. Si vous examinez
le tableau 3 pour ce qui est de la scolarité de ces personnes, vous
constaterez que la plupart d’entre elles n’ont pas terminé leurs
études secondaires et ont des problémes d’apprentissage. Elles ont
aussi des déficiences intellectuelles. Il y a au moins un tiers des
détenus qui souffrent de troubles de fonctionnement du cerveau et
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well be talking to the door. I think there needs to be special
methods introduced to deal with these people. There also needs to
be a change in their attitude. These people hate —

Senator Di Nino: Whose attitude, the inmates’?

Mr. Langevin: In the attitude of people in general about people
with learning problems in school, and of the inmates. I am talking
about the inmates. Many of them develop a tremendous dislike
for learning situations. In school, they are characteristically
tormented: You are stupid; you are going to the happy class; you
are a dummy. They are so demeaned, and they are so glad to get
out of school. That is why you see such a high rate of dropouts.
Then you put them back into a therapy situation where they are
often in a group, they are given homework to do, they are back in
the classroom and they hate it. Much of the time, cost has taken
precedence over what would be more effective in dealing with
them as individuals. That is one basic problem.

You also have a total disregard or really an ignorance of the
neural problems that many of these people have. You can see
from Table 3 that there are tremendous amounts of head injuries.
In some cases, the sexual behaviour occurs after that injury. It is
triggered by some change in their brain and their personality.

ADHD is also ignored. There are studies showing that up to
40 per cent of sex offenders suffer from attention deficit
hyperactivity disorder. It is a treatable condition that is not
dealt with. Endocrine disorders are not dealt with, either;
although they can promote aggression in their own right as
well, particularly diabetes.

The thrust of the programs is positive and they will work for
some people. Some people take them away and they are really
good for them. However, on the whole, you need to address these
problems when you are trying to teach them. You cannot just put
them into the mainstream classroom lecture that so often occurs
in anger management and alcohol programs and so on.

Senator Di Nino: Are you saying that the solution starts earlier
and should be different than what we are doing today?

Mr. Langevin: Yes, certainly earlier is always better. It would
be better if we could intervene at the school level. Many of these
people are getting grades of 38 per cent or 40 per cent coming
from special education classes. There is something going on way
back then, and it is often at the public school level.

Senator Di Nino: Mr. Dyck, did you know that the predecessor
to Bill C-2, at least on the issue that you are addressing, was
Bill C-22 called the age of protection, which has been in the
parliamentary precinct for nearly two years? Are you familiar
with that?

qui ont de la difficulté a traiter I'information. D’une certaine
fagon, c’est un peu comme si vous parliez a un mur. J’estime qu’il
faudrait utiliser des méthodes spéciales pour rejoindre ces
personnes. Il faut également modifier leur attitude. Ces gens
n’aiment pas du tout...

Le sénateur Di Nino : Quelle attitude, celle des détenus?

M. Langevin : L’attitude qu’adoptent généralement les gens a
I’égard des personnes qui ont des problémes d’apprentissage a
I’école et celle des détenus. Je parle des détenus. La plupart d’entre
eux ont appris 4 fuir les situations d’apprentissage. A 1’école, on se
moque généralement d’eux : tu es stupide; tu vas aller dans la
classe spéciale; tu es idiot. On les rabaisse tellement qu’ils sont trés
heureux de quitter 1’école. C’est pourquoi il y a un si grand
nombre de décrocheurs. Vous les remettez ensuite dans une
situation de thérapie ou ils se retrouvent, bien souvent, en groupe,
avec du travail a faire aprés la séance, et ils ont le sentiment d’étre
dans une salle de classe et ils n’aiment pas ¢a du tout. La plupart
du temps, le cott financier I'emporte sur ’efficacité de la méthode
a utiliser pour ces personnes. C’est 1a un probléme essentiel.

On ne tient également aucun compte ou on ignore totalement
les problemes neuraux dont souffrent une bonne partie de ces
personnes. Vous pouvez voir avec le tableau 3 qu’un trés grand
nombre de ces délinquants souffrent de traumatismes craniens.
Dans certains cas, le comportement sexuel déviant n’a été est
adopté qu’aprés le traumatisme. Il est déclenché par un
changement dans leur cerveau et dans leur personnalité.

On ne tient pas compte non plus de ’hyperactivité avec déficit
de l’attention. Selon certaines études, prés de 40 p. 100 des
délinquants sexuels souffrent de ce genre d’hyperactivité. C’est
une maladie qui peut étre traitée mais dont on ne s’occupe pas. On
ne s’occupe pas non plus de troubles endocriniens; méme s’ils
peuvent étre a 1'origine de tendances agressives, en particulier le
diabéte.

L’effet de ces programmes est positif et donne de bons résultats
pour certains. Il y a des détenus qui les suivent et a qui cela réussit
trés bien. Cependant, dans I’ensemble, il faut essayer de résoudre
ces problémes lorsqu’on essaie de leur enseigner quelque chose.
On ne peut pas se contenter de les placer dans une salle de classe
comme on le fait si souvent pour les programmes de gestion de la
colére et de lutte contre ’alcoolisme.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Pensez-vous que la solution serait
d’intervenir plus tot et différemment de ce que I'on fait
aujourd’hui.

M. Langevin : Oui, il est toujours préférable d’intervenir trés
tot. Ce serait mieux si nous pouvions intervenir au niveau
scolaire. La plupart de ces gens obtiennent des notes de 38 a
40 p. 100 dans des classes d’éducation spécialisée. On peut déceler
certaines choses dés ce moment 1a et cela se passe bien souvent
dans les écoles publiques.

Le sénateur Di Nino : M. Dyck, savez-vous que le projet de loi
qui a précédé le projet de loi C-2, au moins sur la question dont
vous avez parlé, était le projet de loi C-22 appelé I’dge de
protection, qui a été présenté au Parlement, il y a bientdt deux
ans? Etes-vous au courant de ce contexte?
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Mr. Dyck: Yes.

Senator Di Nino: Knowing that, do you still think that we are
dealing with this piece of legislation hastily and with negligible
debate? Do you think that 22 months of debate is hasty and
negligible?

Mr. Dyck: In the current context, I understand this bill was set
to come before the Senate in the fall when Parliament was
prorogued and it is only being debated now.

The extent to which youth primarily have been included into
the discussion I think is quite negligible. There have been few
young people contacted with regard to this bill. Egale Canada was
only contacted yesterday in order to speak on this issue.

Right now, it is quite hasty. It is being put together with violent
crimes, which sends the wrong signal and the wrong stigma for
sure.

Senator Di Nino: Some would argue that the bill also deals with
some violent components and that is why it is included.

In your paragraph about where teenagers should get reliable
information, you talk about their schools, guidance counsellors,
local health clinics, peer support groups, friends they can trust
and adults they can trust. You did not mention family. Was there
a particular reason for leaving out the family?

Mr. Dyck: No, my apologies. It was not intentional to omit the
family.

Senator Di Nino: Would you agree that the youth should be
speaking to their families. In my opinion, they should, and
families should be one of their main sources of information and
guidance.

Mr. Dyck: A family certainly should be a source of guidance.

Senator Di Nino: Lastly, I am not sure I fully understand what
you are saying, and I ask this question respectfully. Do you
believe that it is quite okay for a 14-year-old and a 44-year-old to
engage in sexual relations?

Mr. Dyck: It is not my intention to make a value judgment on
particular relationships. I think that is a very individual case.

Senator Di Nino: I think your paper suggests or indicates that
if that happens that should be all right.

Mr. Dyck: It is contingent on the individual cases, and there is
not a blanket statement that applies to every single 14-year-old in
this country. It is something that should be left to the courts, for
one, and to individuals to be educated and make informed
decisions on their own.

M. Dyck : Oui.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Sachant cela, pensez-vous toujours que
nous avons examiné hativement cette mesure législative sans tenir
un véritable débat? Pensez-vous qu’un débat qui dure 22 mois est
un débat hatif et insuffisant?

M. Dyck : Dans le contexte actuel, je crois savoir que le projet
de loi devait étre présenté au Sénat a I’automne, au moment ou le
Parlement était prorogé et que le débat vient tout juste de
commencer.

Je dirais que la participation des jeunes a cette discussion a été
trés faible. Il n’y a pas eu beaucoup de jeunes qui ont été contacté
au sujet de ce projet de loi. Egale Canada n’était invité qu’hier a
parler de cette question.

A I’heure actuelle, cet examen est trés rapide. Cela est combiné
avec les crimes violents, ce qui envoie un message inadapté et
entraine un stigmate inapproprié.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Certains diraient que le projet de loi
traite également de certains aspects violents et que c’est la raison
pour laquelle cela est mentionné.

Dans le passage de votre exposé ou vous parlez des personnes
auprés de qui les adolescents devraient pouvoir obtenir des
renseignements fiables, vous parlez de leurs écoles, de leur
orienteurs, des cliniques de santé locale, des groupes de soutien
formés par des pairs, des amis et des adultes auxquels ils peuvent
faire confiance. Vous ne parlez pas de la famille. Y a-t-il une
raison particuliere pour laquelle vous n’avez pas mentionné la
famille?

M. Dyck : Non, excusez-moi. Ce n’était pas mon intention
d’omettre la famille.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Admettez-vous que les jeunes devraient
parler avec des membres de leurs familles. A mon avis, ils
devraient le faire et la famille devrait étre une de leur principale
source d’information et de conseils.

M. Dyck : La famille devrait certainement étre une source de
conseils.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Enfin, je ne suis pas str d’avoir bien
compris ce que vous dites et je vous pose cette question
sincérement. Pensez-vous qu’il est normal que quelqu'un de
14 ans ait des relations sexuelles avec quelqu’un de 44 ans?

M. Dyck : Je n’ai pas I'intention de porter un jugement sur des
relations particuliéres. Je pense que c’est un cas trés particulier.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je pense que votre mémoire laisse
entendre que cela serait normal qu'une telle chose arrive.

M. Dyck : Cela dépend des cas individuels et il n’y a pas de
déclaration générale qui puisse s’appliquer a tous les jeunes de 14
ans de notre pays. C’est un aspect qui devrait étre laissé aux
tribunaux, d’abord, et les individus devraient étre éduqués pour
qu’ils puissent prendre eux-mémes des décisions éclairées dans ce
domaine.
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Senator Di Nino: If it is so-called consensual, it would never go
to the courts, so it would be an act that would be admissible, at
least in what I am reading from your presentation.

Mr. Dyck: It is Egale’s position that it is entirely possible for a
consensual relationship to exist.

Senator Andreychuk: Are you saying that for the purposes of
sexual activity we should make no difference between children
and adults? If they wish to participate in a sexual activity, you do
not see where the adult might have an undue influence and ability
to create an environment that may be negative to the younger
person in the relationship. Are you saying it is just a “check it
out,” it is up to them, and if the 14-year-old wants to engage with
a 44-year-old you do not make any value judgment that maybe
the 44-year-old might have some undue influence on a maturing
mind? You are saying they are totally competent to make that
decision?

Mr. Dyck: That is not precisely what I am saying. First, if there
is a situation where there is undue influence, the laws are in place
against any sort of abuse or sexual exploitation for any minor. In
terms of 14-year-olds or 15-year-olds, certainly under the age of
14 is already protected as the current age of consent.

It is our position that age of consent stands quite well where it
is, and we need to ensure the people in that age group are getting
the education in order to ensure, if they are having sexual
relationships, that they are in a consensual relationship and able
to make those mature decisions. We are talking about youth
between the ages of 14 years and 16 years specifically right now,
not young children.

Senator Andreychuk: Do you buy into the proposition, let us
say, that from our birth, we grow, mature and develop, and at
some point, society says you are an adult, you can assume your
full responsibilities but before that age you cannot. What you
are saying is that cut off should be 14 years not 16 years. If
I understand, you do not think it is all right for an adult to have
sexual activity with someone less than 14 years, but you think it is
all right over the age of 14 because they have sufficient maturity
to make good judgments about their activity. Why is 14 years of
age better than 16 years of age in your opinion?

Mr. Dyck: The statistics that I have seen show that people
at that age are sexually active. Quite a large number of them
are sexually active. Rather than driving them underground —
14 years or 16 years are both under the legal age of an adult
according to society. It is a matter of finding an age where they
need this education in order to make those decisions because this
is where it is happening. We need to make sure they are
consensual, that they know what they are doing, they have
reliable information, and if things happen, they are able to get
help or information. They have to be able to get this information

Le sénateur Di Nino : Si les relations sont ce qu’on appelle
consensuelles, les tribunaux n’interviendront pas, ce serait donc
un acte acceptable, du moins d’aprés ce que j’ai compris de votre
exposeé.

M. Dyck : Egale estime qu’il est tout a fait possible qu’il existe
une relation consensuelle.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Affirmez-vous qu’en matiére
d’activité sexuelle, il ne faut pas faire de différence entre les
enfants et les adultes? S’ils veulent exercer une activité sexuelle,
vous ne pensez pas que ’adulte peut exercer une influence indue et
qu’il soit en mesure de créer un environnement qui risque d’avoir
un effet négatif sur I’adolescent qui vit cette relation. Affirmez-
vous que c’est une question d’information, que c’est a eux de
décider et que si un jeune de 14 ans veut avoir des rapports avec
une personne de 44 ans, vous ne faites pas de jugement de valeur
et vous ne dites pas que la personne de 44 ans exerce peut-étre une
influence injustifiée sur un jeune esprit. Dites-vous que les jeunes
sont tout a fait en mesure de prendre ce genre de décision?

M. Dyck : Ce n’est pas exactement ce que je dis. Premiérement,
s’il y a un cas d’influence injustifiée, il y a des lois qui répriment ce
genre d’abus ou d’exploitation sexuelle d’'un mineur. Pour ce qui
est des jeunes de 14 ou 15 ans, il y a le fait que les jeunes de moins
de 14 ans sont déja protégés avec I’age du consentement actuel.

Notre position est que 1’age du consentement actuel devrait
étre conserve, et qu’il faut veiller a ce que les jeunes qui font partie
de cette catégorie d’age obtiennent I'information dont ils ont
besoin pour étre sirs, dans le cas ou ils auraient des relation
sexuelles, qu’ils se trouvent dans une relation consensuelle et
qu’ils sont en mesure de prendre des décisions raisonnées. 11 s’agit
ici de jeunes qui ont entre 14 et 16 ans, ce ne sont donc pas de
jeunes enfants.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Admettez-vous qu’aprés leur
naissance, les enfants grandissent, se développent et qu’a un
moment donné, la société leur dit qu’ils sont des adultes, qu’ils
peuvent exercer toutes les responsabilités mais qu’avant d’avoir
atteint cet age, ils ne le peuvent pas. Vous dites que cette limite
devrait étre placée a 14 ans et non pas a 16 ans. Si j’ai bien
compris, vous ne pensez pas qu’il soit acceptable qu’un adulte ait
des relations sexuelles avec une personne de moins de 14 ans, mais
vous pensez que c’est acceptable si celle-ci a plus de 14 ans parce
qu’elle a suffisamment de maturité pour avoir un jugement éclairé
au sujet de ses activités. Pourquoi pensez-vous qu’il est préférable
de placer cette limite a 14 ans plutét qu’a 16 ans.

M. Dyck : Les statistiques que j’ai examinées indiquent que les
jeunes de cet age sont actifs sexuellement. Il y a un grand nombre
d’entre eux qui sont actifs sexuellement. Plutot que de les forcer a
se cacher — les jeunes de 14 ou 16 ans n’ont pas I’age 1égal pour
voir des relations avec un adulte d’aprés ce que dit la société. Il
s’agit de choisir un age a partir duquel ils ont besoin d’avoir accés
a ces renseignements pour prendre ce genre de décisions parce que
c’est a ce moment-la qu’ils sont actifs. Il faut veiller a ce que ces
relations soient consensuelles, a ce que les jeunes sachent ce qu’ils
font, qu’ils disposent de renseignements fiables, et que, s’ils leur
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while not fearing stigmatizing or criminalizing their older
partners.

Senator Andreychuk: That is my point. I still do not understand
why you believe that someone without the age of majority can
make all those choices. We as a society are not stigmatizing a
child who may want to experiment, a young person who is in
activity. There is the age exemption clause; it is not the curiosity
of the child. What we are saying is if you are an adult and you
approach someone of that age that you have some responsibilities
to curtailing your activity, not the child’s activity.

Mr. Dyck: Absolutely, but I do not see that it makes much
difference changing it from 14 years to 16 years. The paramount
effect we see is the lack of education that will happen to the young
children.

Senator Andreychuk: Is the lack of education happening now?

Mr. Dyck: Yes.

Senator Andreychuk: Young people are reticent to reach out for
that?

Mr. Dyck: Yes, there is a culture of fear. A lot of people do not
know they can. To raise the age even further —

Senator Andreychuk: Your fear is it might be accelerated.

Mr. Dyck: Absolutely.

Senator Andreychuk: Do you not see this legislation is putting
the onus on the adult, not the child? We will still have all the
problems of getting education to young people and their reticence
to reach out for it, but the law will signal to adults not to
approach anyone less than 16 years of age. That is the intent, as
I understand this legislation, and do you support that?

Mr. Dyck: I do; I think that is already in place.

Senator Andreychuk: Professor Langevin, all of your tables
point out that the dangerous offenders are more violent, abuse
substances more often, have had much more sexual and violent
offences, appear in court more often, have committed crimes in
more cities, have had more problems.

In other words, how we are trying to attack the issue of
dangerous repeat offenders seems to be working. It is not perfect
but it is working; is that my understanding, or do you think we
are on the wrong road?

arrivent quoi que ce soit, ils sauront comment obtenir de I’aide ou
de l’information. Il faut qu’il puisse avoir accés a cette
information sans craindre de stigmatiser ou de criminaliser leurs
partenaires agés.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : C’est 1a ou je voulais en venir. Je
ne comprends toujours pas pourquoi vous pensez qu'une
personne qui n’a pas I’age de la majorité peut faire tous ces
choix. La société ne stigmatise pas l’enfant qui veut faire des
expériences, I’adolescent qui est sexuellement actif. Il y a la clause
qui accorde une exemption en matiére d’age; ce n’est pas la
curiosité de I’enfant. Nous disons simplement qu’un adulte qui
prend contact avec quelqu’un de cet dge a la responsabilité de
limiter ses activités, non pas celle de ’enfant.

M. Dyck : Absolument, mais je ne vois pas pourquoi cela fait
autant de différence de passer de 14 a 16 ans. L’aspect essentiel
d’aprés nous est que les jeunes enfants n’ont pas accés a de
I’éducation dans ce domaine.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Ce probléme d’accés a I’éducation
existe-t-il a I’heure actuelle?

M. Dyck : Oui.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Les jeunes hésitent-ils a demander
des renseignements?

M. Dyck : Oui, il y a un sentiment de peur qui est trés répandu.
Il y a beaucoup de gens qui ne savent pas qu’ils peuvent avoir
accés a cette information. Si ’on reléve encore I’age...

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous craignez que cela n’aggrave la
situation.

M. Dyck : Absolument.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Ne comprenez-vous pas que ce projet
de loi impose un fardeau a I’adulte et non pas a 'enfant? Il y aura
toujours le probléme de 1’éducation sexuelle pour les jeunes et
celui de leur réticence a demander de l'information, mais la
loi signalera aux adultes qu’ils ne doivent pas s’approcher des
personnes de moins de 16 ans. C’est 1a 'intention du projet de loi,
d’apres ce que j’ai compris, et j’aimerais savoir si vous étes en
faveur de ce projet de loi?

M. Dyck : Je le suis; je pense que cela existe déja.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : A I’heure actuelle, monsieur
Langevin, tous vos tableaux montrent que les délinquants
dangereux sont plus violents que les autres, consomment
davantage de drogues, commettent davantage d’infractions
violentes et sexuelles, comparaissent plus fréquemment devant
les tribunaux, ont commis d’avantage d’infractions dans
différentes villes et connaissent davantage de problémes.

Autrement dit, la fagon dont nous attaquons la question des
délinquants dangereux et récidivistes semble donner des résultats.
Elle n’est pas parfaite, mais elle donne de bons résultats; ai-je
raison de le penser ou estimez-vous que nous nous trompons?



21-2-2008

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

9:93

Mr. Langevin: Many people would qualify who are not being
designated or even have the applications for dangerous offender,
and my purpose in laying out the tables in this way to show that
the numbers can increase dramatically with the new legislation.

Yes, I think people who are using weapons and so on should be
locked away from the public, but I think a lot of the time the
decision-making is arbitrary. Our ability to predict whether they
will do it again is very poor. It might be just as valuable to have
longer sentences for these people, long determinant sentences to
keep them out of circulation.

Something is happening, yes. There are people in this group
who have not used weapons, who are not injuring their victims.
People who might have 15 or 30 children as victims, where they
have lured them with gifts or whatever else, that have not harmed
them and might even have letters of support from their victims,
have been designated as dangerous offenders because they are
going to do it again and they are totally unrestrained. If you are
looking at violence, this is covering a broader umbrella when you
are dealing with sex offenders. Something is working; we are
detaining some of those people. Some of them are not being dealt
with early enough; they might never get to that point if we did.

There are many issues, but my main point here is that many
more than fifty people a year will come up, if any of these things
are in place, depending on what the Crown decides to do. They
might say they will not go with this; they may not want the work
or the effort. It is a lot of work to do a dangerous offender
application. However, they might pursue this seeing this is the
right thing to do, and you will be flooded. That is why the data is
there.

Senator Andreychuk: You are not suggesting that we not take
action, are you?

Mr. Langevin: Oh, no.

Senator Andreychuk: You are saying you have identified some
tools that you think will be better than the ones being used. It is a
question of your competence saying that what has been used to

date has flaws and you are making suggestions on how to approve
the administration, if I can call it that, of the system.

Mr. Langevin: Yes.

Senator Di Nino: I would like to ask Mr. Dyck if the
presentation that he made today is as an individual or on
behalf of Egale Canada.

Mr. Dyck: I am here on behalf of Egale Canada.

M. Langevin : Il y a beaucoup de gens qui remplissent les
conditions pour étre déclarées délinquants dangereux qui ne
le sont pas ou qui ne font méme pas 'objet d’une demande de
déclaration mais le but recherché avec ce tableau est de montrer
que ces chiffres risquent d’augmenter de fagon trés importante
avec cette nouvelle mesure 1égislative.

Oui, je pense qu’il y a des gens qui utilisent des armes et qui
devraient étre enfermés, loin du public. Mais je pense que bien
souvent le processus décisionnel est arbitraire. Nous ne savons pas
vraiment comment prévoir si ces délinquants vont récidiver ou
non. Il pourrait étre tout aussi efficace d’imposer des peines plus
longues a ces personnes, de longues peines a durée déterminée
pour qu’elles ne se retrouvent pas dans la collectivité.

Il se fait des choses, vous avez raison. Il y a des membres de ce
groupe qui n’ont pas utilisé d’armes, qui n’ont pas blessé leurs
victimes. Des gens qui ont peut-étre victimisé 15 a 30 enfants, qui
les ont attirés avec des cadeaux ou autres choses, qui ne leur ont
pas fait de mal et qui ont peut-étre méme obtenu des lettres
d’appui de la part de leurs victimes, et qui ont été déclarés des
délinquants dangereux parce qu’ils vont récidiver et qu’il est
impossible de les en empécher. Si vous tenez compte de la
violence, cela couvre un secteur plus large que celui des
délinquants sexuels. Nous obtenons des résultats; nous détenons
un certain nombre de ces personnes. A I’égard de certaines d’entre
elles, nous n’intervenons pas suffisamment tot; elles n’arriveraient
peut-étre jamais la ou elles se sont rendues, si nous I’avions fait.

Il y a plusieurs aspects, mais ma principale remarque sur ce
point est qu’il y aura beaucoup plus que 50 nouveaux délinquants
dangereux par année, si nous mettons en place ces différentes
mesures, selon ce que fera la Couronne. Les procureurs de la
Couronne diront peut-étre qu’ils ne veulent pas s’occuper de cela;
ils ne voudront peut-étre pas faire le travail ou déployer autant
d’efforts. Il est trés long de préparer une demande de déclaration
de délinquant dangereux. Il est toutefois possible qu’ils décident
d’aller de I’avant en pensant que le moment est venu de le faire et
vous serez surchargés. C’est la raison pour laquelle ces données
sont placées ici.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous ne recommandez pas que nous
ne fassions rien, n’est-ce pas?

M. Langevin : Oh, non.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Vous dites que vous avez constaté
qu’il existe des outils qui sont, d’aprés vous, supérieurs a ceux
qu'on utilise a I’heure actuelle. Vous vous basez sur votre
compétence pour dire que les critéres utilisés jusqu’ici ont des
lacunes et vous présentez des suggestions sur la fagon d’améliorer
I’administration, si je peux m’exprimer ainsi, du systéme.

M. Langevin : Oui.

Le sénateur Di Nino : J’aimerais demander a M. Dyck s’il a
présenté son exposé aujourd’hui a titre personnel ou pour le
compte d’Egale Canada.

M. Dyck : Je suis ici pour le compte d’Egale Canada.
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[Translation)

Senator Chaput: My question deals with sexual exploitation,
and Mr. Dyck and Mr. Langevin can both answer it.

Right now, sexual activities of an “exploitative nature” are
allowed when the person is 18 years old and theses activities
mainly refer to prostitution. We all know very well that a large
number of prostitutes start to work before they reach 18 years of
age. A high age of consent does not seem to have protected them
since young persons below 18 years old still prostitute themselves.

This legislation will increase the age of consent from 14 to
16 years. Do you think that increasing the age of consent from
14 to 16 years will reduce the sexual exploitation of the younger
ones? When we look at the present situation, it does not seem that
the high age limit of 18 years has prevented prostitution.

[English)

Mr. Dyck: I certainly agree with you that problems exist right
now. Our system is not entirely effective. A solution is needed.
That solution, in our view, is greater education and greater access
to support services. It is our view that raising the age from
14 years to 16 years will have the opposite effect.

Mr. Langevin: I do not believe the intent of this is primarily to
eliminate prostitution in underaged females or males. I do think it
will serve to protect that group of adolescents who are at a stage
in life when they are flighty, have poor decision-making skills, are
inexperienced and might be very flattered by an older man who
can take advantage of them. It might protect this person from
becoming involved in a sexual relationship that is beyond their
maturity level.

The thrust is to deal with that issue. It might eliminate some
prostitution, but prostitutes come usually from a very disturbed
family environment. I do not know that most of the kids who are
getting on the Internet and seeing someone are necessarily from a
disturbed family. They are just unsupervised and they are getting
into things that are over their heads. It will help them. It will deal
with the average child. I do not know that it will do much for
prostitution.

The Chair: There have been a number of suggestions that the
age of consent portion of the bill is designed to diminish, at least,
sexual exploitation of young people. However, section 153 of the
Criminal Code already outlaws sexual exploitation, a sexual
relationship that is exploitative of a young person, someone under
18 years, and says that a judge may infer that the relationship is
exploitative

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Chaput : Ma question concerne 1’exploitation
sexuelle, et M. Dyck et le M. Langevin pourront y répondre tous
les deux.

Présentement, les activités sexuelles qu’on appelle « de nature
exploitante » sont permises lorsque la personne a 18 ans et ces
activités référent surtout a la prostitution. Nous savons trés bien
que beaucoup de prostitués commencent a travailler avant 1’age
de 18 ans. L’age de consentement élevé ne semble donc pas les
avoirs protégés puisqu’il y a toujours de la prostitution qui se
pratique par des jeunes de moins de 18 ans.

Le présent projet de loi va hausser ’dge de consentement
de 14 ans a 16 ans. Croyez-vous que de hausser I’dge de
consentement de 14 ans a 16 ans permettra de réduire
I’exploitation sexuelle des plus jeunes? Lorsqu’on regarde la
situation actuelle, la limite d’age élevée de 18 ans ne semble pas
avoir entravé la prostitution.

[Traduction]

M. Dyck : Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec vous lorsque vous
dites que ces problémes existent a I’heure actuelle. Notre systéme
n’est pas efficace a 100 p. 100. Il faut trouver une solution. A
notre avis, cette solution passe par un renforcement de 1’éducation
et de laccés aux services de soutien. Nous estimons que le
relevement de I’age du consentement de 14 al6 ans aura l’effet
contraire.

M. Langevin : Je ne pense pas que 1’objectif de ce projet de loi
soit principalement de supprimer la prostitution des jeunes des
deux sexes qui n’ont pas atteint I’dge du consentement. Je pense
qu’il permettra de protéger la catégorie d’adolescents qui se
trouvent a une étape de leur vie ou a un stade ou ils ne sont pas en
mesure de prendre des décisions raisonnées, ou ils manquent
d’expérience et pourraient étre flattés de I'intérét que leur porte un
homme &gé qui peut abuser de la situation. Cela pourrait
empécher ce jeune de s’impliquer dans une relation sexuelle
pour laquelle il ne posséde pas une maturité suffisante.

L’objectif est de s’attaquer a ce probléme. Ce projet de loi
pourrait avoir pour effet d’éliminer une partie de la prostitution
mais, habituellement, les prostituées viennent d’un environnement
familial dysfonctionnel. Je ne pense pas que la plupart des jeunes
qui naviguent sur Internet et voient quelqu’un, viennent
nécessairement d’une famille dysfonctionnelle. Ils ne sont pas
suffisamment surveillés et se mettent dans de situations qui les
dépassent. Cela les aidera. Cela aidera ’enfant moyen. Je ne pense
pas que ce projet de loi ait un effet important sur la prostitution.

La présidente : 11 a été affirmé a plusieurs reprises que la partie
du projet de loi qui traite de I’dge du consentement avait pour but
de réduire, a tout le moins, ’exploitation sexuelle des jeunes.
Cependant, l’article 153 du Code criminel réprime également
I’exploitation sexuelle, ¢’est-a-dire une relation sexuelle entrainant
I’exploitation d’un jeune, a savoir une personne de moins de
18 ans, et il énonce que le juge peut déduire
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... from the nature and circumstances of the relationship,
including

(a) the age of the young person;

(b) the age difference between the person and the
young person;

(c) the evolution of the relationship; and
(d) the degree of control or influence. . .
. . by the older person over the younger person.

It is the first two, the age and the age difference, that strike me
as being massive tools should the prosecutors choose to use them.
Why would we need to approach raising the age of consent as a
way to diminish sexual exploitation when it is already so clearly
set out there?

Mr. Langevin: If it is clearly set out, it is happening. It is not
uncommon for 14- and 15-year-olds to be exploited by an older
adult, someone in their 40s or 50s, which may be dismissed and
never reach the criminal courts. The concern of organizations
such as Beyond Borders is that this is happening all too often and
it is not leading to prosecution, and often based on the age of
consent at 14 years. If they are looking at it in terms of statistical
numbers, it would reduce that as an excuse for getting away from
exploiting a young person.

The Chair: I am trying to fit all the many pieces of this puzzle
together in some kind of a coherent form. I find myself recalling
evidence, some of it from you, Professor Langevin, that
dangerous offenders who are sex offenders, which would
include the kind of people we are talking about, I assume, tend
not to be as fully rational as the run-of-the-mill population. They
are more likely to have brain injuries and learning disorders,
which suggests they will not be paying much attention to the age
of consent anyway.

To reach them, it would occur to me that a 45-year-old man
who is going after a 14-year-old teenager, especially a girl, may
not be fully rational in the way we normally view these things
anyway, so how will changing the law change that situation?

Mr. Langevin: That situation is often not even being assessed
because the age of consent is 14 years. That is the complaint.
There is a lot of exploitation going on in that age group.

The Chair: That is in spite of the existence of section 153 of the
Criminal Code of Canada.

Mr. Langevin: For some reason that section of the Criminal
Code is not working. The Beyond Borders people are more
informed than I am, but that is my reading of it. Whatever the
laws are as they stand, they are not effectively protecting children
in that age group.

[...] de la nature de la relation entre la personne et
I’adolescent et des circonstances qui l’entourent,
notamment des événements ci-aprés, que celle-ci est dans
une relation ou elle exploite I’adolescent :

a) I’age de l’adolescent;

b) la différence d’age entre la personne et ’adolescent;

¢) I’évolution de la relation;

d) ’'emprise ou I'influence de la personne sur I’adolescent.

Les deux premiers éléments, a savoir I’age et la différence d’age,
semblent donner aux poursuivants qui veulent les utiliser des
outils, a mon avis, particuliérement efficaces. Pourquoi faudrait-il
relever 1’dge du consentement dans le but de réduire I’exploitation
sexuelle des jeunes alors que tout cela est déja clairement précisé?

M. Langevin : C’est peut-étre clairement précisé, mais cela
arrive. Il n’est pas rare que des jeunes de 14 et 15 ans soient
exploités par un adulte 4gé, quelqu’un qui a dans la quarantaine
ou dans la cinquantaine, et cela ne donne pas lieu a des poursuites
devant les tribunaux pénaux. Ce qui préoccupe les organismes
comme Beyond Borders est que cela se produit bien trop souvent,
que cela ne débouche pas sur des poursuites bien souvent a cause
du fait que I’age du consentement est fixé a 14 ans. Si I’on se base
sur les données statistiques, il serait alors plus difficile de se servir
de cette excuse pour exploiter un jeune.

La présidente : J’essaie de rassembler sous une forme cohérente
le plus d’éléments possibles? Je me souviens avoir entendu des
témoignages, notamment le votre, M. Langevin, selon lesquels les
délinquants dangereux qui sont des délinquants sexuels, ce qui
comprend le genre de personnes dont nous parlons en ce moment,
a mon avis, du moins, ont tendance a ne pas étre aussi rationnels
que les citoyens ordinaires. Ils ont plus fréquemment des
traumatismes craniens, des troubles d’apprentissage, ce qui
indique peut-étre qu’ils ne se soucient pas beaucoup de 1’age du
consentement.

Il me semble que 'homme de 45 ans qui s’intéresse a un jeune
de 14 ans, en particulier une fille, n’est peut-étre pas trés rationnel,
du moins par rapport a la fagon dont nous considérons ces choses
et je me demande comment le fait de changer la loi modifiera cette
situation.

M. Langevin : Cette situation n’est méme pas examinée parce
que I’dge du consentement est de 14 ans. C’est la I’origine de la
plainte. Il y a beaucoup de jeunes qui font partie de ce groupe
d’age qui sont exploités.

La présidente : Et cela, malgré I’existence de l'article 153 du
Code criminel du Canada.

M. Langevin : Je ne sais pas pourquoi, mais cet article du Code
criminel n’est pas appliqué. Les représentants de Beyond Borders
en savent davantage que moi mais c’est ce que je comprends.
Quelles que soient les lois en vigueur, elles ne protégent pas
efficacement les jeunes qui font partie de ce groupe d’age.
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The Chair: Could I just go back then, changing topics, to the
really fascinating information in some of your tables? Table 3 lists
the features of offenders. The material about the academic
records was interesting in its own right, but I found even more so
the neurological and possibly the endocrine findings, although
those were based on such a small sample that one would have to
treat them with caution. You list 84 per cent with head trauma
and 41 per cent as neuropsychologically impaired, and so on.
What, in your experience, do the correctional services do about
people like that? Are there medical programs? I do not know what
the appropriate treatment is for brain injuries. You say ADHD is
a treatable condition. Is there anything remotely approaching an
appropriate, adequate system of trying to help those people?

Mr. Langevin: I do not know of a program anywhere in North
America that deals with this problem. When someone is clearly
dysfunctional because of some injury, a motor vehicle accident, it
is often very difficult to get anything done.

I should point out that there are only about eight or nine
studies in the world literature that examine this question among
dangerous offenders and sex offenders. They keep pointing out
that this is a significant factor. It has not been dealt with in any
treatment program of which I am aware. They may be excluded
from treatment because they are not able to benefit, or they may
just be put into a group and treated as if there is nothing wrong,
as if there is no problem at all. There are educational methods to
enable these people to learn to deal with these conditions, but they
are just not being dealt with at this time.

Senator Cowan: On the first page of your brief you say that
you and your colleagues have a record of assessment of
51 applications made for dangerous offender designation over
the past 30 years and a database of approximately 3,000 seen
from 1966 to 1999. Is that seen by you and your group of
associates?

Mr. Langevin: Yes.

Senator Cowan: Then if we turn to the dangerous offenders
table, do the numbers in that table deal with the 51 offenders?

Mr. Langevin: That group, yes.

Senator Cowan: And the non-dangerous offender group, what
is the size of that group?

Mr. Langevin: That group numbers in the thousands.
Senator Cowan: That would be the balance of the 3,000.
Mr. Langevin: Yes.

Senator Cowan: The first column in each of these tables is
either a number based on 51, or a percentage of that 51?

La présidente : Pourrais-je alors revenir, en changeant de sujet,
aux renseignements vraiment fascinants qui se trouvent dans
vos tableaux? Le tableau 3 énumére les caractéristiques des
délinquants. Les chiffres relatifs aux antécédents scolaires
sont intéressants mais j’ai trouvé encore plus intéressant
les conclusions concernant les troubles neurologiques et
endocriniens, méme si I’échantillon est tellement faible qu’il faut
faire preuve de prudence a cet égard. Vous parlez de 84 p. 100 de
délinquants ayant subi des traumatismes craniens, 41 p. 100
souffrant de troubles neuropsychologiques, par exemple, D’aprés
votre expérience, comment les services correctionnels s’occupent-
ils de ces cas-1a? Existe-t-il des programmes médicaux? Je ne sais
pas quel est le traitement approprié pour les traumatismes
craniens. Vous dites que I’hyperactivité avec déficit de
I’attention peut étre traitée. Existe-t-il quelque chose qui
ressemblerait méme de loin a un systéme approprié¢ et adéquat
qui permette de traiter ces personnes?

M. Langevin : Je ne connais aucun programme en Amérique
du Nord qui s’attaque a ce probléme. Lorsquune personne est
vraiment dysfonctionnelle a cause des blessures qu’elle a subies,
dans un accident de voiture, par exemple, il est souvent bien
difficile de faire quoi que ce soit.

Je devrais signaler qu’il n’y a que huit ou neuf études au monde
qui examine cet aspect chez les délinquants dangereux et les
délinquants sexuels. Ces études mentionnent toutes que c’est 1a un
facteur important. A ma connaissance, il n’y a aucun programme
de traitement qui soit adapté a ces cas-la. On ne leur offre pas de
traitement parce que ces délinquants ne sont pas en mesure d’en
profiter; on les place dans un groupe et on les traite comme s’ils
étaient normaux, comme s’ils n’avaient pas de probléme. Il existe
des méthodes éducatives qui permettent a ces personnes
d’apprendre a s’adapter a ces maladies mais on ne s’en occupe
tout simplement pas en ce moment.

Le sénateur Cowan : A la premiére page de votre mémoire,
vous dites que vous et vos collégues possédez des dossiers
d’évaluation concernant 51 demandes de déclaration de
délinquants dangereux présentées au cours des 30 derniéres
années et une base de données comprenant 3 000 dossiers
environ pour la période de 1966 a 1999. Est-ce que ces dossiers
ont été examinés par vous et vos associés?

M. Langevin : Oui.

Le sénateur Cowan : Si nous passons au tableau relatif aux
délinquants dangereux, est-ce que les chiffres qui y figurent
concernent ces 51 délinquants?

M. Langevin : Ce groupe-la, oui.

Le sénateur Cowan: Et le groupe de délinquants non
dangereux, quelle est la taille de ce groupe?

M. Langevin : Ce groupe comprend des milliers de délinquants.
Le sénateur Cowan : C’est donc le reste des 3 000 délinquants.
M. Langevin : Oui.

Le sénateur Cowan : La premiére colonne de chacun de ces
tableaux est un chiffre tiré des 51 dossiers ou un pourcentage de
ces dossiers?



21-2-2008

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

9:97

Mr. Langevin: That is right. You must remember that is one
eighth of all known dangerous offenders.

Senator Cowan: I understand.
Mr. Langevin: That is a big sample.
Senator Cowan: Thank you.

Senator Andreychuk: Mr. Langevin, you are pointing out that
the real predators who are caught under the present legislation are
just some of the predators we have identified. Are we not getting
at more of a preventive measure, putting the onus on the adult,
because now you cannot prosecute some of the cases because
consent may be a defence?

Mr. Langevin: Yes, that is what is happening.

The Chair: It has been an exceedingly interesting session. Both
of you have given us a great deal to think about and we thank you
very much indeed.

Honourable senators, it has been an extremely interesting day,
and most informative.

Senator Andreychuk: Mr. Dyck said he was called yesterday,
and that gave me some concern.

The Chair: I did want to address that point. We did, in fact, try
to reach Egale Canada some time ago. In my experience,
including those to whom I have been parent, reaching students
is not necessarily the fastest thing one can do in the world, but we
did try. If you only got the message yesterday, we apologize for
that. Our intentions and our efforts were real. We offer our
apologies to you and to Egale Canada.

The committee adjourned.

M. Langevin : C’est exact. Il ne faut pas oublier que cela
représente un huitiéme de tous les délinquants dangereux connus.

Le sénateur Cowan : Je comprends.
M. Langevin : C’est un échantillon important.
Le sénateur Cowan : Merci.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Monsieur Langevin, vous faites
remarquer que les véritables prédateurs qui sont visés par les
dispositions 1égislatives actuelles ne représentent qu’un petit
nombre des prédateurs que nous avons identifiés. Ne sommes-
nous pas en train d’adopter une mesure davantage axée sur la
prévention, puisqu’elle place le fardeau de la preuve sur I’adulte,
parce que nous ne pouvons pas intenter des poursuites dans
certains de ces dossiers parce que le consentement peut étre utilisé
comme un moyen de défense?

M. Langevin : Oui, c’est ce qui se passe.

La présidente : Nous avons eu une séance extrémement
intéressante. Vous nous avez, tous les deux, donné beaucoup de
matiére a réflexion et nous vous en remercions.

Honorables sénateurs, nous avons eu une journée extrémement
intéressante et avons obtenu beaucoup d’information.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : M. Dyck a déclaré qu’il avait été
invité hier et cela me préoccupe.

La présidente : Je voulais aborder ce point. Nous avons en fait
essayé de rejoindre Egale Canada il y a quelque temps. D’aprés
mon expérience, y compris celle de ceux dont je me suis occupée
comme parent, il n’est pas toujours trés facile de rejoindre les
¢étudiants, mais nous avons essayé de le faire. Si vous n’avez regu
le message qu’hier, je vous prie de nous en excuser. Nous voulions
vraiment vous prévenir avant et c’est ce que nous avons essayé de
faire. Nous vous offrons nos excuses a vous et a Egale Canada.

La séance est levée.
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